The nature of human experience with language and education

Edited by Çelen Dimililer and Ahmet Güneyli

Published in Frontiers in Psychology Frontiers in Education Frontiers in Communication





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2510-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2510-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



The nature of human experience with language and education

Topic editors

Çelen Dimililer — Near East University, Cyprus Ahmet Güneyli — European University of Lefka, Türkiye

Citation

Dimililer, Ç., Güneyli, A., eds. (2023). *The nature of human experience with language and education*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2510-4

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05	Editorial: The nature of human experience with language and
	education
	Celen Dimililer and Ahmet Güneyli

.

07 The Mediating Effect of Social Anxiety on the Relationship Between Social Media Use and Body Dissatisfaction Among University Students

c 1

Yosra Jarrar, Ayodeji O. Awobamise and Gabriel E. Nweke

16 Critical Thinking for Writing Using Facebook Under COVID-19 Lockdown: A Course Model for English Literature Students

Elaf Almansour and Mustafa Kurt

-

.

~ -

29 Effects of Multimedia Assisted Song Integrated Teaching on College Students' English Learning Interests and Learning Outcomes

Yu-Zhou Luo, Xiang-Yang Kong and Yu-Yang Ma

- 35 A Study on the Use of Milieu Teaching to Promote Overseas Marketers' Communication Skills and Confidence in Language Learning Simeng Jia and Xue Zhao
- 41 Refugee Children and English Language: Challenges From English Language Teachers' Perspectives Haneen Abdaljaleel Alrawashdeh and Naciye Kunt
- 49 Challenges of Writing Theses and Dissertations in an EFL Context: Genre and Move Analysis of Abstracts Written by Turkish M.A. and Ph.D. Students Serdar Sükan and Behbood Mohammadzadeh
- 57 Development of a pronunciation teaching perception scale (PTPS) for preservice English language teachers Halil Ercan and Ilkay Gilanlioglu
- 66 Advantages and disadvantages of distance teaching in foreign language education during COVID-19 Irina Kruse, Larisa Lutskovskaia and Valentina V. Stepanova
- 75 The effects of introducing language learning software during the COVID-19 pandemic Philipp Novikov
- 88 A study of the effects of thematic language teaching on the promotion of multimedia design students' listening and speaking skills Sheng-Kai Yin



95 Promoting language development in physically disabled adults through sports: The content and language integrated learning method

Hasan Bekirogulları, Nazım Burgul and Emete Yagcı

- 103 Impact of instruction based on movie and TV series clips on EFL learners' pragmatic competence: Speech acts in focus Fouad Rashid Omar and Özge Razı
- 117 Examining the effects of stroke on students' L2-grit levels in an EFL context: A case of Northern Iraq Diyar J. M. Mohammed, Behbood Mohammadzadeh and Yalın Kılıç
- 127 A study on the effects of language and visual art integrated teaching on language learning performance and satisfaction of ethnic minority students in China

Yao Zhang and Simeng Jia

- 136 Online in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models in English as foreign language writing classes Fatma Sengul, Hanife Bensen Bostanci and Mustafa Kurt
- 148 The raters' differences in Arabic writing rubrics through the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model Harun Baharudin, Zunita Mohamad Maskor and Mohd Effendi Ewan Mohd Matore
- 158 A metaphor analysis of EFL graduate students' beliefs about an EAP textbook

Hong Shi

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY G. Sue Kasun, Georgia State University, United States

REVIEWED BY Alejandra Núñez Asomoza, University of Guanajuato, Mexico Maria Nicholas, Deakin University, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Çelen Dimililer ⊠ celen.dimililer@neu.edu.tr

RECEIVED 30 January 2023 ACCEPTED 19 April 2023 PUBLISHED 09 May 2023

CITATION

Dimililer Ç and Güneyli A (2023) Editorial: The nature of human experience with language and education. *Front. Educ.* 8:1154102. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2023.1154102

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Dimililer and Güneyli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: The nature of human experience with language and education

Çelen Dimililer^{1*} and Ahmet Güneyli²

¹Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus, ²European University of Lefka, Lefka, Cyprus

KEYWORDS

ESL/EFL, technology in education, innovative approaches, psychology of language learning, language and education

Editorial on the Research Topic

The nature of human experience with language and education

This issue was designed with the aim of finding ways to foster ESL/EFL instruction and learning. The characteristics of language learners and their motives and learning strategies are in constant change, especially during these post-pandemic times. Hence, language teachers are unable to find ways to cope with these ever-changing variables. Due to the fast transition to online classes owing to the pandemic, language teachers are in need of a more dynamic conception of language instruction than that offered by the traditional ways of teaching. In this issue, we explored the nature of the human experience with language and education, with specific reference made to innovative instructional strategies to foster learner engagement and the effectiveness of online teaching and learning modes.

By doing so, we have provided insights into how thematic instruction affects students' language learning experiences by bringing to the fore how listening comprehension has been promoted and how vocabulary in the target language has been developed. Through thematic instruction, learners are immersed in contexts that facilitate their language practice and comprehension of the vocabulary in the target language. It was revealed that learning attitudes and thematic language instruction resulted in higher listening achievement than that of the traditional teaching model and that thematic language teaching boosts speaking skill achievement by lowering learning anxiety.

The investigation of the application of multimedia-assisted English song-integrated language instruction is another contribution of this issue. Being a student-centered and technology-based method, multimedia-assisted English song-integrated language instruction is effective in terms of enhancing learners' attention, memory, and active learning, which results in desirable learning outcomes. This type of instruction was delivered by multimedia equipment that is available to schools to improve the environment of the e-classroom. This study found that the major benefit of this method was that it promoted learners' interest in learning English. Differing from traditional classroom teaching, which is limited to place, time, resources, and materials, multimedia-assisted language instruction has a great potential for seamless and ubiquitous learning and instruction. In terms of learning outcomes, this study revealed that multimedia-assisted song-integrated English teaching improved listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills in the target language. Last but not least, this method promoted learning outcomes.

Thanks to this issue, we also had the opportunity to provide the results of the effects of milieu teaching on communication skills and language learning confidence. Milieu teaching was proved to stimulate higher active communication in comparison to traditional teaching. Further, it was shown to have a great potential to improve communication skills and increase sentence length and spontaneous speech. Accordingly, milieu teaching boosted language learning confidence by enabling higher thinking and behavior compared to traditional teaching.

In another article, it was explored whether or not daily practice with the language learning software Elevate improved university students' English proficiency. This study revealed that students had positive attitudes toward creative language learning methods. More specifically, they perceived gamified language teaching methods as attractive, enjoyable, and interesting. Gamified applications were found to be effective in improving students' interest, providing positive learning outcomes, and getting them excited about language learning. The interactive, user-centered experiences enhanced by gamification elements added to the desirability of such applications.

To conclude, this issue highlighted the importance of grasping the individual needs of learners to monitor instruction and finding ways to entice ESL/EFL learners for a rewarding language learning journey. Hopefully, the articles contained in this issue form a base for further research on promoting learner engagement and learning outcomes.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all the authors who contributed to this issue.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.



The Mediating Effect of Social Anxiety on the Relationship Between Social Media Use and Body Dissatisfaction Among University Students

Yosra Jarrar^{1*}, Ayodeji O. Awobamise² and Gabriel E. Nweke³

¹ Communication and Information Studies, American University in Dubai, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, ² Journalism and Media Studies, Kampala International University, Kampala, Uganda, ³ Psychology, Girne American University, Kyrenia, Cyprus

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefka, Turkey

Reviewed by:

Metin Ersoy, Eastern Mediterranean University, Turkey Andras Norbert Zsido, University of Pécs, Hungary

> *Correspondence: Yosra Jarrar yjarrar@aud.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Culture and Communication, a section of the journal Frontiers in Communication

Received: 20 March 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 29 April 2022

Citation:

Jarrar Y, Awobamise AO and Nweke GE (2022) The Mediating Effect of Social Anxiety on the Relationship Between Social Media Use and Body Dissatisfaction Among University Students. Front. Commun. 7:900257. doi: 10.3389/fcomm.2022.900257 Body dissatisfaction has become increasingly common among women and young adults and has only become worse in the digital age, where people have increased access to social media and are in constant competition and comparisons with their "friends" on their different social media platforms. While several studies have looked at the relationship between social media and body dissatisfaction, there is an obvious dearth of empirical studies on the mediating role of social anxiety- a gap this study hoped to address. Using a cross-sectional research design, this study examined the mediating role of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. The sample consisted of 432 students from Kampala International University and Victoria University in Uganda. The findings show a significant positive relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. The findings prove that heavy users of social media are significantly more likely to suffer from body dissatisfaction. In a similar vein, the findings show that there is a significant positive relationship between social media usage and social anxiety. This suggests that people that frequently make use of social media have a much higher chance of suffering from social anxiety, that is the inability or difficulty to engage in social interactions, than people that rarely or moderately make use of social media. Finally, findings show that social anxiety mediates the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. It indicates that people with high levels of social anxiety are more likely to suffer from body dissatisfaction as a direct result of heavy social media usage. These findings imply that although heavy users of social media tend to have a more negative perception of their body, if these same users can properly engage in social interactions, then this might mitigate the negative effects of social media usage (in terms of body dissatisfaction).

Keywords: social anxiety, body dissatisfaction, body image, social media use, body satisfaction

INTRODUCTION

Body dissatisfaction usually arises as a result of negative thoughts or feelings about one's body image. Perception of one's body image is, therefore, a prerequisite to feelings of body dissatisfaction. Body image is often described as a person's perception, emotions, and thoughts about their body (Jiotsa et al., 2021). Body images are usually a reflection of their mirror image, combined with social expectations of what a good or bad body is. This conception of body image is created by using body ideals as promoted by mainstream media, society, peers, and family (Greene et al., 2017).

Media has been playing a role in exposing people to what they consider the ideal body right from a young age (Blowers et al., 2003). Children are told that a certain actress has the best body, and a certain athlete has the perfect physique and so they grow up thinking anything short of that is not sought after. So, depending on what that image is at a particular time, people are somewhat conditioned by the mass media and popular culture to seek such an image which in certain cases may result in body dissatisfaction. So, in a culture or a period where thinness is seen as ideal, overweight people will increasingly feel discontented with their bodies and seek ways to "improve" which may lead to an increase in eating disorders and anorexia (Stormer and Thompson, 1996). Moreover, body dissatisfaction is characterized by a difference in perception between one's real body and their ideal body.

As mentioned above and according to numerous studies, body dissatisfaction is a major factor in the development of eating disorders (Attie and Brooks-Gunn, 1989; Killen et al., 1996). People drastically reduce their food intake which can lead to anorexia or even dramatically increase their food consumption which can, in turn, lead to obesity. Social comparison is another major factor that greatly influences body image satisfaction or dissatisfaction. Social comparison is often combined with the internalization of the ideal body image and affects how individuals perceive their body image. Studies have shown that individuals who compare their physical attributes to people they think are more beautiful than them are significantly more likely to be dissatisfied with their body image and to develop eating disorders (Dittmar and Howard, 2004; Corning et al., 2006; McKee et al., 2013; Ferguson et al., 2014). Social media has by its very definition made it easier and increasingly more likely for users to compare themselves to others in terms of social acceptance yardsticks/standards, like beauty, success, ability, etc. As earlier stated, these comparisons combined with the reach and ubiquity of social media tend to negatively impact body dissatisfaction among social media users.

Anxiety has also been linked to higher social media usage and emotional investment in body image (Jenkins-Guarnieri et al., 2013). However, as explained in the next section, not many studies have considered the mediating role of anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction, an aim that this study aims to achieve.

This study, therefore, seeks to find out how social anxiety influences the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction among university students in Uganda. The assumption is that social media usage plays a role in the development of body dissatisfaction. The researchers posit that university-aged individuals, especially women, will be most likely to be negatively impacted by social media usage. However, the researchers want to test whether social anxiety (or lack of) can mediate the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction.

THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVE

This study was premised on two theories, namely, social identity theory and social comparison theory.

Social media makes it possible for its users to explore, control, and manage their online identities which may influence their sense of self-worth (Taylor-Jackson and Moustafa, 2021). Social media users more often than not project the best versions of themselves, because, most times, they have control over what other people can see and know about them. They decide what needs to be shared and thereby knowingly or unknowingly control how people perceive them. The perception of themselves they create online might not be attainable in the real world. Social media users have the means to edit their pictures to appear slimmer, fairer, or even in a completely different location. Once the users are fully immersed in their self-constructed social media world, their "real-life identity" may get distorted (Taylor-Jackson and Moustafa, 2021). According to Aiken (2016), the act of portraying one's "aspirational self" online can have a deleterious effect on their future self-perception and mental wellbeing if care is not taken.

Social identity theory describes self-concept and the feeling of self-worth is derived from the perceived membership of a certain group or class within a given society (Turner and Oakes, 1986). Because social groups/online communities are limitless, it might be mentally and psychologically exhausting for individuals to build networks and maintain a particular image across those various groups. Turner and Oakes' (1986) study is particularly relevant to this study because it shows how social groups one belongs to or aspires to belong to can impact their mental wellbeing and lead to a deluge of mental issues including, but not limited, to body dissatisfaction.

As one seeks to define their online and real-life identity, they often compare themselves to people they think are better. So, for social media users, there is a tendency to compare themselves to models, actors, and influencers while using them as the standard to gauge their progress. This action is often referred to as social comparison. Social comparison theory by Festinger (1954) posited that people evaluate their self-worth, value, and abilities by comparing themselves to other people. There are two forms of comparisons according to Festinger, namely; upward comparison and downward comparison.

Upward comparison is a situation where individuals compare themselves to people they think are doing better than them in terms of what their concern is at that moment. So, for someone concerned with success, they might compare themselves with more successful people, depending on how they define success. People concerned with body image will compare themselves with people they think, or society says, are prettier. Upward comparison has been linked with a decline in levels of self-esteem. Vogel et al. (2014) explained that social media makes comparison a lot easier. The study by Vogel et al. further explained that this relationship was mediated by increased exposure to profiles with positive content, like healthy lifestyle regiments, motivational quotes, and so on. The implication is that the more people make use of social media, the lower their self-esteem is unless they are also highly exposed to positive content on a platform. Similarly, studies by Feinstein et al. (2013), showed that people who make a lot of comparisons on social media have a significantly higher number of depressive symptoms than those who do not compare themselves to others. Downward comparison on the other hand refers to when individuals compare themselves with people they perceive to be less fortunate. In a lot of cases, people do this to improve their sense of self-worth and self-enhancement.

Downward or upward comparison is made easier when one uses social media because social media is a window through which people experience new worlds and share experiences that would have otherwise remained inaccessible. So, in the quest to find an identity or a social group to belong to, people seek out those that are similar or who they aspire to be and "follow" them. By following them, and getting drawn into their reality, the chances of becoming behaviorally or psychologically influenced become increasingly more likely.

These theories are relevant to this study because they explain the relationship between social media usage, group identity, and perception. Furthermore, the theories explain why this relationship exists. By understanding the relationship between these two variables, it will be easier to understand how anxiety mediates the relationship.

REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE AND DEVELOPMENT OF HYPOTHESES

Social media refers to different internet-based platforms that allow users to connect and interact with one another in different formats- pictures, texts, videos, and many others (Jarrar et al., 2020). According to Statista (2021), 3.78 billion people worldwide are social media users, representing over 50% of the world population. Therefore, understanding the impact of social media usage on body image is important because people spend 2 h and 25 min on social media on average every single day (Chaffey, 2021). Kim (2017) explained that understanding the impact of social media on the wellbeing of individuals is important considering the increasing levels of mental health issues. Addiction to social media is well-documented and has long been considered a major issue in academia (Kim, 2017; Coyne et al., 2020; Karim et al., 2020).

Social media, according to Keles et al. (2020) can be considered double-edged, meaning that it has its benefits and its drawbacks. The benefits of social media include the creation of platforms for people to express themselves in a way that might have otherwise been difficult to attain. Social media also allows people to receive social support at a level that is almost impossible offline (Deters and Mehl, 2013; Lilley et al., 2014; Lenhart et al., 2015). On the flip side, various studies have also shown a significant positive relationship between social media usage and psychological problems. For instance, a study reviewing 11 previous research papers studying social media usage and depression in children and young adults showed a statistically significant relationship between the two variables (McCrae et al., 2017). A similar study analyzing 23 different pieces of research on Facebook usage and psychological issues among young adults and adolescents showed a correlation between the variables (Marino et al., 2018), an indication that the more young adults and adolescents make use of social media, the higher the likelihood that they will develop psychological problems.

Contrary to the above, one major factor influencing the relationship between mental health and social media usage is social support. Social media allows people to strengthen their relationships with existing friends and cultivate new relationships online, which in turn can help reduce the feeling of isolation and loneliness, thereby indirectly improving the mental wellbeing of users (O'Keeffe et al., 2011). Various studies have shown that people with low social support tend to have more mental health issues than people with a strong social support system or network (Maulik et al., 2011). While it does appear that social support (which social media makes easy and convenient to get) is very important to the mental well-being of people, Teo et al. (2013) indicated in their studies that the quality of this support is even more important than the quantity. People might have a lot of friends on social media platforms and still feel alone and rejected, while others with a low friend count might get all the support they need online. This is a reflection on the types of interactions and relationships one has on social media and can be the major factor in determining how one sees themselves and their place in society.

Body image issues have become a front-burner issue in the media, academia, and psychology. Studies have shown that young adults, and adolescents, especially females, suffer a lot from body dissatisfaction. In a study by FHEHealth (2020), on body image and social media usage, 1,000 men and woman were surveyed, and the findings showed, among other things, that 87% of women compared their bodies to other people on social media, as compared to 65% of men who did the same. Based on the same study, 50% of women thought they look worse than those they compared with on social media, while about 37% of men thought the same. In realization of the impact of social comparison on the mental health of people, Norway, in 2021, passed the "Retouched photo law" as an amendment to the country's Marketing Control Act. The Norwegian Ministry of Children and Families explained that the law was created to "raise awareness among people that the perfect bodies in advertisements do not show people as they appear in real life" (The Washington Post, 2021).

Furthermore, a study by Ferguson et al. (2014) who went a bit further by comparing the effect of traditional media (TV), peer relations, and social media on body dissatisfaction found out that peer competition and social media usage both predicted, to varying degrees, negative body image outcomes. Although their findings clearly show that peer pressure had more of a negative effect on body image perception and social media has more of an effect on peer competition, the findings by Ferguson et al. do not show a direct relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction, it does prove that social media increases peer competition which in turn can lead to feelings of body dissatisfaction.

Based on the foregoing, the following hypothesis was proposed:

H1: there is a significant positive relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction among university students in Uganda.

Preoccupation with social media by university students can manifest in the form of spending too much time on social media, having a strong motivation and inclination to make use of social media, and can lead to adverse effects on their social, professional, personal life, and mental wellbeing (Andreassen and Pallesen, 2014). The recent Covid-19 related lockdowns all over the world have forced people to seek solace and connection online and have led to an increasing reliance on social media for the littlest social connection. The pandemic and its resultant lockdowns have prolonged the time spent on social media generally and have led to an emergence of problematic social media usage and therefore might have negatively impacted the mental health of university students (Jiang, 2021).

Studies by Lepp et al. (2014) showed that prolonged and problematic use of social media can lead to increased levels of anxiety. A study by Thorisdottir et al. (2019) detailed social media use and anxiety levels among Icelandic youths and found that passive use of social media led to greater anxiety symptoms among both males and females. Their study also found that excessive use of social media, either passive or active, among students, invariably led to problematic use of social media which in turn could result in higher levels of anxiety. In a similar vein, studies by Hussain and Griffiths (2018) and Wong et al. (2020) found a significant relationship between problematic social media usage and anxiety.

Furthermore, studies by Zsido et al. (2020) on social fears and social media usage, found that individuals with social anxiety issues and low self-esteem tend to prefer computer-mediated communication instead of face-to-face communication which in turn can lead to excessive or pathological use of social media as a means to compensate for their lack of social interactions in real life.

A more recent study by Zsido et al. (2021) on the role of maladaptive cognitive emotion regulation strategies and social anxiety in problematic smartphone and social media use, reaffirms the relationship between social anxiety and social media usage. They explained that "individuals who are highly socially anxious prefer computer-mediated communication over faceto-face communication possibly due to the control and social liberation that it provides" (p. 1). Their findings showed a direct significant relationship between social anxiety and pathological social media usage. Based on the foregoing, it is clear that the negative impacts of social media usage usually manifest only when there is excessive usage of the platforms. Individuals that reported medium to low usage frequency do not usually develop these issues.

Based on this, the researchers propose the following hypothesis:

H2: There is a significant positive relationship between social media usage and anxiety levels among university students.

Social anxiety is usually a result of a personal evaluation of one's social situation, be it real or imagined (Schlenker and Leary, 1982). Previous studies showed that social comparison is linked to feelings of social anxiety (Jiang and Ngien, 2020). Social comparison, as earlier explained, consists of people's natural inclination to evaluate and compare their situation, skills, identity, and even performance with others (Festinger, 1954). Both upward and downward comparisons have been shown to often harm the mental wellbeing of individuals (Gilbert, 2000; Stein and Sareen, 2015). Antony et al. (2005) explained this by stating that people who compare themselves to other people (either upward or downward comparison) are significantly more likely to care about how other people perceive them which can affect their mental wellbeing (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Weeks et al. (2009) in their study on social comparison and social anxiety found out that social comparison was positively related to social anxiety, as well as increased fear of public scrutiny. In a similar study carried out by Mitchell and Schmidt (2014), the findings suggested that there is indeed a causal relationship between social comparison and social interaction anxiety. Also, Gregory and Peters (2017) concluded that social comparison is a major predictor of social anxiety disorder.

From the foregoing, it is clear that social media encourages social comparison, which in turn can have a negative impact on the anxiety levels of social media users. While these relationships appear to be well-established, very little is known about the mediating role of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. This study is premised on the assumption that people with high levels of social anxiety will be more likely to suffer from body dissatisfaction irrespective of their social media usage. Based on the foregoing, the following hypothesis was developed:

H3: There is a mediating effect of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction.

METHOD

Study Design

The study made use of a cross-sectional research design. The cross-sectional study design is a type of observational design, and it investigates the outcome and exposures of the study participants at the same time. Questionnaires were distributed to study participants at the same time and the responses to the questionnaires were analyzed and interpreted. Participants were informed about the study's aim and were assured of confidentiality before they were asked to fill out the questionnaires.

Participant Recruitment

This study population consisted of students of Kampala International University and Victoria University in Uganda. This demographic was selected because the study focuses primarily on adolescents and young adults. This demography of respondents is predominantly university students since they fall between the ages of 18 and 25 mostly. The institutions were selected because they are situated in Kampala, which is the major city in Uganda and has good internet connectivity (a prerequisite for using social media). By selecting university students in Kampala, the researchers were fairly confident that the respondents will be aware of and make use of social media. Also, the participants are expected to be literate enough to understand the study and answer the questions.

The age range (18–25 years old) was selected because current literature suggests that they are more likely to make use of social media and also be concerned about body image than any other age category (Duggan, 2015). The second inclusion criterion was that all participants in this study must be aware of and make use of at least 2 different social media platforms. In total, 432 students participated in this study (52% of which are females while 48% are male). The average age of the respondents was 21.3 years.

The researchers sent out a notice to students in both universities, clearly stating the criteria for selection to participate in the study. Based on this communication, over 557 students from both institutions indicated interest. After this stage of the selection process, the researchers removed students that did not meet the criteria, for instance, anybody above the age of 25 was disqualified from participating. At the end of this exercise, 432 students were left and allowed to participate in this study. The selected students were asked to report to the main auditorium at Victoria University, and the main hall of Kampala International University on different days (1 day apart for students from VU and those from KIU) where the purpose of the study was once again explained to them and their consent was collected.

See Table 1 below for detailed demographic data.

Measures

To collect pertinent data, the researchers opted to make use of questionnaires that combine the following scales: Body Dissatisfaction Subscale from EDI-III (Garner, 2004), The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), The Multidimensional Scale of Facebook Use (MSFU) by Frison and Eggermont (2015), and The Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale (LSAS) (1987) (Leonard and Blane, 1988).

Section one of the questionnaire collected demographic data like age, course of study, income level, gender, and marital status. Section one also included the inclusion criteria question of social media usage. Respondents were required to confirm whether or not they make use of social media and the types of social media platforms they use frequently.

Section two of the questionnaire looked at social media usage. In this section, respondents were required to answer the questions as required in The Multidimensional Scale of Facebook Use (MSFU). Section three of the questionnaire included questions related to body dissatisfaction. This section of the questionnaire adopted the Body Dissatisfaction Subscale from EDI-III which was specifically designed to measure body dissatisfaction.

Finally, Section four of the questionnaire required the participants to answer questions related to anxiety. This section sought to find out whether the respondents suffer from anxiety or not. The Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale (LSAS) was adopted for use in this section. The LSAS is a 24-item interviewer-rated scale that measures fear and avoidance (each on four-point scale) reported in social interaction and performance

situations (Liebowitz, 1987). The LSAS has demonstrated validity and reliability as a self-report measure. Separate indices can be calculated for fear and avoidance factors for both social interaction and performance. Reliability for the fear and avoidance subscales has ranged from 0.81 to 0.92 and from 0.83 to 0.92, respectively (Orsillo, 2001).

Procedure

While distributing the questionnaires, the researchers made use of stratified random sampling, to separate students in the Social Sciences and Arts from those in the STEM field. This way every program category is represented in the study. The breakdown of the distribution is as follows.

Data Analyses

The fundamental purpose of using statistical analysis to analyze data "is to assist in establishing the plausibility of the theoretical model and to estimate the degree to which the various explanatory variables seem to be influencing the dependent variable" (Coorley, 1978, p. 13). In the same vein, the main objective of this study was to empirically examine the mediating effect of social anxiety on the relationship between *social media usage and body dissatisfaction among university students in Uganda*. Accordingly, the raw data must be subjected to certain preliminary tests (Hair et al., 2010). *JAMOVI 1.8.4.0* software was used for data coding, tests for missing data, outliers, internal consistency, and normality. The current study made use of the "MEDMOD" library in *JAMOVI* to test the hypotheses for mediation.

The internal consistency was good (Social media use: $\alpha = 0.88, 95\%$ CI[0.86, 0.89]; $\omega = 0.89, 95\%$ CI[0.85, 0.90], *n* items = 13, *Social* anxiety: $\alpha = 0.87, 95\%$ CI[0.85, 0.88]; $\omega = 0.86, 95\%$ CI[0.84, 0.89], *n* items = 24, and body dissatisfaction.: $\alpha = 0.86; 95\%$ CI[0.84, 0.87]; $\omega = 0.88, 95\%$ CI[0.85, 0.91], *n* items = 10).

Scatterplot of standardized residuals showed that the data met the assumptions of homoscedasticity, and linearity, and the residuals were approximately normally distributed and contained no outliers (*Std. Residual Min* = -2.13, *Std. Residual Max* = 2.91). Multicollinearity was not a problem (Social media use, *Tolerance* = 0.92, *VIF* = 1.06; *Social* anxiety, *Tolerance* = 0.94, *VIF* = 1.03) and the assumption of independent errors (*Durbin-Watson value* = 2.1) was equally met.

RESULTS

Hypothesis: There is a mediating effect of social anxiety in the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction.

To achieve the main objective of this study, which was to examine the mediating effect of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body satisfaction, mediation was tested using the MEDMOD library in JAMOVI and the results indicated a significant positive relationship between *social media use* and *body image dissatisfaction* (r = 0.420, p < 0.001), suggesting that heavy social media users tend to feel more dissatisfied with their body image. Also, a significant positive relationship between *social media use* and *social anxiety* (r = 0.316, p < 0.001) was found, suggesting that the more anxious

TABLE 1 | Demographic data.

S/N	Demographic variable		Frequency	Percent
1	Gender	Male	248	57
		Female	175	43
2	Age	18–21	221	51
		22–25	211	49
3	Academic level	Undergraduate	348	80.6
		Postgraduate	84	19.4
4	Field of study	Social Sciences, Humanities, and Liberal Arts	296	68.5
		STEM field	136	31.5
5	Institution	Victoria University	159	36.8
		Kampala International University	273	63.2
Total			432	100%

a person feels, the more likely the person spends more time or uses social media and vice versa.

The results of the mediation show that social media use is positively correlated to social anxiety $\beta = 0.562$, SE = 0.040, z = 14.01, p < 0.001, and body image dissatisfaction is positively related to social anxiety, $\beta = 0.520$, SE = 0.028, z = 18.71, p < 0.001. Moreover, social media use has a positive relationship with body image dissatisfaction $\beta = 0.075$, SE = 0.026, z = 2.86, p < 0.001.

The effect of social media use on levels of body image dissatisfaction is partially mediated via the level of social anxiety. As **Table 2** illustrates, the regression coefficient between social media use and levels of body image dissatisfaction and the regression coefficient between social anxiety and levels of body image dissatisfaction are significant. The indirect effect was 0.292., and this indirect effect is statistically different from zero, as shown by a 95% bootstrap confidence interval ranging from 0.2341 to 0.3502 which is above zero. The indirect effect is statistically significant (p < 0.001).

The indirect effect of 0.292 means that two participants who differ by one unit in their reported social media use are estimated to differ by 0.292 units in their reported body image dissatisfaction. As a result, heavy users of social media were more likely to experience social anxiety (due to the positive value obtained), which in turn translates into higher levels of body image dissatisfaction (due to the positive value obtained).

DISCUSSIONS OF RESULTS

The result of hypothesis 1 testing, showed a significant positive relationship between social media use and body image dissatisfaction. This supports the findings by FHEHealth (2020) where an extensive study was carried out targeting over 1,000 participants. The findings showed that over 85% of women and 65% of men who used social media regularly compared their bodies to other people on social media. Of this number, 50% of the women ended up feeling that they look worse than people they competed with on social media. Their findings showed a clear relationship between the frequency of social media usage and body dissatisfaction. Other studies have addressed the issue of body dissatisfaction as a psychological issue and have found that the more time spent on social media, the higher the likelihood of the user to develop an unrealistic definition of beauty, which in turn can lead to higher levels of body dissatisfaction (Maulik et al., 2011; O'Keeffe et al., 2011; Teo et al., 2013). By proving hypothesis one correct, this finding supports those of Ferguson et al. (2014) who also found out that social media usage increases social comparison which in turn can lead to increased levels of body dissatisfaction among pathological users of social media.

The results of hypothesis 2 testing showed a significant positive relationship between social media use and anxiety. The implication of this is that the more people make use of social media, the higher the likelihood of developing anxiety issues is. This finding supports those of Lepp et al. (2014) who found out that prolonged and problematic use of social media can lead to an increase in levels of anxiety. Similarly, findings by Thorisdottir et al. (2019) which showed that problematic use of social media can lead to higher levels of anxiety, are supported. Although studies by Thorisdottir et al. (2019) differentiated social media usage into passive and active usage, their findings showed that irrespective of the type of usage, the more time spent on social media, the higher the tendency for users to develop anxiety problems. This finding lends credence to those by Zsido et al. (2020, 2021) who found a significant relationship between social anxiety and social media usage which implies that the more people make use of social media, the higher the tendency that they will develop high levels of body dissatisfaction.

Hypothesis 3 was tested using mediation analysis and the result showed that social media use is positively correlated to social anxiety. It also showed a positive relationship with body image dissatisfaction. The findings further showed that the effect of social media use on levels of body image dissatisfaction is partially mediated via the level of social anxiety. The findings showed that heavy users of social media were more likely to experience social anxiety which in turn translates into higher levels of body image dissatisfaction.

Based on this finding, it can be concluded that users that frequently make use of social media, referred to in this study as heavy users, are significantly more likely to develop social

TABLE 2 Mediation estimates of the mediatin	g effect of social anxiety on the relationship betweer	n social media usage and body dissatisfaction.
---	--	--

Effect	Estimate	SE	Z	Р	% mediation
Mediation estimates					
Indirect	0.2920	0.0253	11.56	< 0.001	79.6
Direct	0.0750	0.0262	2.86	0.004	20.4
Total	0.3670	0.0313	11.73	< 0.001	100.0
Path estimates					
Social media use \rightarrow	Social anxiety	0.5619	0.0401	14.01	< 0.001
Social anxiety \rightarrow	Body image Dissatisfaction	0.5196	0.0278	18.71	< 0.001
Social media use \rightarrow	Body image dissatisfaction	0.0750	0.0262	2.86	0.004

Mediation analysis using JAMOVI 1.8.4.0 software was conducted to examine the indirect effect of social media use on body image dissatisfaction through social anxiety.

anxiety which in turn will invariably lead to high levels of body dissatisfaction. The implication is that users that suffer from social anxiety are more likely to feel the negative effect of heavy social media usage, especially in the form of body dissatisfaction. The findings of this study support those by Gregory and Peters (2017) who concluded that social comparison on social media is a major predictor of social anxiety disorder. However, it is clear from the literature above that very little is known about the mediating role of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. The findings of this study are unique in the sense that the study charts a new course in understanding the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction by introducing a hardly discussed variable into the mix, namely, social anxiety.

Furthermore, the findings of this study partially support the social identity theory which posits that people derive a sense of self-worth by the inclusion or acceptance into a certain group or class in society (Turner and Oakes, 1986). Findings of this study have shown that if people do not meet the perceived standards set by people they look up to on social media in terms of beauty, then they begin to lose their sense of self-worth and start feeling like they are not as good or as beautiful. The support is partial because it was not fully confirmed in this study that people seek to belong to a certain group or merely just want to look like their social media mentors, influencers, or idols. By not distinctly studying this, it will be difficult to categorically state that the social identity theory was fully confirmed. The findings of this study however fully support the social comparison theory because the study shows that people who make frequent use of social media define or evaluate their sense of self-worth, beauty, and value based on their perception of others on social media. By proving this hypothesis right, the researchers have shown that people most engage in upward comparison on social media which in turn has an effect on their self-esteem and leads to body dissatisfaction.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This study has charted a new course in the study of social media usage, mental health, and its manifestations on youths and young adults. By examining the mediating role of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction, this study has approached media effects studies from a novel perspective. The issue of body dissatisfaction among today's youths is a front-burner issue and has become one of the most talked-about issues in modern media. Body positivity and acceptance are encouraged and actively sought in both academic and general society, so any study that clarifies this issue and sheds light on the root causes of body dissatisfaction will surely help in developing a long-lasting solution using modern-day techniques.

This study sought to find out the mediating role of social anxiety on the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. The findings of this study showed a significant positive relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. The findings proved that heavy users of social media are significantly more likely to suffer from body dissatisfaction. In a similar vein, the findings also showed that there is a significant positive relationship between social media usage and social anxiety. This suggested that people that frequently make use of social media have a much higher chance of suffering from social anxiety than people that rarely or moderately make use of social media. Finally, findings showed that social anxiety mediates the relationship between social media usage and body dissatisfaction. It indicated that people with high levels of social anxiety are more likely to suffer from body dissatisfaction as a direct result of heavy social media usage.

In the literature review, it was mentioned that Norway has passed legislation that makes it compulsory for influencers to indicate that their pictures have been retouched. This is in a bid to significantly reduce body dissatisfaction and unhealthy beauty standards in Norway. Whether this initiative will be effective in improving body positivity in Norway remains to be seen. However, the researchers think this is a worthwhile idea and recommend that other countries, especially the more socially influential ones do the same thing. This should not be limited to social media but should also be introduced in popular culture like film and music. More realistic and everyday-looking people should be projected on the big screen and in music videos to promote the idea of a more diverse definition of beauty.

This study was limited to university students in Uganda, the decision to focus on university students was because they fall within the age bracket of social media users according to Facebook analytics and other social media data. However, there is a need to expand this study beyond university students, as a lot of individuals outside the university environment are also ardent users of social media and maybe affected differently. Given this, the researchers are recommending a more holistic study that considers the wider society and other media forms (such as TV) and how they affect the perception of body dissatisfaction among their users.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

REFERENCES

- Aiken, M. (2016). The Cyber Effect. New York, NY: Spiegel & Grau
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5[®]). American Psychiatric Publishing. doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Andreassen, C. S., and Pallesen, S. (2014). Social network site addiction-an overview. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 20, 4053–4061. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990616
- Antony, M. M., Rowa, K., Liss, A., Swallow, S. R., and Swinson, R. P. (2005). Social comparison processes in social phobia. *Behav. Ther.* 36, 65–75. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(05)80055-3
- Attie, I., and Brooks-Gunn, J. (1989). Development of eating problems in adolescent girls: a longitudinal study. *Dev. Psychol.* 25, 70–79. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.25.1.70
- Blowers, L. C., Loxton, N. J., Grady-Flesser, M., Occhipinti, S., and Dawe, S. (2003). The relationship between sociocultural pressure to be thin and body dissatisfaction in preadolescent girls. *Eat. Behav.* 4, 229–244. doi: 10.1016/S1471-0153(03)00018-7
- Chaffey, D. (2021). Global Social Media Research Summary.
- Coorley, W. W. (1978). Explanatory observation studies. *Educ. Res.* 7, 9–15. doi: 10.3102/0013189X007009009
- Corning, A., Krumm, A., and Smitham, L. (2006). Differential social comparison processes in women with and without eating disorder symptoms. J. Couns. Psychol. 53, 338–349. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.53.3.338
- Coyne, S. M., Rogers, A. A., Zurcher, J. D., Stockdale, L., and Booth, M. (2020). Does time spent using social media impact mental health?: An eight year longitudinal study. *Comput. Hum. Behav*.104:106160. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.106160
- Deters, F. G., and Mehl, M. R. (2013). Does posting Facebook status updates increase or decrease loneliness? An online social networking experiment. Soc. Psychol. Pers. Sci. 4, 579–586. doi: 10.1177/1948550612469233
- Dittmar, H., and Howard, S. (2004). Thin-ideal internalization and social comparison tendency as moderators of media models' impact on women's body-focused anxiety. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 23, 768–791. doi: 10.1521/jscp.23.6.768.54799
- Duggan, M. (2015). *The Demographics of Social Media Users in 2015*. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center.
- Feinstein, B. A., Hershenberg, R., Bhatia, V., Latack, J. A., Meuwly, N., and Davila, J. (2013). Negative social comparison on Facebook and depressive symptoms: rumination as a mechanism. *Psychol. Pop. Media Cult.* 2, 161–170. doi: 10.1037/a0033111
- Ferguson, C. J., Muñoz, M. E., Garza, A., and Galindo, M. (2014). Concurrent and prospective analyses of peer, television and social media influences on body dissatisfaction, eating disorder symptoms and life satisfaction in adolescent girls. J. Youth Adolesc. 43, 1–14. doi: 10.1007/s10964-012-9898-9

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Kampala International University and Victoria University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YJ: research design and variables definition, initial data analysis, and finalizing the findings. AA: collecting the data and literature review. GN: data analysis and drafting the findings. All authors worked on the last version of the paper.

- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. Hum. Relat. 7, 117–140. doi: 10.1177/001872675400700202
- FHEHealth (2020). *Body Image and Social Media Questionnaire*. Available online at: https://fherehab.com/news/bodypositive/
- Frison, E., and Eggermont, S. (2015). The impact of daily stress on adolescents' depressed mood: the role of social support seeking through Facebook. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 44, 315–325. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014. 11.070
- Garner, D. M. (2004). *Eating Disorder Inventory-3: Professional Manual*. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Gilbert, P. (2000). "Social mentalities: Internal 'social' conflict and the role of inner warmth and compassion in cognitive therapy," in *Genes on the Couch: Explorations in Evolutionary Psychotherapy*, eds P. Gilbert and K. G. Bailey (Routledge), 118–150.
- Greene, J., Cohen, D., Siskowski, C., and Toyinbo, P. (2017). The relationship between family caregiving and the mental health of emerging young adult caregivers. J. Behav. Health Serv. Res. 44, 551–563. doi: 10.1007/s11414-016-9526-7
- Gregory, B., and Peters, L. (2017). Changes in the self during cognitive behavioural therapy for social anxiety disorder: a systematic review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 52, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.11.008
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., and Anderson, R. E. (2010). Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective, 7th Edn. Pearson Education International.
- Hussain, Z., and Griffiths, M. D. (2018). Problematic social networking site use and comorbid psychiatric disorders: a systematic review of recent large-scale studies. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:686. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018. 00686
- Jarrar, Y., Awobamise, A., Nnabuife, S., and Nweke, G. E. (2020). Perception of pranks on social media: clout-lighting. Online J. Commun. Media Technol. 10:e202001. doi: 10.29333/ojcmt/6280
- Jenkins-Guarnieri, M. A., Wright, S. L., and Johnson, B. (2013). Development and validation of a social media use integration scale. *Psychol. Pop. Media Cult.* 2, 38–50. doi: 10.1037/a0030277
- Jiang, S., and Ngien, A. (2020). The effects of instagram use, social comparison, and self-esteem on social anxiety: a survey study in Singapore. *Soc. Media Soc.* 6, 1–10. doi: 10.1177/2056305120912488
- Jiang, Y. (2021). Problematic social media usage and anxiety among university students during the COVID-19 pandemic: the mediating role of psychological capital and the moderating role of academic burnout. *Front. Psychol.* 12:612007. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.612007
- Jiotsa, B., Naccache, B., Duval, M., Rocher, B., and Grall-Bronnec, M. (2021). Social media use and body image disorders: association between frequency of comparing one's own physical appearance to that of people being followed on social media and body dissatisfaction and drive for thinness. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:2880. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1806 2880

- Karim, F., Oyewande, A. A., Abdalla, L. F., Chaudhry Ehsanullah, R., and Khan, S. (2020). Social media use and its connection to mental health: a systematic review. *Cureus* 12:e8627. doi: 10.7759/cureus.8627
- Keles, B., McCrae, N., and Grealish, A. A. (2020). A systematic review: the influence of social media on depression, anxiety and psychological distress in adolescents. *Int. J. Adolesc. Youth* 25, 79–93. doi: 10.1080/02673843. 2019.1590851
- Killen, J. D., Taylor, C. B., Hayward, C., Haydel, K. F., Wilson, D. M., Hammer, L., et al. (1996). Weight concerns influence the development of eating disorders: a 4-year prospective study. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 64, 936–940. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.64.5.936
- Kim, H. H. (2017). The impact of online social networking on adolescent psychological well-being (WB): a population-level analysis of Korean schoolaged children. *Int. J. Adolesc. Youth* 22, 364–376. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2016.1197135
- Lenhart, A., Smith, A., Anderson, M., Duggan, M., and Perrin, A. (2015). Teens, Technology and Friendships. Available online at: http://www.pewinternet.org/ 2015/08/06/teens-technology-and-friendships/
- Leonard, K. E., and Blane, H. T. (1988). Alcohol expectancies and personality characteristics in young men. Addict. Behav. 13, 353–357. doi: 10.1016/0306-4603(88)90041-x
- Lepp, A., Barkley, J. E., and Karpinski, A. C. (2014). The relationship between cell phone use, academic performance, anxiety, and Satisfaction with life in college students. *Comp. Hum. Behav.* 31, 343–350. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.049
- Liebowitz, M. R. (1987). Social phobia. Mod. Probl. Pharmacopsychiatry. 22, 141–173. doi: 10.1159/000414022
- Lilley, C., Ball, R., and Vernon, H. (2014). The Experiences of 11–16 Year Olds on Social Networking Sites. NSPCC. Available online at: https://www.nspcc.org. uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/experiences-11-16-year-oldssocialnetworking-sites-report.pdf
- Marino, C., Gini, G., Vieno, A., and Spada, M. M. (2018). The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Affect. Disord. 226, 274–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.007
- Maulik, P., Eaton, W., and Bradshaw, C. (2011). The effect of social networks and social support on mental health services use, following a life event, among the Baltimore epidemiologic catchment area cohort. J. Behav. Health Serv. Res. 38, 29–50. doi: 10.1007/s11414-009-9205-z
- McCrae, N., Gettings, S., and Purssell, E. (2017). Social media and depressive symptoms in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review. *Adolesc. Res. Rev.* 2, 315–330. doi: 10.1007/s40894-017-0053-4
- McKee, S., Smith, H. J., Koch, A., Balzarini, R., Georges, M., and Callahan, M. P. (2013). Looking up and seeing green: women's everyday experiences with physical appearance comparisons. *Psychol. Women Q.* 37, 351–365. doi: 10.1177/0361684312469792
- Mitchell, M. A., and Schmidt, N. B. (2014). An experimental manipulation of social comparison in social anxiety. *Cogn. Behav. Ther.* 43, 221–229. doi: 10.1080/16506073.2014.914078
- O'Keeffe, G., and Clarke-Pearson, K., Council on Communications and Media (2011). The impact of social media on children, adolescents and families. *Pediatrics* 124, 800–804. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-0054
- Orsillo, S. M. (2001). "Measures for social phobia," in *Practitioner's Guide to Empirically Based Measures of Anxiety. AABT Clinical Assessment Series*, eds M. M. Anthony and S. M. Orsillo (New York, NY: Klumer Academic/Plenum Publisher), 165–187.
- Schlenker, B. R., and Leary, M. R. (1982). Social anxiety and selfpresentation: a conceptualization model. *Psychol. Bull.* 92, 641–669. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.92.3.641
- Statista (2021). Number of Social Network Users Worldwide From 2017 to 2025. Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/278414/number-of-worldwide-social-network-users/

- Stein, M. B., and Sareen, J. (2015). Generalized anxiety disorder. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2059–2068. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1502514
- Stormer, S. M., and Thompson, J. K. (1996). Explanations of body image disturbance: a test of maturational status, negative verbal commentary, social comparison, and sociocultural hypotheses. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 19, 193–202. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199603)19:2<193::AID-EAT10>3.0.CO;2-W
- Taylor-Jackson, J., and Moustafa, A. (2021). The relationships between social media use and factors relating to depression. *Nat. Depression* 171–182. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-817676-4.00010-9
- Teo, A., Choi, H., and Valenstein, M. (2013). Social relationships and depression: ten-year follow-up from a nationally representative study. *PLoS ONE* 8:e62396. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062396
- The Washington Post. (2021). Why Experts Say Norway's Retouched Photo Law Won'T Help Fight Body Image Issues. Available online at: https://www. washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/wellness/photo-edit-social-media-norway/ 2021/07/08/f30d59ca-df2c-11eb-ae31-6b7c5c34f0d6_story.html
- Thorisdottir, I. E., Sigurvinsdottir, R., Asgeirsdottir, B. B., Allegrante, J. P., and Sigfusdottir, I. D. (2019). Active and passive social media use and symptoms of anxiety and depressed mood among icelandic adolescents. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 22, 535–542. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2019.0079
- Turner, J. C., and Oakes, P. J. (1986). The significance of the social identity concept for social psychology with reference to individualism, interactionism and social influence. Br. J. Soc. Psychol. 25, 237–252. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8309.1986.tb00732.x
- Vogel, E. A., Rose, J. P., Roberts, L. R., and Eckles, K. (2014). Social comparison, social media, and self-esteem. *Psychol. Pop. Media Cult.* 3, 206–222. doi: 10.1037/ppm0000047
- Weeks, J. W., Rodebaugh, T. L., Heimberg, R. G., Norton, P. J., and Jakatdar, T. A. (2009). "To avoid evaluation, withdraw": fears of evaluation and depressive cognitions lead to social anxiety and submissive withdrawal. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 33, 375–389. doi: 10.1007/s10608-008-9203-0
- Wong, A., Ho, S., Olusanya, O., Antonini, M. V., and Lyness, D. (2020). The use of social media and online communications in times of pandemic COVID-19. *J. Intensive Care Soc.* 22, 255–260. doi: 10.1177/1751143720966280
- Zsido, A. N., Arato, N., Lang, A., Labadi, B., Stecina, D., and Bandi, S. A. (2020). The connection and background mechanisms of social fears and problematic social networking site use: a structural equation modeling analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* 292:113323. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113323
- Zsido, A. N., Arato, N., Lang, A., Labadi, B., Stecina, D., and Bandi, S. A. (2021). The role of maladaptive cognitive emotion regulation strategies and social anxiety in problematic smartphone and social media use. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 173:110647. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021. 110647

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jarrar, Awobamise and Nweke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Critical Thinking for Writing Using Facebook Under COVID-19 Lockdown: A Course Model for English Literature Students

Elaf Almansour* and Mustafa Kurt

Department of English Language Teaching (ELT), Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus

The aim of this paper is to explore the effectiveness of critical thinking for improving the writing skill of undergraduate Arab students who study English Literature at Saudi universities under lockdown circumstances due to the COVID-19 pandemic. At the same time, it explores the impact of implementing Facebook as an online Constructivist tool to improve this skill. A general overview of the status of English language education in Saudi Arabia is briefly presented to shed light on the ongoing English language challenges in learning writing for undergraduate students in the English language and literature departments, which got more manifested due to the current status of education mode with the emergence of the pandemic. Two-group posttest-only randomized experiment was employed to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed model, using the infusion and constructivism approaches. A total of 40 students enrolled in a literature course at a private university in Saudi Arabia participated in the experiment. The treatment was conducted through utilizing Facebook. The results demonstrated that students' improvement in English writing was due to the combination of the infusion of a set of critical skills and the constructivist teaching and learning mode.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefka, Turkey

Reviewed by:

Muhammet Usak, Kazan Federal University, Russia Zehra Gabillon, University of French Polynesia, French Polynesia

*Correspondence:

Elaf Almansour elaf_mm@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 March 2022 Accepted: 05 May 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

Citation:

Almansour E and Kurt M (2022) Critical Thinking for Writing Using Facebook Under COVID-19 Lockdown: A Course Model for English Literature Students. Front. Psychol. 13:903452. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.903452 Keywords: English language, writing skill, literature, critical thinking, Facebook, COVID-19 pandemic

INTRODUCTION

Various studies and research have been conducted with exploring challenges facing English language and literature students in Saudi universities. Among the various conclusions, following need a mention: limited time of English language courses, intensive load of curricula, teaching methodologies, lack of the target language environment, lack of adequate up-to-date effective instructions in the classroom, and learners' lack of motivation, to name some (Hammami, 2002; Rababah, 2005; Ansari, 2012; Al Hosni, 2014; Hussein and Elttayef, 2016; Omer, 2018). Hammami (2002) elaborates that the core problem of Arab learners of English lies in the pre-packaged language teaching curricula are delivered in a tedious manner that slackens students' improvement. Alrabai (2017) adds that English teachers in Saudi Arabia are always equipped with an identical fixed syllabus with guidelines and deadlines that they are required to apply and follow, and this strongly prescriptive nature of the curriculum likely reinforces

student dependency on the teacher. Omer (2018) sheds light on the psychological factors that hinder students from learning English, such as the fear of making mistakes, anxiety, shyness, lack of confidence, and lack of motivation. These factors result in weaknesses in students' English language level which consequently affects their academic attainment in other courses and their attitude.

Saying this, once COVID-19 has been unanimously considered a global pandemic, the previously mentioned challenges became more complex to cope with due to the closure of universities and a switch over to online education in general and virtual learning in particular. Universities in Saudi Arabia start to use virtual platforms as the main tool for delivering learning content and facilitating communication between education stakeholders, teachers, and students. However, immediate impacts have been witnessed as "the pandemic adds a further degree of complexity to higher education" (Pedro et al., 2020, p. 11), and many prior unresolved issues surface in a more visible manner. In addition, new challenges arise that can be categorized as the following: stakeholders' readiness, mainly teachers, and students to adapt to online teaching, online platforms and resources compatibility, and curriculum modification to provide (at least) same outcomes as in class teaching.

Nevertheless, this pandemic still offered the opportunity to reconsider the status of English language and literature teaching in non-English speaking countries, such as Saudi Arabia and reconsider and redesign the teaching and learning strategies and syllabus, i.e., rethinking about the skills students acquire in their education and whether these skills offer them authentic learning outcomes and sufficiently prepare them for working life. Therefore, this course adjusts new teaching approaches, constructivism, and infusion, to propose a new learning model for English language and literature undergraduate students that aim to enhance their critical thinking, better develop their language skills, and reinforce their learning experience. Besides, it aims to encourage students to be involved and interact using an innovative and interactive studying platform that can enhance and develop new skills to learning content, facilitates constructivist learning, and most importantly individualized monitoring and feedback to ensure that no student is left behind.

Laderman (2020) says that due to the crisis of COVID-19, teachers and students both find themselves compelled to embrace the digital academic experience as the ultimate option for continuing the teaching-learning process. Ekoc (2014) claims that social media would better engage students in the learning process as active learners, team builders, collaborators, and discoverers. According to the report of Jones and Fox (2009), among the various types of social media, Facebook is highly used by students, as 85-99 percent of all students use this platform. This is attributed to the following: Facebook does not require training due to its popularity, so students would not feel frustrated toward preparing and using a new learning mode. Supporting this, several studies (Li and Pitts, 2009; Mazer et al., 2009; Park et al., 2009; Munoz and Towner, 2010; Lewis and Nichols, 2012) have concluded that generally students had positive attitudes toward using Facebook in the classroom claiming that it is very user-friendly platform that does not require any special skills or settings. Thus, it is considered as a convenient online learning platform for the teachers and students.

In addition, Facebook can develop a constructivist learner centered online learning, intellectual participations, and discussions, and hence can illuminate critical thinking learning experience more constructively, as it has the potential to motivate student inquiry and create a context in which they learn cooperatively and collaboratively, promoting both reflection and critical thinking (Black, 2005).

Thus, implementing Facebook in this study aims at achieving two main objectives (1) to improve English writing skills and (2) to encourage critical thinking in the context of online discussions, as student-to-student interaction create freer discussion and analysis of ideas (Seo, 2007) as students can freely express themselves to their peers in more comfortable zone away from classroom restrictions; As well as it exposes students to other peers with different thoughts and ideas than their own and grants them the chance to respond to these differences; hence, they learn from each other by interacting with and evaluating others' ideas. Besides, the role of the instructor in monitoring facilitating, interpreting, and synthesizing of information and ideas (Wang, 2009) is also essential. For instance, it is mainly the instructor's responsibility to emphasis avoiding any personal bias in these discussions and comments.

Aim of the Study

This study attempts to show that significant changes do not necessarily require a giant reform; small changes would return with great results. By adopting two well-known approaches, the constructivist and infusion approaches for the sake of achieving deeper and life-long learning experience, the current study aims to redesign the teaching instruction by infusing Paul and Elder's critical thinking skills into a literature course in an Arab context, an attempt to use the current curriculum for improving both students' critical thinking and writing using Facebook under COVID-19 lockdown.

Research Questions

The current study attempts to answer the following questions:

- 1. To what extent can critical thinking improve students' writing?
- 2. To what extent can Facebook as a learning platform stimulate students' writing constructively?
- 3. What is students' perception of this critical thinking-infused constructivist course model?

Literature Review

Status of English in Saudi Arabia

English language is taught in Saudi Arabian as a foreign language. It is not widely used nor practiced in everyday life, and the intensity of the English curricula is generally low but varies according to the studying level. Students join universities with low to intermediate level of English, which does not qualify them to study their fields in English, as most of the university courses are taught in English. To fill this language gap, universities offer foundation courses in English in which students complete five levels of pure English before they start their specializing courses. However, these courses fail to fully bridge this gap due to numerous reasons, the most important of which is the methodology of teaching English. In fact, English is taught theoretically similarly to mathematical formulas, i.e., students memorize new words and grammar rules by heart with no practical use.

Reform in English curriculum, teaching methods, teaching aids, and teaching atmosphere and students' attitudes have been called for several years ago (Gordon, 1980; Al Ahaydib, 1986) but could not find its way till the recent time. In response to the 2030 vision of Saudi Arabia, serious and productive actions start to take place in all fields of education especially English language teaching due to the awareness of Saudi Arabia Government of its reformative role in developing the country and coping with the dramatic and accelerating changes happening worldwide. Educational leaders and stakeholders have started to work on developing new modern curricula that facilitate progress and have already published a sophisticated range of education outcomes for higher education to level with the requirements of the job market and to prepare well equipped, highly educated generations (Full text of Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030, 2016). Their goals include refining current curricula, implementing technology, and training teachers to use effective teaching methods and best practices, to name just a few. Such reform steps must consider that with the massive spread of information and accelerating advancement of technology, students' academic achievement should not be measured by the amount of information they store in their brains, but the way they deal with it, filter it, make use of it, and connect it with their real-life experiences. The focus in teaching and learning must shift from "what to learn" to "how to learn" in an interactive and engaging manner.

Critical Thinking and Its Importance for Better Learning

Critical thinking is commonly known as sets of skills applicable in all fields of study that lead to better learning. However, it is hard to agree on one unified definition for it in educational programs and courses as each definition has its own core elements and standards, as Halanon (1995) stated "no single definition of critical thinking is widely accepted" (p. 75). Therefore, some definitions can be more appropriate for certain programs or courses than others. For instance, for English literature courses, theories founded by Glaser (1941); Lipman (2003), or Paul and Eldar (2007) may be more adequate, as critical thinking is referred to as a skillful thinking process, in which the skills of language are used as tools to examine and analyze the content. Thus the skills of thinking, reading, and writing critically are intimately interrelated; students are supposed to use clear and accurate language in interpreting learning content, appraising evidence, evaluating arguments, and drawing warranted conclusions that can be tested, a process that enables students to reconstruct their knowledge of English literature by reaching accurate judgments based on wider experiences (Glaser, 1941). They would also learn how to detect vagueness and ambiguity from clarity and precision within the learning content they study in order to articulate clear, relevant, and significant thoughts and points (Paul and Eldar, 2007).

However, critical thinking is hardly practiced by undergraduate students of English language and literature; and if that happens, it is limited to sets of analysis, evaluation, or reader-response questions which have no criteria to be met. Students' answers are neither organized nor assessed as the students are not trained to answer critical thinking questions, they fail to use clear and accurate language to represent their ideas, and their answers lack common critical thinking standards, such as depth, breadth, and significance. Hence, lecturers or educators usually notice that students forget the learning content soon after the end of the courses and rarely connect the acquired knowledge to other courses. Such obstacles can be attributed to the unavailability of the academic courses in English Language and Literature departments that aim to foster critical thinking.

On these grounds, Paul and Elder (2019) have proposed a model of critical thinking, which consists of a set of reasoning skills that examine the content sensitively, a group of intellectual standards that aims to self-assessing and correcting, and intellectual traits that differentiate to what extent thinkers are capable of being fair-minded and critical. Students cannot engage in better thinking unless they learn how to employ criteria and standards by means of which they can assess their thinking for themselves (Lipman, 2003). Paul and Elder (2019) also assure that the four language skills are interrelated with critical thinking and need to be practiced together. Based on their theory, students can improve their thinking and language skills from spontaneous and superficial levels to deep and long-life learning through persistent practice of critical thinking skills and constant assessment in language.

The Infusion Approach for Teaching Critical Thinking

The infusion approach is based on teaching students critical thinking skills by using content and context in which they can explicitly use these skills (Ennis, 1989). Weinstein (1995) argues that critical thinking should be embedded in other subjects because "whatever the dispositions, skills, and strategies used, they need to be identified, contextualized, and exercised within the regular curriculum if critical thinking is to take a secure place in teaching and learning" (p. 40). Thus, the infusion approach emphasizes the process of acquisition of thinking skills through the context of content learning and instruction and instils critical thinking skills along with the study subjects (Swartz, 1992). Furthermore, applying the infusion approach can be one of the best options in reforming English literature curriculum on the short term as it does not require a complete change of the materials, but to redesign the course instruction keeping critical thinking in mind, and shifting the teaching from teacher-centered to student-centered. These can be simple efforts but can make a big difference.

Paul and Elder's critical theory is infused in the current study in a literature course to foster undergraduate students' critical thinking and improve their writing skill. It is selected because of its universality and applicability to language and literature courses, as (Paul and Elder, 2019, p. 128) claim that its elements and standards are "present in all reasoning of all subjects in all cultures for all time." They also add that mastering this theory in one context enables students to apply it in other contexts, whether academic studies or real-life experiences; hence mastering it would also contribute to improving students' content learning in future courses. Paul and Elder (2019) believe that students have to consistently learn how to write as they write to learn. They define substantive writing as "the ability to identify important ideas and express significant implications of those ideas in clear and precise writing" (p. 10). Paul and Elder's framework for writing critically, which is built on a set of reasoning elements and of intellectual standards for assessing the elements, requires students to be able to apply one or more of the following five levels: (1) paraphrasing accurately the learning content into their own and identifying the essential meaning of it; (2) explicating the thesis statement of the learning content, by stating, elaborating, exemplifying, and illustrating the thesis of each part or paragraph; (3) analyzing their thinking for assessing it by identifying; (4) evaluating and assessing the text using the intellectual standards: clarity, precision, accuracy, relevance, significance, depth, breadth, logic, and fairness; and finally (5) practicing role-playing the thinking of the author to demonstrate their critical thinking analysis of the text. On this basis, it is crucial for students to understand the intimate relationship between thinking and writing, any significant deficiency in thinking entails a parallel deficiency in writing and vice versa (Paul and Elder, 2019).

Facebook as a Constructivist Tool for Online Learning

Constructivism is a well-researched theory in education which emphasizes that learning should be an active process through which students improve their learning skills and building knowledge within a supportive community (Taylor, 2009). One of the essential criteria of constructivism is the interaction among students during the learning process. Students use their prior knowledge and experiences for constructing new knowledge (Hoover, 1996; Driscoll, 2005) and share their ideas and experiences with their peers (Almala, 2006; Lim and Ismail, 2010; Alhojailan, 2012; LaRue, 2012). The role of educators or teachers shifts from the "sage on the stage [to] the guide on the side" (King, 1993, p. 30). Their role becomes more that of a counselor, consultant, and friendly critic (Brooks and Brooks, 1999); they prepare activities for the learning content, observe students, and provide assistance that keeps the learning process smoothly moving along.

The constructivist Carwille (2007), among others, states that it is crucial to apply the constructivist approach in online teaching because it encourages students to be active and motivated. With the massive advancement in technology, various Learning Management Systems (LMSs) are founded and implemented for educational purposes, whether formal such as Moodle or informal such as social media. As Weller et al. (2005) contend digital learning can contribute to improving the learning process in an innovative manner in which students generate and share subjective

rather than objective experiences and thoughts to construct new knowledge (Von Glasersfeld, 1990). Social media applications, such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter, can help in changing the teaching mode from an instructional mode based on lecturing to a collaborative mode, in which students are engaged in discussions and exchange of ideas with their peers in an active and interactive process (Fosnot and Perry, 1996; Goktalay and Ozdilek, 2010). Each student becomes part of a community that works together to improve the learning content (Collins, 2009). Literature is rich with studies and researches that particularly investigate the effectiveness of social media as constructivist teaching tools. Lantz et al. (2013) found that social media can offer a collaborative language-learning space in which students combine learning content and communicative use of language if social media is integrated properly and its purpose clearly understood by students and educators (Kear, 2004).

Several studies have explored the impact of Facebook on education, considering several aspects, such as utilizing it in teaching and learning, stakeholders' attitudes and perspectives, including teachers, students, and administrators, toward utilizing it for educational purposes and as an educational resource (Kabilan et al., 2010; Aydin, 2012) and the relationship between Facebook utilization and students' motivation and engagement (Hyland, 2004; Junco, 2012). Furthermore, Facebook features facilitate communication without violating users' privacy, as these groups do not necessitate their members to be mutual friends. In one study, Alshehri and Lally (2019) investigate university students' attitude toward using social media in education at a Saudi university. Although the study finds that all the participants were familiar with social media and frequently used various applications and exhibited a positive attitude toward them, it indicates that social media are still not widely implemented in the education field in Saudi Arabia.

Facebook as a Learning Tool During COVID-19 Lockdown

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the abrupt closure of institutions and universities in Saudi Arabia has caused students to have significant challenges continue their academic attainment; hence, an immediate action was needed, that was basically implementing technology in education, developing online learning communities, and improving their capability to be more innovative in using the various applications to involve their students in a significant and accessible online teaching-learning experience, as well as cater their needs.

Social media, such as Facebook, Telegram, WhatsApp, and other has become inevitable for the continuity of education, namely teaching and learning the English language skills (Kerres, 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Selecting one application would be mainly based on how it can be used to facilitate constructive and effective learning, such as planning the lessons, posting the learning materials, and students-students and studentsinstructor's interaction, with keeping students' confidence and independent learning in mind.

Supporting studies of Low and Warawudhi (2016); Faryadi (2017), and Alhumaid et al. (2020), in which they refers to the significance of social media, mainly Facebook, in enhancing

students' English writing skill in an encouraging learning environment, as they found that students can improve their confidence, contentment, motivation, and perceptions about learning English. In addition, they conclude that Facebook can improve English learning and interaction between instructors and students, especially in big classes with variant ability students. Notwithstanding above, Facebook is selected for this study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A triangulation mixed methods design was used in the study and it is a type of design in which different but complementary data were collected on the same topic (Creswell et al., 2003). In this study, quantitative instruments were used to test the overall perception of the participants and their critical thinking and language skills improvement. Concurrent with this data collection, qualitative phase included the intervention that is designed and conducted by the researcher, a PhD candidate specializing in infusing critical thinking in English language and literature education, with 8-year experience as an EFL instructor. She successfully completed 40 training hour course: "How to Infuse Critical Thinking into Instruction" with The Foundation of Critical Thinking prior to this study. The reason for collecting both quantitative and qualitative data is to bring together the strengths of both forms of research to compare results and validate results.

Research Instruments

Following are different but complementary tools that were used to answer the research questions, their results are triangulated for more reliable results:

Post-test

The post test is aimed to measure the improvement in students' writing in both groups after completing the course and to see whether the skills of critical thinking impacted the performance of the experimental group. The posttest was assessed in terms of students' language use and critical analysis: The language skills were assessed by meeting three essential criteria: (1) correct essay structure, (2) free of grammar mistakes and use a wide range of relevant terminology, and (3) correct in-text citation and referencing. In addition, a rubric set by Paul was adopted to measure students' reasoning skills in terms of clarity, accuracy, precision, and well exemplification. Students' performance was scored in both the reasoning and language rubrics according to a 10-point scale: 0-2 points for unacceptable (unskilled) writing; 3-4 points for poor (minimally skilled) writing; 5-6 points for mixed level writing (beginning skills); 7-8 points for commendable writing (skilled); and 9-10 points for fully meeting the criterion that is excellent and highly skilled writing (Appendix A). A t test is then done to determine if there is a significant difference between the writing level of the control and experimental groups.

Field Notes

Regular, detailed, and precise field notes were taken from both groups during the online teaching and learning to check the effectiveness of the intervention in achieving its purpose. The researcher observed and recorded students' interaction, progress and involvement in each, and consequently to what extent each platform succeeded to stimulate students' writing. The fields notes were used tobolster the results of other tools.

Questionnaire

A questionnaire of five sub-sections designed by the researcher aims to answer the third research question by finding out the experimental group students' perception and attitude toward the intervention. A five-point Likert scale was used for 44 items questionnaire in terms of their overall perception of the intervention, their critical thinking and language skills improvement, and their attitude of implementing Facebook for learning and the instructor's constructivist teaching style by indicating whether they strongly agree, agree, disagree, strongly disagree, or are neutral about the questionnaire items (Appendix B). In order to check the validity of the questionnaire, a group of PhD holders were asked to evaluate the questionnaire items and provide their comments and suggestions and a final draft was written accordingly; then Cronbach alpha was performed in order to check its reliability and the overall reliability ranged from (0.92) to (0.97), which revealed good reliability.

Research Design

An only-posttest two-group randomized experimental design was used in this study. Qualitative and quantitative data were collected for more reliable and validated results. The intervention is designed and conducted by the researcher, a PhD candidate specializing in infusing critical thinking in English language and literature education, with 8-year experience as an EFL instructor. She successfully completed 40 training hour course: "How to Infuse Critical Thinking into Instruction" with *The Foundation of Critical Thinking* prior to this study.

The intervention took place during exceptional circumstances due to COVID-19 lockdown, when teaching the university courses was transferred to the online mode. Out of 16 weeks (one academic semester), all the students had already completed 6 weeks of study on campus, in which they were theoretically introduced to the main themes of the course. Two weeks were allocated for the mid and final exams; however, these exams are not used as tools as they included materials which are not included in this study. Thus, 8 weeks were assigned for online study, in which students had to do critical reading and analysis of two short stories. In this vein, both the experimental and control groups were taught by the same researcher *via* online mode with the former as per the new design of the course, and the latter as per the traditional way of lecturing at the university.

Unlike studies such as DiVall and Kirwin (2012) in which the researchers compared the pros and cons of the formal (Moodle) and informal (social media) online platforms, this study implemented both modes of teaching for other reasons. Moodle was used for the control group according to the university regulations, similar to other running courses, while the informal mode, namely Facebook, was selected by the researcher due to students' familiarity with it and all its facilities.

Instruction Procedure for the Control Group

The researcher assumed the role of a lecturer with the control group lecturing them as in class using the university LMS. Prior to the lockdown, the first online lecture was devoted to introducing the LMS and how to use it during and after the lectures, as some students were unfamiliar with it. They were guided on how to download the presentations, to contact the lecturer *via* email, and to participate during the lecture; however, the only way of participation available for all the courses was the written chat. As the mode of teaching is lecturing, students do not interrupt lecturers during their presentations. However, unlike class lectures, attendance was not checked as making sure to involve all students was merely impossible.

Instruction Procedure for the Experimental Group The experimental group resumed the course but with a constructivist teaching style using Facebook. A *Social Learning* group with its features, such as creating units and tracking members, progress for facilitating the teaching process was created and implemented. The learning content was organized in units that match the pacing schedule of the main course: there were three units, the introduction and two others for the learning content. In the first unit, different materials, such as infographics, graphs, and videos, were uploaded to introduce students to the concept of critical thinking in an attractive manner. Two more units were created for the learning content; each unit was allocated 3 weeks of study in order for the experimental group to be on the same pace as the control group.

In the first week on Facebook, the experimental group had a 2-h live meeting with the first hour devoted to introducing the theory and skills of critical thinking and the last hour allocated for discussion. In order to better familiarize the students with the critical thinking skills, they were informed to check the introductory unit on Facebook group and were provided with two short essays to read and think about prior to the meeting. Thus, the second-hour discussion was meant to be a warming up activity in which the instructor explicitly guided students to answer the set of critical thinking questions and encouraged them to share their thoughts.

After the students' attempts to answer each question, the instructor explained the meaning of the keywords that students need to understand in order to answer the questions. For example, in the first question, students had to know that a thesis statement of a text is its key idea; it is essential to identify it in any text they read in order to clearly understand it and connect its meanings to other concepts from prior knowledge and experiences (Paul and Elder, 2019), and so on. By the end of the discussion, the students were provided with the answer-key to the questions, written by an expert in critical thinking, to better understand the procedure of applying the

theory. By the end of the first meeting students were requested to review all the content posted in the introductory unit to reinforce their understanding and to post any questions about any vague points to be clarified and assessed by the instructor.

From the second week on, the students started to have only 1-h live meeting, in which some of them were asked to summarize in their own words what they had read, paraphrase it, and give examples on it from their experiences (Paul and Elder, 2019), while the others had to comment on their summaries and examples by applying the reasoning standards of clarity, accuracy, precision, relevance, depth, breadth, and significance (Paul and Elder, 2019). The second hour was up to the students to complete the above mentionedcritical thinking questions posted in the group at their own pace, as these questions were estimated to require approximately 1 h of work.

The students were to interact and collaborate on the Facebook group by posting their answers and assessing their peers' answers using the *reply* and *tag* facilities for commenting, agreeing, disagreeing, and asking for clarification and explanation. In addition to learning the content, students had the chance to receive feedback on their language use and techniques. The researcher monitored students' interaction and progression; she followed up their responses, probed their thoughts, and commented on them and highlighted their language mistakes by providing individualized feedback on each comment. Finally, the researcher made use of *Create Group Event* facility for posting details about the course pacing schedule such as the page count to read each week and the deadline for posting answers; hence, students received regular notifications regarding the course progression.

Participants

Participants in this study are 40 English literature undergraduate students, enrolled in a third-year course at a private university in Saudi Arabia. The participants' level in English is pre- to intermediate as they have completed five courses in general English in the foundation year plus a course in academic writing. They are supposed to be well-equipped to write wellorganized and coherent paragraphs and essays. Prior to the experiment, the students were provided with informed consent.

Data Analysis

To answer the first research question students' written assignments were collected by the end of the intervention to be evaluated. A t test of students' writing in both groups was done to compare students' writing in the experimental and control groups. As shown in **Table 1**, students' writing performance was analytically assessed in terms of language and reasoning abilities.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Students in the experimental group demonstrated significantly higher performance in the reasoning skills and writing skill:

1. There was a statistically significant difference in reasoning scores between the two groups of students, t (38) = -8.77, p < 0.00, two-tailed with the intervention group (M = 7.11,

Variable		Control group		Intervention group				_
Variable	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	t	ρ
Reasoning	22	4.59	1.05	18	7.11	0.68	-8.77	0.000
Language	22	6.36	1.26	18	7.56	0.92	-3.35	0.000

 TABLE 1
 Independent samples t-test comparing students learn CT skills utilizing Facebook (Intervention Group) and Control Group' Improvements of Reasoning and Language Skills.

SD=0.68) scoring higher than control group (M=4.59, SD=1.05). The magnitude of the differences in the means (mean difference = -2.52, 95% CI: -3.10 to -1.94) was large (eta squared = 0.67).

2. There was a statistically significant difference in language scores between the two groups of students, t (38) = -3.35, p < 0.00, two-tailed with the intervention group (M=7.56, SD=0.92) scoring higher than control group (M=6.36, SD=1.26). The magnitude of the differences in the means (mean difference=-1.19, 95% CI: -1.91 to -0.47) was large (eta squared=0.23).

These significant differences are attributed to the reasoning thinking process that students in the experimental group applied. In fact, the infusion questions assisted students to deeply read the stories and represent their thoughts and comprehension of what they read in a skilled way through recognizing the reasoning elements of purpose, clarifying, questioning, summarizing, and connecting important ideas together. Overall, these students were more able to think deeper and write better, as they demonstrated the acquired ability to analyze the logic of the learning content, its purpose, its main questions, and the information it contains (Paul and Eldar, 2007).

The results support several studies which deal with the interrelation between critical thinking and writing improvement in various contexts (Yang et al., 2013; Harizaj and Hajrulla, 2017; Lu and Xie, 2019). Paul's CT theory enhances students' critical thinking and improves their writing skill and their writing organization in terms of rephrasing sentences, summarizing paragraphs, and identifying thesis statements, such improvements are mainly due to the practiced critical thinking skills (Afshar et al., 2017; Lu and Xie, 2019).

To answer the second research question "To what extent can Facebook as a learning platform stimulate students' writing constructively?" Field notes were taken by the researcher during the 8 weeks intervention. They were mainly concerned with students' interaction and participation on Facebook and compared with the other platforms (LMS) to explore the effectiveness of using Facebook as a constructivist tool for teaching and learning. For the experimental group, the researcher's notes supported the suggestion of Mbati (2013) that critical discussions, whether live chat or posts and comments, proved to be ideal for utilizing constructivism in online education. Posting the set of critical thinking questions in the group encouraged constructivist learning as the students learned through collaboration and interaction with their peers. Their posts and comments indicated their improvement and transformation from passive to active learners capable of forming their subjective understanding and comprehension of the learning content and of analyzing it based on the critical thinking skills they had received.

The students interacted using Facebook on three levels: interaction with the learning content, with the instructor and with their peers. First, students' interaction with the learning content was done by analyzing the short stories using the infused critical thinking skills. These skills enabled students to be the leaders of their learning; they had to come up with their own analyses and viewpoints. Although they had some critical thinking elements and standards to follow, but still it was their task to reach subjective conclusions. There was no one right answer and all the answers were assessed based on the critical thinking standards. Students' responses to some questionnaire items such as "The course has helped me understand how to read literary works," "I can better develop relevant ideas about the studying topics," and "I can better use supporting information to express my viewpoints" with the majority agreed/strongly agreed showed that the critical thinking skills contributed to creating a thinking map for the students which leads to better learning.

Second, students' interaction with the instructor took on a new turn, i.e., the instructor's role was no longer to lead the learning process, as the case with the control group, but to trigger students' thinking and give them feedback where necessary. Her constructivist teaching role supports the argument of Li (2011), who emphasizes the role of teachers in finding a fruitful space for learning through thinking. Indeed finding such a space for all the students to participate, using Facebook facilities such as commenting and tagging, helped the instructor to determine their levels, their progress in content learning, and their perception of critical thinking in addition to their writing ability. Consequently, she was able to assess each student individually according to their output. Although all the experimental group students were involved in the discussions, the researcher could identify their different levels, abilities, and needs from their comments, and interaction with their peers, and she gave personalized feedback accordingly. This was reflected in the students' attitude toward the teacher, as shown in Figure 1 below.

Students' interaction with their peers facilitated collaborative and interactive learning. By commenting on their peers' posts to ask for elaboration, agreeing, or disagreeing, giving examples or using other critical thinking standards, the students were able to interact more deeply and significantly. In addition, they acquired new vocabulary and grammar structures from



one another. In several posts, the researcher found some students asking their peers about the meaning of some words or suggesting better words to express the same idea. These results support of Alotumi (2015) who investigated the effects of peer feedback on online learning groups and found out that learners became more active and confident, and improved their own writing by reading and commenting on their peer's writing. Like the findings of other studies (Sirivedin et al., 2018; Hasan et al., 2019), the researcher also noticed how students improved their grammar and vocabulary and how they exchanged information and sought advice and clarification as part of their learning process. This informal way of learning significantly helped the students improve their writing skills and their critical thinking skills.

Involving students and making them responsible for their learning created a sense of enjoyment and commitment. For example, receiving notifications for new updates in the group, using emojis and tagging each other created a sense of friendly atmosphere, and relieved the students from the pressure of accomplishing the tasks in a short time. In fact, the majority of the students responded to the following questionnaire items "the course workload was appropriate for the course level" and "the amount of studying hours I needed at home to do required tasks was appropriate" with agree and strongly agree. No students disagreed/strongly disagreed with these statements, but there were a few neutral responses. This result is also articulated in studies of Wu (2016) and Aziz and Khatimah (2019) in which they agreed that utilizing Facebook has various advantages: the participants' enjoyment of the online writing classes. openness, flexibility, accessibility, interactivity, and timeliness.

On the other hand, the researcher noticed that although the students in the control group had the chance to post their questions and inquiries during and after the lectures, their participation was very limited, and almost all of the questions were about the exams and marks. For example, once a student asked "if I memorize your presentations would I guarantee passing the course?" then a flow of questions started pouring regarding the materials they have to study (memorize) and the word count and the marks they would lose if they do not reach it. These questions showed that students were not really involved in the learning process; instead, how to pass the course. This attitude could be attributed to the instructional method of teaching which excluded students from creating knowledge and coming up with their own ideas; their post-test results confirmed their weaknesses in creating substantive pieces of writing, as the traditional curricula do not include the critical writing skills practiced in the intervention.

Further, comparing the longer lectures with less communication and interaction in the control group to the shorter live sessions in which all the students were involved in the experimental group, showed a significant difference between them. That also justifies the significant difference in the writing results, as Mayer and Wittrock (1996) claimed, communication played a vital role in enhancing the learning experience as students shared and exchanged their thoughts and information.

These critical thinking practices allowed students to learn out of the box and integrate their previous experiences and knowledge into the learning content, which is an important criterion for knowledge construction in the constructivist theory.



Supporting the findings of other studies (Sirivedin et al., 2018; Hasan et al., 2019), the researcher's notes revealed how students improved their grammar and vocabulary when learning English informally online as well as how they exchanged information and sought advice and clarification as part of their learning process, which significantly helped improving their writing skills in addition to their critical thinking skills.

The questionnaire was distributed to the experimental group students to explore their perception of this critical thinking-infused constructivist course model. Students' responses in the questionnaire supported recommendations of Manca and Ranieri (2016) for utilizing Facebook for educational purpose. Facebook is found to contribute to create and develop new different roles for learners and teachers and facilitate applying new methods of communication and collaboration within educational contexts.

For the first section of the questionnaire "The overall impact of the intervention on the participants," only 4%–5% of the students believed that the intervention did not have a positive impact on their learning, 18% percent of the students chose neutral, while 74% ranged between *agree* and *strongly agree*. Therefore, it can be concluded that the majority believed that the intervention introduced them to critical thinking, made them aware of its importance in learning and helped them better study literature courses. Also the workload and time allocated were appropriate (**Figure 2**).

For the next two sections, "Students' CT skills improvement" and "Students' English skills improvement," as shown in **Figures 3, 4** respectively, the majority agreed that the intervention had significant impact on acquiring and improving their skills. About 69% of students *agreed* and *strongly agreed* that the intervention enhanced their critical thinking skills, namely understanding the importance of implementing reasoning skills in English courses to better analyze authors' arguments and support with significant information and elaboration. In addition, they believed that they learned to differentiate between facts and assumptions, make clearer inferences and develop relevant ideas about the topics under study. As for the second section, 61% believed that their English improved alongside the learning content, as the intervention increased their confidence in using English language to express their thoughts and beliefs orally in live discussions or in a written form on the Facebook group. However, neutral answers in both sections were 19 and 26% and disagree responses were 12 and 13%, respectively. These results are most probably due to the time limitations of the study, as less able students needed more time to be able to use the critical thinking skills smoothly and be comfortable with the constructivist mode of learning. Nevertheless, their posttests showed higher grades than their peers in the control group.

For utilizing Facebook as a learning tool, the majority agreed/ strongly agreed that Facebook facilitated their learning and their critical thinking enhancement and increased their communication and interaction as they cooperated and collaborated with their peers and the instructor, which also increased their motivation and involvement (Figure 5). On the other hand, 74% of the students found that the instructor was successful in redesigning the course for the sake of infusing the critical thinking skills, and she clearly introduced it to them. Also she effectively organized and facilitated the Facebook group and live chat discussions, challenged them to do their best and provided individualized feedback on their writing, an act that helped them recognize their weaknesses and work on them (Figure 1). The responses support findings of Schrader (2015) that the Facebook group contributes to finding a space to build shared meaning and personal connections between the students and their peers, their teacher, and the learning content.





The results of the questionnaire showed that the intervention which was built on the constructivist and infusion approaches for teaching literature is welcomed by students, as their responses were generally positive toward infusing critical thinking in the learning content for a more comprehensive and substantive use of language.

LIMITATIONS

The results of the current study show significant differences between the experimental and control groups, and support results of several studies in the literature. However, the study still suffered from a few limitations. These include the short period of time, the small sample size, and disregard of students' variables of gender. More studies have to be conducted in order to get more generalizable results.

CONCLUSION

As mentioned earlier, this study did not aim to design a new course for teaching critical thinking but to redesign the teaching instruction through the infusion of a set of critical thinking skills in an English literature course, namely during COVID-19 pandemic, as mostly English language students in Saudi Arabia



have been not very successful in improving their writing skills significantly prior the pandemic.

Using social media, namely Facebook, aimed to facilitate constructivist leaning and make the learning context friendly and easy to handle by all students through self, peers', and instructor's assessment. With the upcoming COVID-19 lockdown, educational sectors more than any time before have to put effective and workable alternatives for such exceptional circumstances. As many issues may confront students during their new online learning experience, such as motivation, self-confidence, anxiety, hesitation, and English language abilities; as teaching in class is different from teaching online from various perspectives and using same teaching techniques would merely lead to same outcomes, which were not expected. Believing that there should be well-designed teaching instructions and materials for effective education, this study aims to integrate social media, namely Facebook, as a means to overcome students' hurdles and improve their critical thinking and English language skills during the outbreak, as it supports the claim of Paul and Elder (2001) that the new teaching methods and curricula have to keep critical thinking in mind as the quality of students' thinking today determines the quality of the world they create tomorrow.

Finally, this study aims to draw educators and stakeholders' awareness to their students' obstacles improving their writing and provide a solution to their problems through suggesting a course design that addresses such obstacles and challenges

REFERENCES

Afshar, H. S., Movassagh, H., and Arbabi, H. R. (2017). The interrelationship among critical thinking, writing an argumentative essay in an L2 and their subskills. *Lang. Learn. J.* 45, 419–433. doi: 10.1080/09571736.2017.1320420 and offers students a joyful and fruitful learning experience, so that no learners would be left behind in improving the target skills while studying online.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Near East University Ethical Committee Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.903452/ full#supplementary-material

Al Hosni, S. (2014). Speaking difficulties encountered by young EFL learners. Int. J. Stud. English Lang. Literat. 2, 22–30.

Al Ahaydib, M. (1986). Teaching English as a Foreign Language in the Immediate and Secondary Schools of Saudi Arabia: Diagnostic Study. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation. University of Kansas, USA.

- Alhojailan, M. (2012). "The Current Use and Effectiveness of Weblogs as e-Learning Tools in Higher Education." in 3rd International Conference on e-Education, e-Business, e-Management and e-Learning IPEDR. January 5-7, 2012; Singapore: IACSIT Press, 120–124.
- Alhumaid, K., Ali, S., Waheed, A., Zahid, E., and Habes, M. (2020). Covid-19 and E-learning: Perceptions and Attitudes of teachers towards E-learning acceptance in the developing countries. *Multicult. Educ.* 6, 100–115. doi: 10.5281/ zenodo.4060121
- Almala, A. H. (2006). Applying principles of constructivism to a quality E-learning environment. *Distance Learn.* 3, 33–40.
- Alotumi, M. (2015). "Facebook interaction (FBI) and essay writing pre-task: Yemeni EFL students' perceptions, attitudes and challenges," in *Innovation in English Language Teacher Education*. eds. G. Pickering and P. Gunashekar (New Delhi: British Council), 125–133.
- Alrabai, F. (2017). From teacher dependency to learner Independence: a study of Saudi learners' readiness for autonomous learning of English as a foreign language. Learning and teaching in higher education: gulf. *Perspectives* 14, 70–97. doi: 10.18538/lthe.v14.n1.262
- Alshehri, O., and Lally, V. (2019). Students perceptions of the use of social media in higher education in Saudi Arabia. *Int. J. Educ. Pedag. Sci.* 13, 28–31. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.3607729
- Ansari, A. (2012). Teaching of English to Arab students: problems and remedies. *Educ. Res.* 3, 519–524.
- Aydin, S. (2012). A review of research on Facebook as an educational environment. Educ. Technol. Res. Dev. 60, 1093–1106. doi: 10.1007/s11423-012-9260-7
- Aziz, Z. A., and Khatimah, H. (2019). Enjoying learning writing through Facebook group. *Lingua Cultura* 13, 115–119. doi: 10.21512/ lc.v13i1.5513
- Black, S. (2005). Teaching students to think critically. Educ. Digest 70, 42-47.
- Brooks, M. G., and Brooks, J. G. (1999). The courage to be constructivist. *Educ. Leadersh.* 57, 18–24.
- Carwille, J. (2007). A constructivist approach to online teaching and learning. *Inquiry* 12, 68–73.
- Collins, R. A. (2009). The role of learning styles and technology. Int. J. Web Learn. Teach. Technol. 4, 50–65. doi: 10.4018/jwbltt.2009091504
- Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M., and Hanson, W. (2003). "Advanced mixed methods research designs," in *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioral Research*. eds. A. Tashakkori and C. Teddlie (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 209–240.
- DiVall, M. V., and Kirwin, J. L. (2012). Using Facebook to facilitate courserelated discussion between students and faculty members. Am. J. Pharm. Educ. 76:32. doi: 10.5688/ajpe76232
- Driscoll, M. P. (2005). Psychology of Learning for Instruction (3rd Edn.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Ekoc, A. (2014). Facebook groups as a supporting tool for language classrooms. *Turk. Online J. Dist. Educ.* 15, 18–26. doi: 10.17718/tojde.13403
- Ennis, R. H. (1989). Critical thinking and subject specificity: clarification and needed research. *Educ. Res.* 18, 4–10. doi: 10.3102/0013189X018003004
- Faryadi, Q. (2017). Effectiveness of Facebook in English language learning: a case study. Open Access Libr. J. 4:e4017. doi: 10.4236/oalib.1104017
- Fosnot, C. T., and Perry, R. S. (1996). "Constructivism: a psychological theory of learning," in *Constructivism: Theory, Perspectives, and Practice. 2nd Edn.* ed. C. T. Fosnot (New York: Teachers College Press), 8–33.
- Full text of Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030 (2016). Saudi Gazette, Riyadh. Available at: https://english.alarabiya.net/en/perspective/features/2016/04/26/Full-textof-Saudi-Arabia-s-Vision-2030.html (Accessed April 26, 2016).
- Glaser, E. M. (1941). An Experiment in the Development of Critical Thinking. New York: Columbia University.
- Goktalay, B. S., and Ozdilek, Z. (2010). Pre-service teachers' perceptions about web 2.0 technologies. *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 2, 4737–4741. doi: 10.1016/j. sbspro.2010.03.760
- Gordon, M. E. (1980). Attitudes and Motivation in second Language Achievement: A Study of Primary school Students Learning English in Belize, Central America. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Halanon, J. S. (1995). Demystifying critical thinking. *Teach. Psychol.* 22, 75–81. doi: 10.1207/s15328023top2201_23
- Hammami, M. (2002). Linguistic needs for Arab learners of English. *TESOL* Q. 32, 98–127.

- Harizaj, M., and Hajrulla, V. (2017). Fostering learner's critical thinking skills in EFL: some practical activities. *Eur. Sci. J.* 13, 129–133. doi: 10.19044/ esj.2017.v13n29p126
- Hasan, H. F., Nat, M., and Vanduhe, V. Z. (2019). Gamified collaborative environment in Moodle. *IEEE Access* 7, 89833–89844. doi: 10.1109/ ACCESS.2019.2926622
- Hoover, W. A. (1996). The practice implications for constructivism. *SEDL Letter* 9, 1–2.
- Hussein, N., and Elttayef, A. (2016). The impact of utilizing Skype as a social tool network community on developing English major Students' discourse competence in the English language syllables. J. Educ. Pract. 7, 29–33.
- Hyland, F. (2004). Learning autonomously: contextualizing out-of-class English language learning. Lang. Aware. 13, 180-202. doi: 10.1080/09658410408667094
- Jones, S., and Fox, S. (2009). Generations Online in 2009. Paw Research Center. Junco, R. (2012). The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation
- in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Comput. Educ.* 58, 162–171. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2011.08.004
- Kabilan, M. K., Ahmad, N., and Abidin, M. J. Z. (2010). Facebook: an online environment for learning of English in institutions of higher education? *Internet High. Educ.* 13, 179–187. doi: 10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.07.003
- Kear, K. (2004). Peer learning using asynchronous discussion systems in distance education. Open Learn. 19, 151–164. doi: 10.1080/0268051042000224752
- Kerres, M. (2020). Against All odds: education in Germany coping with COVID-19. Postdigit. Sci. Educ. 2, 690–694. doi: 10.1007/s42438-020-00130-7
- King, A. (1993). From sage on the stage to guide on the side. Coll. Teach. 41, 30-35. doi: 10.1080/87567555.1993.9926781
- Laderman, D. (2020). Will Shift to Remote Teaching Be Boon or Bane for Online Learning. Online: Inside Higher ED. Available at: https://www. insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/03/18/most-teaching-goingremote-will-help-or-hurt-online-learning
- Lantz, A. A., Vigmo, S., and Bowen, R. (2013). Crossing boundaries in Facebook: Students' framing of language learning activities as extended spaces. *Int. J. Comput.-Support. Collab. Learn.* 8, 293–312. doi: 10.1007/s11412-013-9177-0
- LaRue, E. M. (2012). Using Facebook as course management software: a case study. *Teach. Learn. Nurs.* 7, 17–22. doi: 10.1016/j.teln.2011.07.004
- Lewis, B. K., and Nichols, C. (2012). Social media and strategic communication: a two year study of attitudes and perceptions about social media among college students. *Public Relat. J.* 6, 1–10.
- Li, L. (2011). Obstacles and opportunities for developing thinking through interaction in language classrooms. *Think. Skills Creat.* 6, 146–158. doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2011.05.001
- Li, L., and Pitts, J. P. (2009). Does it really matter? Using virtual office hours to enhance student-faculty interaction. J. Inf. Syst. Educ. 20, 175–185.
- Lim, T., and Ismail, J. T. (2010). The use of Facebook for online discussions among distance learners. *Turk. Online J. Dist. Educ.* 6, 146–158. doi: 10.1016/j. tsc.2011.05.001

Lipman, M. (2003). *Thinking in Education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Low, P., and Warawudhi, R. (2016). Undergraduates' attitudes towards the use of Facebook in fundamental English course. Int. J. Inform. Educ. Technol. 6, 934–939. doi: 10.7763/IJIET.2016.V6.820

- Lu, D., and Xie, Y. (2019). The effects of a critical thinking oriented instructional pattern in a tertiary EFL argumentative writing course. *High. Educ. Res. Dev.* 38, 969–984. doi: 10.1080/07294360.2019.1607830
- Manca, S., and Ranieri, M. (2016). Facebook and the others. Potentials and obstacles of social media for teaching in higher education, computers and education. *Comp. Educ.* 95, 216–230. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2016.01.012
- Mayer, R. E., and Wittrock, M. C. (1996). "Problem solving transfer," in *Handbook* of *Educational Psychology*. eds. D. Berliner and R. Calfee (New York: Macmillan), 47–62.
- Mazer, J. P., Murphy, R. E., and Simonds, C. J. (2009). The effects of teacher self-disclosure via Facebook on teacher credibility. *Lang. Media Technol.* 34, 175–183. doi: 10.1080/17439880902923655
- Mbati, L. (2013). Online social media applications for constructivism and observational learning. *Int. Rev. Res. Open Distance Learn.* 14:1579. doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v14i5.1579
- Munoz, C. L., and Towner, T. L. (2010). Social networks: Facebook's role in the advertising classroom. J. Advert. Educ. 14, 20–27. doi: 10.1177/109804821001400107

- Omer, N. I. M. S. (2018). TroublesArabs have when learning English: a case of the department of English in AlwajhCollegeTabuk university students. *Int. J. Lang. Acad.* 6, 302–310. doi: 10.18033/ijla.3856
- Park, N., Kee, K. F., and Valenzuela, S. (2009). Is there social Capital in a social network site?: Facebook use and college students' life satisfaction, trust and participation. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 14, 875–901. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01474.x
- Paul, R., and Eldar, L. (2007). A Guide for Educators to Critical Thinking Competency Standards: Standards, Principles, Performance Indicators, and Outcomes With a Critical Thinking Master Rubric. Thinkers Guide Library. Laham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers.
- Paul, R., and Elder, L. (2001). Critical Thinking: Tools for Taking Charge of your Learning and Life. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Paul, R., and Elder, L. (2019). Critical Thinking: Concepts and Tools. Lanham, Maryland: Roman and Littlefield Publishers.
- Pedro, F., Quinteiro, J. A., Ramos, D., and Maneiro, S. (2020). Covid-19 and Higher Education: Today and Tomorrow. Impact Analysis, policy responses and recommendations. UNESCO: IESALC. Available at: https://www.rightto-education.org/es/node/1317
- Rababah, G. (2005). Communication problems facing Arab learners of English. J. Lang. Learn. 3, 1740–4983.
- Schrader, D. (2015). Constructivism and learning in the age of social media: changing minds and learning communities. *New Dir. Teach. Learn.* 2015, 23–35. doi: 10.1002/tl.20160
- Seo, K. K. (2007). Utilizing peer moderating in online discussions: addressing the controversy between teacher moderation and nonmoderation. Am. J. Dist. Educ. 21, 21–36. doi: 10.1080/08923640701298688
- Sirivedin, P., Soopunyo, W., Srisuantang, S., and Wongsothorn, A. (2018). Effects of Facebook usage on English learning behavior of Thai English teachers. *Kasetsart J. Soc. Sci.* 39, 183–189. doi: 10.1016/j.kjss.2018.03.007
- Swartz, R. (1992). "Critical thinking, the curriculum, and the problem of transfer," in *Thinking: The Second International Conference*. eds. D. Perkins, J. Bishop and J. Lochhead (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum), 261–284.
- Taylor, J. E. (2009). Knowledge and Learning Claims in Blog Conversation: A Discourse Analysis in Social Psychology (DASP) Perspective.
- Von Glasersfeld, E. (1990). "An exposition of constructivism: why some like it radical," in Constructivist Views on the Teaching and Learning of Mathematics.

eds. R. A. Davis, C. A. Mayer and N. Noddings (Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics), 19-29.

- Wang, Q. (2009). Design and evaluation of a collaborative learning environment. *Comput. Educ.* 53, 1138–1146. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2009.05.023
- Wang, C. J., Ng, C. Y., and Brook, R. H. (2020). Response to COVID-19 in Taiwan: big data analytics, new technology, and proactive testing. *JAMA* 323, 1341–1342. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.3151
- Weinstein, M. (1995). Critical thinking: expanding the paradigm. *Inquiry* 15, 23–39. doi: 10.5840/inquiryctnews199515135
- Weller, M., Pegler, C., and Mason, R. (2005). Students' experience of component versus integrated virtual learning environments. J. Comput. Assist. Learn. 21, 253–259. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2729.2005.00132.x
- Wu, S. (2016). A study on the English teaching model in the Facebook environment. *Theor. Pract. Lang. Stud.* 6:1791. doi: 10.17507/tpls. 0609.10
- Yang, Y. C., Chuang, Y., Li, L. Y., and Tseng, S. (2013). A blended learning environment for individualized English listening and speaking integrating critical thinking. *Comput. Educ.* 63, 285–305. doi: 10.1016/j. compedu.2012.12.012

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Almansour and Kurt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Effects of Multimedia Assisted Song Integrated Teaching on College Students' English Learning Interests and Learning Outcomes

Yu-Zhou Luo*, Xiang-Yang Kong and Yu-Yang Ma

Business School, Guilin University of Technology, Guilin, China

In the process of globalization, the English language not only represents British and American culture, but it has also gradually become a language used all over the world, and it has become essential for many people to learn it as a second language. Education is the century business of a nation. At the same time, to meet the needs of E generation, I generation, and touch-screen generation students, teachers are increasingly undertaking multimedia-integrated curriculum design and instruction. Teachers are no longer knowledge providers, but they are expected to provide students with a personalized learning model and guide and support them in a timely manner. This study included a sample of business students from Guilin University of technology. A total of 216 students participated in a 16-week (3 h per week, a total of 48 h) course of experimental teaching. The research results showed that 1. multimedia assisted, song integrated English teaching affected learning interest, 2. That multimedia assisted, song integrated English teaching affected learning outcomes, and 3. That learning interest had significantly positive effects on learning outcome. Based on these results, this study contributes to improving college students' English listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills via multimedia teaching, which also facilitated their interest and ability to achieve the learning outcomes.

Keywords: multimedia assisted, English teaching, learning interest, enterprise, learning outcome

INTRODUCTION

English is now the predominant common language for global commerce, academic research or conferences, political exchange, and information communication (Meyers et al., 2019). More than 80% of websites in the world use English as the language of communication (D'Amico, 2018), and more than one billion people use English to communicate (Pham and Huynh, 2018). It is a fact that English is the global lingua franca. In the process of globalization, English not only represents British and American culture but has also gradually become a language widely used all over the world, meaning it is unavoidable, and that it is essential for many people to learn it as a second language.

Today's education system works with digitally native students who have grown up in an environment with various digital products. From birth, they have encountered televisions, video games, and the Internet, and have adopted the mindset and information acquisition of older generations, especially the styles of information communication they involve. Having grown up in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

Reviewed by:

Kaijun Yu, Shanghai University of Medicine and Health Sciences, China Syamsul Nor Azlan Mohamad, MARA University of Technology, Malaysia

> ***Correspondence:** Yu-Zhou Luo luoyuzhouluo@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 04 April 2022 **Accepted:** 10 May 2022 **Published:** 21 June 2022

Citation:

Luo Y-Z, Kong X-Y and Ma Y-Y (2022) Effects of Multimedia Assisted Song Integrated Teaching on College Students' English Learning Interests and Learning Outcomes. Front. Psychol. 13:912789. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.912789 this digital nation, they love motion videos, graphic explanations, and the Internet, and constantly use digital products, meaning they worry about battery life and charging. Educators face attention deficits and distractions, which are common problems today. and should actively look for causes and find appropriate teaching models to help them improve their learning styles and attitudes.

Education is the business of the century. To cope with the E generation, I generation, and touch-screen generation students, increasing numbers of teachers have integrated multimedia tools into curriculum design and instruction. In the context of this student-centered instruction, tenacious flexibility is one of the most required qualities in teachers. Teachers are no longer just knowledge providers, they are expected to provide students with a personalized learning model and guide and support them in a timely manner. As students are placed at the center of learning, teachers must become good managers of the learning environment and creative curriculum designers. It is normal for modern people to hold a device in their hands, and instead of banning its use, this strong attraction can be transformed into a learning tool. Disseminated via these digital channels, the pop music industry is popular worldwide. Through multimedia information transfer, students have heard English pop songs or watched nusic videos. Many songs reflect the spirit of young students, so they can be more easily reconciled.

This study contributes to improving college students' English listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills via multimedia teaching. The students' English learning interests and learning outcomes can be facilitated through multimedia teaching.

LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS

English songs are integrated into multimedia instruction because English songs are a combination of music and simple language. In addition, they have a sense of rhythm. They have interesting subjects and are rich in meaning. These features are excellent for remedial teaching. Frequent singing can be used as pronunciation practice for children and can cultivate the temperament of language beginners (Pavia et al., 2019). The clear, easy-tounderstand, harmonic, and easy-to-sing lyrics are a short rhythmic literary composition (Arigita-García et al., 2021). Integrating English songs into the classroom can fully develop the feeling that music is relaxing and has catchy characteristics that promote learning motivation. Relevant research has indicated that English songs, with their phonology and syllable structure, are appropriate materials for exploring language (Chen, 2018). Hong et al. (2020) mentioned that, unlike traditional English pop song teaching, which simply played music, multimedia assisted popular English teaching is a combination of music and image to promote the learning ability of learners' left and right hemispheres and enable learners to engage in the lyrics and songs. The multimedia assisted songs can successfully attract students' attention, increase learning interest, create a relaxed and pleasant learning environment, and reduce learning anxiety. With repeated listening, the integrated English curricula can increase the confidence of students as they often can sing English songs regardless of academic achievement levels. Dingyloudi et al. (2019) stated that there are many themes in western pop songs that attract young students, such as the subculture of friendship, loneliness, adventure, love, imagination, fashion, and campus. Appreciating such multimedia assisted songs can better arouse learning interest in consonance. Megreya et al. (2021) pointed out that a large number of contemporary popular slogans in English pop songs used media assistance to support avant-garde images for learning English vocabulary not found in textbooks, but that they mainly served to arouse students' learning interests. Therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed in this study:

H1: Multimedia assisted, song integrated English teaching has an effect on learning interest.

English songs are the best tools for learning English. Music can help improve temperament, express emotions, and effectively relieve learners' fear of a second language. When the mood is good and cheerful, learning will naturally be fun (Ferawaty, 2018). If teachers can create a happy English learning environment and relax tense emotions through favorite English pop songs, both students and teachers will enjoy it. Thus, learning is a double outcome with half the effort and a win-win situation for both teachers and students (Brandmo and Bråten, 2018). Teaching through English songs can help learners understand western music culture and the background of singers and learn the vocabulary, phrases, and grammatical structure of song lyrics. Integrated music teaching can promote learners' English listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills (Hwang et al., 2020).

Hwang et al. (2019) believe that the instructional, entertainment, musical, and cultural functions of multimedia assisted English pop song teaching lead to the appreciation of English pop songs. Multimedia assistance serves to activate otherwise boring teaching and involve English learning in authentic life to improve students' English learning outcomes. Pulasthi and Gunawardhana (2021) mentioned that when listening to multimedia assisted songs, learners were relaxed and happy and awaited the multimedia assisted songs with a curious attitude. In such a learning environment, learners increased their confidence and performance in language learning, because, with musical accompaniment, all learners opened their mouths to sing to promote the learning outcome. Adkins-Jablonsky et al. (2021) indicated that teaching with English pop songs can improve students' English. English pronunciation is different from Chinese pronunciation, and the stress, intonation, accent, and rhythm of English words and sentences often cause difficulties for some learners. Singing English songs enabled students to improve their oral skills and listening comprehension, and the use of multimedia assisted English pop song teaching enabled students to engage in the learning process to promote learning outcomes. Accordingly, this study hypothesizes the following.

H2: The multimedia assisted English pop song integrated teaching has a positive effect on learning outcome.

Learning interest, an important factor in student learning, can affect attention to the subject, goal setting, self-adjustment, use of cognitive strategies, and learning performance. In addition, interest is closely related to willingness, effort, and persistence in selecting homogeneous content for the next learning activity (Munavvar and Fazila, 2018). In practice, teachers discover that learning interest enables students to enjoy learning (Loingsigh and Mozzon-McPherson, 2020). In this respect, students with high learning interest show better self-directed learning compared to students with low learning interest, and they do not easily give up when they encounter difficulties (Jiang and Zhang, 2020). Wang et al. (2018) regarded learning interest as the time and effort students are willing to invest in the tasks. Students with stronger learning interest, higher activity, higher achievement motivation, and a positive attitude toward the completion of tasks can present higher confidence in competing matters. Attitudes toward task completion revealed that students' interest in the task resulted in higher learning outcomes. Psychologists emphasize that it is important to arouse learners' interest in learning materials to improve learning outcomes (Baydas and Cicek, 2019). If teachers succeed in arousing students' learning interest in the learning process and transforming students from passive recipients to active learners, the learning activity has a positive impact on both teachers and learners (Verkijika and De Wet, 2019). Learning interest was closely related to learning outcome; learning interest can facilitate the perception of learning tasks, guide meaningful learning, and provide further motivation to learn (Hollingsworth et al., 2018). Therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed in this study.

H3: Learning interest has a significant positive effect on learning outcomes.

METHODOLOGY

Measurement of Research Variables Learning Interest

Following Hong et al. (2021), learning interest includes two dimensions.

- 1. Personal interests: the relatively persistent characteristic of certain matters that cause individuals to continuously engage in the activity.
- 2. Situational interests: situational interest refers to interests that are triggered by specific matters or conditions in the environment, e.g., movies, or topic content.

Learning Outcome

Following Kang et al. (2019), the dimensions are described as follows.

- 1. The learning effect: this dimension includes test performance, processing time, and semester performance.
- 2. The learning gain: this dimension includes learning satisfaction, achievement, and preference.

Research Object and Sampling Data

This study included business students at Guilin University of Technology. A total of 216 students participated in a 16-week

(3 h per week, a total of 48 h) experimental teaching. Data from the questionnaire were analyzed using SPSS. Factor analysis, reliability analysis, regression analysis, and analysis of variance were used to test the hypotheses.

Analysis Method

Analysis of variance was used to discuss the difference between multimedia assisted and song integrated English teaching in terms of learning interest and learning outcome. Similarly, regression analysis was applied to understand the relationship between learning interest and learning outcome.

RESULTS

Reliability and Validity Analysis

As a result of the factor analysis, two factors of learning interest were extracted as "personal interests" (eigenvalue = 3.182, $\alpha = 0.90$) and "situational interests" (eigenvalue = 2.734, $\alpha = 0.88$). The cumulative covariance explained was calculated as 78.473%.

Additionally, two factors were extracted under the construct of learning outcome through factor analysis. These two factors are "learning effect" (eigenvalue = 2.529, α = 0.91) and "learning gain" (eigenvalue = 2.241, α = 0.93). The cumulative covariance explained was found as 82.366%.

Effects of Multimedia Assisted, and Song Integrated English Teaching on Learning Interest and Learning Outcome

Difference Analysis of Multimedia Assisted, and Song Integrated English Teaching in Learning Interest

The analysis of variance, which discusses the difference between multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching and learning interest was conducted. According to the analysis, significant differences were found between personal interests before and after multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching (**Table 1**). It was found higher after teaching (4.06) compared to the level before teaching (3.73). Situational interests also revealed significant differences in before and after multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching. The level was found to be higher after teaching (4.11) than before (3.66). In this case, H1 was supported.

Difference Analysis of Multimedia Assisted Song Integrated English Teaching in Terms of Learning Outcome

The analysis of variance, which discusses the difference between multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching in terms of learning outcome was used. According to the results, the learning effect showed a significant difference before and after multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching (**Table 2**). The effect on learning was higher after teaching (4.17) than before (3.84). Similarly, learning gain was found to be higher after teaching (4.26) compared to before teaching (3.88). Consequently, H2 was supported. TABLE 1 | Difference analysis of multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching in terms of learning interest.

Variable		F	Р	Scheffe post hoc
Multimedia assisted song Integrated English teaching	Personal interests	13.432	0.000*	After teaching (4.06) > before teaching (3.73)
	Situational interests	22.133	0.000*	After teaching (4.11) > before teaching (3.66)

^{*}р < 0.05.

TABLE 2 | Difference analysis of multimedia assisted English song integrated English teaching in learning outcome.

Variable		F	Р	Scheffe post hoc
Multimedia assisted song Integrated English teaching	Learning effect	18.442	0.000*	After teaching (4.17) > before teaching (3.84)
	Learning gain	27.592	0.000*	After teaching (4.26) > before teaching (3.88)

*p < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Analysis of the effect of learning interest on learning outcome.

Dependent variable \rightarrow	Learning outcome						
Independent variable \downarrow	Learnin	g effect	Learning gain				
Learning interest	β	Р	β	Р			
Personal interests	2.096**	0.000	2.216**	0.000			
Situational interests	2.185**	0.000	2.375**	0.000			
F	25.637		32.546				
Significance	0.000***		0.000***				
R ²	0.243		0.307				
adjusted R ²	0.221		0.286				

*p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.

Data source: Self-organized in this study.

Correlation Analysis of Learning Interest and Learning Outcome

Correlation Analysis of Learning Interest and Learning Effect

A correlation analysis was conducted to test H3. The results of the analysis revealed significant effects of personal interests (β = 2.096^{**}) and situational interests (β = 2.185^{**}) on the learning effect (**Table 3**).

Correlation Analysis of Learning Interest and Learning Gain

The correlation analysis conducted on H3 revealed the significant effects of personal interests ($\beta = 2.216^{**}$) and situational interests ($\beta = 2.375^{**}$) on learning gain. Therefore, H3 was supported.

DISCUSSION

In this study, Multimedia-based English teaching promotes interest in English learning and increases learning outcomes.

Teachers should not simply provide a large amount of teaching materials, they should provide systematically plan multimedia teaching content and instructional strategies (Verkijika and De Wet, 2019). Students' prerequisite abilities should also be evaluated and then appropriate multimedia materials should be provided according to their abilities because students without sufficient prior knowledge cannot easily construct solid new knowledge. In this respect, teachers should also consider the integration of other multimedia design strategies when using interactive multimedia materials in the classroom. In multimedia-supported English classes, various multimedia instructions aligned with the course content can be used to promote students' learning interests. Schools provide a method to effectively improve student learning outcomes to more easily achieve instructional objectives and enhance students' international competitiveness. The application of multimedia assisted English song integrated English teaching is learnercentered, and technology-based. Aligning multimedia-assisted English teaching with instructional design enables richer and more diverse instructional methods in learning areas and enhances students' attention, memory, and active learning to effectively promote overall learning outcomes.

Heterogeneous grouping was done according to English proficiency before multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching. Each group contained 4–5 students. In order to test learning outcomes, group evaluation was adopted. The group with the highest score won the game. Besides, the regular order and participation of the groups were also evaluated. Appropriate rewards were used to increase each student's participation and cooperation. After the groups completed the learning process, teachers held singing contests for students in which they prepared a show after classes. The inclusion of props and dance could promote students' English potential. Multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching relies heavily on multimedia equipment available to schools to improve the environment of the e-classroom and enhance the convenience of use, so that teachers and students enjoy using it and teaching becomes more effective. Moreover, schools can budget for purchasing Bluetooth microphones that students can connect to the Bluetooth in their mobile phones during multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching. Sound effects of a professional microphone can boost students' confidence in singing. Facing the students in E-generation, I-generation, and touch-screen generation, teachers must be prepared to change teaching methods if they require students to change their learning attitudes and methods. Scholls can organize workshops on multimedia assisted teaching and invite teachers and scholars with experience of multimedia assisted teaching to demonstrate and share insights, providing teachers with more opportunities for creativity in multimedia assisted English teaching and promoting teachers' interests in and competencies when using multimedia assistance. With constant self-realization and the accumulation of experience, teachers can use multimedia assisted teaching and make teaching more attractive. Moreover, schools can organize activities such as a school English song contest, English choir contest, or I am MV director, encouraging student participation and creating a campus environment with English awareness. Teachers can build personal YouTube channels to teach English and students can subscribe so the channel, meaning English learning is not restricted to the school environment. Teachers can include selected MVs that are for students' learning or they can record instructional videos and open a comments section for feedback, as if they are popular among students they will promote learning interests and learning outcomes.

CONCLUSION

This study shows that multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching promotes students' interest in learning English. Traditional classroom teaching is limited to place,

REFERENCES

- Adkins-Jablonsky, S. J., Shaffer, J.F., Morris, J. J., England, Ben., and Raut, S. (2021). A tale of two institutions: Analyzing the impact of gamified student response systems on student anxiety in two different introductory biology courses. *CBE Life Sci. Educ.* 20. doi: 10.1187/cbe.20-08-0187
- Arigita-García, A., Sanchez-Cabrero, R., Barrientos-Fernandez, A., Manoso-Pacheco, L., and Pericacho-Gomez, F. J. (2021). Pre-eminence of determining factors in second language learning: an educator's perspective from Spain. *Heliyon*. 7, e06282. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06282
- Baydas, O., and Cicek, M. (2019). The examination of the gamification process in undergraduate education: a scale development study. *Technol. Pedagog. Inf.* 28, 269–285. doi: 10.1080/1475939X.2019.1580609
- Brandmo, C., and Bråten, I. (2018). Investigating relations between beliefs about justification for knowing, interest, and knowledge across two socioscientific topics. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 62, 89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2018. 01.010
- Chen, C. H. (2018). The impacts of peer competition-based science gameplay on conceptual knowledge, intrinsic motivation, and learning behavioral patterns. *Educ. Technol. Res. Dev.* 67, 179–198 doi: 10.1007/s11423-018-9635-5
- D'Amico, A. (2018). The use of technology in the promotion of children's emotional intelligence: the multimedia program "developing emotional intelligence." *Int. J. Emot. Educ.* 10, 47–67.

time, resources, and materials, and teachers might only use blackboards/whiteboards and textbooks for teaching. They also often ignore more learner-centered approaches and do not care about the learning interests of students (Williams et al., 2019).

Based on learners, this study explored the use of popular English songs in multimedia assisted integrated teaching. During the process of multimedia assisted English song playing, the audio-visual stimuli facilitated a relaxed and pleasant mood in students, enabling them to enjoy classes and encouraging them to learn actively and sing popular English songs, and even relax their limbs and sway with the music. Students participated in singing English songs and were deeply touched (Yang and Quadir, 2018).

In terms of learning outcomes, students confirmed that multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching improved their English listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills. English skills and learning outcomes can be promoted by providing complete song lyrics in class, coordinating the schedule of semester tests, and extracting key vocabulary, phrases, and grammatical structures. Students gained comprehensive practice through the use of multimedia assisted song integrated English teaching.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-ZL performed the initial analyzes and wrote the manuscript. X-YK and Y-YM assisted in the data collection and data analysis. All authors revised and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

- Dingyloudi, F., Strijbos, J. W., and de Laat, M. F. (2019). Value creation: what matters most in communities of learning practice in higher education. *Stud. Educ. Evaluation*. 62, 209-223. doi: 10.1016/j.stueduc.2019.05.006
- Ferawaty, P. (2018). The influence of role play on student's English speaking skill at ninth grade of SMP negeri 9 bekasi. *J. English Lang. Educ.* 4, 21-27.
- Hollingsworth, J., Li, L., Baker., and K, Burke. (2018). Can exact conditions improve machine-learned density functionals? J. Chem. Phys. 148, 241–743. doi: 10.1063/1.5025668
- Hong, J. C., Hwang, M. Y., Tai, K. H., and Lin, P. H. (2021). The effects of intrinsic cognitive load and gameplay interest on flow experience reflecting performance progress in a Chinese remote association game. *Comput. Assist. Lang. Learn.* 34(3), 358-378. doi: 10.1080/09588221.2019.1614068
- Hong, J. C., Hwang, M. Y., Tai, K. S., Lin, P. S., and Lin, P. C. (2020). Learning progress in a Chinese order of stroke game: the effects of intrinsic cognitive load and gameplay interest mediated by flow experience. *J. Educ. Comput. Res.* 58, 842-862. doi: 10.1177/0735633119881471
- Hwang, M. Y., Hong, J. C., Tai, K. H., Chen, J. T., and Timothy, G. (2020). The relationship between the online social anxiety, perceived information overload and fatigue, and job engagement of civil servant LINE users. *Gov. Inf. Q.* 37, 101423. doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2019.101423
- Hwang, M. Y., Hong, J. C., Ye, J. H., Wu, Y. F., Tai, K. H., and Kiu, M. C. (2019). Practicing abductive reasoning: the correlations between cognitive factors and learning effects. *Comput. Educ.* 138, 33-45. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2019.04.014

- Jiang, D., and Zhang, L. J. (2020). Collaborating with 'familiar' strangers in mobile-assisted environments: the effect of socializing activities on learning EFL writing. *Comput. Education*. 150, 103841. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2020.1 03841
- Kang, H., Zhao, J., Jiang, X., Li, G., Huang, W., Cheng, H., and Duan, R. (2019). Drosophila Netrin-B controls mushroom body axon extension and regulates courtship-associated learning and memory of a Drosophila fragile X syndrome model. *Mol. Brain.* 12(1), 52. doi: 10.1186/s13041-019-0 472-1
- Loingsigh, D. N., and Mozzon-McPherson, M. (2020). Advising in Language Learning in a new speaker context: Facilitating linguistic shifts. System. 95, 102363. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2020.102363
- Megreya, A. M., Szucs, D., and Moustafa, A. A. (2021). The Abbreviated Science Anxiety Scale: Psychometric properties, gender differences and associations with test anxiety, general anxiety and science achievement. *PLoS ONE*. 16, e0245200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245200
- Meyers, D., Domitrovich, C., Dissi, R., Trejo, J., and Greenberg, M. (2019). Supporting systemic social and emotional learning with a schoolwide implementation model. *Eval. Program Plann.* 73, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.11.005
- Munavvar, A., and Fazila, Q. (2018). Music and language learning. *Gulustan-Black* Sea Sci. J. Acad Res. 40, 4–6.
- Pavia, N., Webb, S., and Faez, F. (2019). Incidental vocabulary learning through English songs. Stud. Second Lang. Acquis. 41, 745–768. doi: 10.1017/S0272263119000020
- Pham, Q. T., and Huynh, M. C. (2018). Learning achievement and knowledge transfer: The impact factor of e-learning system at Bach Khoa University, Vietnam. Int. J. Innov. 6, 194–206. doi: 10.5585/iji.v6i3.235
- Pulasthi, L. K., and Gunawardhana, P. D. (2021). Gender differences in learning mathematics with digital games. *Psychol. Educ. J.* 58, 4417–4422. doi: 10.17762/pae.v58i1.1523

- Verkijika, S. F., and De Wet, L. (2019). Understanding word-of-mouth (WOM) intentions of mobile app users: the role of simplicity and emotions during the first interaction. *Telemat. Inform.* 41, 218–228. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2019.05.003
- Wang, S. Y., Chang, S. C., Hwang, G. J., and Chen, P. Y. (2018). A microworldbased role-playing game development approach to engaging students in interactive, enjoyable, and effective mathematics learning. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* 26, 411–423. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2017.1337038
- Williams, E. H., Cristino, F., and Cross, E. S. (2019). Human body motion captures visual attention and elicits pupillary dilation. *Cognition*. 193, 104029. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2019.104029
- Yang, J. C., and Quadir, B. (2018). Effects of prior knowledge on learning performance and anxiety in an English learning online role-playing game. J. Educ. Techno. Soc. 21, 174–185.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Luo, Kong and Ma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



A Study on the Use of Milieu Teaching to Promote Overseas Marketers' Communication Skills and Confidence in Language Learning

Simeng Jia¹ and Xue Zhao^{2*}

¹ School of Management, Hebei Finance University, Baoding, China, ² School of Marxism, Hebei Finance University, Baoding, China

Language plays an extremely important role for people in terms of engaging in various learning activities. Due to the progress of network technologies, it is an immediate goal for enterprises to take a completely new development direction with the application of network technology. Nevertheless, they encounter many difficulties in carrying out overseas marketing such as localization transformation, jet lag, lack of professional marketers, problems with sellers' product quality, problems with customers' credit checks, international payment problems, and logistics and delivery problems. These problems mainly result from a difference in language families. The current study was conducted as an experimental study with the participation of overseas marketers in Hebei province. Milieu teaching was implemented with an experimental group and traditional teaching was maintained in the control group for a 20-week (3 h per week) experimental procedure. The research results revealed significantly positive effects of (1) milieu teaching on communication skills, (2) milieu teaching on language learning confidence, and (3) communication skills on language learning confidence. Based on the results, it can be stated that the study is expected to help effectively enhance the communication skills and language learning confidence of overseas marketers to achieve the goals of promoting oral expression and language-use skills.

achieve the goals of promoting oral expression and language-use skills. Keywords: milieu teaching, marketers, communication skills, language learning confidence, thinking and

behavior

INTRODUCTION

Language is a conventional symbol system and the common rule or custom in society; it represents concepts by combining symbols and structural and semiotic rules. The human growth process is closely related to cognitive learning, perceptual-motor skills, and social interaction with interaction effect (Alu et al., 2018). Language is also an essential skill in life to express feelings, exchange information, communicate emotions, think, and learn (Ziegler and Hadders-Algra, 2020). In general, humans can learn language from birth without being specifically taught. Crying after birth is a form of communication and learning; crying represents needs, and laughter shows satisfaction or happiness. A 1-year-old toddler can say obscure words, and a 4-year-old child can speak complicated sentences like adults do (Rollins et al., 2019). During the process of growth and learning, language and mental abilities develop together, and language becomes the primary

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

Reviewed by:

Çağda Kıvanç Çağanağa, European University of Lefka, Turkey Yosra Jarrar, American University in Dubai, United Arab Emirates

> *Correspondence: Xue Zhao zhaoxuelucky@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 19 April 2022 Accepted: 25 May 2022 Published: 22 June 2022

Citation:

Jia S and Zhao X (2022) A Study on the Use of Milieu Teaching to Promote Overseas Marketers' Communication Skills and Confidence in Language Learning. Front. Psychol. 13:923812. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.923812
mode of communication that plays an extremely important role in people and in participation in various learning activities. Nevertheless, humans cannot resist the progress of internet technology which continuously presents fast developing products. Therefore, Internet business opportunities are developing positively in the world, so the Internet economic model does not bubble. The application of the Internet is mature, and it is an immediate goal for enterprises to take a completely new development direction with the application of network technology. It is expected that borderless product marketing will be linked by digital transformation so that international trade is not restricted to local time differences. However, there are many difficulties in the conduct of overseas marketing for enterprises such as the transition to a multilingual family, jet lag, lack of professional marketers, production quality of sellers, customers' credit checks, logistics, and delivery problems. Different language family is a factor in such problems.

Sillera et al. (2018) stated that learning should be done in complete situations; if students are provided rich experiences, such development would be in its best condition. Regarding language development, students need to experience the world to grasp the meanings of relationships and learn a language in the context of the environment under the guidance of important caregivers. Julien and Reichle (2018) pointed out that natural context was the key element in early language development; the interference of environmental language could improve students' spontaneous and generalized communication skills. They added that with the application of the milieu teaching approach and strategy, students could acquire functional language in a better manner, and that the acquired language could be extended and maintained to improve language ability effectively. Karal and Wolfe (2018) considered that language teaching in natural contexts was the most suitable for language learning; various ordinary, routine, and trivial activities of daily life facilitated simulation and social interaction. In the process, students can express their personal communication needs to demonstrate more communication behaviors and learn and use language more effectively. For this reason, the effect of milieu teaching on overseas marketers' communication skills and language learning confidence was discussed in this study. The current study is expected to help overseas marketers in terms of improving their communication skills and language learning confidence effectively to achieve the goal of promoting oral expression and language skills.

LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS

Gauvreau (2019) stated that unlike traditionally controlled situations, instructors in milieu teaching preformulated certain types of skills; milieu teaching focused more on functional communication and emphasized that interference occurs in natural contexts. The major difference from traditional language teaching was that in milieu teaching the lesson was designed to be conducted with discussions rather than memorization of the segment of a skill. In this case, the teaching process was conducted in real-life contexts, addressed the topics that learners have an interest and highlighted communication skills. Hedger et al. (2020) suggested that teaching should focus on students' motivation and that teaching content should focus on selecting language functionality, practicality, vividness, interactivity, and behavioral reinforcement. Adults interacting with students in natural contexts allowed students to learn new skills and practice skills to receive natural reinforcement of language. Milieu teaching was therefore considered an important strategy to promote the development of students' communication skills. Dawson Squibb and de Vries (2019) emphasized the teaching process in natural contexts and took functional content as the teaching point to improve students' spontaneous and generalized communication behavior and learning. Thus, students could improve their communication skills in natural situations. Therefore, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H1: Milieu teaching has significant positive effects on communication skills.

Rahn et al. (2019) mentioned that the reflection of language and communication in natural contexts can be seen through learning language use in daily routine and activity. Accordingly, communication should take place in a familiar environment for students to gain confidence in language learning. Similarly, language learning in natural contexts represented language generalization. Turner-Brown et al. (2019) pointed out that milieu teaching is a relatively new language teaching approach. In this approach the teachers use positive interaction in the contexts of social interaction and games. They also follow students' guidence, opinions, and requests to expand attention and communication. Overall, milieu teaching emphasizes on students' interests and teachers' prompts to arouse students' interest in topics, which in turn promotes students' confidence in language learning. It is claimed that teaching activities should be conducted in natural contexts and focus on attempts and practice to maintain functional language as well as adopt a teacher-student interaction model. Elek and Page (2019) regarded milieu teaching as the most well-known method for natural language learning in the integrated incidental teaching strategy. The application of incidental teaching is considered the center of the application of milieu teaching. Primary school teachers need to skillfully observe and confirm the timing for teaching. In this case, in order to achieve language learning and communication, it is considered necessary to train in natural environments and respond to students' concerns. In other words, students' language acquisition occurs in the natural environment that reduces pressure on students for purposive learning and effectively promotes language learning confidence. Therefore, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H2: Milieu teaching has significant positive effects on language learning confidence.

The situations should be designed to help students learn the language as well as enable them to communicate in the target language. An increase in communication behavior can naturally promote students' communication skills, and,

along with improvement in communication skills, a decrease in pressure to communicate naturally improves the language learning confidence. Rogers et al. (2019) mentioned that the situation design strategy in milieu teaching refers to the objective of arousing students' willingness to communicate actively. Through situation design, the use of the target language becomes a part of students' daily life and indirectly improves students' communication skills. In this respect, students' interests and activities are required in the process of teaching. Besides, adult and peer models should also be provided. Encouraging and responding to students' progress in communication skills can lead to students improving their confidence in language learning and willingness to communicate. Hancock (2020) mentioned that milieu teaching did not simply teach students to learn a meaningless or unusable language; on the contrary, it provided teaching points to enhance students' functional language skills and promote the use of a communicative language in an interaction, rather than focusing on language content. In addition to sustained confidence in language learning, the improvement in communication skills can also be seen. Apart from teaching language structure, language function and language learning strategy to improve language proficiency, the milieu teaching strategy highlights generalization ability across contexts more. As a result, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H3: Communication skill has significant positive effects on language learning confidence.

METHODOLOGY

Measurement of Research Variable Communication Skills

Following Hwang et al. (2019), the proportion of spontaneous language for active communication and spontaneous language for passive response in the observation period in all oral utterances (including active/passive spontaneous language and active/passive oral errors) is calculated for communication skills.

Language Learning Confidence

Following King et al. (2019), learning confidence contains three dimensions.

Thinking and Behavior

This dimension refers to the willingness to make more effort, overcome difficulties, display a high level of perseverance, choose to display challenging behaviors, believe in personal abilities, face difficulties with confidence, and fully develop one's self.

Experience and Observation

This dimension refers to successfully participating in an activity with full understanding and smooth running, and observing the success and failure experiences of people with the same conditions as one's self.

Others, Body, and Mind

Encouragement from others leads to an individual trying harder and accepting challenging activities, and the effects of

physiological factors and stressful, nervous, or anxious situations on individual performance.

Research Participants and Data

In order to achieve the research objective and test the research hypotheses, the experimental design model was adopted. The experiment was conducted for a 20-week (3 h per week) period. The study was conducted with the participation of overseas marketers in Hebei province. Milieu teaching was implemented with an experimental group, and traditional teaching was maintained in the control group. The data were analyzed with SPSS, and the hypotheses were tested by factor analysis, reliability analysis, regression analysis, and analysis of variance.

Data Analysis

Analysis of variance was conducted to explore the difference between milieu teaching in communication skills and language learning confidence. Additionally, regression analysis was carried out to understand the relationship between communication skills and language learning confidence.

RESULTS

Reliability and Validity Analysis

Factor analysis was conducted in this study, and three factors for language learning confidence were extracted, namely "thinking and behavior" (eigenvalue = 2.763, α = 0.9), "experience and observation" (eigenvalue = 2.588, α = 0.92), and "others and body and mind" (eigenvalue = 3.162, α = 0.94). The cumulative covariance explained was found to be 85.271%.

Effects of Milieu Teaching on Communication Skills and Language Learning Confidence

Analysis of Variance of Milieu Teaching in Communication Skills

In **Table 1**, the results of the analysis of variance are shown to discuss the difference between the teaching models in terms of communication skills. The results showed a significant difference between the teaching models in active communication in terms of communication skills. Milieu teaching (3.89) revealed higher active communication than traditional teaching (3.42). A significant difference between the teaching models was found in passive response in communication skills. Milieu teaching (4.07) showed a higher passive response than traditional teaching (3.55). Accordingly, H1 was supported.

Analysis of Variance of Milieu Teaching in Language Learning Confidence

The results of the analysis of variance to discuss the difference between teaching models in terms of language learning confidence are shown in **Table 2**. The results showed a

TABLE 1 | Analysis of variance of milieu teaching in communication skills.

Variable		F	Р	Scheffe post hoc	
Milieu teaching	Active communication	18.633	0.000*	Milieu teaching (3.89) > traditional teaching (3.42)	
	Passive response	24.192	0.000*	Milieu teaching $(4.07) >$ traditional teaching (3.55)	

*P < 0.05.

TABLE 2 | Analysis of variance of milieu teaching in language learning confidence.

Variable		F	Р	Scheffe post hoc	
Milieu teaching	Thinking and behavior	20.647	0.000*	Milieu teaching (3.95) > traditional teaching (3.37)	
	Experience and observation	27.538	0.000*	Milieu teaching (4.11) > traditional teaching (3.75)	
	Others and body and mind	32.392	0.000*	Milieu teaching $(4.23) >$ traditional teaching (3.69)	

*P < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Correlation analysis of communication skills and language learning confidence.

Dependent variable \rightarrow	Language learning confidence					
Independent variable \downarrow	Thinking a	Ind behavior	Experience	and observation	Others and	body and mind
Communication skills	β	Р	β	Р	β	Р
Active communication	2.462**	0.000	2.216**	0.000	2.507**	0.000
Passive response	2.238**	0.000	2.344**	0.000	2.183**	0.000
F	27	.538	:	34.175	4	4.625
Significance	0.	000***		0.000***	C	.000***
R^2	0.	.247		0.322	C).381
Adjusted R ²	0.	.235		0.307	C).364

P < 0.01, *P < 0.001.Data source: self-organized in this study.

significant difference between the teaching models in thinking and behavior in terms of language learning confidence. Accordingly, milieu teaching (3.95) was found as enabling higher thinking and behavior than traditional teaching (3.37). The teaching models showed significant differences in experience and observation in language learning confidence. Milieu teaching (4.11) was found to be higher in terms of experience and observation than traditional teaching (3.75). The teaching models revealed significant differences in others and body and mind in terms of language learning confidence. Milieu teaching (4.23) revealed higher others and body and mind compared to traditional teaching (3.69). As a result, H2 was supported.

Correlation Analysis of Communication Skills and Language Learning Confidence

Correlation Analysis of Communication Skills and Thinking and Behavior

A correlation analysis was conducted to test H3. The analysis results are given in **Table 3** and reveal significantly positive effects of active communication ($\beta = 2.462^{**}$) and passive response ($\beta = 2.238^{**}$) on thinking and behavior.

Correlation Analysis of Communication Skills and Experience and Observation

The analysis results shown in **Table 3** reveal significantly positive effects of active communication ($\beta = 2.216^{**}$) and passive response ($\beta = 2.344^{**}$) on experience and observation.

Correlation Analysis of Communication Skills and Others and Body and Mind

The analysis results shown in **Table 3** reveal significantly positive effects of active communication ($\beta = 2.507^{**}$) and passive response ($\beta = 2.183^{**}$) on others and the body and mind. According to the results, it can be stated that H3 was supported.

DISCUSSION

Changes in environment and design of conditions can increase overseas marketers' communication opportunities and willingness, learning duration and opportunities, and language learning confidence. For this reason, teachers can arrange for "dissatisfied," "interested," "assistance required," "selection required," and "unnatural" styles from time to time to increase the opportunities for overseas marketers to communicate with others. Overseas marketers usually have a weaker ability to learn new languages and poor communication and comprehension skills. In this case, language should be introduced in each instruction to combine language and action to assist overseas marketers in terms of language learning. Many overseas marketers show weak expression in the new language, with unclear pronunciation, and are not used to the responses. In this case, simulating responses is the key factor. If overseas marketers get used to simulating responses, it can help in the development of communication skills. Weak generalization ability is a common problem for overseas marketers. In this case, presenting physical objects for communication teaching can avoid difficulties in transformation and promote overseas marketers' comprehension for effective learning.

CONCLUSION

The results of the experimental observation in this study confirm and validate the views of previous research by Julien and Reichle (2018), Dawson Squibb and de Vries (2019), Elek and Page (2019), and Rahn et al. (2019). The findings showed that milieu teaching can improve overseas marketers' communication skills and increase sentence length and responses to engage them in situations where they can better interact with others. As mentioned by previous researchers, natural situational teaching focuses more on functional communication than traditional teaching and is more like conducting a conversation. Therefore, the teaching takes place in a natural situation, and in the interaction, it can be more involved in how to better interact with others (Gauvreau, 2019). As a consequence, it is safe to claim that milieu teaching can be used for the communication training of overseas marketing professionals. Communication training or language teaching in natural contexts can directly address situations or matters as teaching content in order to eliminate factors that make transferability and generalization difficult. Overseas marketers usually have a poor understanding of a new language. Language teaching, in changing and complicated situations, might be too complicated and difficult for overseas marketers. As discussed by Rahn et al. (2019), the natural situational intervention of language and communication is based on various daily routines and activities to learn how to use the language. Communication needs to be carried out in a familiar environment so that students can feel confident in language learning. For this reason, natural contexts with normal or routine activities in daily life can provide overseas marketers with repeated practice in the real-life environment and gradually increase spontaneous speech. Since overseas marketers have poor communication and comprehension of a new language, they cannot effectively and appropriately respond in many situations. In this case, instructors' demonstration might easily confuse them. As a result, peers' or teachers' drills and demonstrations with immediate reinforcement and feedback can lead overseas marketers to better understand the meanings and promote

REFERENCES

Alu, N. F., Onuora, C. N., Echem, S. O., Emefiesi, C. F., Philips, J. U., and Emelogu, C. M. (2018). Implications of using visual arts as alternative to audio-lingual imitation for learning. Consequently, people's assistance can be well utilized for teaching.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

In addition to communication or language training, natural environment teaching can also be used for other learning activities, such as teaching arithmetic, shopping, and professional skills. Therefore, it is suggested that future research can address different learning activities.

Language learning and communication are extremely complex processes. Children with special needs must acquire language before they can use it. After that, they can show spontaneous communication performance. Therefore, long-term educational intervention can help improve their active and spontaneous communication performance.

The pedagogical intervention in this study was limited to the context of overseas marketers and could not be generalized to other contexts (e.g., home, office, etc.) or objects. Therefore, future research can explore the effects of generalization in different contexts.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The present study was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of the Ethics Committee of the Hebei Finance University, and written informed consent was obtained from all the participants. All the participants were asked to read and approved the ethical consent form before participating in the present study. The participants were also asked to follow the guidelines in the form for the research. The research protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Hebei Finance University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SJ performed the initial analyses and wrote the manuscript. XZ assisted in data collection and analysis. Both authors revised and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

communication among nigerian deaf and dumb students. *Int. J. Educ. Policy Res. Rev.* 5, 154–165. doi: 10.15739/IJEPRR.18.018

Dawson Squibb, J. J., and de Vries, P. J. (2019). Developing an evaluation framework for parent education and training in autism spectrum disorder:

results of a multi stakeholder process. J. Autism Dev. Dis. 49, 4468-4481. doi: 10.1007/s10803-019-04176-w

- Elek, C., and Page, J. (2019). Critical features of effective coaching for early childhood educators: a review of empirical research literature. *Prof. Dev. Educ.* 45, 567–585. doi: 10.1080/19415257.2018.14 52781
- Gauvreau, A. N. (2019). Using "snack talk" to support social communication in inclusive preschool classrooms. *Young Except Child* 22, 187–197. doi: 10.1177/ 1096250617725503
- Hancock, C. K. (2020). We don't play that way, we play this way: functional play, behaviours of children with autism and severe learning difficulties. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 103:103688. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103688
- Hedger, N., Dubey, I., and Chakrabarti, B. (2020). Social orienting and social seeking behaviors in ASD. a meta analytic investigation. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 119, 376–395. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.10.003
- Hwang, G. J., Hsu, T. C., and Hsieh, Y. H. (2019). Impacts of different smartphone caption/subtitle mechanisms on english listening performance and perceptions of students with different learning styles. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Int.* 35, 333–344. doi: 10.1080/10447318.2018.1543091
- Julien, H., and Reichle, J. (2018). A comparison of high and low dosages of a component of milieu teaching strategies for two preschool-age learners with autism spectrum disorder. *Lang. Speech Hear Serv. School* 47, 87–98. doi: 10. 1044/2015_LSHSS-15-0035
- Karal, M. A., and Wolfe, P. S. (2018). Social story effectiveness on social interaction for students with autism: a review of the literature. *Educ. Train Autism Dev. Disabil.* 53, 44–58.
- King, G., Schwellnus, H., Servais, M., and Baldwin, P. (2019). Solution-focused coaching in pediatric rehabilitation: investigating transformative experiences and outcomes for families. *Phys. Occupat. Ther. Pediat.* 39, 16–32. doi: 10.1080/ 01942638.2017.1379457
- Rahn, N. L., Coogle, C. G., and Ottley, J. R. (2019). Early childhood special education teachers' use of embedded learning opportunities within classroom routines and activities. *Infants Young Child.* 32, 3–19. doi: 10.1097/IYC. 000000000000132
- Rogers, S. J., Estes, A., Vismara, L., Munson, J., Zierhut, C., Greenson, J., et al. (2019). Enhancing low-intensity coaching in parent implemented early start denver model intervention for early autism: a randomized comparison

treatment trial. J. Autism Dev. Dis. 49, 632-646. doi: 10.1007/s10803-018-3740-5

- Rollins, P. R., John, S., Jones, A., and Froy, A. D. (2019). Pathways early ASD intervention as a moderator of parenting stress on parenting behaviors: a randomized control trial. *J. Autism Dev. Dis.* 49, 4280–4293. doi: 10.1007/ s10803-019-04144-4
- Rust, K. L., and Thanasiu, P. L. (2019). Parent-mediated, play-based counseling interventions: use of affective engagement to treat autism spectrum disorder in young children. J. Ment Health Couns. 4, 189–1202. doi: 10.17744/mehc.41.3.01
- Sillera, M., Hotezb, E., Swanson, M., Delavenneb, A., Hutmana, T., and Sigmana, M. (2018). Parent coaching increases the parents' capacity for reflection and self-evaluation: results from a clinical trial in autism. *Attach Hum. Dev.* 20, 287–308. doi: 10.1080/14616734.2018.1446737
- Turner-Brown, L., Hume, K., Boyd, B. A., and Kainz, K. (2019). Preliminary efficacy of family implemented TEACCH for toddlers: effects on parents and their toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. J. Autism Dev. Dis. 49, 2685–2698. doi: 10.1007/s10803-016-2812-7
- Ziegler, S. A., and Hadders-Algra, M. (2020). Coaching approaches in early intervention and paediatric rehabilitation. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 62, 569–574. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14493

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jia and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Refugee Children and English Language: Challenges From English Language Teachers' Perspectives

Haneen Abdaljaleel Alrawashdeh* and Naciye Kunt

Department of Foreign Language Education, Eastern Mediterranean University, Famagusta, Turkey

This study aimed to investigate the challenges refugee children face in learning the English language from teachers' perspectives and the challenges of refugees' English language teachers in Jordan. To achieve this aim, a quantitative approach was implemented using a questionnaire. The findings from this study suggest that refugee teachers' acknowledge that they face challenges teaching refugees in terms of cultural competency, preparation, self-efficacy, and practices they implement, and refugee children face linguistic and psychological challenges in learning English. This study attempted to find out the relationship between teachers' preparation and their cultural competency, self-efficacy, and practices they implement and then the relationship between refugees' psychological needs and linguistic challenges, respectively, and teachers' self-efficacy, cultural competency, and practices. Results revealed several significant relationships between challenges and presented them in a model.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefke, Turkey

Reviewed by:

Nurdan Atamturk, University of Kyrenia, Cyprus Şahin Akdağ, Near East University, Cyprus

*Correspondence:

Haneen Abdaljaleel Alrawashdeh hrawashdeh111@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 April 2022 Accepted: 05 May 2022 Published: 22 June 2022

Citation:

Alrawashdeh HA and Kunt N (2022) Refugee Children and English Language: Challenges From English Language Teachers' Perspectives. Front. Psychol. 13:918734. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.918734 Keywords: refugees, psychological challenges, linguistic challenges, English as a foreign language, constructivism

INTRODUCTION

Jordan has hosted a high number of refugees since it is a country in the middle of a zone with political conflicts and wars, and it is the most responsive country that hosts refugees among all the neighboring countries. Currently, millions of refugees from different countries live in Jordan. Jordan (UNHCR, 2019) has received refugees from different countries, around 60,000 Iraqis, 14,000 Yemenis, 6,100 Sudanese, and 1,700 from other countries, such as Somalia. Similar to neighboring countries, such as Lebanon and Turkey, Jordan is under immense pressure to intake the waves of refugees. Salehyan and Gleditsch (2006) showed that the high number of refugees increases the challenges in social, economic, and educational aspects in the host country.

Refugees pass through hard circumstances after and before refuge since they were taught by different educational systems and curricula in their homelands, some have different native languages and some used to learn different foreign languages in schools, e.g., some Syrian refugees used to learn the French language instead of English, and all of these stand as challenges for refugees and their teachers to progress in language learning and teaching since constructing new knowledge and developing in language learning rely on endogenous elements, internal schema, previous experiences, and knowledge of learners combined with sociocultural and psychological factors (Cole, 1990).

This study investigates the challenges of teaching English as a foreign language (EFL) to refugees and the challenges of refugees in learning EFL from English teachers' perspectives; accordingly, it

41

attempts to provide a broader view of the challenges related to EFL and refugees and to enrich the literature by explaining in-depth the relationship between these challenges and present them in a comprehensive model. Practically, it provides authentic information that helps in enhancing the practices used to teach EFL to refugees.

CONSTRUCTIVISM

The theory of constructivism claims that in the language learning process, learners construct new ideas and concepts according to their previous knowledge. Piaget (1980), the father of constructivism, argued that learners take new information and ideas and then shape them upon their understandings, previous knowledge, and experiences. The construction of individuals' new knowledge emerges according to two components; accommodation and assimilation, in assimilation, individuals relate new experiences to old ones, and accommodation means reshaping the new experiences into the mental capacity that already existed. Ginsborg (1990) wrote that new information, thoughts, and concepts can have meaning only when it is related to individuals' knowledge, and this represents schema. Schema theory is "every act of comprehension that involves individual's pre-existed knowledge" (Anderson et al., 1977). For example, readers of such text develop their interpretation through combining information the text provides with the information a reader adds to that text (Widdowson in Grabe, 1988:56). Constructivism can clarify the challenges the refugees face because they build the new knowledge according to the old knowledge which was stored using different curricula, different systems, and sometimes different languages in their home countries.

A REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Teaching EFL is a common research issue associated with the discipline of applied linguistics. Some previous studies (Kanno and Varghese, 2010; Lertola and Mariotti, 2017; Sujito et al., 2019) have identified some challenges of EFLs in many contexts. Undoubtedly, learning the English language has many benefits, e.g., increasing the effective communication (Lertola and Mariotti, 2017), raising job opportunities (Kanno and Varghese, 2010), and increasing social interaction; hence, refugee children need to learn the English language for self-empowerment; however, recent studies have revealed significant educational difficulties that refugee children face (Palaiologou, 2007); one of these difficulties is learning English as a foreign language (Hulistijn, 2011; Gizatullina and Sibgatullina, 2018). Refugees require extra time and effort learning a foreign language according to many reasons, such as dealing with new teachers and interacting with new classmates (AlHariri, 2018), attending new schools (Popov and Sturesson, 2015), having linguistic issues as the unfamiliarity with the language (Riggs et al., 2012), and being in a new society (Burgoyne and Hull, 2007). Similar to Lee (2016), refugees face sociocultural challenges because they come from various backgrounds which in turn restrict them from acculturation with individuals in the target context and, accordingly, they are not confidently interacting with their colleagues in the classes. Other reasons stand, e.g., age variation in language classes, that the refugee students hold different age categories which creates extra challenges for their teachers and challenges in classmates interaction. A number of researchers (Casimiro et al., 2007; Riggs et al., 2012; Watkins et al., 2012) argued that when refugee students move to an overall new context, new scholastic environment, and start dealing with new teachers and new colleagues, this unsurprisingly creates many challenges, especially for foreign language learners. Ashton (1985) claimed that teachers' self-efficacy affects refugee children's academic success. In addition, Stevenson and Willott (2007) stated that the level of the family, homeland, and cultural and social background of refugees may stand as an obstruction in front of learning a foreign language. Olliff and Couch (2005) and Casimiro et al. (2007) argued that refugee language learners who did not experience official education in formal schools need more time and effort to be accustomed to learn a language. A study in Jordan by Alefesha and Al-Jamal (2019) found that refugees' challenges in learning EFL are associated with poor educational background, discomfort with English, and lack of knowledge of teachers to deal with refugees. Conversely, research conducted by Riggs et al. (2012) concluded that refugees learn foreign languages better than peers due to two main reasons, namely, the first is to survive in the target country they live in, and the second is to get better job opportunities.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Collection Tool

An adapted questionnaire by Kurbegovic (2016) was employed to address teachers' perceptions and challenges concerning teaching English to refugees, and some elements of the questionnaire were changed to meet the aim of the study.

The questionnaire was distributed online using Google forms, it consists of 6 categories (i.e., teachers' self-efficacy, teachers' practices, teachers' cultural competency, teachers' preparation, their refugees' psychological needs, and refugee students' linguistic challenges), and each article in each category has four alternative options (i.e., not at all, slightly agree, moderately agree, and greatly agree). The participants were not able to move to the questionnaire without confirming that they agree to participate in the study voluntarily.

The Sample of the Study

The target population in the context of the study is large and it could not be covered by the researchers; still, a relatively small sample of the target population is satisfactory (Nworgu, 1991:69). Hence, the process of this research was applied to the accessible part of the population. The participants were 112 English language teachers who experience teaching English to refugee children in Jordan. The total number of responses to the questionnaire was 134, 22 responses were eliminated, and the selected responses stood at 112 ones.

Validity and Reliability of the Instrument

The collected data were analyzed using SPSS25; the findings showed that the loadings of all the items related to students' psychological needs, teachers' self-efficacy, implementing practices, teachers' cultural competencies, teachers' preparation, and students' linguistic challenges were more than 0.5 value; and the *p*-values were found to be statistically significant at less than 1% confidence level. This, according to some studies (Kock and Lynn, 2012; Adetola et al., 2021), is an indication that the measurement instrument used for the constructs demonstrates a good "convergent validity." Furthermore, the "Cronbach's alpha" and "composite reliability" coefficients for students' needs (0.909 and 0.9304), students' linguistic challenges (0.799 and 0.859), teachers' preparation (0.847 and 0.894), teachers' self-efficacy (0.919 and 0.936), implementing practices (0.933 and 0.946), and teachers' cultural competency (0.774 and 0.843), respectively, were both higher than the conservative value of 0.7 (Kock, 2014, 2015), and this indicates that the measurement instrument has good reliability. The "average variance extracted" of students' needs (0.690), students' linguistic challenges (0.514), teachers' preparation (0.636), teachers' self-efficacy (0.675), implementing practices (0.715), and teachers' cultural competency (0.50) are all greater than the threshold value of 0.5 (Kock, 2015; Adetola et al., 2021), which is an indication of an acceptable internal consistency. Finally, the associated "full collinearity variance inflation" (FVIF) with students' needs (1.581), students' linguistic challenges (1.404), teachers' preparation (1.252), teachers' selfefficacy (1.720), implementing practices (1.503), and teachers' cultural competency (1.397) are all below the recommended threshold of less than (3.3).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

English Language Teachers' Preparation

Preparing and supporting teachers can equip them with the skills and knowledge to meet the needs of different students. Teachers need to take on action for career progress in the new merging situations, e.g., dealing with the waves of refugees in the classroom. In this study, 53% of English teachers do not agree on receiving sufficient in-service or preservice professional training on how best to support refugees in the classroom, or taking dedicated coursework in culturally responsive practices for refugees from diverse cultural backgrounds. Wasonga (2005) mentioned that teachers' professional training supports them to feel prepared to meet the needs of their diverse students. De Jong and Harper (2005) recommended a special training for teachers of refugees and they stated that training for specific purposes for teachers, e.g., (refugee teaching) influences their efficacy.

Self-Efficacy

Bandura (1986) defined self-efficacy as one's capabilities to organize and achieve actions effectively. Teachers' self-efficacy has been investigated in different areas, such as in math and science teaching (Tschannen-Moran and Hoy, 1998, p. 202). However, Klassen and Chiu (2011) claimed that research on teachers' self-efficacy (TSE) in the contexts of foreign language teaching is still underrepresented within the literature. A high percentage (46%) of English teachers who participated in the study feel convinced that they can successfully teach English to refugee students which illustrates that they feel efficient in teaching English to refugees and this does not necessarily mean that they do not face any challenges, they also convinced that it is hard enough to exert a positive influence on both the personal and academic development of refugee students (Peeler and Jane, 2005), and they face difficulties maintaining a positive relationship with refugees during tensions.

Cultural Competency

There is a huge increase in minority of students in schools due to the high number of refugees in host countries which made classes more diverse ethnically, culturally, and in terms of language and dialects. Many studies indicated that effective culturally responsive instruction, high-quality multicultural instruction, refugee students' progress monitoring, and one-on-one learners' support are critical for teaching diverse classes (Irvine, 2003; McIntyre, 2010). Being culturally illiterate can create serious threats to refugees' academic progress. A high percentage (47.8%) of teachers greatly agreed that they are aware of the diversity in the classrooms due to the presence of refugees and they face challenges adapting methods to meet the culturally diverse students, and this instills high responsibility for teachers. Teachers agreed that they have not received enough training to meet culturally diverse students' needs and this complies with a study by Goodwin (2002) who confirmed that teachers in different contexts experience many challenges while trying to meet the needs of culturally diverse students due to the typical preparation they receive from undergraduate degrees. According to McIntyre et al. (2010), language teacher education programs have to equip teachers of English to deliver instruction to various learners and prepare them to use methods that help refugees to achieve the literacy needed to progress in their education.

Teachers' Practices

Teachers play significant roles in providing quality education to refugee students. In this study, 60% of the participants agreed to have the willingness to implement new practices, such as cooperation with refugees' families (Kirk and Winthrop, 2007) and cooperation between teachers and refugees' families, which help refugees to restore a sense of stability and confidence. According to the analysis of teachers' responses, they agreed on facing challenges with the practices they need to implement with refugees who suffer from mental and psychological problems. English teachers are not able to implement practices that meet refugee students' needs, such as conducting or reading studies, trying new types of practices for refugee students by following a treatment manual, and using new and different types of practices developed by researchers. Although teachers can support refugees in the recovery phase in post-conflict emergencies, and with their practices they can promote security, safety, peace, and human rights upon return to home countries (Mononye, 2012), still this needs training. Crisp et al. (2001) argued that training teachers on implementing practices that help in meeting the diversity in the classroom can be challenging.

Refugees' Linguistic Challenges

Schools in Arab world countries teach different foreign languages, e.g., English is used as a foreign language in Jordan and Egypt, and French is used as a foreign language in Lebanon, Syria (some schools), and Morocco. Hence, some refugees learn French as a foreign language and after refuge, it becomes English, which created an obstacle to perform well academically (Riggs et al., 2012), and some of the refugees come with different foreign languages and they face linguistic challenges because of the unfamiliarity of the language taught in the new context; hence, English teachers recommend separation rather than inclusion. Moreover, the presence of refugees with different native languages poses a challenge for teachers and refugees. According to Cohen (2011), refugee students cannot communicate with their teachers due to the language barrier. The majority (60%) of the teachers greatly agreed that they suffer from refugees due to the lack of sufficient English proficiency which prevents refugees from meeting the basic academic requirements of school success. According to Fares et al. (2017), Syrian refugees suffer from learning a new language due to many reasons, such as curricula differences and sociocultural factors. They greatly agreed that teaching languages (English) is constructive (Piaget, 1980).

Refugees' Psychological Needs

Refugees' psychological challenges have been investigated from teachers' perspective, the results showed that the majority around 71% greatly agreed that refugees have unique emotional needs and seem more anxious or nervous compared to other students, and this affects their performance in language learning. Refugees show greater needs for emotional and behavioral support than peers (Forness et al., 2012), and this can be clarified by Krashen (1985) that the psychological status represented in anxiety and negative emotions prevents language acquisition or learning to occur effectively. He explained how psychological factors affect the foreign language learning process (Effective Filter Hypothesis).

Researchers found that refugees during wars experience traumatic events, and each experiences 7 and 15 traumatic events (Mollica et al., 1999). It is expected that this leaves a negative impact on the refugees, e.g., traumatic events lead to depression of 16% (Turner et al., 2003). In cognitive psychology studies, it has been found that traumatic experiences shift neural paths in the human brain and it affects the learning process. Individuals' brain is designed to feel, receive, and store dangerous incidents; hence, all parts of the brain and body are involved in a "fight or flight response," to enable individuals to respond to threatening situations. The traumatic events individuals pass through indeed impact the brain deeply and critically (Perry, 2006). The ability of processing information in individuals with post trauma stress disorder (PTSD) interferes with schema response, and the brain responds to the trigger with a pervasive terror response and initiates the fear response as if they were occurring for the first time. For learning new aspects of language, the brain needs to process, store, retrieve, and respond as it needs to be in a calm and attentive state. However, this flashback, or retriggering of fright response, places individuals' brains in an extremely over-alert mode. This in turn prevents the progress of language learning process and offers promising relations for studies with traumatized language learners. According to Krashen (1985), anxiety and self-confidence are significant in second or foreign language acquisition; when self-confidence is low, it combines with debilitating anxiety and raises the learners' affective filter, and then creates a block that declines comprehensible input to reach the language acquisition device.

Model of Teacher–Refugee Relationship

To create this model, 5 hypotheses were tested, namely, H1: teachers' preparation directly influences the practices they implement, H2: teachers' preparation directly influences their self-efficacy, H3: teachers' preparation directly influences their cultural competency, H4: practices that teachers implement influence (a) refugee students' psychological needs and (b) refugee students' linguistic challenges, H5: teachers' self-efficacy influences (a) refugee students' psychological needs and (b) refugee students' linguistic challenges, and H6: teachers' cultural competency influences (a) refugee students' psychological needs and (b) refugee students' linguistic challenges. To establish a relationship between these elements and represent them in a comprehensible model, IBM's SPSS statistical tool has been employed to analyze the demographic characteristics of the respondents.

As the assessment of the measurement instrument reliability was examined, the discriminant validity of the constructs was measured as well (**Table 1**). The findings show conformity with the proposition in the literature that the "square root of average variance extracted shown in diagonal of each construct must be greater than the correlations between that construct and other constructs" (Fornell and Larcker, 1981). The result indicates that the students' needs, students' linguistic challenges, teachers' preparation, teachers' self-efficacy, implementing practices, and teachers' cultural competency display good discriminant validity in the model context.

Common Bias Method (CMB)

In respect to the "common method bias" (CMB), it was demonstrated in Kock's (2015) study that the coefficients of "full collinearity VIF" are sensitive to "pathological common

TABLE 1 Correlations among 1 vs. with square root of AVEs.						
	SN	LC	Р	SE	IP	сс
SN	0.831					
LC	0.461	0.717				
Ρ	-0.229	-0.214	0.797			
SE	-0.140	-0.323	0.391	0.822		
IP	0.001	-0.211	0.309	0.542	0.845	
CC	0.381	0.078	0.065	0.296	0.296	0.696

SN, students' need; LC, students' linguistic challenges; P, teachers' preparation; SE, teachers' self-efficacy; IP, implementing practices; CC, teachers' cultural competency. Square roots of average variances extracted (AVEs) shown on diagonal. The numbers in bold indicate discriminant values.

TABLE 2 | Q-squared coefficients.

SN	LC	SE	IP	сс
0.288	0.229	0.160	0.123	0.049

SN, students' need; LC, students' linguistic challenges; SE, teachers' self-efficacy; IP, implementing practices; CC, teachers' cultural competency.

variations" across the constructs in methodological contexts that are the same with the one found in this study. Accordingly, it implies that the sensitivity enables CMB to be identified in a model which nevertheless passes the assessment of convergent and discriminant validity criteria based on a "confirmatory factor analysis" (CFA), as we have in this study. Some researchers suggested the value of 5 to be acceptable and < 3.3 to be the best for full collinearity VIF coefficients (Kock and Lynn, 2012; Kock, 2015; Adetola et al., 2021; Moguluwa et al., 2021). Thus, with the full VIF, none of the full VIF coefficients is greater than the acceptable threshold (<5). Moreover, the "Stone-Geisser" (Q^2) coefficients developed by Geisser (1974) and Stone (1974) are utilized for the assessment of predictive validity (Kock, 2015). This coefficient is only available for endogenous latent variables; that is those latent variables have arrows pointing at them. Kock (2015) suggested that a Q^2 coefficient that is >0 indicates the acceptable predictive validity of the measurement model, and the results are presented in Table 2 and it shows that our model meets this criterion.

Hypothesis Testing

For the structural model's quality, the model fit indices were tested and then reported in **Table 3**. All the indices were either statistically significant or inconsistent with the respective thresholds, indicating that the quality of the structural model is adequate (Hair et al., 2010; Kock, 2020).

Confirming the fitness of the model, the significance of the linear and non-linear relationships among the constructs was tested, and the *R* squared (R^2) value as presented in **Table 4** and **Figure 1** in reference to Hair et al. (2019) indicates a moderate degree of variance explained in teachers' self-efficacy ($R^2 = 0.16$), implementing practices ($R^2 = 0.12$), and low degree of variance explained in teachers' cultural competency ($R^2 = 0.05$) by teachers preparation. In addition, the result further shows that teachers' self-efficacy, implementing practices, and teachers' cultural competency contribute about 27 and 22% of explanation variation in students' needs and students' linguistic challenges, respectively.

In accordance with the argument of Henseler et al. (2016) that the weight of the path coefficient should be examined through the evaluation of effect size (f^2) ; **Table 5** shows that teachers' self-efficacy (0.058) and implementing practices (0.004) have a weak effect on students' needs, while teachers' cultural competency (0.213) has a strong effect on students' needs which are following the recommendation of Cohen (1977). Similarly, self-efficacy (0.121), implementing practice (0.037), and teachers' cultural competency (0.061) show a moderate, weak, and weak effect on student needs, respectively. In addition, the effect size as presented in **Table 5** reveals that teachers'

TABLE 3 | Model fit and quality indices.

Indices	Coefficient	Decision	
Average path coefficient (APC)	0.286	P < 0.001	
Average R-squared (ARS)	0.163	<i>P</i> = 0.018	
Average block VIF (AVIF)	1.154	Acceptable if \leq 5, ideally \leq 3.3	
Average full collinearity VIF (AFVIF)	1.476	Acceptable if ≤ 5 ideally ≤ 3.3	
Tenenhaus GOF (GOF)	0.318	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Small} \geq 0.1,\\ \text{medium} \geq 0.25,\\ \text{large} \geq 0.36 \end{array}$	
R-squared contribution ration (RSCR)	1.000	Acceptable if ≥ 0.9 ideally = 1	
Standardized root mean squared residual (SRMR)	0.070	Acceptable if ≤ 0.1	

TABLE 4 | R-squared coefficient.

SN	LC	SE	IP	сс
0.275	0.219	0.158	0.120	0.045

SN, students' need; LC, students' linguistic challenges; SE, teachers' self-efficacy; IP, implementing practices; CC, teachers' cultural competency.

preparation exerts a moderate effect on teachers' self-efficacy and implementing practices while exerting a weak effect of teachers' cultural competency.

The results of the model testing reveal the coefficients of the interaction of teachers' preparation with teachers' self-efficacy "H1" ($\beta = 0.397$, p < 0.001), implementing practices "H2" $(\beta = 0.346, p < 0.001)$, and teachers' cultural competency "H3" ($\beta = 0.212$, p = 0.009) to be positive and significant at 1% significance level, respectively. Therefore, hypotheses 1-3 were supported and concluded that teachers' preparation has a significant influence on teachers' self-efficacy, implementing practices, and teachers' cultural competency. Moreover, the hypothesized direct relationship between teachers' self-efficacy and students' needs "H4a" ($\beta = 0.298$, p < 0.001) and between teachers' self-efficacy and students' linguistic challenges "H4b" (β = 0.331, *p* < 0.001) revealed to be positive and significant. This result indicated the significant impact of teachers' self-efficacy on students' needs and their linguistic challenges; hence, H4a and H4b were supported. The result of the estimating direct influence of implementing practices on students' needs "H5a" ($\beta = 0.092$, p = 0.160) was found to be positive but not significant, while the coefficient of direct influence of implementing practices on students' linguistic challenges "H5b" ($\beta = 0.137$, p = 0.047) as presented in Table 6 was found to be positive and significant. Thus, H5a was not supported, while H5b was supported; hence, we concluded that implementing practices directly influence the



TABLE 5 | Effect size (f²).

Interaction	f ²
$SE \rightarrow SN$	0.058
$\text{IP} \rightarrow \text{SN}$	0.004
$\text{CC} \rightarrow \text{SN}$	0.213
$SE \rightarrow LC$	0.121
$\text{IP} \rightarrow \text{LC}$	0.037
$CC \rightarrow LC$	0.061
$P \to SE$	0.158
$P \to IP$	0.120
$P \to CC$	0.045

SN, students' need; LC, students' linguistic challenges; P, teachers' preparation; SE, teachers' self-efficacy; IP, implementing practices; CC, teachers' cultural competency.

TABLE 6 | Path coefficients and P values.

Hypothesis	Interaction	Path coefficient (β)	P-value	Decision
H1	$P\toSE$	0.397***	< 0.001	Supported
H2	$P\toIP$	0.346***	< 0.001	Supported
H3	$P\toCC$	0.212***	0.009	Supported
H4a	$\text{SE} \rightarrow \text{SN}$	-0.298***	< 0.001	Supported
H4b	$\text{SE} \rightarrow \text{LC}$	-0.331***	< 0.001	Supported
H5a	$\text{IP} \rightarrow \text{SN}$	0.092	0.160	Not supported
H5b	$\text{IP} \rightarrow \text{LC}$	-0.137**	0.047	Supported
H6a	$\text{CC} \rightarrow \text{SN}$	0.481***	< 0.001	Supported
H6b	$\text{CC} \rightarrow \text{LC}$	0.276***	0.001	Supported

SN, students' need; LC, students' linguistic challenges; P, teachers' preparation; SE, teachers' self-efficacy; IP, implementing practices; CC, teacher' cultural competency. Values with * are significant at 10% level, values with ** are significant at 5% level, and values with *** are significant at 1% level.

students' linguistics challenge at less than 5% significance level. As for the direct influence of teachers' cultural competency on both students' needs "H6a" ($\beta = 0.481$, p < 0.001) and students' linguistic challenges "H6b" ($\beta = 0.276$, p = 0.001), the results as presented in **Table 6** revealed that teachers' cultural competency exerts a positive influence on both students' needs and their linguistic challenges. Therefore, H6a and H6b were supported.

The questionnaire data revealed significant correlations between teachers' preparation and self-efficacy, teacher preparation and their practices, teacher preparation, and cultural competency. The results illustrated the importance of teacher preparation on teachers' self-efficacy (Carr, 2013), practices (Cook et al., 2015) and cultural competency (Landa and Stephens, 2017). In addition, the data revealed significant correlations between self-efficacy and students' psychological needs (Chwastek et al., 2021) and linguistic challenges (Alefesha and Al-Jamal, 2019), and between teachers' practices and students' psychological needs and linguistic challenges. Cultural competency with refugees' psychological needs showed to be significant, and teachers' cultural competency helps in meeting diverse students' needs (Peeler and Jane, 2005; Lesaux and Geva, 2006). However, the correlation between teachers' practices and students' needs was not significant. As shown in the model, teachers' self-efficacy, practices, and cultural competency mediate the relationship between teachers' preparation and the linguistic challenges and psychological needs of refugee students. Hence, teacher preparation plays an important role in meeting refugee learners' needs and challenges by preparing teachers adequately and effectively in terms of cultural competency, self-efficacy, and teachers' practices.

CONCLUSION

Despite the variation among refugee students, they share common challenges and experiences since they came from waraffected backgrounds. This study showed challenges associated with refugee learners of English and their teachers in Jordan, and attempted to find out the relationship between these challenges and present them in a model. The model showed that English teacher preparation influences teachers' self-efficacy, cultural competency, and the practices teacher implement, and they influence refugees' linguistic challenges and psychological needs. For example, according to the proposed model, if teachers had challenges with preparation, they would face challenges with the cultural competency and then this creates challenges in meeting refugees' needs. The limitations of this study are associated with the phase of collecting data during the COVID-19 pandemic period. Future studies are likely to collect data from refugees qualitatively.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Adetola, O. A., Adeniyi, O. S., and Akindahunsi, D. L. (2021). Investigation of some physical properties of two varieties of sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam). *Turk. J. Agric. Eng. Res.* 2, 230–238. doi: 10.46592/turkager.2021.v02i01.018
- Alefesha, H., and Al-Jamal, D. (2019). Syrian refugees' challenges and problems of learning and teaching english as a foreign language (EFL): jordan as an example. *J. Ethn. Cult. Stud.* 6, 117–129. doi: 10.29333/ejec s/235
- AlHariri, B. (2018). *Teaching ESL to Syrian Refugees: Problems and Challenges*. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Toledo, Toledo, OH.
- Anderson, R. C., Reynolds, R. E., Schallert, D. L., and Goetz, E. T. (1977). Frameworks for comprehending discourse. Am. Educ. Res. J. 14, 367–378. doi: 10.3102/00028312014004367
- Ashton, P. T. (1985). "Motivation and the teacher's sense of efficacy," in *Res. Motiv. Education: The Classroom Milieu*, Vol. 2, eds C. Ames and R. Ames (New York, NY: Academic Press), 141–174.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Burgoyne, U., and Hull, O. (2007). Classroom Management Strategies to Address the Needs of Sudanese Refugee Learners: Advice to Teachers. Support Document. Leabrook, SA: National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER).
- Carr, D. (2013). The Effects of Teacher Preparation Programs on Novice Teachers Regarding Classroom Management, Academic Preparation, Time Management, and Self Efficacy. Doctoral Dissertations, Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA.
- Casimiro, S., Hancock, P., and Northcote, J. (2007). Isolation and insecurity: resettlement issues among Muslim refugee women in Perth, Western Australia. *Aust. J. Soc. Issues* 42, 55–69. doi: 10.1002/j.1839-4655.2007.tb00039.x
- Chwastek, S., Leyendecker, B., Heithausen, A., Ballero, R., and Busch, J. (2021). Pre-school teachers' stereotypes and self-efficacy are linked to perceptions of behavior problems in newly arrived refugee children. *Front. Psychiatry* 11:574412. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.574412
- Cohen, L. J. (1977). *The Probable and the Provable*, Vol. 384. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Cohen, E. H. (2011). Impact of the group of co-migrants on strategies of acculturation: towards an expansion of the berry model. *Int. Migr.* 49, 1–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2435.2009.00589.x

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Eastern Mediterranean University Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HA did the data collection, data analysis, wrote the introduction, methodology, and finally the discussion part of the manuscript. NK carried out the supervision of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.918734/full#supplementary-material

- Cole, M. (1990). "Cognitive development and formal schooling: The evidence from cross-cultural research," in Vygotsky And Education: Instructional Implications and Applications of Sociohistorical Psychology, ed. L. Moll (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 89–110. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139173674.005
- Cook, C. R., Lyon, A., Kurbegovic, D., Browning Wright, D., and Zhang, Y. (2015). A supportive beliefs intervention to facilitate the implementation of evidencebased practices within a multi-tiered system of supports. *School Mental Health* 7, 49–60. doi: 10.1007/s12310-014-9139-3
- Crisp, M. D., Laffan, S., Linder, H. P., and Monro, A. (2001). Endemism in the Australian flora. J. Biogeogr. 28, 183–198. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2699.2001. 00524.x
- De Jong, E. J., and Harper, C. A. (2005). Preparing mainstream teachers for english language learners: is being a good teacher good enough? *Teach. Educ. Q.* 32, 101–124.
- Fares, J., Kiblerb, A. K., and Yoder, P. J. (2017). Because even us, Arabs, now speak English": syrian refugee teachers' investment in English as a foreign language. *Int. J. Intercult. Relat.* 60, 169–182. doi: 10.1016/j.ijintrel.2017.04.006
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J. Mark. Res. 18, 39–50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- Forness, S. R., Freeman, S. F. N., Paparella, T., Kauffman, J. M., and Walker, H. M. (2012). Special education implications of point and cumulative prevalence for children with emotional or behavioral disorders. *J. Emot. Behav. Disord.* 20, 4–18. doi: 10.1177/1063426611401624
- Geisser, S. (1974). A predictive approach to the random effect model. *Biometrika* 61, 101–107. doi: 10.1093/biomet/61.1.101
- Ginsborg, H. (1990). The Role of Taste in Kant's Theory of Cognition. New York, NY: Garland.
- Gizatullina, A., and Sibgatullina, A. (2018). Forming a foreign language teacher's professional competencies in a multilingual educational environment. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 9, 282–295.
- Goodwin, L. (2002). Teacher preparation and the education of immigrant children. *Educ. Urban Soc.* 34, 156–172. doi: 10.1177/0013124502034002003
- Grabe, W. (1988). "Reassessing the term 'interactive," in *Interactive Approaches to Second Language Reading*, eds P. L. Carrell, J. Devine, and D. E. Eskey (Cambridge: Cambridge University). doi: 10.1017/CBO978113952 4513.008

- Hair, J. F., Risher, J. J., Sarstedt, M., and Ringle, C. M. (2019). When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. *Eur. Bus. Rev.* 31, 2–24. doi: 10.1108/EBR-11-2018-0203
- Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B., and Anderson, R. (2010). *Multivariate Data Analysis*. London: Pearson.
- Henseler, J., Hubona, G., and Ray, P. A. (2016). Using PLS path modeling in new technology research: updated guidelines. *Ind. Manag. Data syst.* 116, 2–20. doi: 10.1108/IMDS-09-2015-0382
- Hulistijn, J. H. (2011). Language proficiency in native and nonnative speakers: an agenda for research and suggestions for second-language assessment. *Lang. Assess. Q.* 8, 229–249. doi: 10.1080/15434303.2011.565844
- Irvine, J. J. (2003). Educating Teachers For Diversity: Seeing With a Cultural Eye. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Kanno, Y., and Varghese, M. M. (2010). Immigrant and refugee ESL students' challenges to accessing four-year college education: from language policy to educational policy. J. Lang., Identity Educ. 9, 310–328. doi: 10.1080/15348458. 2010.517693
- Kirk, J., and Winthrop, W. (2007). Promoting quality education in refugee contexts: supporting teacher development in Northern Ethiopia. *Inter. Rev. Educ.* 53, 715–723. doi: 10.1007/s11159-007-9061-0
- Klassen, R., and Chiu, M. (2011). The occupational commitment and intention to quit of practicing and pre-service teachers: influence of self-efficacy, job stress, and teaching context. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 36:129. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych. 2011.01.002
- Kock, N. (2014). Advanced mediating effects tests, multi-group analyses, and measurement model assessments in PLS-based SEM. Int. J. E Collab. 10, 1–13. doi: 10.4018/ijec.2014010101
- Kock, N. (2015). Common method bias in PLS-SEM: a full collinearity assessment approach. *Int. J. E Collab.* 11, 1–10. doi: 10.4018/ijec.2015100101
- Kock, N. (2020). Full latent growth and its use in PLS-SEM: testing moderating relationships. *Data Anal. Perspect. J.* 1, 1–5.
- Kock, N., and Lynn, G. S. (2012). Lateral collinearity and misleading results in variance-based SEM: an illustration and recommendations. J. Assoc. Inf. Syst. 13, 546–580. doi: 10.17705/1jais.00302
- Krashen, S. D. (1985). The Input Hypothesis. Harlow: Longman.
- Kurbegovic, D. (2016). A Survey Study Examining Teachers' Perceptions in Teaching Refugee and Immigrant Students. Washington, DC: The University of Washington.
- Landa, M., and Stephens, G. (2017). Promoting cultural competence in preservice teacher education through children's literature an exemplary case study. *Issues Teach. Educ.* 26, 53–71.
- Lee, K. (2016). Using collaborative strategic reading with refugee English language learners in an academic bridging program. *TESL Can. J.* 33, 97–108. doi: 10. 18806/tesl.v33i0.1248
- Lertola, J., and Mariotti, C. (2017). Reverse dubbing and subtilling: raising pragmatic awareness in italian english as a second language (ESL) learners. J. Spec. Transl. 28, 103–121.
- Lesaux, N. K., and Geva, E. (2006). "Synthesis: Development of literacy in language minority youth," in *Developing Literacy in Second Language Learners: Report of the National Literacy Panel on Language-Minority Children and Youth*, eds D. August and T. Shanahan (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 53–74.
- McIntyre, E. (2010). "Sociocultural perspectives on children with reading difficulties," in *Handbook of Reading Disabilities Research*, eds R. Allington and A. McGill Franzen (New York, NY: Routledge), 41–56.
- McIntyre, E., Kyle, D., Chen, C.-T., Munoz, M., and Beldon, S. (2010). Teacher learning and ELL reading achievement in sheltered instruction classrooms: linking professional development to student development. *Lit. Res. Instr.* 49, 334–351. doi: 10.1080/19388070903229412
- Moguluwa, S. C., Odugbesan, J. A., Rjoub, H., and Iloka, C. B. (2021). Cost and competitiveness of agricultural produce in Nigeria: impact on exportation. *Custos E Agronegocio* 17, 1808–2882.
- Mollica, R. F., McInnes, K., Sarajlic, N., Lavelle, J., Sarajlic, I., and Massagli, M. P. (1999). Disability associated withpsychiatric comorbidity and health statusin Bosnian refugees living in Croatia. *JAMA* 282, 433–439. doi: 10.1001/jama.282. 5.433
- Mononye, C. (2012). Teacher Migration And Education In Conflict And Post-Conflict Countries: Experience From Somalia'. In: Next Steps In Managing Teacher Migration: Papers Of The Sixth Commonwealth Research Symposium on

Teacher Mobility, Recruitment and Migration. Paris: UNESCO. doi: 10.14217/9781848591318-15-en

- Nworgu, B. G. (1991). Education Research: Basic Issues and Methodology. Ibadan:Wisdom.
- Olliff, L., and Couch, J. (2005). Pathways and pitfalls: the journey of refugee young people in and around the education system in Greater Dandenong, Victoria. *Youth Stud. Aust.* 24:42.
- Palaiologou, N. (2007). School adjustment difficulties of immigrant children in Greece. Intercult. Educ. 18, 99–110. doi: 10.1080/14675980701327205
- Peeler, E., and Jane, B. (2005). Efficacy and identification of professional self. Acad. Exch. Q. 9, 224–228.
- Perry, B. D. (2006). "Applying principles of neurodevelopment to clinical work with maltreated and traumatized children: the neurosequential model of therapeutics," in *Working With Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare*, ed. N. B. Webb (New York, NY: The Guilford Press), 27–52.
- Piaget, J. (1980). "The psychogenesis of knowledge and its epistemological significance.In M.Piatelli-Palmarini," in *Language and Learning* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press), 23–34.
- Popov, O., and Sturesson, E. (2015). Facing the pedagogical challenge of teaching unaccompanied refugee children in the swedish school system. Prob. Educ. 21st Century 64, 66–74. doi: 10.33225/pec/15.64.66
- Riggs, N. R., Spruijt-Metz, D., Chou, C. P., and Pentz, M. A. (2012). Relationships between executive cognitive function and lifetime substance use and obesityrelated behaviors in fourth grade youth. *Child Neuropsychol.* 18, 1–11. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2011.555759
- Salehyan, I., and Gleditsch, K. (2006). Refugees and the spread of civil war. *Int. Organ.* 60, 335–366. doi: 10.1017/S0020818306060103
- Stevenson, J., and Willott, J. (2007). The aspiration and access to higher education of teenage refugees in the UK. Compare. J. Comp. Educ. 37, 671–687. doi: 10.1080/03057920701582624
- Stone, M. (1974). Cross-validatory choice and assessment of statistical predictions. J. R. Stat. Soc. B 36, 111–147.
- Sujito, S., Budiharso, T., Solikhah, I., and Mutaqin, W. (2019). The effect of analogy variations on academic writing: how indonesian efl students perform with different cognitive styles. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 10, 116–132.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., and Hoy, W. (1998). Trust in schools: a conceptual and empirical analysis. *J. Educ. Adm.* 36, 334–352. doi: 10.1108/0957823981021 1518
- Turner, S. W., Bowie, C., Dunn, G., Shapo, L., and Yule, W. (2003). Mental health of Kosovan Albanian refugees in the UK. Br. J. Psychiatry 182, 444–448. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.5.444
- UNHCR (2019). Report of the United Nations High Commissioner For Refugees. Switzerland: UNHCR.
- Wasonga, T. (2005). Multicultural education knowledgebase, attitudes and preparedness for diversity. Int. J. Educ. Manag. 19, 67–74. doi: 10.1108/ 09513540510574966
- Watkins, P. G., Razee, H., and Richters, J. (2012). 'I'm Telling You... the language barrier is the most, the biggest challenge': barriers to education among karen refugee women in australia. *Aust. J. Educ.* 56, 126–141. doi: 10.1177/ 000494411205600203

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Alrawashdeh and Kunt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Challenges of Writing Theses and Dissertations in an EFL Context: Genre and Move Analysis of Abstracts Written by Turkish M.A. and Ph.D. Students

Serdar Sükan1* and Behbood Mohammadzadeh2

¹ Department of Modern Languages, Cyprus International University, Nicosia, Turkey, ² ELT Department, Faculty of Education, Cyprus International University, Nicosia, Turkey

Writing a thesis or dissertation is a challenging procedure as it is one of the requirements of getting a graduate and postgraduate diploma. Writing an abstract like other parts of a thesis or dissertation has its criterion. For this reason, due to globalism, those abstracts written by non-native English speakers may lack some of the features of the abstract genre and move that must be included. This study examines the moves of M.A. and Ph.D. abstracts written by Turkish students between the 2009 and 2019 academic years on foreign language education at Cyprus International University. The data consisted of 50 abstracts chosen randomly from the ELT department. For the analysis, Hyland's five-move model has been used. The study results reveal that 40 abstracts did not follow the five moves that Hyland has put forward. Moreover, it can be stated that the absence of some moves in the abstracts may cause restraint for readers to comprehend these studies in terms of communicative purposes.

Keywords: genre, move, abstracts, ELT M.A. thesis, ELT Ph.D. thesis, Hyland model

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, there has been an increase in the number of students willing to get a diploma in their postgraduate fields. Thus, it became necessary to conduct research on the written abstracts as they are considered the essential section of the written theses that will give the reader an idea of the value of the whole dissertation. Hence, to draw attention to its importance and highlight the features that must be included in them, abstract analysis becomes more significant at this point. Especially for those writing their M.A. or Ph.D. abstracts, to guide them on what is needed. Any abstract that is going to be written needs systematic and organized work. The absence of these may lead to comprehension problems and may cause less attention. Poorly written abstracts can have unwanted results and may not receive enough credit or be read. To avoid this, what is expected is that a writer should have all the necessary skills to write good abstracts, which should be seen or understood from the moment one looks at the study. Genres and moves should be included and defined so that every reader understands each step clearly without reading the whole research. Genre is a literary term, and genre analysis is a sort of discourse done to check the reliability of communicative purposes. So, it includes an analysis of the style and text. Abstracts as genres have become a key tool for investigators because they offer them a chance to choose the appropriate

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

Reviewed by:

Tahir Saleem, University of Central Punjab, Pakistan Fitri Budi Suryani, University of Muria Kudus, Indonesia

*Correspondence:

Serdar Sükan ssukan@ciu.edu.tr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 21 April 2022 Accepted: 16 May 2022 Published: 27 June 2022

Citation:

Sükan S and Mohammadzadeh B (2022) Challenges of Writing Theses and Dissertations in an EFL Context: Genre and Move Analysis of Abstracts Written by Turkish M.A. and Ph.D. Students. Front. Psychol. 13:925420. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.925420 study for their investigation (Chen and Su, 2011; Yelland, 2011; Piqué-Noguera, 2012; Paré, 2017; Abdollahpour and Gholami, 2019; Anderson et al., 2021; Yu, 2021).

Moreover, genre referring to abstracts means socially known ways of using language. This is because writing practise is done to give the reader a chance to interpret what the reader could be expected based on what they have read in earlier texts (Hyland, 2007). As Kaya and Yağız (2020) state, publishing research articles in English is the main aspect of academic life. Therefore, writing is a challenging job, and surviving in the academic world is demanding. Thus, it needs to be of good quality with all the features. However, if the writer has no awareness of what is required for writing and how to make it more interesting for the readers, the text written can turn into a disappointment. Belcher (2009) states that the abstract is an important part of work because it gives readers an idea of what it contains and whether it is worth reading. To put it simply, an abstract acts as a communication tool revealing the importance of the article and indicating whether reading the article will enrich scholars. Tanko (2017) claims that abstracts are the key tools to declare the outcomes researchers have found in their studies. Moreover, Salager-Meyer (1994) and Hartley (2003) define the abstract as the core of the article and the first part that encounters the readers of the article. For this reason, Hartley and Betts (2009) highlight the importance of abstracts by pointing out the fact that a wellwritten abstract increases the possibility of being read if it gives enough information about the article.

This study investigates and analyzes the M.A. and Ph.D. students' theses abstracts written by EFL Turkish students in the ELT department. As we all know, abstracts are a very significant part of articles, and they are the main part of transferring and reporting the writer's view. The major concern of this issue is probably the poor writing skills of students'. Since the demand for writing abstracts is increasing, it has become more important to focus on the structure of the information, make discourse and do a genre analysis. Therefore, problems that lie beneath this topic will be examined, analyzed, and solved.

This study aims to analyze how M.A. and Ph.D. students at Cyprus International University (CIU) write their thesis abstracts using a genre-based approach and Hyland's framework for abstract analysis (2000). Specifically, the study aims to classify the patterns of the moves employed in the abstracts of CIU M.A. and Ph.D. theses, identify the obligatory and optional moves in the research abstracts, and determine the linguistic features, specifically the tense of the verb and the voice of the verb. Furthermore, it aims to classify the pattern of the rhetorical moves employed in the theses abstracts and determine the linguistic features used by the researchers regarding the following: (a) tense of the verb and (b) voice of the verb. The following research questions will be answered through the present study:

(1) What are the genre-specific rhetorical features of the abstract sections of M.A. and Ph.D. theses written between the 2009 and 2019 academic years on foreign language education at Cyprus International University?

- (2) What types of moves are there in the abstract sections of M.A. and Ph.D. theses written between the 2009 and 2019 academic years on foreign language education at Cyprus International University?
- (3) What are the obligatory, conventional, and optional moves identified in the abstract sections of M.A. and Ph.D. theses written between the 2009 and 2019 academic years on foreign language education at Cyprus International University?
- (4) What are the linguistic features of the abstract sections of M.A. and Ph.D. theses written between the 2009 and 2019 academic years on foreign language education at Cyprus International University?

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Abstracts are the most important parts of research reports as they determine the value of the whole manuscript. Therefore, as Male (2018: 24) states, "abstracts categorized as an academically written genre containing the rhetorical structure or moves". Writing abstracts can be more challenging than writing the whole report for students or academicians since it requires an awareness of steps or organization. Furthermore, it has to be written systematically and in good organization. According to Othman (2011), effective abstract writing can be ascribed to many factors. One of the aspects written is organization. Abstracts are important for the growth and prosperity of academics in all fields.

Considering the fact that the English language has become an international language used worldwide, it may carry some obstacles within itself for non-native speakers when they are writing their reports. Especially, when they want to convey their thoughts. This could be one of the reasons Hyland (2016) has pointed out why non-native speakers go through difficulties as the linguistic norms of the target language are different from their mother tongue. Similarly, Brown (2000) has stated that not only writing is a complicated activity but also one needs to have the full competencies.

According to Ren and Li (2011), genre analysis has to be done to be able to write well or to overcome the challenges of academic writing. For this reason, Al-Zubaidi (2012), recommended that second language learners' should receive extra help in comprehending the content, building academic language, and incorporating language skills. Furthermore, Zhu (2004), Tardy (2005), and Tas (2008) pointed out that in the process of writing academic manuscripts, appropriate style should be given in a discoursal environment. To overcome the writing difficulties in the native language and to develop effective academic writing skills studying the genre, analysis is the best.

Due to the fact that examiners or readers are very busy doing their work, most of them limit their search, and they want to know from the first glance whether the manuscript is worth reading or not (Alhuqbani, 2013). For this reason, according to Kossasih (2018), four reasons make abstracts play a vital role in articles. The first reason is, it gives information that can be easily read or seen. The second reason is that it can guide readers or provide them with a clue as to whether they will finish reading the whole content or not. Third, it gives an outline for readers. Fourth, it offers a summary of the most important ideas and thoughts. According to Walter (2008), abstract means, "a shortened form of a speech, article, book, etc., giving only the most important facts or ideas." Bhatia (1993) defined it as "a description or factual summary of the much longer report, and is meant to give the reader an exact and concise knowledge of the full article."

Moreover, Martín-Martín (2005: 20) claims that abstracts are written: "to provide the summary of the content of the accompanying article". Consequently, they all suggest that research article writers should use a series of rhetorical strategies or move structures, and accordingly, there are some popular generic structures to mention. One of them is Bhatia (1993), suggesting four-move generic structures of abstracts: (1) introducing the purpose, (2) describing the method, (3) summarizing the result, and (4) presenting the conclusion. Another one is proposed by Hyland (2004), which has a fivemove generic structure such as introduction, purpose, method, product, and conclusion moves. In parallel with these, Santos (1996) and Swales and Feak (2004) proposed a five-move generic structure that include (1) background, (2) aim, (3) method, (4) results, and (5) conclusion moves.

According to Kossasih (2018), the abstract can be contemplated as a genre. Eggins maintains that "Genre is a staged, goal-oriented purposeful activity in which speakers or writers engage as members of our culture. Thus, recognizing the genre of a text has an important role in identifying ways in which a particular text is similar to, reminiscent of, other texts circulating in the culture" (Eggins, 2004: 45). Hence, if the genre of the text cannot be identified, it can be seen as problematic. According to Niu (2013), the genre is a literary term, and genre analysis is a type of discourse that is believed to be done to check the consistency of communicative purposes. Therefore, it involves stylistic text analysis. Abstracts as genres have become an indispensable tool for researchers because it provides them with a chance to select the right article for their research (Piqué-Noguera, 2012).

In 1990, Swales identified genre analysis as parts that constitute moves and linguistic features such as tense, reporting verbs, and the lexical frequency that help writers write a certain text. Thus, it focuses on ideas and meaning and has a sequence of moves that involves communicative function in each move. Therefore, according to his description and identification, all research articles should first identify the topic, then give a review of the previously written articles as the next move, and detect what is not present in the research reports written earlier as a second move, and state the outline of the goals of the study that has been carried out by writing a summary of the outcomes and stating the results as the last move (Upton and Connor, 2001). In line with Upton and Connor (2001), Ding describes the word move as, "A functional unit in a text, being related to the overall task, which is used to identify the textual regularities in certain genres of writing" (Ding, 2007, 20). Having read many articles on the topic, it has been noticed that many experts have defined the term "move analysis" differently. Yelland (2011: 12) defines move analysis as a "piece of text that is evident in the unified functional

meaning of a sentence or group of sentences". Swales (2004) defines it as a shaper of the overall communicative purpose and the rhetorical structure of the genre. El-Dakhs (2018) explains each move as steps. Moreover, some models have been put forward by Bhatia (1993), Santos (1996), and Hyland (2000). In Bhatia's version, four moves have been explained, namely, introduction, method, results, and discussion, and this model has been named the IMRD model. In Santos (1996) suggested a new model and put forward five moves, namely, situating the research, presenting the research, describing the methodology, summarizing the findings, and discussing the findings. Finally, in 2000, Hyland gave the final version of the model of moves, which can be detected as similar to Santos's model because Hyland's version also included five moves and introduction, purpose, method, product, and conclusion made up the model. Figure 1 demonstrates the three different models that have been explained.

According to Can et al. (2016), moves can be explained or defined as methods that can be used as a guide for the organizing the text to be written. Therefore, all these studies that have been carried out with the aim of evaluating the language of thesis abstracts are to offer different ways and methods of organizing and controlling the language of second language learners' to prevent discrepancies for communicative purposes. Furthermore, Kanoksilapatham (2007) stated that the move analysis helps the information to be arranged and identifies the type of information that should be included in the text.

This study employs Hyland's five-move model, examining the moves in thesis abstracts by CIU students. The results of this study can help non-native speakers in writing their abstracts and can contribute to the enrichment of literature in regards to the structure of moves. Moreover, the results are expected to provide deep insight for academicians to improve their writing skills in their future studies.

METHOD

This study adopts a content analysis method to examine the rhetorical structure of English thesis abstracts. The corpus is the analysis of a total of 50 bachelor theses abstracts at Cyprus International University. The students were selected randomly. The analysis of thesis abstracts involves examining Hyland's fivemove models, which consist of introduction, purpose, method, product, and conclusion.

As shown in **Table 1**, Hyland (2000) presents all five moves and their functions. We examined all moves and their functions sequentially in our analysis.

FINDINGS

To examine abstracts more easily, all 50 abstracts were numbered separately. Hyland's (2000) model was employed for the analysis. The reason for choosing this model is the fact that it includes five moves, namely, introduction, purpose, methods, product, and conclusion, and his model was used widely in many other research studies. Hyland's model has been accepted as the

Bhati (1993) Move 1 Introducing the Purpose Move 2 Describing Methodology	
Move 3 Summarizing the Results	
Move 4 Presenting the Conclusion	
Santos (1996)	
Move 1 Situating the Research	
Move 2 Presenting the Research	
Move 5 Discussing the Findings	
Move 5 Conclusion	
	Move 4 Presenting the Conclusion Santos (1996) Move 1 Situating the Research

most influential in addressing the rhetorical moves in abstracts compared to other suggested models by Santo and Bhatia. In the analysis of move, identification, occurrence, patterns, and the use of tense and voice of moves were also examined. Moreover, the analysis was based on the content or function of the text, and the frequency was used to classify the number of move occurrences in the abstracts. The frequency of occurrence was first recorded and then noted in the tables.

Table 2 lists the frequency of moves found in the abstracts, and as it can be seen from the table, purpose and method have the highest percentages, and conclusion has the lowest percentage. It also shows that only (20%) of these abstracts include complete Hyland's five moves which are: introduction, purpose, method, product, and conclusion. It has been noticed that most English thesis abstracts (70%) comprised only four rhetorical moves with the absence of a conclusion move. It can be said that all abstracts did not have the conclusion move. The absence of some rhetorical moves in English thesis abstracts may cause communication problems with the readers. Moreover, the readers may have difficulty comprehending the text, and may fail to read it further. This may be a drawback for researchers if their research is not read and recognized in the academic community.

Move	Function
Introduction	Establishes the context of the manuscript and motivates the research or discussion
Purpose	Indicates purpose, thesis or hypothesis, outlines the intention behind the manuscript
Method	Provides information on design, procedures, assumption, approach, data, etc.
Product	States main findings or results, the argument, or what was accomplished
Conclusion	Interprets or extends results beyond the scope of the manuscript, draws inferences, points to applications or wider implications

In **Table 3**, the results for tense verb frequency in each move in the abstracts are presented. According to the results obtained, it can be seen that most of the moves in thesis abstracts were written in the present tense. The results showed that the present tense was used more than the past tense in the introduction, purpose, and conclusion in English abstracts. However, the past tense was used more with higher percentages in method and product move.

TABLE 2 | The frequency of moves found in the abstracts.

Moves	Corpus n (50)
Introduction (I)	37 (74%)
Purpose (P)	48 (96%)
Method (M)	46 (92%)
Product (P)	44 (88%)
Conclusion (C)	25 (50%)

TABLE 3 | Verb tense frequency in each move in the abstracts.

ise of moves	Corpus n (50)
oduction (I)	
sent	30 (81%)
st	7 (19%)
pose (P)	
sent	43 (90%)
st	5 (10%)
hod (M)	
sent	6 (13%)
st	40 (87%)
duct (P)	
sent	15 (34%)
st	29 (66%)
nclusion (C)	
sent	16 (64%)
st	6 (24%)
ure	3 (12%)

TABLE 4 | The voice used in the analyzed abstracts.

Moves	Corpu	s n (50)
	Active	Passive
Introduction (I)	21 (57%)	16 (43%)
Purpose (P)	43 (90%)	5 (10%)
Method (M)	21 (46%)	25 (54%)
Product (P)	41 (93%)	3 (7%)
Conclusion (C)	19 (76%)	6 (24%)

It can also be seen that the future tense was only used in the conclusion move with a low percentage (12%), and it cannot be seen in the other moves.

In **Table 4**, the findings showed that the active voice was preferred in the introduction, purpose, product, and conclusion moves. Nevertheless, the passive voice was used in the method move with a higher percentage compared to the active voice. Furthermore, it is possible to say that a mixture of active and passive voices was used in all moves in the analyzed abstracts.

In the identification process of move analysis, the belief in rhetorical function was vital for the analysis of RA abstracts to investigate move frequency, move pattern, and the use of tense and voice. To ensure the reliability of this research, coding was used. The Kanoksilapatham's (2015) criterion for the classification of the frequency of occurrence of each move was employed as the cut-off point.

DISCUSSION

As shown in Table 1, all five moves related to Hyland's (2000) model have been presented. In Table 2, the frequency of each move differed slightly. The purpose move has been found to have the highest frequency and percentage (96%), followed by the method (92%), product (88%), introduction (74%), and conclusion moves (50%). According to the data obtained, the conclusion move with the least frequency and percentage was an optional move as it was not mentioned in most abstracts. Many researchers preferred not to include this move in their abstracts as this showed they did not give enough importance to it. However, the purpose, method, and product moves were similar in their frequency, but the introduction and conclusion moves seemed to be different, with the least occurring frequency and having the least percentages. The purpose move was the most dominant in all the abstracts that have been examined in this study. The high frequency found in the moves of purpose, method, and product implies that the researchers were aware of the importance of these three moves, whereas the least frequency found in the introduction and conclusion moves demonstrates that some researchers were not aware of the importance of establishing the context of the manuscript and motivating the research or discussion and interpreting or extending the results beyond the scope of the manuscript, drawing inferences, pointing to applications, or suggesting wider implications. The writers had a tendency to begin their abstracts with a purpose move and end the abstracts without drawing references to the field by providing no further suggestions on how to improve their studies in the

future. This finding indicates that the writers of this corpus regard the background, method, and significance of the study as more important. Since there is no previously written similar research on this issue, this can be interpreted as the writers' are lacking rhetorical knowledge on the other two moves (introduction and conclusion), or perhaps they do not attach any importance to mentioning them.

As shown in Table 3, the most frequent verb tense in all the five moves was the present tense. However, the most frequent pattern can be seen in the purpose move with a percentage of 90%. Only in the method move past tense was more frequent with a percentage of 87%. The most frequent patterns were in introduction move (a) Pr-P, purpose move (b) Pr-P, method move (c) P-Pr, product move (d) P-Pr, and conclusion move (e) P-Pr-F. It can be seen that the present voice was the most frequently preferred structure, and only in the conclusion move, the future tense was preferred only in three abstracts among 50 manuscripts to give further implications on the study. According to Table 3, in the introduction, purpose and conclusion moves present tense was used more frequently and to categorize this present simple and present continuous, and present perfect tenses were the most frequently seen. In the product move, the use of past tense was seen to be more than the present tense. Finally, in the conclusion move, from the findings, it can be understood that all tenses are used, including past, present, and future, however, the further findings reflect that the present tense was used more, followed by past and future tense. The differences in tenses usage and their frequency were in the method and product moves. There was no future tense used in the other moves, while 12% of the ELT abstracts were written in the future form. For the method move, only 13% of the abstracts were written in the present form, while 87% were written in the past tense. Thus, we can say that the most frequent tense used in most moves was present simple, while the past tense was the second most frequent and the future tense was found to be the least frequent in three abstracts only to present the conclusion move. However, other previous studies by Zhang et al. (2012) and Suntara and Usaha (2013) stated that the most dominant tense was the past tense in the studies they have carried out.

When our study is compared with other studies by Tseng (2011) and Alhuqbani (2013), it has been found that they both included the same similarities and differences in tenses usage. This means that in the introduction, purpose, and conclusion moves, they tended to use the present simple tense, whereas in our study, introduction, purpose, product, and conclusion moves present tense was mostly used, but the method and product moves were different in the tense usage because past tense was used more which is similar to Alhuqbani's and Tseng's findings. Tseng found that in method and product moves, past tense usage was more dominant, which is similar to our findings. However, Zhang et al. (2012) suggested that in their findings, present tense was not seen in the method move in the abstracts he examined. This implies that there are variations in the methodology part of the writings of research manuscripts' abstracts.

In **Table 4**, the findings showed that in general, active voice usage was mostly used in all moves. Especially, in the purpose move, the active voice was used by 90% with the highest percentage, while the passive voice was used by 10%.

The second most frequent choice was a mixture of active and passive voices that occurred in the method move. This was similar to Zhang et al. (2012) findings, which stated that active voice was more frequent than passive voice. On the contrary, Tu and Wang (2013) revealed that passive voice was the most frequently used in the RA abstracts they have examined. Moreover, Hanidar (2016) also mentioned that writers prefer to use the passive form more when they are presenting the procedure of their research and stating their findings. Nevertheless, in our findings, a combination of the active and passive voices was used, which indicates that most writers tend to develop their abstracts directly rather than using an indirect style. Only in the product move, the passive voice seem to be the least frequent with the lowest percentage (7%).

Although there have been a lot of studies conducted on abstract writing by both native and non-native speakers of English, my research is different from the previous studies due to the fact that only abstracts written by Turkish students were analyzed. The reason for conducting this research only on Turkish students is to identify strengths and weaknesses in the moves of the abstracts, as there is a wealth of literature available on native students. We believe that this study will contribute to the field, improve the current literature on the topic, and provide a significant step by examining the rhetorical structure of Turkish abstracts within the framework of Hyland's (2000) five-move pattern. The findings of a study conducted by Candarlı (2012) showed that all abstracts include the introduction move. The reason for this could be the move pattern he followed (IMRC), in which the purpose move had to be stated in the introduction move. In the study carried out by Al-Khasawneh (2017), it was found that in the examined abstracts by native and non-native speakers of English, three moves (introduction, purpose, and product) were available, which implies that both abstract writers are aware of the importance of the moves in their abstracts. However, the only difference was detected in the abstracts of native writers because they included introduction and conclusion moves more than the non-natives. It is believed that this study can help students and novice writers, especially those from non-English backgrounds to facilitate their successful acculturation into their disciplinary community. Another study conducted by Çakır and Fidan (2015) is believed to raise students' awareness and help them choose suitable moves to fulfill their aims. Moreover, it is believed that their study will have important implications for the future. The findings of a study done by Kaya and Yağız (2020) are assumed to help authors in this field be familiar with abstract writing conventions. Also, the results are believed to benefit the production of academic writing materials for scholars and academic writing courses. Since it is a comparative study, the results would help non-natives be aware of the conventions of academic writing and guide them throughout the process involved in global research. However, the results of Ashofteh et al. (2020) demonstrate that non-native speakers use more hedges and are more tentative in their abstracts which shows that they leave more space for opposing views in their claims. Furthermore, Saidi and Khazaei's (2021) study is believed to be used in teaching academic writing to graduate students in English for academic purposes and to help them present their findings globally.

Generally, the authors' aim in conducting research in this field is that they believe it will be beneficial for beginner writers. The suggestions and recommendations and the findings of the results will guide them to produce better academic reports by following the rules to develop writing skills. In this regard, it would be appropriate to say that this research is expected to provide similar pedagogical implications.

CONCLUSION

This study has been carried out to investigate the rhetorical structure of English RA abstracts in ELT theses. Five moves have been identified and analyzed. The present tense and active voice were the most chosen and frequently occurring. As a result of this, the past tense, present perfect tense, and passive voice were seldomly used. Moreover, the findings of this study are presented in a descriptive style since all the results are discussed. For this reason, the authors who will be writing manuscripts in the field of English language teaching should consider these findings and develop their abstracts accordingly. The benefit of this study would be to apply what is useful and needed for the implementation of pedagogical practice. Writing abstracts can be helpful for the development of teaching materials and thesis manuscripts, and with the correct guidance, non-native writers or graduate students who are in the process of developing their careers can be helped to solve their writing problems and organize their work in five moves. Moreover, these five moves would help the development of English abstracts for conference presentations or publications. It is believed that once writers gain a full understanding of grammatical and rhetorical features, they will be able to write their abstracts more effectively. Furthermore, the findings regarding the tense and voice usage presented in this study would be a guide to offer the limitations and drawbacks when writing abstracts. Thus, these restrictions should be considered when carrying out move analysis studies in the future. Peacock (2002) claims that move structures should be taught to non-native speakers and novice writers to help them to be able to write the abstract sections of their research correctly. However, this study is limited since it only focuses on one section, which is abstracts. Likely, another limitation of this study could be the small sample size due to its restriction to 50 abstracts, with the result that it can be generalized to all ELT thesis abstracts. Future studies can focus on the large scale of samples, considering all the suggestions and recommendations made in this research.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SS and BM contributed equally to the manuscript generation, writing process, and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Abdollahpour, Z., and Gholami, J. (2019). Embodiment of rhetorical moves in lexical bundles in abstracts of the medical sciences. S. Afr. Linguist. Appl. Lang. Stud. 37, 339–360. doi: 10.2989/16073614.2019.1692681
- Alhuqbani, M. N. (2013). Genre-based analysis of Arabic research article abstracts across four disciplines. J. Educ. Soc. Res. 3, 371–382. doi: 10.5901/jesr.2013. v4n3p371
- Al-Khasawneh, F. M. (2017). A genre analysis of research article abstracts written by native and non-native speakers of English. J. Appl. Linguist. Lang. Res. 4, 1–13.
- Al-Zubaidi, K. O. (2012). Academic writing of Arab postgraduate students: discussing the main language issues. *Proceedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 66, 46–52. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.246
- Anderson, T., Saunders, G., and Alexander, I. (2021). Alternative dissertation formats in education based doctorates. *High. Educ. Res. Dev.* 41, 593–612. doi: 10.1080/07294360.2020.1867513
- Ashofteh, Z., Elahi Shirvan, M., and Golparvar, S. E. (2020). The move structure of abstracts in applied linguistics research articles in light of the distribution and functions of metadiscourse markers. *J. Lang. Linguist. Stud.* 16, 2077–2096. doi: 10.17263/jlls.851035
- Belcher, W. L. (2009). Writing Your Journal Article in 12 Weeks: A Guide to Academic Publishing Success. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publication.
- Bhatia, V. K. (1993). Analysing Genre: Language Use in Professional Settings. London: Longman.
- Brown, H. (2000). Principles of Language Learning and Teaching, 4th Edn. New York, NY: Longman.
- Çakır, H., and Fidan, Ö (2015). "A contrastive study of the rhetorical structure of Turkish and English research article abstracts," in *Ankara Papers in Turkish* and Turkic Linguistics, eds D. Zeyrek, C. Sagin Simsek, U. Atas, and J. Rehbein (Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz Verlag), 367–378. doi: 10.2307/j.ctvc770nr.36
- Can, S., Karabacak, E., and Qin, J. (2016). Structure of moves in research article abstracts in applied linguistics. *Publications* 4:23. doi: 10.3390/ publications4030023
- Çandarlı, D. (2012). A cross-cultural investigation of English and Turkish research article abstracts in educational sciences. *Stud. About Lang.* 20, 12–17. doi: 10.5755/j01.sal.0.20.1770
- Chen, Y., and Su, S. (2011). A genre-based approach to teaching EFL summary writing. *ELT J.* 6, 184–192. doi: 10.1093/elt/ccr061
- Ding, H. (2007). Genre analysis of personal statements: analysis of moves in application essays to medical and dental schools. *Engl. Specif. Purp.* 26, 368–392. doi: 10.1016/j.esp.2006.09.004
- Eggins, S. (2004). *Introduction to Systemic Functional Linguistics*, 2nd Edn. London: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- El-Dakhs, D. A. S. (2018). Comparative genre analysis of research article abstracts in more and less prestigious journals: linguistics journals in focus. *Res. Lang.* 16, 47–63. doi: 10.2478/rela-2018-0002
- Hanidar, S. (2016). Rhetorical patterns, verb tenses, and voice in cross disciplinary research article abstracts. *Humaniora* 28, 12–27. doi: 10.22146/jh.v28i1.11410
- Hartley, J. (2003). Improving the clarity of journal abstracts in psychology: the case for structure. *Sci. Commun.* 24, 366–379. doi: 10.1177/1075547002250301
- Hartley, J., and Betts, L. (2009). Common weaknesses in traditional abstracts in the social sciences. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 60, 2010–2018. doi: 10.1002/asi. 21102
- Hyland, K. (2000). Disciplinary Discourses: Social Interactions in Academic Writing. London: Longman.
- Hyland, K. (2004). Genre and Second Language Writing. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press. doi: 10.3998/mpub.23927
- Hyland, K. (2007). Genre pedagogy: language, literacy and L2 writing instruction. J. Second Lang. Writ. 16, 148–164. doi: 10.1016/j.jslw.2007.07.005
- Hyland, K. (2016). Academic publishing and the myth of linguistic injustice. *J. Second Lang. Writ.* 31, 58–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jslw.2016.01.005
- Kanoksilapatham, B. (2007). Rhetorical structure of biochemistry research articles. Engl. Specif. Purp. 24, 269–292. doi: 10.1016/j.esp.2004.08.003
- Kanoksilapatham, B. (2015). Distinguishing textual features characterising structural variation in research articles across three engineering sub-discipline corpora. *Engl. Specif. Purp.* 37, 74–86. doi: 10.1016/j.esp.2014.06.008

- Kaya, F., and Yağız, O. (2020). Move analysis of research article abstracts in the field of ELT: a comparative study. J. Lang. Linguist. Stud. 16, 390–404. doi: 10.17263/jlls.712854
- Kossasih, F. R. (2018). A genre analysis of thesis abstracts at a State University in Banten. *Lingua Cult.* 12, 9–14. doi: 10.21512/lc.v12i1.1963
- Male, H. (2018). A structural move analysis of abstracts in undergraduate theses: a case study at Universitas Kristen Indonesia. *KnE Soc. Sci.* 3, 284–294. doi: 10.18502/kss.v3i9.2690
- Martín-Martín, P. (2005). The Rhetoric of the Abstract in English and Spanish Scientific Discourse: A Crosscultural Genre-Analytic Approach, Vol. 21. Bern: Peter Lang.
- Niu, G. (2013). "A genre analysis of Chinese and English abstracts of academic journal articles: a parallel-corpus-based study," in *Chinese Lexical Semantics. CLSW 2013. Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, Vol. 8229, eds P. Liu and Q. Su (Berlin: Springer), 603–616. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-4518 5-0_63
- Othman, A. (2011). *Genre Analysis: An Investigation of MA Dissertation Abstracts*. Ph.D. dissertation. Wad Madani: University of Gezira.
- Paré, A. (2017). Re-thinking the dissertation and doctoral supervision/reflexiones sobre la tesis doctoral y su supervisión. *Infanc. Aprendizaje* 40, 407–428. doi: 10.1080/02103702.2017.1341102
- Peacock, M. (2002). Communicative moves in the discussion section of research articles. System 30, 479–497. doi: 10.1016/S0346-251X(02)00050-7
- Piqué-Noguera, C. (2012). Writing business research article abstracts: a genre approach. *Iberica* 24, 211–232.
- Ren, H., and Li, Y. (2011). A comparison study on the rhetorical moves of abstracts in published research articles and master's foreign-language theses. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 4, 162–166. doi: 10.5539/elt.v4n1p162
- Saidi, M., and Khazaei, Z. (2021). Genre analysis of research article abstracts in applied linguistics: exploring sub-disciplinary variations. *Int. J. Engl. Lang. Transl. Stud.* 9, 34–40. doi: 10.1155/2021/3578179
- Salager-Meyer, F. (1994). Hedges and textual communicative function in medical English written discourse. *English* 13, 149–171. doi: 10.1016/0889-4906(94) 90013-2
- Santos, M. B. D. (1996). The textual organisation of research paper abstracts in applied linguistics. *Text* 16, 481-499. doi: 10.1515/text.1.1996.16.4.481
- Suntara, W., and Usaha, S. (2013). Research article abstracts in two related disciplines: rhetorical variation between linguistics and applied linguistics. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 6, 84–99. doi: 10.5539/elt.v6n2p84
- Swales, J. (2004). Research Genres Exploration and Applications. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139524827
- Swales, J. M., and Feak, C. B. (2004). Academic Writing for Graduate Students: Essential Tasks and Skills, Vol. 1. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Tanko, G. (2017). Literary research article abstracts: an analysis of rhetorical. J. Engl. Acad. Purp. 27, 42-55. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap.2017.04.003
- Tardy, C. M. (2005). "It's like a story" rhetorical knowledge development in advanced academic literacy. J. Engl. Acad. Purp. 4, 325–338. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap. 2005.07.005
- Tas, E. E. I. (2008). A Corpus-Based Analysis of Genre-Specific Discourse of Research: The PhD thesis and the Research Article in ELT. Doctoral dissertation. Çankaya: Middle East Technical University.
- Tseng, F. (2011). Analyses of move structure and verb tenses of research article abstracts in applied linguistics journals. *Int. J. Engl. Linguist.* 1, 27–39. doi: 10.5539/ijel.v1n2p27
- Tu, P. N., and Wang, S. P. (2013). "Corpus-based research on tense analysis and rhetorical structure in journal article abstracts," in *Paper Presented at the 27th Pacific Asia Conference on Language, Information, and Computation (PACLIC* 27) (Taipei: National Chengchi University).
- Upton, T., and Connor, U. (2001). Using computerised corpus analysis to investigate the textlinguistic discourse moves of a genre. *Engl. Specif. Purp.* 20, 313–329. doi: 10.1016/S0889-4906(00)00022-3
- Walter, E. (2008). Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary Hardback with CD-ROM for Windows and Mac Klett Edition. Deutchland: Ernst Klett Sprachen.
- Yelland, C. (2011). A genre and move analysis of written feedback in higher education. Lang. Lit. 20, 218–235. doi: 10.1177/0963947011413563
- Yu, S. (2021). Giving genre-based peer feedback in academic writing: sources of knowledge and skills, difficulties and challenges. Assess.

Eval. High. Educ. 46, 36–53. doi: 10.1080/02602938.2020.174 2872

- Zhang, B., Thuc, Q. B. T., and Pramoolsook, I. (2012). Moves and linguistic realisations: English research article abstracts by Vietnamese agricultural researchers. *Asian ESP J.* 8, 126–149.
- Zhu, W. (2004). Faculty views on the importance of writing, the nature of academic writing, and teaching and responding to writing in the disciplines. *J. Second Lang. Writ.* 13, 29–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jslw.2004.04.004

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sükan and Mohammadzadeh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

REVIEWED BY Hassan Mohebbi, European Knowledge Development Institute (EUROKD), Turkey Zehra Gabillon, University of French Polynesia, French Polynesia

*CORRESPONDENCE Halil Ercan ercan.phonetix@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 15 June 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 17 August 2022

CITATION

Ercan H and Gilanlioglu I (2022) Development of a pronunciation teaching perception scale (PTPS) for preservice English language teachers. *Front. Psychol.* 13:969917. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.969917

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ercan and Gilanlioglu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Development of a pronunciation teaching perception scale (PTPS) for preservice English language teachers

Halil Ercan* and Ilkay Gilanlioglu

Department of Foreign Language Education, Faculty of Education, Eastern Mediterranean University, Famagusta, Cyprus

The aim of this present research was to develop a valid and reliable scale to determine preservice teachers' perceptions regarding pronunciation teaching. The research sample consisted of 174 preservice teachers in their fourth year studying in English Language Teaching (ELT) departments in eight different universities in North Cyprus in 2021–2022 the academic year. The data collected within the scope of this study were analyzed through SPSS (ver.24) and SPSS Amos software (ver.24) programs to create a valid and reliable measurement tool for the ELT field. The conducted Exploratory Factor Analysis revealed that the scale consisted of 5 factors and 19 items. Moreover, the Confirmatory Factor Analysis results confirmed the five-factor structure. All the dimensions and the overall scale proved to be highly reliable and fit to be applied in the identification of ELT preservice teachers' pronunciation teaching perceptions. Finally, it is hoped that this new scale will help researchers to investigate pronunciation teaching perceptions in various contexts more reliably.

KEYWORDS

ELT, pronunciation, scale, preservice teachers, perception, language teachers, English language, L2 pronunciation

Introduction

Pronunciation teaching has always been a demanding part of teaching EFL or ESL. However, it is a crucial part of any language teaching program that claims to be offering high quality of language education. The difficulty posed by pronunciation stems mainly from little exposure to and interaction with native speakers and the differences between the phonological systems of English and other languages. Many language teachers nowadays may not prefer to teach pronunciation in the classroom due to their preferences, past learning experiences, or language proficiency levels. Yet, language learners often view pronunciation as being a very challenging task (Wacholtz, 2003). Previous studies on this topic have shown that most pronunciation problems are not only because of physical articulatory problems but also due to L2's cognitive causes (Baker and McCarthy, 1981; Jones, 1997; Kendrick, 1997; Fraser and Department of Education, 2001; Ahmadi, 2011).

According to Fraser (2011), the problem behind not being able to produce the correct sounds is not only because they cannot physically produce the sounds, but also because they cannot distinguish between the sounds to be able to organize and manipulate them

as required in the L2 sound system. Especially, in adult ESL programs, language teachers have difficulties in meeting pronunciation learning needs since they lack teaching skills, confidence, and knowledge about teaching certain aspects of pronunciation. Hence, these studies have shown that methodology, curriculum, and techniques need to be improved to attain global standards.

Regarding methodology, for instance, it is known that the teaching method affects the way non-native preservice teachers learn the target language pronunciation system during their education. For example, if a student is studying English as a foreign language using the Grammar-Translation method, we cannot expect her/him to pronounce every word correctly since there is no emphasis on pronunciation in classes. Jones (1997) states that language teachers who teach the target language through the Auditory-Linguistic or Direct Method attach special importance to pronunciation. Furthermore, in the Auditory-Linguistic method, "pronunciation is taught from the beginning to get students to distinguish between members of minimal pairs in language laboratories" (Larsen-Freeman, 2000, p. 46). Similarly, according to Larsen-Freeman (2002), students are expected to demonstrate communicative evidence by using the target language in Communicative Language Teaching. They are supposed to speak L2 fluently, however, there is no need for complete accuracy.

Derwing and Munro (2009) claimed that speaking with a non-native accent might have significant psychological, social, and communicational consequences in EFL contexts. This will obviously be affecting preservice and in-service teachers' beliefs about teaching pronunciation in the following years when they are placed in their teacher positions in classes. The relevant literature has focused on different aspects of pronunciation teaching. Some work has been done on computer-assisted pronunciation teaching (e.g., Levis, 2007). Other research has focused on examining learners' attitudes to the target language as an important factor that helps learners acquire the correct articulation of the sounds and feel motivated (e.g., McKenzie, 2008).

As far as teacher education is concerned, it is important to reveal the perceptions of preservice teachers about learning and teaching the phonological aspects of EFL as preservice teachers are those who will be the future language teachers. Therefore, their perceptions need to be examined and reflected on systematically. Concerning the past 20 years, there have been many studies in the field of teaching and learning pronunciation to reveal learners' and teachers' preferences (Brown, 1992; Claire, 1993; Fraser, 2000; Yates, 2003; Ocampo-Rodríguez et al., 2019). However, the most recent research has focused on different areas of L2 pronunciation. In a state-of-the-art article, Demir and Kartal (2022) aimed at mapping and analyzing L2 pronunciation articles published between 1977 and 2020 and indexed in the Social Science Citation Index (SSCI) in the Web of Science (WoS) database. As significant results, they revealed the influential sources, featured documents, and authors in the field.

Moreover, they mapped the most cited references, publications, and authors to help researchers visualize the intellectual structure of the field of L2 pronunciation by clustering.

More specifically, Suzukida and Saito (2022) examined 40 extemporaneous speech samples gathered by Japanese learners to reveal segmental and suprasegmental factors. Subsequently, they presented different levels of global L2 pronunciation proficiency. Furthermore, in a study conducted by Tsunemoto et al. (2020) on 77 Japanese preservice teachers revealed their beliefs about pronunciation teaching. Their findings confirmed that preservice teachers could be categorized into two distinct profiles defined by contributions of their experience.

The first profile consisted of those who had the quality of language learning/teaching experience and pronunciationrelated instruction. The second group was composed of those whose beliefs about pronunciation teaching shape the teachability of L2 pronunciation and approaches used in class. Besides, teacher candidates with more experience were found to be more skeptical regarding learning and teaching L2 pronunciation compared to those with less experience. In line with these findings, regarding the pronunciation teaching perception of preservice teachers, to the best of our knowledge, no research has developed a pronunciation measurement scale for investigating preservice English language teachers' L2 pronunciation teaching perceptions. Hence, the development of such a scale would be a significant contribution to the existing literature in the field.

Methodology

Participants

The sample consisted of 174 preservice teachers from eight different ELT departments in North Cyprus in the 2021– 2022 academic year. All the departments and programs were accredited by the Higher Education Council in Turkey. The preservice teachers were fourth year ELT students chosen based on the stratified sampling technique (Sharma, 2017). The total population of fourth year teacher candidates were two hundred and eighty-six (286) in those universities and the number of preservice teachers reached was two hundred and twenty (220). Out of the 220 potential participants, one hundred and seventysix (176) volunteered to fill in the questionnaire. However, two (2) questionnaires were excluded as they were not fully completed. In the end, one hundred and seventy-four (174) qualified as participants in this study.

Data collection procedure

The study used a mixed-method design which consisted of a qualitative approach followed by a quantitative approach. In order to collect rich qualitative data to address the research questions more effectively, first, semi-structured interviews with preservice teachers were conducted. The interviewees belonged to eight different universities in Kyrenia, Nicosia, Famagusta, and Morphou, Secondly, the obtained data were subjected to thematic content analyses. The resulting 66 items were transcribed, and were placed under three codes, namely attitude, emotion, and motivation. For the validity check, the items were also sent to three field experts to get feedback. The items were revised based on the feedback and then distributed to a target population of 220 preservice teachers in ELT departments. One hundred and seventy-four (174) of them responded. After the quantitative data collection, the replies were typed in the SPSS (ver.24) software program to check whether the items on the scale worked or not. Finally, an exploratory factor analysis was conducted on the scale.

Data analysis

First, exploratory factor analysis was applied. The inference method that had principal component analysis was used in this analysis. Next, the rotation method used involved Kaiser normalization and direct Oblimin (methods). The most important reason for using this method was the component correlation matrix.

Items with an anti-image value of <0.50, which were distributed across more than one factor according to the pattern matrix, items with an ensemble inference variance value of <0.40, and factors with a difference of <0.10 were removed. According to these parameters, exploratory factor analysis was repeated 18 times and a five-factor structure consisting of 19 items was obtained. Confirmatory factor analysis was performed with Amos software program to confirm the validity of this construct. In the confirmatory factor analysis, model fit values were tested with the maximum likelihood method, and it was found that the model fit values were met with the parameters in the literature (Yaşlioglu, 2017). Finally, after performing exploratory factor analysis, confirmatory factor analysis and concordance validity, the Cronbach Alpha internal consistency coefficient was calculated to determine the reliability of the measurement tool. It was found that all dimensions and the overall scale were significantly reliable. As a result of the conducted analyses, a measurement tool with significant validity and reliability was obtained.

Results

The KMO value as displayed in Table 1 was 0.860 and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity was significant ($\chi^2 = 1,474.092$, p < 0.001). According to Kaiser (1974), KMO value of 0.80 and above is considered good. Based on all these values, it is seen that



TABLE 1 Kaiser meyer olkin (KMO) and bartlett sphericity tests.

Kaiser-meyer-olkin measure of sampling adequacy		0.860
	χ^2	1,474.092
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	df	171
	P	0.000

the number of samples collected for the scale met the criteria of factor analysis.

As can clearly be seen in the Scree Plot chart above (Figure 1), the red line represents the point value 1. Furthermore, five different cut-off points on the red line correspond to the five sub-dimensions of the developed scale.

When the values obtained from this scale were examined, it was seen Table 2 that the lowest factor loading value was 0.508 and the highest factor loading value was 0.852. According to Tabachnick and Fidel (2011), the lowest factor loading value was supposed to be 0.32. However, all the values obtained in this study were found higher than the lower limit of 0.32. On the other hand, the total explained variance rate was calculated as 66.36%. The explained variance rate in this study, which is supposed to be at least 50% (Yaşlioglu, 2017), appeared to be well above the lowest limit, i.e., 16.36% greater than the minimum value. Besides, the communalities extraction variance value in this scale, which is supposed to be at least 0.50 (Yaşlioglu, 2017), was found 0.508, which appeared to be slightly above the lowest limit. As for the factors, the first factor consisted of five items and its Eigenvalues value was 6.654. Further, the lowest factor loading value was 0.508 while the highest factor loading value was 0.765. The second factor consisted of two items and its Eigenvalues value was found 2.262. Moreover, the lowest factor loading value was calculated as 0.844 and the highest value

New item number	Old item number	Communalities extraction variance	Fac. 1	Fac. 2	Fac. 3	Fac. 4	Fac. 5
1	s62	0.600	0.765				
2	s61	0.678	0.732				
3	s59	0.632	0.689				
4	s60	0.613	0.668				
5	s53	0.518	0.508				
6	s33	0.758		0.851			
4	s34	0.806		0.844			
8	s36	0.730			0.852		
9	s37	0.735			0.765		
10	s41	0.524			0.696		
11	s35	0.600			0.641		
12	s43	0.505			0.530		
13	s46	0.715				0.773	
14	s49	0.668				0.771	
15	s47	0.614				0.720	
16	s56	0.782					-0.836
17	s51	0.752					-0.828
18	s57	0.776					-0.817
19	s54	0.606					-0.665
			Fac. 1	Fac. 2	Fac. 3	Fac. 4	Fac. 5
Eigenvalues			6.654	2.262	1.450	1.166	1.078
Explained variance value %			35.023	11.903	7.630	6.139	5.672
Total variance %			66.366				

TABLE 2 Distribution of the scale by factors, item factor loads and factor variances.

TABLE 3 Confirmatory factor analysis model fit values.

Model fit values	ELT preservice teachers'pronunciation teaching perception scale values	Excellent fit values	Acceptable fit values
χ^2/df	1.477	≤3	≤4-5
RMSEA	0.053	≤ 0.05	0.06-0.08
NFI	0.865	≥ 0.95	0.94-0.90
TLI	0.94	>0.95	>0.80
IFI	0.952	≥ 0.95	0.94-0.90
CFI	0.951	≥ 0.95	0.90-0.95
GFI	0.897	≥0.95	0.90-0.95
AGFI	0.861	≥ 0.90	0.85-0.95
RMR	0.06	≤0.05	0.05-0.10

was found 0.851. The third factor consisted of 5 items and its Eigenvalues value was calculated as 1.450.

On the other hand, the lowest factor loading value was obtained as 0.530 and the highest value was calculated as 0.852. The fourth factor consisted of three items and its Eigenvalues value was found as 1.166. The lowest factor loading value was found 0.720 and the highest factor loading value was calculated as 0.773. The last factor consisted of four items and its Eigenvalues value was obtained as 1.078. The lowest factor loading value was found 0.665 and the highest factor loading value was value was calculated as 0.836.

Confirmatory factor analysis findings

Table 3 below presents the findings of the confirmatory factor analysis.

Table 3 above displays the acceptable and the excellent fit values and the values obtained in the study. For the excellent and the acceptable fit values, several claims have been put forward in the literature. For instance, the χ^2/df value according to Wheaton et al. (1977) is supposed to be below 5 while for



Tabachnick and Fidell (2007) it is supposed to be below 2 to satisfy the fit value condition. The value obtained in this study ($\chi^2/df = 1.477$) met the value of excellent fit. It was

stated by Yaşlioglu (2017) that the closer the RMSEA value to 0.1, the worse the fit, and the closer it is to 0, the better the fit.

Discussion and conclusion

The RMSEA value in this model, which is among the acceptable reference values, was calculated as 0.53. On the other hand, the NFI value was found 0.865, which is slightly below the acceptable fit value. According to Mulaik et al. (1989), the NFI value is accepted as low in samples smaller than 200. The sample size (n.174) in this study is <200 and it affects the NFI

TABLE 4 Cronbach-alpha reliability analysis findings.

Sub dimensions	Number of 1 participants		Cronbach-alpha internal consistency coefficient (α)
Fac. 1	174	5	0.806
	174	2	0.768
	174	5	0.797
	174	3	0.759
	174	4	0.871
	174	19	0.890

value below 0.90. Since the sample value was low in this study, TLI value was supposed to be checked as stated by Yaşlioglu (2017). According to Byrne (2011), this value (0.940) above the threshold value of >0.80, which is slightly below the 0.95 value, was considered excellent value. Therefore, it can be stated that a good value was achieved based on this model. The IFI value of this scale was calculated as 0.952. It is above the 0.95 value and is considered excellent (Yaşlioglu, 2017). When the CFI value was examined, the value of the model, which had a value above 0.95 and accepted as an excellent fit according to Bentler and Bonett (1980), was found 0.951. The GFI value of this model was calculated as 0.897, which was slightly below the lower limit of 0.90 and this value is sensitive to the sample size. Therefore, it is thought that it affects the fact that it is below 0.90. On the other hand, the AGFI value was found 0.861 and was above the lower limit of 0.85, providing the acceptable fit reference value. As for the RMR value, it was found 0.60, and a value between 0.05 and 0.10 indicates that it meets the acceptable parameters. According to the sources in the literature, it was seen that the model fit values of this study met the acceptable fit condition, and some values met the perfect fit values (Schermelleh-Engel and Moosbrugger, 2003; Tabachnick

TABLE 5 Pronunciation teaching perception scale (PTPS) for preservice English language teachers.

New	Old	Item description	х	SS
item	item			
number	number			
Factor 1. Classroom Context				
1	s62	English pronunciation must be taught in English classes.	4.13	0.937
2	s61	English pronunciation skills are important in English classes.	4.22	0.868
3	s59	English pronunciation can be acquired with practice in class.	4.15	0.874
4	s60	English pronunciation can be acquired with exposure in class.	4.05	0.875
5	s53	I feel better when I overcome a pronunciation problem in class.	4.17	1.000
Factor 2. Out-of-class Context				
6	s33	I use English in public (e.g., restaurants, shopping centers).	3.51	1.201
4	s34	I use English outside the classroom.	3.79	1.062
Factor 3. Learning Styles				
8	s36	I learn English pronunciation better through explanations in class.	3.71	0.948
9	s37	I learn English pronunciation better through examples in class.	3.93	0.910
10	s41	I learn English pronunciation better through gestures in class.	3.74	1.041
11	s35	I learn English pronunciation better through demonstrations in class.	3.70	0.987
12	s43	I like learning English pronunciation at school.	3.83	1.114
Factor 4. Beliefs about Learning English				
13	s46	I like learning English because it is one of the most interesting languages.	4.22	0.911
14	s49	I like learning English as it makes me feel proud.	4.23	0.909
15	s47	I like learning English because it helps me to improve academically.	4.38	0.771
Factor 5. In-class Activities of Interest				
16	s56	I enjoy communication in English in class.	4.12	0.920
17	s51	I enjoy speaking English in class.	4.19	0.993
18	s57	I enjoy discussions in English in class.	3.94	1.087
19	s54	I enjoy acting in English in class.	3.84	1.090

and Fidell, 2007; Byrne, 2011; Yaşlioglu, 2017). Furthermore, confirmatory factor analysis factor distribution path diagram below (Figure 2), which outlines the correlations between the factors, supports the findings obtained in the study.

Figure 2 above displays the distribution of five factors obtained from the confirmatory factor analysis. It clearly presents the relationship of each factor with another in percentages. For instance, the relationship between the first factor and the fourth factor is 68%.

Reliability findings

The following table (Table 4) displays the Cronbach-Alpha reliability analysis findings of the scale.

According to Kiliç (2016), a Cronbach-Alpha value above 0.7 is considered good and 0.9 is excellent. All the values in this model were above 0.70 (ranging from 0.759 to 0.890 across the sub-dimensions) and therefore all dimensions and the overall scale appeared highly reliable.

Table 5 below shows the descriptive statistics of preservice teachers' pronunciation teaching perceptions scale items.

A brief discussion of the relevance and potential contribution of our study to the existing literature is in order here. Some studies have focused on examining segmental and suprasegmental factors to distinguish different levels of global second language pronunciation proficiency (Suzukida and Saito, 2022) and some focused on examining the overall effect of mobile devices on L2 pronunciation (Tseng et al., 2022). On the other hand, some have attempted to reveal the pronunciation improvement of certain English consonantal sounds (Ercan and Kunt, 2019). A number of studies have looked into preservice teachers' beliefs and perspectives regarding pronunciation teaching. For instance, a study conducted by Tsunemoto et al. (2020) on 77 Japanese preservice teachers revealed their beliefs about pronunciation teaching. Results indicated that educators should encourage teacher candidates to emphasize on L2 pronunciation teaching. It is considered that our newly developed scale would contribute to such contexts such as the Japanese context to reveal more evidence of the perceptions of preservice teachers and shape targeted dimensions for future teacher candidates.

Parallel to research on perceptions, a study that could be regarded as a close match to ours in terms of instrumentation, investigated ELT department students' deeper understanding of pronunciation problems and pronunciation teaching revealed that it was possible to improve pronunciation skills (Yavuz and Keser, 2019). Since the study adopted and used 12 Likert scale items by Ducate and Lomicka (2009), it could be forecasted that richer data could be gathered through our newly developed scale in such ELT contexts to provide the literature with more specific findings regarding pronunciation teaching perceptions of preservice teachers as it has 5 factors and met excellent fit value ($\chi^2/df = 1.477$).

To sum up, the current study had its own focus on developing an effective tool for identifying preservice teachers' pronunciation teaching perceptions in EFL/ESL contexts around the world. Conducted exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses confirmed that the scale had five factors as Classroom Context, Out-of-class Context, Learning Styles, Beliefs about Learning English, and In-class Activities of Interest. As the Cronbach-Alpha values in our model were above 0.7 (see Table 4) and the χ^2/df value was 1.477, it could be concluded that the developed scale was a highly reliable tool for revealing preservice teachers' perceptions regarding pronunciation teaching (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007; Kiliç, 2016; Yaşlioglu, 2017). Consequently, the Pronunciation Teaching Perception Scale (PTPS) designed for the stated purpose proved to be an appropriate and effective instrument (see Appendix 1). Finally, the major implication for the ELT field is that the use of such a scale would help to identify pronunciation teaching perceptions more reliably, and, therefore, provide evidence on which the appropriate teaching techniques, methods, and the curriculum will be based.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The current study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by the Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Board of the Eastern Mediterranean University (Reference No: ETK00-2021-0131, Issue: 91). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Ahmadi, M. R. (2011). Why is pronunciation so difficult to learn? *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 4, 74–83. doi: 10.5539/elt.v4n3p74

Baker, C. L., and McCarthy, J. J. (1981). *The Logical Problem of Language Acquisition*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Bentler, P. M., and Bonett, D. G. (1980). Significance tests and goodness of fit in the analysis of covariance structures. *Psychol. Bull.* 88, 588. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.88.3.588

Brown, G. D. (1992). Cognitive psychology and second language processing: The role of short-term memory. *Adv. Psychol.* 83, 105–121.

Byrne, B. M. (2011). *Structural Equation Modelling with AMOS Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming.* Multivariate applications series. Milton Park: Routledge.

Claire, L. (1993). "The social psychology of creativity: The importance of peer social processes for students' academic and artistic creative activity in classroom contexts," in *Bulletin of the Council for Research in Music Education*, No. 119, The 14th International Society of Music Education (Champaign, IL: University of Illinois Press), 21–28.

Demir, Y., and Kartal, G. (2022). Mapping research on L2 pronunciation: a bibliometric analysis. *Stud. Second Lang. Acquis.* 1–29. doi: 10.1017/S0272263121000966

Derwing, T. M., and Munro, M. J. (2009). Putting accent in its place: Rethinking obstacles to communication. *Lang. Teach.* 42, 476–490. doi: 10.1017/S026144480800551X

Ducate, L., and Lomicka, L. (2009). Podcasting: An effective tool for honing language students' pronunciation. *Lang. Learn. Technol.* 13, 66.

Ercan, H., and Kunt, N. (2019). Is it difficult to produce correct th $(/\partial/and/\theta/)$ sounds in English for EFL learners? A case study in Northern Cyprus. J. Lang. Linguis. Stud. 15, 926–936. doi: 10.17263/jlls.631537

Fraser, H. (2000). Coordinating Improvements in Pronunciation Teaching for Adult Learners of English as A Second Language. DETYA (ANTA Innovative project). Available online at: https://helenfraser.com.au/wp-content/uploads/ ANTA-REPORT-FINAL.pdf

Fraser, H., and Department of Education (2001). *Training and Youth Affairs. Teaching Pronunciation: A Handbook for Teachers and Trainers. Three Frameworks for an Integrated Approach.* New South Wales: DETYA Publishing.

Fraser, H. B. (2011). "Speaking of speech: developing metalanguage for effective communication about pronunciation between English language teachers and learners," in *English Pronunciation: Issues and Practices (EPIP)-Proceedings of the First International Conference.* University of Savoie.

Jones, R. H. (1997). Beyond "listen and repeat": pronunciation teaching materials and theories of second language acquisition. *System* 25, 103–112. doi: 10.1016/S0346-251X(96)00064-4

Kaiser, H. F. (1974). An index of factorial simplicity. *Psychometrika* 39, 31-36. doi: 10.1007/BF02291575

Kendrick, H. (1997). Keep them talking! A project for improving students' L2 pronunciation. *System* 25, 545–560. doi: 10.1016/S0346-251X(97) 00043-2

Kiliç, S. (2016). Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient. J. Mood Disord. 6, 47-48. doi: 10.5455/jmood.20160307122823

Larsen-Freeman, D. (2000). *Techniques and Principles in Language Teaching*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Larsen-Freeman, D. (2002). The grammar of choice. new perspectives on grammar teaching in second language classrooms. *TESOL* 103–118.

Levis, J. (2007). Computer technology in teaching and researching pronunciation. *Ann. Rev. Appl. Linguist.* 27, 184–202. doi: 10.1017/S0267190508070098

McKenzie, R. M. (2008). Social factors and non-native attitudes towards varieties of spoken English: A Japanese case study. *Int. J. Appl. Linguist.* 18, 63–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1473-4192.2008.00179.x

Mulaik, S. A., James, L. R., Van Alstine, J., Bennett, N., Lind, S., and Stilwell, C. D. (1989). Evaluation of goodness-of-fit indices for structural equation models. *Psychol. Bull.* 105, 430. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.105. 3.430

Ocampo-Rodríguez, J., Muñetón-Agudelo, C. E., and Agudelo-Henao, K. (2019). Preservice Teachers' Beliefs Regarding Native and Non-native English Teachers' Pronunciation at a Private University Colombia.

Schermelleh-Engel, K., and Moosbrugger, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and descriptive goodness-of-fit measures. *Methods Psychol. Res. Online* 8, 23–74.

Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. Int. J. Appl. Res. 3, 749–752.

Suzukida, Y., and Saito, K. (2022). What is second language pronunciation proficiency? An empirical study. *System* 106, 102754. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2022.102754

Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidel, L. S. (2011). Using Multivariate Statistics. London: Pearson.

Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using Multivariate Statistics. London: Pearson.

Tseng, W. T., Chen, S., Wang, S. P., Cheng, H. F., Yang, P. S., and Gao, X. A. (2022). The effects of MALL on L2 pronunciation learning: A meta-analysis. *J. Educ. Comput. Res.* doi: 10.1177/07356331211058662

Tsunemoto, A., Trofimovich, P., and Kennedy, S. (2020). Preservice teachers' beliefs about second language pronunciation teaching, their experience, and speech assessments. *Lang. Teach. Res.* 1362168820937273. doi: 10.1177/1362168820937273

Wacholtz, T. (2003). Student and teacher beliefs about language learning: a preliminary study. J. Coll. World Engl. 3, 11–16.

Wheaton, B., Muthen, B., Alwin, D. F., and Summers, G. F. (1977). Assessing reliability and stability in panel models. *Sociol. Methodol.* 8, 84–136. doi: 10.2307/270754

Yaşlioglu, M. M. (2017). Factor analysis and validity in social sciences: using exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis. *J. Istanbul Univ. Fac. Bus. Adm.* 46, 74–85.

Yates, K. W. (2003). *Teaching Linguistic Mimicry to Improve Second Language Pronunciation*. Denton, TX: University of North Texas.

Yavuz, F., and Keser, K. (2019). Perceptions of candidate teachers about teaching pronunciation in ELT classes. *Int. J. Learn. Teach.* 11, 110–117. doi: 10.18844/ijlt.v11i3.4298

Appendix

Appendix 1. Pronunciation Perception Scale for Preservice English Language Teachers.

Instructions

This survey is designed to identify preservice English language teachers' pronunciation teaching perceptions. Please read the statements carefully and tick the response (l, 2, 3, 4 or 5) on the answer sheet that expresses your opinion best about each statement. There are no right or wrong answers to these statements. Please make no marks on the items. If you have any questions, please inform the researcher(s) immediately.

Pronunciation Teaching Perception Scale (PTPS) for
Preservice English Language Teachers

Item		1: Str	ongly D	isagree			
No.		2: Disagree					
		3: Neutral 4: Agree 5: Strongly Agree					
		1	2	3	4	5	
Factor 1. Classroom Context							
1	English pronunciation must be taught in English classes.						
2	English pronunciation skills are important in English classes.						
3	English pronunciation can be acquired with practice in class.						
4	English pronunciation can be acquired with exposure in class.						
5	I feel better when I overcome a pronunciation problem in class.						
Factor 2. Out-of-class Context							
6	I use English in public (e.g., restaurants, shopping centers).						
7	I use English outside the classroom.						
Factor 3. Learning Styles							
8	I learn English pronunciation better through explanations in class.						
9	I learn English pronunciation better through examples in class.						
10	I learn English pronunciation better through gestures in class.						
11	I learn English pronunciation better through demonstrations in class.						
12	I like learning English pronunciation at school.						
Factor 4. Beliefs about Learning English	ı						
13	I like learning English because it is one of the most interesting languages.						
14	I like learning English as it makes me feel proud.						
15	I like learning English because it helps me to improve academically.						
Factor 5. In-class Activities of Interest							
16	I enjoy communication in English in class.						
17	I enjoy speaking English in class.						
18	I enjoy discussions in English in class.						
19	I enjoy acting in English in class.						

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefke, Turkey

REVIEWED BY Behcet Öznacar, Near East University, Cyprus Francisco Javier Palacios-Hidalgo, University of Córdoba, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Irina Kruse irinakruse@yandex.com; kruze-ii@rudn.ru

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language, Culture and Diversity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Education

RECEIVED 08 June 2022 ACCEPTED 16 August 2022 PUBLISHED 06 September 2022

CITATION

Kruse I, Lutskovskaia L and Stepanova VV (2022) Advantages and disadvantages of distance teaching in foreign language education during COVID-19. *Front. Educ.* 7:964135. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.964135

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Kruse, Lutskovskaia and Stepanova. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Advantages and disadvantages of distance teaching in foreign language education during COVID-19

Irina Kruse (1) *, Larisa Lutskovskaia (1) and Valentina V. Stepanova (1)

Department of Foreign Languages, Law Institute, Peoples' Friendship University of Russia – RUDN University, Moscow, Russia

This article aimed to analyze the identified advantages and disadvantages of distance education in foreign language teaching in the transition to distance learning due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The data were collected through questionnaires and observations. A total of 298 university students participated in the research. The results of this research show that (1) the quality parameters of the changes and additions to the curriculum of foreign language teaching, (2) the final evaluation of the students in these subjects conducted in distance learning compared to the results shown in the offline form, (3) the satisfaction of the students with the electronic format of academic subjects, and (4) the formation of communicative competences under the changed learning conditions. The results are based not only on the final grades in the control sections in written and oral form but also on the emotional evaluation of the distance format teaching units in foreign languages. In addition, the results have shown that a complete transition to distance education is possible at COVID as a contingency measure. The research results will help to solve problematic issues related to the organization of the educational process and the need to comply with sanitary regulations.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 pandemic, foreign language teaching, distance teaching, distance education, foreign language education policies

Introduction

In the extreme conditions of the spread of coronavirus infection, secondary and higher educational institutions in Russia, following the recommendation of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation, decided to switch to a distance learning format (Kobysheva et al., 2021). Before the pandemic, this training format was used in isolated cases and mainly in the context of e-learning (Todri et al., 2020). Since the Internet platform TEAMS was already successfully used at the Peoples' Friendship University of Russia (RUDN) in educational programs, the

forced transition to distance learning did not cause serious technical difficulties or problems. All students mastered the use of educational Internet resources on the specified platform and the format of communication with teaching staff *via* company mail (Nevskaya and Kozhukhova, 2021).

The most important issues in solving the problems of an urgent transition to e-learning were the willingness of the teaching staff to provide the teaching materials and to develop the necessary competencies within the new educational format (Junus et al., 2021). On the other hand, there is a problem with the technical equipment of each student and the ability to connect to Internet resources at home. An equally important component of the transition to a new format was the need to develop skills in future professionals to master the material through distance learning in a foreign language for professional purposes (Grunis et al., 2020).

Together with the Department of Information Technology and Support specialists, the university administration has urgently organized and implemented all the necessary measures to support the teaching staff in managing the educational process under the new conditions. In consultation with the profile departments and methodological committees, recommendations were developed for adapting the curriculum to transition to distance education. One week before the start of the online training, the surveys on the availability of technical equipment were conducted in all student groups during the faceto-face sessions. Consultations were held on connecting to the classroom and the algorithm for taking a class in a new format. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, many studies have addressed the advantages and disadvantages of distance learning in higher education. However, few studies address the views of Russian higher education students (Masalimova et al., 2022). For this reason, this article aims to analyze the identified advantages and disadvantages of distance education in foreign language learning in the transition to distance education due to the pandemic COVID-19.

Literature review

Many researchers (Puspitasari et al., 2018; Nariyati et al., 2020; Santos, 2020; Akhmadieva et al., 2021; Kuzembayeva et al., 2022; Sekyere-Asiedu et al., 2022) have pointed out that new effective teaching methods and strategies are the most important component of foreign language teaching under the changing conditions. Some studies (Chigisheva et al., 2017, 2021; Flack et al., 2020; Kitishat et al., 2020; Oyedotun, 2020; Prikhodko and Polyakova, 2020) have particularly addressed issues of overcoming the unpreparedness (both psychological and methodological-didactic) of a significant part of higher education teachers for teaching in a new format. In parallel, some studies (Ferri et al., 2020; Jacques et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2020; Soltovets et al., 2021) have examined the technological,

pedagogical, and social problems encountered in the transition to distance education. Poor Internet connections and failures (on the part of students), compounded by inadequate digital skills on the part of both teachers and students, contributed to the challenges. The situation was exacerbated by social problems related to limited space at home, as other family members also worked remotely (Ferri et al., 2020). Thus, the need to navigate the new communication format evoked stress.

At the same time, many researchers have noted the positive aspects of teaching systems connected with the transition to extensive use of digital technologies. They assert that such changes heavily contributed to transforming the entire organizational component of the higher education system (Rapanta et al., 2020; Soudien, 2020; Ivanova et al., 2022; Uzunboylu et al., 2022). The increased activity of students in the framework of videoconferences, information exchange in chat rooms, social networks, and podcasts is especially highlighted (Sá and Serpa, 2020). Hodges et al. (2020) added a new concept named emergency remote teaching (ERT) to the literature. They identified that ERT as below:

"... emergency remote teaching (ERT) is a temporary shift of instructional delivery to an alternate delivery mode due to crisis circumstances. It involves using fully remote teaching solutions for instruction or education that would otherwise be delivered faceto-face or as blended or hybrid courses, which will return to that format once the crisis or emergency has abated."

Later, Huertas-Abril et al. (2021) identified a new term, "Emergency Remote Language Teaching," after the concept of ERT of Hodges et al. (2020). This new concept emphasizes that teaching during emergencies and crises such as the pandemic caused by COVID-19 is neither remote teaching nor online teaching in the strict sense.

In previous studies, Sharma et al. (2020) examined college students' satisfaction with online learning during the Coronavirus disease pandemic (COVID-19). Their results showed that more than half (53.5%) of the students were satisfied with online learning, while 29.7% were neutral. The results also revealed that all four domains were positively correlated with each other and with students' overall satisfaction with learning. In multivariate analysis, female gender, WiFi as an Internet learning modality, and rating of learning dimensions were the most significant predictors of student satisfaction. In another research, Azizi et al. (2020) investigated and determined the factors influencing students' intention to use blended learning. They found that performance expectancy (PE), effort expectancy (EE), social influence (SI), facilitating conditions (FC), hedonic motivation (HM), value for money (PV), and habit (HT) had a significant influence on students' intention to use blended learning. In addition, the intention to use blended learning significantly impacted students' actual use of blended learning. A study by Yılmaz İnce et al. (2020) investigated students' knowledge and views about distance education in the COVID-19

pandemic. The results showed that participants' ability to have computers and the Internet influenced their views about distance education. Elfirdoussi et al. (2020) studied distance learning in Morocco during the pandemic COVID-19. This study surveyed 3,037 students enrolled in various stages of higher education programs. The results showed that students indicated that online learning was not more interesting than regular learning.

Demuyakor (2020) sought to determine whether Ghanaian international students in China were satisfied with "mass" online learning in higher educational institutions in Beijing, China. The study's results suggested that introducing online learning programs was very good, as most students surveyed supported the initiative. The study also found that students outside China spend as much money to buy Internet data for online learning because of COVID-19. Last but not least, the study found that the Internet connection for students in the dormitories of various universities in China is very slow. Bozavli (2021) examined the learning experiences of foreign language students who participated in a distance learning course during the pandemic and their beliefs about whether it is possible to learn a foreign language without school. The results showed that students believed they could not learn a foreign language without attending school. In addition, the results indicated that their digital literacy skills in distance learning are insufficient, and the students show low motivation to learn. In a recent study, studied the expectations of university students regarding the conversion of education to distance learning during the period of COVID-19. The results showed that the most important factors influencing students' feelings and convincing them to switch from classroom teaching to teaching in the distance learning model are the feeling of pleasure in distance education and a sense of self-efficacy.

Masalimova et al. (2022) studied students' attitudes toward distance education in COVID-19. They analyzed a total of 27 articles. Their analyses revealed that when asked to compare face-to-face and online learning techniques, students claim that online learning has the potential to compensate for any limitations caused by the pandemic. Student views and satisfaction vary widely, ranging from good to negative. Distance learning is beneficial because it allows learning anytime and from any location. Distance education is useful for both performance and learning. Distance learning contributes to many physical and mental health problems, including anxiety, anxiety, stress, and attention problems. The analysis of publications on the stated topic allowed the authors of the study to conclude that by now, the issues related to the significant difference in the organization of online learning of foreign languages and the use of educational technologies in the format of e-learning in universities during the period of restrictions due to the pandemic because of COVID-19. Issues such as the role of the professor/instructor and student groups in improving the quality of instruction in the distance learning format, synchronization problems of interaction and qualitative parameters of feedback, and the effectiveness of pedagogical technologies in collaborative activities require further development.

Methods

The determination of research purposes, data collection instruments, and analyses were based on the literature review conducted by the authors. To answer the research questions, we employed a quantitative research methodology in this research. For this aim, we used quantitative data collection methods (see **Table 1**). The authors used the methods of terminological analysis in the process of studying scientific works on the research problem. The authors applied system analysis methods to identify the problem area, determine its relevance, set goals, and generate solutions. Considering the findings of the research, the authors articulated the following hypotheses:

- (1) Adjustments introduced to the educational process organization during the transition to the e-learning format enhance the role of the teacher and determine the choice of learning technologies to form communicative competencies in the changed academic conditions based on various methods of electronic content delivery and available communication tools in the context of electronic information–educational environment.
- (2) Changing needs for learning a foreign language for communicative and professional purposes in the context of a forced transition to the distance learning format presuppose greater self-discipline of students compared to the full-time format of gaining knowledge. This is because, in the process of classroom training, there are such additional motivating factors as mandatory face-toface presence (lack of opportunity to study the material after the session by its video record) and an evaluating reaction not only from the teacher but also from fellow students to the activity degree in the educational process of the entire group.
- (3) Changes in the conditions and communicative environment of learning a foreign language during a pandemic inevitably lead to a greater workload and emphasis on the student's self-study since a written task does not tolerate inaccurate formulations and digression from the topic. It is more strictly assessed regarding literacy and knowledge of the material.
- (4) The effectiveness of the teaching technologies applied in emergency transition to distance learning due to COVID-19 can be evaluated only after analyzing the final assessment results of students conducted in a distance format compared to the offline results regime.

TABLE 1 Survey results.

No	Question	Yes	No
1	Has the pandemic situation adjusted your educational process? If the answer is yes, please, outline the main changes	93%	17%
2	Do you think you can positively assess the actions of the Law Institute administration and the department of foreign languages to organize the educational process during the pandemic? Please, give your reasons	91%	19%
3	Are there any organizational weaknesses in the educational process that have not been resolved by the Law Institute administration and the department of foreign languages for this period? Please, indicate them	12%	88%
4	Indicate the positive and negative aspects of distance learning		
5	Your suggestions and comments concerning adjusting the online training format		

It was necessary to maintain the stable motivation of students formed (in the course of teaching) by creating conditions for active engagement of each student and teacher in the educational process in the current emergency of conversion to e-learning. The authors focused on the formulation of foundations based on the personal and professional experience of the teachers of the department concerning methods of teaching foreign languages for communicative and professional purposes and new modern technologies of teaching in a distance format (Lisitzina et al., 2015; Bennett, 2018; Lim et al., 2018; Aguilar et al., 2019; Privalova et al., 2019; Sockalingam et al., 2020; Atabekova, 2021). All types of activities previously conducted in the face-to-face teaching format, including the acquisition of new material, assessment of knowledge through evaluation and comments, preparation for midterm review and final examination, organization and management of translation practice, participation in project activities, scientific guidance in the preparation of articles, and oral presentations of students, preparation of the oral defense of theses for bachelor's and master's degrees in a foreign language had to be urgently transferred to the distance learning format.

A week before the transition to a distance learning format, the department held informative, practical sessions with teachers on the effective use of all the main functions of the Microsoft TEAMS program, which is part of the Outlook Office 365 facilities widely used in the RUDN University (Lebedeva et al., 2018; Badiozaman et al., 2020; Code et al., 2020; Hilburg et al., 2020; Khan, 2020). The lesson plan was developed considering the teachers' feedback. During the classes conducted by the Information Technology (IT) specialist, particular attention was paid to such issues as the formation of study groups, preparation of calendar of classes, use of chat room for communicating group or personal messages, placing various files with assignments, etc.

The algorithm for organizing joint work with the Windows Office applications package was specifically set up to allow all participants of the process to simultaneously work with Word documents, Excel tables, open PowerPoint presentations, and video files. Under a specialist's guidance, the verification mode teachers practiced the screen functions, reminders, calls, invitations to class, and project activities. A special lesson was devoted to such opportunities of the educational platform as a division of work and tasks between groups of students (teams), use of applications, and joint work on a document since the express survey showed that such operations cause particular difficulties for most teachers.

During these lessons, the skills of working with the TEAMS platform were refreshed. Mobile groups of teachers were also formed, within which each participant could always receive the necessary assistance and technical support. This strengthened the confidence of the most pessimistic members. They did not have enough experience organizing the educational process for several years through the telecommunication educational and information system (TEIS RUDN).

A preliminary survey of study groups helped to reveal that only 34% have personal computers and tablets. As the TEAMS training platform can be easily downloaded to any electronic medium, the data obtained was not alarming. But the issue of Fast Internet availability across the country was on the agenda since many students announced their intention to leave Moscow and move to their permanent places of residence during the pandemic and e-learning. To provide all students with equal opportunities under the circumstances, the teacher's mandatory recording of the lesson and open access to it for each student of the study group was established.

One of the department meetings was dedicated to many issues on the urgent transfer of foreign language classes within bachelor's and master's courses to a distance format. The meeting aimed to instruct students on the format and arrangement of their homework, including the correct file name (date, student's name, group number, discipline, and teacher's name), formulation of tasks, parameters for evaluating the work, deadlines for sending the work by the student and receiving the marked paper from the teacher, the format of students' progress sheets and participating in a lesson in a distance format, etc.

Results and discussion

The positions listed above, worked out by the teaching staff of the department of foreign languages of the Law Institute of the Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, contributed to meeting the program requirements and maintaining the standards of teaching foreign languages to lawyers to be.

After 3 months of work, the team of authors surveyed students and teachers. Its purpose was to identify the level of qualitative assessment by students of the activities of the Law Institute administration and the department of foreign languages in overcoming the challenges of the emergency transition to the e-learning mode. The information obtained was checked for consistency and reliability at the analysis stage. The formulated questions for students reflect the key points related to the research statement. The data obtained in the study were statistically processed and analyzed, which formed the basis for formulating proposals for adjusting the program materials.

As the survey of teachers and students after 3 months of working in the distance format showed, the technical aspects worked out in advance. They voiced that the first organizational lessons dramatically contributed to maintaining the level of motivation formed during the face-to-face studies. The survey involved students taking the undergraduate and graduate programs at the Law Institute and those who study a foreign language for communicative and professional purposes. The answers to the questionnaire were received from 204 respondents.

In total, 93% of the respondents gave a positive answer to the first item of the questionnaire. In the comments on the positive and negative aspects of the distance learning format, the following main problems that students faced in the process of the emergency transition to a remote learning format have been highlighted:

- (1) Loss of personal contact with the teacher–78%.
- Concentration difficulties during preparation for classes at home (distractions in the limited living space)-67%.
- (3) Lower individual activity in class (interference of family members who are also in self-isolation)-58%.
- (4) Many serious problems associated with the constant use of the Internet to connect to the TEAMS training platform: lack of Internet and interruptions in Internet connection (especially outside Moscow and Moscow region)-79%; unreasonably high time loss during classes for constant reconnection to the platform-63%; worse health conditions due to continuous sitting in front of monitors (more than 12 h a day)-81%.
- (5) Stress (68%) leads to increased psychological frustration (54%) due to the need to periodically turn on the camera and microphone during the oral answer.

In the answers to the second question, most students (91%) positively assessed the efforts of the Law Institute administration and the entire team of the department of foreign languages in an efficient and thoughtfully organized format of the transition of the educational process to a remote mode. The transition process took only a week; the classes were held strictly according

to the schedule approved at the beginning of the semester. 74% of respondents highly appreciated that all the necessary electronic links came by email in advance and with a 15-min reminder before the start of the lesson.

All files with carefully formulated assignments and specified deadlines were sent to students in advance; this contributed to a clear algorithm allowing them to receive the marked papers to better prepare for the forthcoming session (86%). Seventy-seven percentage of students positively assessed the efforts of the department of foreign languages to offer interesting project assignments and to involve students in professionally oriented research activities during a difficult period of emergency transition to the e-learning format.

All survey participants supported video recording the lessons as another chance to view and study the educational material.

At the same time, 14% of students' answers concerning organizational shortcomings (third question in the Table) indicated cases of informing "at the last minute,"; that greatly hindered planning the workload and increased online learning. An important aspect noted by 45% of respondents was the academic schedule. Students criticized it for the uneven distribution of lectures and seminars throughout the week.

The following suggestions for adjustments to the format of online education of law students have been formulated:

- Preserving in a distance format the possibility of counseling with teachers according to the schedule approved at the beginning of the semester for classroom format (60%).
- (2) Taking account of the students' answers sent in the chat room in case of problems with the microphone during the lesson (36%).

The authors also conducted an express survey among the foreign languages teaching staff department. The obtained data revealed the problems that arose during the preparation and conduct of distance learning sessions. The majority (84%) noted the stressful situation of the need to move to a new teaching format and search for new solutions in the context of familiar teaching tasks. For older teachers (53%), difficulties were associated with mastering unfamiliar electronic platforms and using new technological methods of working in a digital environment to "keep in step with the times." Ninety-three percentage of respondents expressed concerns about the organization and conduct of upcoming intermediate and final assessments of students in a distance format. They were connected not with designing control and assessment materials but primarily with the video support of the oral and written testing to exclude cheating and prompts.

The annual students' conference "We speak legal English, French, German, Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Japanese, and Arabic" was held in a distance format engaging RUDN students and postgraduates from more than a dozen countries, as well as students from other universities in Moscow and across Russia. In preparation for the conference, individual work was carried out with each participant to comply with the requirements for article formatting according to American Psychological Association (APA) international standards. Particular attention was paid to the preparation of oral presentations using PowerPoint tools. The following points were positively noted in the responses of the conference participants:

- Comprehensive and timely assistance from the faculty of the department of foreign languages *via* the TEAMS platform.
- (2) Timely receipt of an electronic link for connection, automatic notification of the beginning of the conference, and technical support in case of problems associated with various operating systems.
- (3) Ability to automatically turn on subtitles during the conference broadcast.

TABLE 2 Final exam results at bachelor level.

Grades	2019 (<i>n</i> = 145)	2020 (<i>n</i> = 142)
Excellent	75%	74%
Good	24%	24%
Fair/satisfactory	1%	2%
Poor/unsatisfactory	-	-

TABLE 3 Final exam results at master level.

Grades	2019 (<i>n</i> = 76)	2020 $(n = 80)$
Excellent	77%	76%
Good	21%	20%
Fair/satisfactory	2%	4%
Poor/unsatisfactory	-	-

TABLE 4 Results of *defending* the final qualifying work in the foreign languages at the bachelor level.

Grades	2019 (<i>n</i> = 132)	2020 (<i>n</i> = 139)
Excellent	81%	79%
Good	17%	18%
Fair/satisfactory	2%	3%
Poor/unsatisfactory	-	-

TABLE 5 Results of *defending* the final qualifying work in the foreign languages at the master level.

Grades	2019 $(n = 103)$	2020 (<i>n</i> = 119)
Excellent	75%	74%
Good	21%	20%
Fair/satisfactory	4%	6%
Poor/unsatisfactory	-	-

- (4) Ability to share the screen and presentation files in case of problems related to the Internet.
- (5) Use of video conference recording.

When analyzing the final assessment results at the end of the semester, the authors of the study took into account the adequate response of the university to an external challenge and the complete transition to distance learning provoked by a coronavirus. We can assert that electronic content designed to solve the above difficulties did not allow within a short time to create a full-fledged "mobile interactive student-centered online environment" (Azizi et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020). This triggered a high degree of caution in assessing the effectiveness of distance learning based on the results obtained during the forced experimental emergency transition to e-learning (Adnan and Anwar, 2020; Watson et al., 2020; Cahyadi et al., 2021).

The comparative analysis of the results of the final exams for bachelor's and master's degrees for 2019 (before the pandemic) and 2020 (in the distance format) did not reveal important changes in the grades (Tables 2–5).

The final scores obtained for the *defense* of the last qualifying works in the relevant foreign language (English, German, French, Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Arabic, and Japanese) at bachelor's and master's levels allowed to conclude that the forced emergency transition to a distance learning format did not affect the quality of students' answers.

Conclusion

In evaluating the advantages and disadvantages of distance learning for law students in a foreign language in the new educational reality created by COVID-19, the authors of the study have tried to take into account all circumstances that could affect the achievement of sound conclusions. In such a short period of time, it is impossible to completely exclude the influence of external factors on the experimental results, which reduces the significance of approaches that are identical in content but different in form. The authors considered the difference in control and assessment materials and the students' final assessment conditions. The limited time frame did not allow the authors to fully analyze the experimentally formed samples for each technology in the distance learning model. In analyzing the parameters of distance learning effectiveness, the main focus was tracking the qualitative indicators of student performance compared to the results achieved in traditional face-to-face classes. The authors of this study were aware of the fact that the data obtained had to be more focused on the analysis of prerequisites, needs, and processes than on the evaluation of outcomes (Hannila et al., 2019; Rentes et al., 2019; Beier et al., 2020; Schöbel et al., 2020). Accordingly, in this case, the efficiency level was defined as the ratio of outcomes to resources expended, considering the urgency of the tasks.
It was important to conclude the current emergency and, based on the obtained results, to organize consistent, systematic work to avoid deficits in future distance education (Carballal et al., 2019; Golant, 2019; Puttinaovarat and Horkaew, 2020; Yulia, 2020; Kuso et al., 2021). At the same time, in the course of the study, the authors were able to find sufficient evidence that the transition to distance education at the Department of Foreign Languages of the Law Institute of RUDN College was made without excessive difficulties and on time due to the sufficient development of the IT infrastructure for technical support. The necessary competencies of the department's teaching staff provided the basis for transferring the learning process to an online format to accomplish the tasks set.

The study identified the key transition phases that presented the greatest challenges for students and faculty. In this context, special attention was paid to the organizational mechanisms of the transition phase. The analysis of the problems encountered and their underlying reasons, as well as the data obtained on the effectiveness of the transition to the distance education format for foreign language teaching, contributed to the conclusion that the distance education format has become a reality in higher education. This fact makes it necessary to equip the college with modern means for e-learning and entrust IT professionals with the design of teaching materials, grade sheets, and student journals in electronic format. Retraining teaching staff and adapting educational programs to the latest innovations are no less important.

As practice has shown, the main advantage of distance learning of a foreign language is the formation of competencies in the field of information technologies among teachers and students; this provides great opportunities for access to modern electronic resources and various digital tools. Based on the obtained results, the study's authors concluded that the period of enforced distance education did not negatively affect the quality of foreign language teaching for communicative and professional purposes for college students. This period helped to introduce the best practices to new realities (Irvine and Dane, 2020; Hessburg et al., 2021; Reed et al., 2021; Rienda and Alves, 2021) and apply new high-tech educational methods under the new socioeconomic conditions created by the spread of coronavirus infection (Javaid et al., 2020; Moss and Metcalf, 2020; Abdel-Basset et al., 2021; Antonopoulou et al., 2021).

The distance education format is a given reality without which 21st-century education and the future are unimaginable. However, it cannot completely replace traditional academic education at universities. The authors support the views of scholars who have described the function of the distance education format as supplementing, broadening, and deepening traditional college education (Atabekova, 2020; Gallagher, 2020; Medela and Picon, 2020; Zakharova et al., 2020). Most students in the field of foreign languages believe that e-learning, despite its popularity and extensive use, cannot replace face-to-face interaction between teacher and student in the classroom, cannot create an atmosphere of the traditional academic environment, and cannot replace the circle of student communication.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent from the participants was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

All authors have sufficiently contributed to the study, agreed with the results and conclusion, and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

This manuscript has been prepared with the support of the RUDN Program "Priority 2030/Program for Comprehensive Development 2025."

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Abdel-Basset, M., Chang, V., and Nabeeh, N. A. (2021). An intelligent framework using disruptive technologies for COVID-19 analysis. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change* 163:120431. doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120431

Adnan, M., and Anwar, K. (2020). Online learning amid the COVID-19 pandemic: Students' perspectives. J. Pedag. Sociol. Psychol. 2, 45–51. doi: 10.33902/JPSP.2020261309

Aguilar, P., Lopez-Cobo, I., Cuadrado, F., and Benítez, I. (2019). Social and emotional competences in Spain: A comparative evaluation between Spanish needs and an international framework based on the experiences of researchers, teachers, and policymakers. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2127. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02127

Akhmadieva, R. S., Mikhaylovsky, M. N., Simonova, M. M., Nizamutdinova, S. M., Prokopyev, A. I., and Ostanina, S. S. (2021). Public relations in organizations in sportsman students view: Development of management tools or healthy and friendly relations formation. *J. Hum. Sport Exerc.* 16, 1272–1279. doi: 10.14198/jbse.2021.16.Proc3.43

Antonopoulou, H., Halkiopoulos, C., Barlou, O., and Beligiannis, G. N. (2021). Transformational leadership and digital skills in higher education institutes: During the COVID-19 pandemic. *Emerg. Sci. J.* 5, 1–15. doi: 10.28991/esj-2021-01252

Atabekova, A. (2020). University discourse to foster youth's sustainability in society amidst COVID19: International and Russian features. *Sustainability* 12:7336. doi: 10.3390/su12187336

Atabekova, A. (2021). Employers' contribution to law students' multilingual communication skills training in remote mode due to pandemic emergency: Pilot study. *J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res.* 12, 396–431.

Azizi, S. M., Roozbahani, N., and Khatony, A. (2020). Factors affecting the acceptance of blended learning in medical education: Application of UTAUT2 model. *BMC Med. Educ.* 20:367. doi: 10.1186/s12909-020-02 302-2

Badiozaman, I. F. A., Leong, H. J., and Wong, W. (2020). Embracing educational disruption: A case study in making the shift to a remote learning environment. *J. Appl. Res. High. Educ.* 12, 1–15. doi: 10.1108/JARHE-08-2020-0256

Beier, G., Ullrich, A., Niehoff, S., Reißig, M., and Habich, M. (2020). Industry 4.0: How it is defined from a sociotechnical perspective and how much sustainability it includes–A literature review. *J. Clean. Prod.* 259:120856. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro. 2020.120856

Bennett, E. (2018). A simple, practical framework for organizing relationshipbased reciprocity in service-learning experiences: Insights from anthropology. *Int. J. Res. Serv. Learn. Commun. Engag.* 6:2. doi: 10.37333/001c.6999

Bozavli, E. (2021). Is foreign language teaching possible without school? Distance learning experiences of foreign language students at Ataturk University during the COVID-19 pandemic (April 14, 2021). *Arab World Engl. J. (AWEJ).* 12, 3–18. doi: 10.24093/awei/vol12no1.1

Cahyadi, A., Widyastuti, S., and Mufidah, V. N. (2021). Emergency remote teaching evaluation of the higher education in Indonesia. *Heliyon* 7:e07788. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07788

Carballal, A., Fernandez-Lozano, C., Rodriguez-Fernandez, N., Castro, L., and Santos, A. (2019). Avoiding the inherent limitations in datasets used for measuring aesthetics when using a machine learning approach. *Complexity* 1:4659809. doi: 10.1155/2019/4659809

Chigisheva, O., Soltovets, E., and Bondarenko, A. (2017). Functional foreign language literacy for global research career development: Analysis of standardized open-ended interview responses. *XLinguae* 10, 138–153. doi: 10.18355/XL.2017. 10.04.12

Chigisheva, O., Soltovets, E., Dmitrova, A., Akhtyan, A. G., Litvinova, S. N., and Chelysheva, Y. V. (2021). Digital literacy and its relevance to comparative education researchers: Outcomes of SciVal Analytics. *Eurasia J. Math. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 17:em2017. doi: 10.29333/ejmste/11183

Code, J., Ralph, R., and Forde, K. (2020). Pandemic designs for the future: Perspectives of technology education teachers during COVID-19. *Inf. Learn. Sci.* 22, 170–189. doi: 10.1108/ILS-04-2020-0112

Demuyakor, J. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19) and online learning in higher institutions of education: A survey of the perceptions of Ghanaian international students in China. *Online J. Commun. Media Technol.* 10, e202018. doi: 10.29333/ ojcmt/8286

Elfirdoussi, S., Lachgar, M., Kabaili, H., Rochdi, A., Goujdami, D., and El Firdoussi, L. (2020). Assessing distance learning in higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educ. Res. Int.* 2020;8890633. doi: 10.1155/2020/8890633 Ferri, F., Grifoni, P., and Guzzo, T. (2020). Online learning and emergency remote teaching: Opportunities and challenges in emergency situations. *Societies* 10, 86–96. doi: 10.3390/soc10040086

Flack, C. B., Walker, L., Bickerstaff, A., Earle, H., and Margetts, C. (2020). Educator perspectives on the impact of COVID-19 on teaching and learning in Australia and New Zealand. Essendon: Pivot Professional Learning.

Gallagher, S. R. (2020). The future of university credentials: New developments at the intersection of higher education and hiring. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

Golant, S. M. (2019). Stop bashing the suburbs: Mobility limitations of older residents are less relevant as connectivity options expand. *J. Aging Stud.* 50:100793. doi: 10.1016/j.jaging.2019.100793

Grunis, M. L., Golovanova, I. I., Kirilova, G. I., Levina, E. Y., and Sizova, Z. M. (2020). Transformation of pedagogical communicative competence during creation digital online courses. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 13:e289. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/9313

Hannila, H., Koskinen, J., Harkonen, J., and Haapasalo, H. (2019). Product-level profitability: Current challenges and preconditions for data-driven, fact-based product portfolio management. *J. Enterp. Inf. Manag.* 10, 292–308. doi: 10.1108/JEIM-05-2019-0127

Hessburg, P. F., Prichard, S. J., Hagmann, R. K., Povak, N. A., and Lake, F. K. (2021). Wildfire and climate change adaptation of western North American forests: A case for intentional management. *Ecol. Appl.* 31:e02432. doi: 10.1002/eap.2432

Hilburg, R., Patel, N., Ambruso, S., Biewald, M. A., and Farouk, S. S. (2020). Medical education during the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic: Learning from a distance. *Adv. Chron. Kidney Dis.* 27, 412–417. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2020.05.017

Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., and Bond, A. (2020). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning. EDUCAUSE Review. Available online at: https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-differencebetween-emergency-remote-teaching-and-online-learning (accessed August 1, 2022).

Huertas-Abril, C. A., Palacios-Hidalgo, F. J., and Gómez-Parra, M. E. (2021). Designing materials for emergency remote language teaching contexts: A qualitative study of pre-service teachers' experiences. *Teach. Engl. Second Lang. Electron. J.* 25, 18.

Irvine, D. J., and Dane, E. L. (2020). Enhancing cancer immunotherapy with nanomedicine. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 20, 321–334. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0269-6

Ivanova, S. S., Aksoy, Y. Ü, Krasilnikova, Y. S., Mashkin, N. A., Chizh, N. V., and Knyazeva, S. A. (2022). People's views of hygiene and personal care during COVID-19 outbreak. *Eurasia J. Math. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 18:em2101. doi: 10. 29333/eimste/11944

Jacques, S., Ouahabi, A., and Lequeu, T. (2020). Remote knowledge acquisition and assessment during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int. J. Eng. Pedag.* 10, 120–138. doi: 10.3991/ijep.v10i6.16205

Javaid, M., Haleem, A., Vaishya, R., Bahl, S., Suman, R., and Vaish, A. (2020). Industry 4.0 technologies and their applications in fighting COVID-19 pandemic. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev.* 14, 419–422. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.04.032

Junus, K., Santoso, H. B., Putra, P. O. H., Gandhi, A., and Siswantining, T. (2021). Lecturer readiness for online classes during the pandemic: A survey research. *Educ. Sci.* 11:139. doi: 10.3390/educsci11030139

Khan, H. (2020). An adaptation of Peyton's 4-stage approach to deliver clinical skills teaching remotely. *MedEdPublish* 9, 73–82. doi: 10.15694/mep.2020.000073. 1

Kitishat, A. R., Al Omar, K. H., and Al Momani, M. A. K. (2020). The Covid-19 crisis and distance learning: E-teaching of language between reality and challenges. *Asian ESP J.* 16, 316–326.

Kobysheva, L., Luginina, A., Gafiatulina, N., and Artamonova, Y. (2021). Organization of higher education in context of digitalization: Online learning experience at pandemic, development trends. *E3s Web Conf.* 273:12052. doi: 10. 1051/e3sconf/202127312052

Kuso, S., Nitsch, M., Zeiler, M., Simek, M., Adamcik, T., Dey, M., et al. (2021). Stakeholders' views on online interventions to prevent common mental health disorders in adults implemented into existing healthcare systems in Europe. *Eur. J. Public Health* 31, 55–63. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckab043

Kuzembayeva, G., Umarova, A., Maydangalieva, Z., Gorbatenko, O., Kalashnikova, E., Kalmazova, N., et al. (2022). Content and language integrated learning practices in Kazakhstan secondary schools during COVID-19 pandemic. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 14:e362. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/11733

Lebedeva, O., Bykova, S., Masalimova, A. R., Sokolova, N. L., and Kryukova, N. I. (2018). Peculiarities of developing high school students' lexical skills by means of the programmed learning technology. *XLinguae* 11, 186–202. doi: 10.18355/XL. 2018.11.01.16

Lim, C., Kim, K. H., Kim, M. J., Heo, J. Y., Kim, K. J., and Maglio, P. P. (2018). From data to value: A nine-factor framework for data-based value creation in information-intensive services. *Int. J. Inf. Manag.* 39, 121–135. doi: 10.1016/j. ijinfomgt.2017.12.007

Lisitzina, T. B., Kovaleva, N. I., Shaikhlislamov, A. K., Minsabirova, V. N., Shaidullina, A. R., Pavlova, N. A., et al. (2015). Practical recommendations for the teachers on optimization process of the students majoring in tourism. *Asian Soc. Sci.* 11, 154–158. doi: 10.5539/ass.v11n1p154

Masalimova, A. R., Khvatova, M. A., Chikileva, L. S., Zvyagintseva, E. P., Stepanova, V. V., and Melnik, M. V. (2022). Distance learning in higher education during Covid-19. *Front. Educ.* 7:822958. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.822958

Medela, A., and Picon, A. (2020). Constellation loss: Improving the efficiency of deep metric learning loss functions for the optimal embedding of histopathological images. *J. Pathol. Inf.* 11, 38–43. doi: 10.4103/jpi.jpi_41_20

Moss, E., and Metcalf, J. (2020). High tech, high risk: Tech ethics lessons for the COVID-19 pandemic response. *Patterns* 1:100102. doi: 10.1016/j.patter.2020. 100102

Nariyati, N. P. L., Sudirman, N. P., and Pratiwi, A. (2020). EFL pre-service teacher's perception toward the use of mobile assisted language learning in teaching English. *Int. J. Lang. Educ.* 4, 38–47. doi: 10.26858/ijole.v4i2.10052

Nevskaya, E. Y., and Kozhukhova, Y. V. (2021). Teaching the course" Chemistry" at RUDN University in the context of distance learning. *Sviridov Read*. 1:129.

Oyedotun, T. D. (2020). Sudden change of pedagogy in education driven by COVID-19: Perspectives and evaluation from a developing country. *Res. Global.* 2:100029. doi: 10.1016/j.resglo.2020.100029

Peters, M. A., Rizvi, F., McCulloch, G., Gibbs, P., Gorur, R., Hong, M., et al. (2020). Reimagining the new pedagogical possibilities for universities post-Covid-19: An EPAT Collective Project. *Educ. Philos. Theory* 1, 1–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.1969.tb00346.x

Prikhodko, V., and Polyakova, T. (2020). "IGIP Prototype curriculum, teachers' professional development and distance education in Russia during COVID-19 pandemic," in *International conference on interactive collaborative learning*, eds M. E. Auer and T. Rüütmann (Cham: Springer), 36–43. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-68201-9_4

Privalova, I. V., Shaidullina, A. R., Zheltukhina, M. R., Grinberg, T. E., and Caselles, C. G. (2019). Coerced loss of national colorings – Linguistic issues of virtual team communication. *XLinguae* 12, 151–164. doi: 10.18355/XL.2019.12.01. 12

Puspitasari, R., Lestariyana, P. D., and Widodo, H. P. (2018). Engaging young learners of English with digital stories: Learning to mean. *Indones. J. Appl. Linguist.* 2, 489–495. doi: 10.17509/ijal.v8i2.13314

Puttinaovarat, S., and Horkaew, P. (2020). Flood forecasting system based on integrated big and crowdsource data by using machine learning techniques. *IEEE Access* 8, 5885–5905. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2963819

Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., and Koole, M. (2020). Online university teaching during and after the Covid-19 crisis: Refocusing teacher presence and learning activity. *Postdigital Sci. Educ.* 2, 923–945. doi: 10.1007/ s42438-020-00155-y

Reed, M. S., Ferre, M., Martin-Ortega, J., Blanche, R., Lawford-Rolfe, R., Dallimer, M., et al. (2021). Evaluating impact from research: A methodological framework. *Res. Policy* 50:104147. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2020.104147

Rentes, V. C., de Pádua, S. I. D., Coelho, E. B., Cintra, M. A., de, C. T., Ilana, G. G. F., et al. (2019). Implementation of a strategic planning process oriented towards promoting business process management (BPM) at a clinical research centre (CRC). *Bus. Process Manag. J.* 25, 707–737. doi: 10.1108/BPMJ-08-2016-0169

Rienda, I. C., and Alves, C. A. (2021). Road dust resuspension: A review. *Atmos. Res.* 1:105740. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2021.105740

Sá, M. J., and Serpa, S. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic as an opportunity to foster the sustainable development of teaching in higher education. *Sustainability* 12:8525. doi: 10.3390/su12208525

Santos, L. M. (2020). The discussion of communicative language teaching approach in language classrooms. *J. Educ. e-Learning Res.* 7, 104–109. doi: 10. 20448/journal.509.2020.72.104.109

Schöbel, C., Werther, S., Teschler, H., and Taube, C. (2020). Telemedicine in respiratory sleep medicine: COVID-19 pandemic unmasks the need for a processoriented, replicable approach for implementation in clinical routine. *J. Thoracic Dis.* 12:S261. doi: 10.21037/jtd-cus-2020-011

Sekyere-Asiedu, D., Mashkin, N. A., Mochelevskaya, E. V., Petrova, M. G., and Zheltukhina, M. R. (2022). Determining the readiness of the mechanical engineering programme candidates for distance education. *Int. J. Eng. Pedag.* 12, 101–114. doi: 10.3991/ijep.v12i2.29319

Sharma, K., Deo, G., Timalsina, S., Joshi, A., Shrestha, N., and Neupane, H. C. (2020). Online learning in the face of COVID-19 pandemic: Assessment of students' satisfaction at Chitwan medical college of Nepal. *Kathmandu Univ. Med. J.* 18, 40–47. doi: 10.3126/kumj.v18i2.32943

Sockalingam, S., Chaudhary, Z. K., Barnett, R., Lazor, J., and Mylopoulos, M. (2020). Developing a framework of integrated competencies for adaptive expertise in integrated physical and mental health care. *Teach. Learn. Med.* 32, 159–167. doi: 10.1080/10401334.2019.1654387

Soltovets, E., Chigisheva, O., Dubover, D., and Dmitrova, A. (2021). Russian digital education landscape during the current pandemic: Is the impact felt? *E3S Web Conf.* 273:12026. doi: 10.1051/e3sconf/202127312026

Soudien, C. (2020). Complexities of difference and their significance for managing inequality in learning: Lessons from the COVID-19 crisis. *Prospects* 49, 59–67. doi: 10.1007/s11125-020-09486-x

Todri, A., Papajorgji, P., Moskowitz, H., and Scalera, F. (2020). Perceptions regarding distance learning in higher education, smoothing the transition. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 13:e287. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/9274

Uzunboylu, H., Prokopyev, A. I., Kashina, S. G., Makarova, E. V., Chizh, N. V., and Sakhieva, R. G. (2022). Determining the opinions of university students on the education they receive with technology during the pandemic process. *Int. J. Eng. Pedag.* 12, 48–61. doi: 10.3991/ijep.v12i2.29329

Watson, D. P., Brucker, K., McGuire, A., Snow-Hill, N. L., Xu, H., Cohen, A., et al. (2020). Replication of an emergency department-based recovery coaching intervention and pilot testing of pragmatic trial protocols within the context of Indiana's Opioid State Targeted Response plan. J. Subst. Abuse Treat. 108, 88–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2019.06.002

Yılmaz İnce, E., Kabul, A., and Diler, I. (2020). Distance education in higher education in the COVID-19 pandemic process: A case of Isparta Applied Sciences University. *Int. J. Technol. Educ. Sci.* 4, 343–351. doi: 10.46328/ijtes.v4i 4.112

Yulia, H. (2020). Online learning to prevent the spread of pandemic corona virus in Indonesia. *ETERNAL* 11, 48–56. doi: 10.26877/eternal.v11i1.6068

Zakharova, N., Vlasova, I., and Kartavtseva, O. (2020). Technologies of tutorial assistance in the visual activity distance education for the bachelors-designers. *E3S Web Conf. EDP Sci.* 210:22014. doi: 10.1051/e3sconf/202021022014

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

REVIEWED BY

Galina Artyushina, Moscow Aviation Institute, Russia Alfiya R. Masalimova, Kazan Federal University, Russia Fitri Budi Suryani, University of Muria Kudus, Indonesia Mohammad Najib Jaffar, Islamic Science University of Malaysia, Malaysia

*CORRESPONDENCE Philipp Novikov philippnovikov@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language, Culture and Diversity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Education

RECEIVED 02 June 2022 ACCEPTED 25 August 2022 PUBLISHED 13 September 2022

CITATION

Novikov P (2022) The effects of introducing language learning software during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Educ.* 7:959995. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.959995

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Novikov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effects of introducing language learning software during the COVID-19 pandemic

Philipp Novikov 💿 *

Foreign Languages Department, Law Institute, Peoples' Friendship University of Russia – RUDN University, Moscow, Russia

The research aimed to investigate the impact of introducing language learning software to university students in the learning environment influenced by COVID-19. It describes the results of an experience with adding daily activities in Elevate, a free language learning application marketed as brain training software for the undergraduate English curriculum. The experiment took place at RUDN University (Moscow, Russia) in 2021 during the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants were engaged in synchronous distance and face-toface learning, depending on their location and the current epidemiological situation. Some students alternated between online and offline environments. Research methods included a theoretical analysis of current trends in language training and gamification. Statistical data were collected and processed using the university's digital ecosystem. The research included quantitative data from the experiment and surveys, which consisted of multiple-choice, single-choice, and open-ended questions. The research sample included students from eight countries with the common european framework of reference for languages (CEFR) levels of English from B1 to C1. The research results show the effects of language learning software on students' language proficiency (P). From the results of this research, it can be concluded that schools and universities can use multi-level feedback from participants to maximize the effectiveness of language training and diversify the range of activities included in the curriculum. The results also provide the theoretical basis for e-learning software development and represent a new contribution to the literature.

KEYWORDS

language learning software, e-learning, COVID-19, gamification, pandemic lockdown

Introduction

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic is an event that has significantly changed and is still affecting the learning environment on a global scale. Educational experts and researchers in various fields emphasize the unprecedented multidimensional impact of the closures on numerous aspects of teaching and learning (Subedi and Subedi, 2020; Tarman, 2020; Jaradat and Ajlouni, 2021; Salakhova et al., 2021; Soltovets et al., 2021; Kuzembayeva et al., 2022; Uzunboylu et al., 2022). While it has been noted that educators faced the greatest challenges on a global scale during the forced transition from faceto-face to distance education in the early 2020s, scholars have also emphasized that these events are leading to longterm transformations and reconceptualization of the learning landscape (Burgess and Sievertsen, 2020), with digitization playing an unprecedentedly important role.

The current research focuses on the impact of digitization on the learning environment affected by COVID-19 lockdown. Specifically, it focuses on the potential benefits of using language learning software as an additional tool to improve the foreign language skills of Russian university students. According to data from united nations children's fund (UNICEF) (Dreesen et al., 2020), the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of the digital divide in educational institutions worldwide. This study analyzes the experience of teaching foreign languages to law students in a mixed environment (combination of distance and face-to-face teaching) at RUDN University, also known as the Peoples' Friendship University of Russia.

Throughout its history, the university has undergone numerous paradigm shifts caused by changes in the learning landscape while maintaining its focus on internationalization. The latter has been identified as one of the most important characteristics of a modern university, enabling it to gain a foothold in the global education market rather than being limited to the local market. The impact of internationalization is manifold. It allows universities to compete with foreign higher education institutions as destinations for domestic students and domestic institutions offering graduate and postgraduate programs to international students. The widespread availability of learning resources, as well as the current pandemic, has helped some scholars distinguish between "internationalization at home" and "internationalization abroad" (Mittelmeier et al., 2021).

While educators the stress importance of internationalization, they also warn of its potential negative effects and urge international universities to focus on preventing content dilution and maintaining higher standards (De Wit, 2017). One of the ways to solve this problem is to design curricula that meet the requirements of the international labor market, provide relevant content in foreign languages, and contribute to the development of professional skills (Shaidullina et al., 2015; Atabekova, 2021). To achieve this, the university attaches great importance to providing lifelong language training to its students and faculty and maintaining and improving this ability in distance education mode. The lockdown of RUDN University was initiated by the Russian Ministry of Science and Education in March 2020 (Atabekova et al., 2021). Figure 1 below illustrates the approximate timeline of the COVID-19 response.

According to the above data, RUDN University was able to gradually reintroduce face-to-face classes for a select number

of students at the beginning of the 2020-2021 academic year, focusing on the adjustment of first-year students while taking the necessary precautions to prevent the further spread of COVID-19. While there was worldwide discussion of the possibility that universities could return to near-normal operations in 2021 (Sleiwah et al., 2020), the course of the pandemic prevented universities from reintroducing full faceto-face classes, many measures (including faculty vaccination) taken in Russia allowed RUDN University to begin the 2021-2022 academic year with face-to-face courses for all students living in Moscow and to change the mode of instruction as needed. As of November 2021, the situation has improved significantly compared to the same period in 2020. Nevertheless, the dynamics show the importance of considering closures in risk management (Beery, 2020) and contingency planning (Ross and DiSalvo, 2020) and implementing long-term solutions for distance education, especially in such skill-based disciplines as foreign language education.

According to the studies conducted during the pandemic (Hazaymeh, 2021; Maican and Cocoradã, 2021), foreign language instruction is particularly sensitive to changes in the mode of instruction. In addition, gamification has been found to improve students' motivation, referred to as digital natives (Butler, 2015; Kotob and Ibrahim, 2019), encouraging them to participate in concise language practice by introducing tools such as daily achievements. The Elevate application, released in 2014, is classified by its developers as a "brain training app." However, it can be argued that this categorization is not entirely accurate, as the effects of training on the brain have been questioned by the scientific community, as mentioned earlier, on cognitive abilities (Ng et al., 2020; Stojanoski et al., 2021). The analysis of the activities offered in the application shows that it can be considered a more traditional solution for language training, as it contains the categories of reading, speaking, listening, and writing. In light of this, we conducted a pilot study using the Elevate cell phone software and a set of assessment tools to determine if the skills acquired while using the application are transferable to a mixed learning environment (offline and online) and if the application can be recommended to students as an efficient additional language training tool.

Literature review

The analysis of the current trends in academic research on gamification of language training and its history, conducted using the digital databases of Google Scholar and Elsevier, demonstrates the current popularity of the topic while highlighting the importance of conducting a study that takes into account the specifics of the current situation in the global learning environment. The general trend of digitization in education, as well as the difficulties and benefits associated with it, has been outlined by scholars in several publications (Shaidullina et al., 2018; Sadeghi, 2019; Tarman et al., 2019;



Kalimullina et al., 2021; Ivanova et al., 2022). The impact of digitization on education during the pandemic has also highlighted the importance of the "digital divide"; scholars describe it as a well-known but previously underestimated phenomenon (Lai and Widmar, 2021), citing social and motivational issues, accessibility, etc. (Aboagye et al., 2021). The gap above is significant in international higher education institutions and has affected students' overall perception of the learning process during the pandemic (Budur, 2020).

The difficulties students face have also been described in blended learning studies (Dahmash, 2020; Mahaye, 2020; Sefriani et al., 2021). Although the current generation of students (born after 1980) has been labeled digital natives (Margaryan et al., 2011; Dauzón and Izquierdo, 2020), issues related to digital literacy are still present in this generation. The events of 2020 led to a dramatic increase in the pace and depth with which digitization impacted the global learning landscape, leading some scholars to use the term "shock digitization" (Chigisheva et al., 2021). Scholars also include among the most recent trends in education the increasing popularity of technologies such as virtual reality (Volkova et al., 2020) and augmented reality (Elmqaddem, 2019). While these technologies are well-established in the universal digital landscape, their current use is new and has been shown to enhance learning through gamification (Horváth, 2018).

Scholars describe gamification as design principles, processes, and systems used to influence, engage, and motivate individuals, groups, and communities to promote behaviors and achieve desired outcomes (Huang and Soman, 2013). This process has been associated with increased student motivation (Buckley and Doyle, 2016; Alsawaier, 2018; Chapman and Rich, 2018) and productivity (Gamlo, 2019), as well as minimizing distraction and improving learning curve dynamics (Kayımbaşı oğlu et al., 2016). To analyze the history of the term "gamification" and its usage in the literature, we conducted

a corpus-based search using Google Ngram Viewer. The research revealed that the word "gamification" originated in the first decade of the twenty-first century. The number of mentions gradually increased from 2010 to 2015, marking its popularization and wide acceptance in the academic world, fostered by the development of technology (see Figure 2). The following graph was created using Google Ngram Viewer and the following parameters: Search term: "gamification"; Corpus: English; Case insensitive; Smoothing from 1.

The dynamics described above prove that the gamification trend is becoming increasingly popular and spread to various areas of life, including education. The current research focuses on the Elevate app's benefits, including gamification elements such as skill-based linguistic microgames with sophisticated feedback and ranking systems, detailed real-time visualizations, daily achievements, leaderboards, high-precision time limits, etc. Studies addressing similar applications highlight the problems related to self-motivation and self-control (García Botero et al., 2019), which could prevent users from achieving high results in a psychologically isolated environment characterized by the current pandemic. In addition, researchers emphasize the importance of self-control as one of the key components of long-term success (Hidayah, 2021).

A further literature review has shown that scholars associate motivation with a positive user experience (Seppala et al., 2020), which includes many factors, including a certain level of abstraction, engaging game mechanics, and an intuitive user interface (Yunyongying, 2014). While gamification as a form of digitalization in a COVID-19 learning environment has been seen mainly as a positive phenomenon, some scholars recommend a more realistic approach (Oe et al., 2020). It is also argued that gamification leads to standardization, which may place some limits on the development of language skills (Im et al., 2019). Although Elevate is marketed as a brain training application with 500 million active users, a large-scale study of





such applications did not find significant improvement in basic cognitive skills (Stojanoski et al., 2021). The authors emphasize the presence of a placebo effect, which may indirectly and temporarily improve perceived outcomes. Therefore, we limited this study to language skills rather than more general skills.

The literature review confirms that researchers are looking into the digitization of the learning environment COVID-19 and the use of gamification tools in language teaching. However, there has been no particular focus on using gamification-based language learning applications during the current pandemic. No special attention has been paid to such studies at Russian universities. The fact that gamified instruction requires software-based solutions with a high budget and a certain amount of time for implementation implies the need to create a common framework for curriculum designers and software developers. The present study attempts to find ways to optimize the user experience by measuring the quantitative efficiency of the software, as well as conducting a thematic analysis and a quantitative study of the feedback provided by the participants.

Research questions

The aim of the research is to determine the impact of introducing language learning software to university students in the Russian learning environment influenced by COVID-19.

To achieve the above goal, the following research questions were asked:

- (1) Does daily practice with language learning software improve university students' English proficiency?
- (2) What ways to improve the user experience of language learning software for students in the learning environment affected by COVID 19?

Materials and methods

Design

This study aims to determine the impact of implementing language learning software for university students in a learning environment dominated by COVID-19. The study included theoretical and empirical studies and involved several phases. Theoretical analysis of the literature helped determine the

78



Group 1 students' test result dynamics (stage 1-stage 3) (author's data).



relevance of the study. Core research activities included empirical analysis of qualitative and quantitative data. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis and descriptive statistics in the form of a percentage.

Research sample

The sample for literature analysis included 659 papers found in Google Scholar and Elsevier digital databases from 2009 to 2021. The sample for the empirical research included a heterogeneous pool of RUDN University Law Institute students (N = 40) whose classes were a combination of distance and face-to-face classes, depending on their location and individual epidemiological situation. While the majority (80%) of students were present in the classrooms and never used Microsoft Teams to join the class during the experiment, 20% switched teaching mode from distance to face-to-face and vice versa.

The pool consisted exclusively of first-year bachelor of laws (LLB) students (75%) and LLM students (25%) with limited English training at RUDN University (t = 30 days) to minimize potential cumulative effects from previous long-term group studies. Sixty-five percent of the students participating in the study were female. The other 35% were men. The participants' characteristics are given in **Table 1**. Student ages ranged from 16 to 38, with a median of 17 years. Most participants were Russian





(80%), but there were also students from Moldova, China, France, Uzbekistan, Latvia, Kazakhstan, the United States, and Georgia (2.5%). The level of English proficiency ranged from B1 to C1. All participants could read and understand the survey and software instructions, complete the task, and provide detailed feedback in English while sharing their user experience.

Data collection and analysis

Several data types were collected and analyzed for the research, consistent with the research objective and questions. First, the academic publications on language learning software and gamification in an environment dominated by COVID-19 were selected. The sample for the literature search included over 578 papers found in Google Scholar and Elsevier digital databases from 2009 to 2021. Ngram Viewer was used to

design the research's academic framework and follow the digitization timeline.

The empirical studies consisted of three phases. In phase 1, which began on 5 October 2021, experimental participants were randomly divided into two groups of 20 students. On day one of the experiment, both groups took a Cambridge Assessment English comprehensive test that included listening, writing, and reading tasks with predefined quantitative assessment criteria. The quantitative data obtained in Phase 1 scored each of the three skills on a 100% scale. To minimize the influence of external motivational factors, students were not warned before this or subsequent tests, nor were they given additional points. Then, group 1 was asked to download and install the free version of the Elevate application, which provided five random daily training activities to improve each skill.

In Phase 2, which lasted from 6 October 2021 to 12 November 2021, Group 1 completed daily language training in the Elevate application, tracking each of their skills on a 5,000-point scale used by the application and generating weekly reports. These quantitative results were later converted to a 100% scale. Particular attention was paid to maintaining the "streak," i.e., many consecutive days of training, to observe the relationship between the consistency of results. The quantitative statistical data obtained were processed using the software IBM SPSS Statistics. In the final phase of Phase 2 (8-12 November), Group 1 was asked to complete a Microsoft Forms survey consisting of multiple-choice, single-choice, and open-ended questions to obtain qualitative and quantitative data. The survey was hosted on RUDN University servers. It was offered in English and completed by all research participants in Group 1 with an average completion time of 16 min and 26 s; the last response was submitted on 10 November. Participants were classified as PT1-PT20 to keep their data confidential.



TABLE 1 Participants' characteristics (author's data).

Female	Male		
65%	35%		
Min	Max	Median	Mode
16	38	27	17
Russian	United States	China	Other
80%	2.5%	2.5%	15% (listed above)
	65% Min 16 Russian	MinMax1638RussianUnited States	65%35%MinMaxMedian163827RussianUnited StatesChina

In Phase 3, which took place on 12 November 2021, Group 1 and Group 2 completed their second English test of identical complexity and structure. To maximize consistency, we ensured that participants took the test under the same conditions as in Phase 1 of the experiment. The quantitative data obtained were compared to the data sets from stages 1 and 2. Charts and tables were created based on the survey and test results and the quantitative data from the application.

Results

This section presents the results of the data analysis concerning the two research questions posed previously.

- (1) Does daily practice with language learning software improve university students' English proficiency?
- (2) What are the opportunities to improve the user experience of language learning software for students in the learning environment influenced by COVID-19?

This section also includes the author's reflections on the study's results, their applicability to the current learning environment, and suggestions for improving the user experience.

Effects of daily practice with language learning software on university students' English proficiency

The results of our literature review show that experts in digitization and gamification have a certain degree of confidence in the future of these technologies in education. Nevertheless, some question their effectiveness, especially when comparing the advertised benefits to the actual ones. The strong conflict of interest in the evaluation of the software by its publishers is often present, as corporations develop the overwhelming majority of stand-alone language learning applications while universities and non-profit organizations do not suffer due to their complexity and budget constraints (Elevate Labs LLC, San Francisco, CA, United States, for example, has raised a total of \$17 million in funding). The business model of such software typically involves a subscription or free, ad-supported version.

The conflict of interest described above is not present in our study because the author is not affiliated with Elevate Labs LLC and received no financial support; the empirical research was conducted using the free version. While the limitations of language tests in assessing language proficiency in an external setting are well-known in academia (Im et al., 2019), international tests such as international english language testing system (IELTS), test of english as a foreign language (TOEFL), and Cambridge English exams play an important role in the current global learning landscape. They are used by employers as assessment tools and by various institutions for academic mobility.

RUDN University Law Institute recognizes its importance and includes Cambridge English exam preparation in its curricula. This fact is particularly important because foreign languages are only included in the expanded list of subjects required for admission to RUDN University Law Institute on the Unified State Examination. As a result, some first-year students may not have sufficient practice in taking language tests. As noted above, they are not exclusively related to fluency and accuracy but also require specific test-taking skills. The Elevate application is aimed at native speakers and language learners who are already fluent in English. It emphasizes the cumulative effect of daily practice and includes various writing, speaking, listening, and reading exercises to improve language skills, reasoning, and memory. It also contains a math section that was not tracked for this study, although some law students provided positive feedback.

Although we recognize the importance of speaking in assessing language skills, we decided to exclude it from the experiment for the following reasons. First, we felt it necessary to adhere to the experiment's strict quantitative requirements and avoid potential bias in scoring. Second, while the Elevate application includes the speaking section, it does not use speech recognition technology, whereas the activities in this section include writing, listening, and reading elements. Each game focused on a specific skill. These were processing improves skimming ability, transitions help users write their text more fluently, inversion, fluency, and association focus on antonyms and synonyms, punctuation, syntax, and spelling are designed to minimize the number of errors students make in the areas of the same name; expression, adjective memory, word parts, and eloquence enrich their vocabulary by introducing seldom-used lexis and idiomatic expressions and making them aware of word structure and etymology.

Each game has a precise time limit; students can only move on to the next activity if they give a certain number of correct answers within the time limit. Some games require single-choice and multiple-choice answers in such games, guessing is severely penalized and results in failure; a similar number of games require keystrokes with autocorrect options in case the student presses an adjacent key while trying to meet the time limit. The software adapts to the user's ability and increases or decreases the difficulty level based on performance. Students are motivated by gamification elements such as the achievement scale, the leaderboard system, in-game achievements, unlocking new games after reaching a certain achievement level, etc. The leaderboards encourage them to compete with other users worldwide.

While we asked participants in Group 1 to practice daily in Elevate, we considered the potential short-term effects of targeted training. We sought to determine whether the skills acquired while using the application were transferable to international English tests. According to the study results, conducted shortly after the start of the academic year, both groups showed an increase in the average percentage of test scores. This progress is likely due primarily to the 4–12 h of intensive English instruction in class, homework assignments, and weekly instructor feedback. The graph below shows that Group 1 showed an additional 5.24% increase in average test score percentage compared to Group 2, which did not receive training in the Elevate application (Figure 3).

However, there is a significant difference between the overall test scores in each group and the individual dynamics. The following graphs show the dynamics in each of the three tested abilities (Figure 4).

While Group 1 showed a higher increase in total score, the number of students in Group 2 whose test scores were higher in Level 3 than in Level 1 exceeds the same parameter in Group 1 in listening and reading, but not in writing. This result is particularly important because writing is the only productive skill tested in our experiment, as opposed to reading and listening, which are receptive skills. It is also the only part of the test that excludes the probability of guessing the correct answer and implies that students rely on their active skills, leading us to consider it the part of the test with a stronger and more reliable link to fluency (Figure 5).

Nevertheless, the implications described above should be considered since dynamism can also be attributed to other factors, such as test conditions. The lack of dynamics in some skills and the slightly lower performance in Stage 3 can also be attributed to the limited duration of the experiment. In addition, it should be mentioned that no particular patterns were discovered when comparing the results of students who were taught in distance education and students who were trained in face-to-face education. Changing the method of instruction also had no significant effect, which may indicate that these groups of students have already gained sufficient experience with distance learning after 20 months of pandemicrelated restrictions.

Opportunities to improve the user experience with language learning software in the learning environment affected by COVID-19

Students completed the survey in Phase 2 before the final test results were available and shared with them to avoid bias in their perception of ability dynamics. The survey served several purposes. First, it was conducted to measure the effectiveness of the Elevate application and find a correlation between test scores in each category, the categories participants perceived as most useful and least useful, and the performance measured in the application. Second, the survey aims to gather feedback that could include stand-alone gamification-based language training applications in curricula. Finally, students' negative and positive feedback may reveal various ways to improve the user experience.

The first result of the anonymous survey shows that students have an overall positive impression: They were asked to rate the Elevate application on a five-point scale, with five being the highest score and one being the lowest. Participants gave it an average rating of 4.65, with one participant rating it a 3. Participants were also asked to share their overall impression of the activities offered in the Elevate application (Figure 6). The charts below show that despite all four skill categories in the application, participants perceived literacy skills to be more prominent. This result is due to two circumstances: First, the application does not include speech recognition technology, which limits the perceived improvement in speaking in the strict sense of the term. Second, the listening activities are optional and can be skipped if users are in an environment with strong background noise or, conversely, cannot hear the audio at a good volume.

The opposite question, which asked about the least useful category in the Elevate application, produced the expected reverse results with some discrepancy: while participants ranked reading as the most productive category, it was ranked as the third least helpful category. This result could be related to the lack of clarity in describing the categories and the student's perception of the activities (Figure 7).

In addition, examination of the performance reports on the application shows that students performed best in reading, followed by speaking and writing (Figure 8). These results, except for reading, do not fully correlate with the categories in which the greatest change was observed in Group 1. In the first open-ended section of the survey, students were asked to provide feedback on the activities they remembered most. Thematic analysis shows that the most popular activities include Recall (35%), Brevity (30%), Agility (25%), and Expression (20%), all of which focus on vocabulary and aim to improve both active and passive vocabulary and paraphrasing skills. Some students provided descriptions of the activities rather than their names (the abbreviation participant (PT) stands for participants in the empirical studies):

PT 2 "I liked reading words and phrases in squares and then answering questions in the text and excluding optional parts in sentences. I liked choosing synonyms for words."

PT 10 "I liked the 'focus' game where you have to read the text quickly and then answer questions. Also, I can mention the game 'Brevity,' if I am not mistaken, where you choose the right letter. And such games as 'equivalence, processing, and clarity."

Such descriptions show that students are aware of the game design and understand what skills they are developing as they play; this can facilitate their skill-specific language practice.

The following comment highlights the importance and memorability of gamification elements for visual learners:

PT 8 "A game with an origami thing, a game with names, a game where you correct mistakes."

PT 18 "I love the pronunciation, reading, detail, and comma games. And the game where birds land on rooftops after you catch the right word."

In addition to the above, the analysis shows an increased number of opportunities.

Participants were also asked to provide feedback on improving the user experience.

A certain number of students requested a speech feature based on voice recognition:

PT 1 "Add speech exercises where users can record their responses."

PT 6 "Exercises can be added to improve pronunciation."

PT 9 "Add an exercise where you have to speak, pronounce words, and that's it."

Feature requests were not limited to specific skills, however. Some users suggested introducing more gamification elements:

PT 10 "Add a cooperative mode to play with friends."

Revision and memorization tools were a common theme mentioned by participants:

PT 12 "The ability to add a dictionary for unknown words and phrases."

PT 17 "More consistent comments and instructions for each game."

PT 14 "Establish an error list to help users check the essential points."

It should be noted that the activities already include a revision area, but it is not standardized, as the new features are gradually added to the game through several updates.

The free version was also felt to be too limiting:

PT 6 "More daily games available"; PT 12 More free workouts; PT 13 More tasks for the free version; PT 4 "I would like more games."

Some students believed it prevented them from progressing further:

PT 7 "I think it will only help you if you buy a full version."

While it is certain that a free version developed by a forprofit company will inevitably have some limitations, a different business model could attract new users who do not currently enjoy the full version. Even though the Elevate application offers regional pricing, its subscription model is still prohibitively expensive for most students worldwide. An ad-supported version (as provided by an increasing number of publishers) with a slightly expanded feature set could solve this problem. Although the time limit is one of Elevate's core features, some users did not see it as an opportunity for improvement and recommended that it be removed:

PT 2 "More time to complete tasks"; PT 20 "No time limit."

Many participants gave it a particularly positive overall rating:

83

PT 5 "I do not think this app needs to be improved." PT 19 "It is a perfect app to learn English." PT 11 "Everything is good."

However, some also expressed some skepticism and criticized the practicality of the app:

PT 8 "You should use what you learn to remember it."

PT 16 "If you have to pass an exam, this app will not help you."

PT 18 "The app does tell me how to spell the word correctly, but I will never see the word again in the app, and rarely in the real world."

Users also shared their opinions about the efficiency of the software and emphasized the importance of daily practice and motivation:

PT 3 Regular practice can help me improve my English skills because I can remember many new words and improve my memory; PT 13 "I believe that regular practice in this app helps you learn something new, navigate texts, perceive information faster"; PT 15 "Regular practice helps you remember what you already know and not forget what you learned through the game." PT 4 "I believe that practicing in apps like Elevate can help improve English skills, and if you engage in it daily, you will progress faster"; PT 5 "I believe that practicing regularly and daily with Elevate helps improve my skills with the wonderful results."

Some participants rated the immersive effect very highly:

PT 2 "I believe the such daily practice will help improve English skills because these tasks promote concentration and full immersion in English."

In addition, participants highlighted aspects of gamification, such as the gameplay, design, and animations, and rated the application as a successful example of engaging software:

PT 8 "The design is particularly appealing."; PT 14 "It is not a burden for me to spend 30 min every day playing interesting games while learning English."; PT 4 "The tasks are interesting and useful."; PT 9 This is a very unusual and effective way to learn a foreign language.

Finally, some synergy between different skills was mentioned:

PT 10 You can improve your language through games, and in addition to language, you can also improve your memory and speaking.

The results presented above could be used by software producers and developers who want to introduce and modify their best practice solutions for gamification of language training.

Discussion

This research aimed to investigate the impact of introducing language learning software to university students in the learning environment influenced by COVID-19. The research showed the effects of language learning software on students' language proficiency. From the results of this research, it can be concluded that schools and universities can use multi-level feedback from participants to maximize the effectiveness of language training and diversify the range of activities included in the curriculum. The results also provide the theoretical basis for e-learning software development and represent a new contribution to the literature. These results are consistent with those of Latypova et al. (2018), who studied the effects of the same application (Elevate) on students' language performance and found that students in the focus group performed significantly better than students in the standard group, implying that students' learning performance improved significantly. Their interview results also showed that students had positive attitudes toward the creative language learning methods.

In a recent study, Ishaq et al. (2021) found that the number of studies on mobile-based gamified applications for language learning increased from 2017 to 2021 in the literature. Similarly, the review of Dehghanzadeh et al. (2019), which aimed to provide an overview of studies on gamification and English as a second language in digital environments, shows that most studies have increased since 2014. These two recent review studies by Dehghanzadeh et al. (2019) and Ishaq et al. (2021) on the use of gamification methods in language teaching have also shown the increasing number and popularity of studies have led to positive outcomes in language teaching.

Our findings are very similar to those of studies indicating that students perceive gamified language teaching methods as attractive, enjoyable, and interesting (Ketyi, 2016; Medina and Hurtado, 2017; Guaqueta and Castro-Garces, 2018; Homer et al., 2018; Sun and Hsieh, 2018; Ishaq et al., 2020a,b). The reason for such an outcome might be that the gamified language teaching methods provide students with the opportunity to become psychologically engaged in the learning process (Guaqueta and Castro-Garces, 2018; Ishaq et al., 2021) and allow them to control their actions and learning process while they use gamified teaching methods in the digital environment (Lui, 2014).

The findings of this study consist of research studies in the literature that indicate gamified applications are beneficial in learning and teaching vocabulary, grammar, tenses, and words. Researchers found that gamified applications are more effective because they help to improve students' interest and positive learning outcomes and get them excited about language learning (Ishaq et al., 2019, 2020a). Based on the findings of this study and previous research on gamification and language teaching, it is easy to conclude that there is an increasing trend of using gamified applications for all subjects at all levels of education to improve an important and significant learning outcome (Ishaq et al., 2021). In addition, in light of previous and present research, we recommend gamified applications as a teaching method for English language teaching at all levels of education.

Conclusion

The study found that introducing language learning software to university students in the learning environment influenced by COVID-19 contributed to an insignificant shortterm increase in general language proficiency measurable by testing. However, these results did not generalize to the entire sample; individual assessments did not reveal any noticeable change in proficiency levels, which is consistent with scholars' views on similar applications. Analysis of the research data also showed the discrepancy between users' perceptions of each element of the learning system, their performance in the application, and actual results. This discrepancy can be attributed to a variety of the factors described above. The present study has some limitations. First, the students used the free version of the software, so they did not take full advantage of the application since no purchase was required. Second, a larger sample and more frequent long-term assessment would be needed. Finally, similar studies could be conducted outside of universities to eliminate external influences and focus solely on the progress that results from using the Elevate application.

The research findings confirm that language learners value interactive, user-centered experiences enhanced by gamification elements. While the development of stand-alone applications is still beyond most institutions' capabilities, students' willingness to use such products and services and the perceived value of their added benefits suggest a high potential for industryspecific software solutions developed for language learners. This opportunity requires further market research, given the rapid changes in education initiated during the closures triggered by COVID-19. At best, such software-based solutions can be seen as a competitive advantage that underscores a university's prestige and integration into the modern international learning landscape.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Acknowledgments

The publication has been prepared with the support of the RUDN University Program 5-100.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Aboagye, E., Yawson, J. A., and Appiah, K. N. (2021). COVID-19 and E-learning: The challenges of students in tertiary institutions. *Soc. Educ. Res.* 2, 1–8. doi: 10.37256/ser.212021422

Alsawaier, R. S. (2018). The effect of gamification on motivation and engagement. *Int. J. Inform. Learn. Technol.* 35, 56–79. doi: 10.1108/IJILT-02-2017-0009

Atabekova, A. (2021). Employers' Contribution to Law Students' Multilingual Communication Skills Training in Remote Mode due to Pandemic Emergency: Pilot Study. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 12, 398–431.

Atabekova, A., Belousov, A., and Yastrebov, O. (2021). Tracks for Russian university students' multilingual development within remote education during the pandemic. *World Univ. Res. COVID-19* 217, 217–233. doi: 10.14705/rpnet.2021. 52.1274

Beery, T. (2020). What We Can Learn from Environmental and Outdoor Education during COVID-19: A Lesson in Participatory Risk Management. *Sustainability* 12:9096. doi: 10.3390/su12219096

Buckley, P., and Doyle, E. (2016). Gamification and student motivation. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* 24, 1162–1175. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2014.964263

Budur, T. (2020). The role of online teaching tools on the perception of the students during the lockdown of Covid-19. *Int. J. Soc. Sci. Educ. Stud.* 7, 178–190. doi: 10.23918/ijsses.v7i3p178

Burgess, S., and Sievertsen, H. H. (2020). *Schools, skills, and learning: The impact of COVID-19 on education.* Available online at: https://voxeu.org/article/impact-covid-19-education (accessed on April 15, 2022).

Butler, Y. G. (2015). The use of computer games as foreign language learning tasks for digital natives. *System* 54, 91–102. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2014.10.010

Chapman, J. R., and Rich, P. J. (2018). Does educational gamification improve students' motivation? If so, which game elements work best? *J. Educ. Bus.* 93, 315–322. doi: 10.1080/08832323.2018.1490687

Chigisheva, O., Soltovets, E., Dmitrova, A., Akhtyan, A. G., Litvinova, S. N., and Chelysheva, Y. V. (2021). Digital Literacy and its Relevance to Comparative Education Researchers: Outcomes of SciVal Analytics. *Euras. J. Math. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 17:em2017. doi: 10.29333/ejmste/11183

Dahmash, N. (2020). I couldn't join the session': Benefits and challenges of blended learning amid Covid-19 from EFL students. *Int. J. Engl. Linguist.* 10, 221–230.

Dauzón, L. L., and Izquierdo, S. (2020). Digital natives and technology for L2 learning outside of the classroom. *Apertura* 12, 72–87. doi: 10.32870/Ap.vl2nl.1801

De Wit, H. (2017). "Global: Internationalization of higher education: Nine misconceptions: International higher education*," in *Understanding higher education internationalization*, (Brill Sense), 9–12.

Dehghanzadeh, H., Fardanesh, H., Hatami, J., Talaee, E., and Noroozi, O. (2019). Using gamification to support learning English as a second language: A systematic review. *Comput. Assist. Lang. Learn.* 34, 1–24. 10.1080/09588221.2019.1648298 doi: dos\imath\$:

Dreesen, T., Akseer, S., Brossard, M., Dewan, P., Giraldo, J. P., Kamei, A., et al. (2020). Promising practices for equitable remote learning: Emerging lessons from COVID-19 education responses in 127 countries. New York: UNICEF.

Elmqaddem, N. (2019). Augmented reality and virtual reality in education. Myth or reality? *Int. J. Emerg. Technol. Learn.* 14, 234–242.

Gamlo, N. (2019). The Impact of Mobile Game-Based Language Learning Apps on EFL Learners' Motivation. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 12, 49–56. doi: 10.5539/elt. v12n4p49

García Botero, G., Questier, F., and Zhu, C. (2019). Self-directed language learning in a mobile-assisted, out-of-class context: do students walk the talk? *Comput. Assist. Lang. Learn.* 32, 71–97. doi: 10.1080/09588221.2018.1485707

Guaqueta, C. A., and Castro-Garces, A. Y. (2018). The use of language learning apps as a didactic tool for EFL vocabulary building. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 11:61. doi: 10.5539/elt.v11n2p61

Hazaymeh, W. A. (2021). EFL Students' Perceptions of Online Distance Learning for Enhancing English Language Learning during COVID-19 Pandemic. *Int. J. Instruct.* 14, 501–518. doi: 10.29333/iji.2021.14329a

Hidayah, R. (2021). Students' Self-Adjustment, Self-Control, and Morality. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 12, 174–193.

Homer, R., Hew, K. F., and Tan, C. Y. (2018). Comparing digital badges-andpoints with classroom token systems: Effects on elementary school ESL students' classroom behavior and English learning. *J. Educ. Technol. Soc.* 21, 137–151.

Horváth, I. (2018). "Evolution of teaching roles and tasks in VR/AR-based education," in *Proceedings of the 2018 9th IEEE international conference on cognitive infocommunications (CogInfoCom)* (Budapest: IEEE), 000355–000360.

Huang, W. H. Y., and Soman, D. (2013). Gamification of education. Rep. Ser. 29, 1–29.

Im, G. H., Shin, D., and Cheng, L. (2019). Critical review of validation models and practices in language testing: their limitations and future directions for validation research. *Lang. Test. Asia* 9, 1–26. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1208-6

Ishaq, K., Azan, N., Rosdi, F., Abid, A., and Ali, Q. (2020a). Usability of mobile assisted language learning app. *Int. J. Adv. Comput. Sci. Appl.* 11, 354–363.

Ishaq, K., Azan, N., Rosdi, F., Abid, A., and Ali, Q. (2020b). Usefulness of mobile assisted language learning in primary education. *Int. J. Adv. Comput. Sci. Appl.* 11, 383–395.

Ishaq, K., Mat Zin, N. A., Rosdi, F., Jehanghir, M., Ishaq, S., and Abid, A. (2021). Mobile-assisted and gamification-based language learning: a systematic literature review. *PeerJ Comput. Sci.* 7:e496. doi: 10.7717/peerj-cs.496

Ishaq, K., Zin, N. A. M., Rosdi, F., Abid, A., and Farooq, U. (2019). "Effectiveness of literacy & numeracy drive (LND): A students' perspective," in *Proceedings of the 2019 international conference on innovative computing (ICIC)* (Piscataway, NJ: IEEE), 1–10.

Ivanova, S. S., Aksoy, Y. Ü, Krasilnikova, Y. S., Mashkin, N. A., Chizh, N. V., and Knyazeva, S. A. (2022). People's Views of Hygiene and Personal Care during COVID-19 Outbreak. *Euras. J. Mathe. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 18:em2101.

Jaradat, S., and Ajlouni, A. (2021). Undergraduates' Perspectives and Challenges of Online Learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Case from the University of Jordan. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 12, 149–173.

Kalimullina, O., Tarman, B., and Stepanova, I. (2021). Education in the Context of Digitalization and Culture: Evolution of the Teacher's Role, Pre-pandemic Overview. J. Ethnic Cult. Stud. 8, 226–238. doi: 10.29333/ejecs/629

Kayımbaşı oğlu, D., Oktekin, B., and Hacı, H. (2016). Integration of gamification technology in education. *Proc. Comput. Sci.* 102, 668–676. doi: 10. 1016/j.procs.2016.09.460

Ketyi, A. (2016). From mobile language learning to gamification: An overlook of research results with business management students over a five-year period. *Porta Ling. Rev. Int. Leng. Extr.* 1, 45–60.

Kotob, M. M., and Ibrahim, A. (2019). Gamification: The effect on students' motivation and achievement in language learning. *J. Appl. Ling. Lang. Res.* 6, 177–198.

Kuzembayeva, G., Umarova, A., Maydangalieva, Z. H., Gorbatenko, O., Kalashnikova, E., Kalmazova, N., et al. (2022). Content and Language Integrated Learning Practices in Kazakhstan Secondary Schools During COVID-19 Pandemic. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 14:e362. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/1 1733

Lai, J., and Widmar, N. O. (2021). Revisiting the digital divide in the COVID-19 era. *Appl. Econ. Perspect. Policy* 43, 458–464. doi: 10.1002/aepp.13104

Latypova, L. A., Polyakova, O. V., and Sungatullina, D. D. (2018). "Mobile Applications for English Learning Performance Upgrade," in *Innovative Technologies and Learning*, Vol. 11003, eds T. T. Wu, Y. M. Huang, R. Shadiev, L. Lin, and A. Starèiè (Cham: Springer), doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-99737-7_43

Lui, S. (2014). Use of gamification in vocabulary learning: A case study in Macau. *CELC Symp.* 15, 90–97.

Mahaye, N. E. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on education: navigating forward the pedagogy of blended learning. Available online at: https://ppip.ulm.ac.id/journal/index.php/jetall/article/view/8884 (accessed on April, 15 2022).

Maican, M. A., and Cocoradã, E. (2021). Online foreign language learning in higher education and its correlates during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sustainability* 13:781. doi: 10.3390/su13020781

Margaryan, A., Littlejohn, A., and Vojt, G. (2011). Are digital natives a myth or reality? University students' use of digital technologies. *Comput. Educ.* 56, 429-440. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2010.09.004

Medina, E. G. L., and Hurtado, C. P. R. (2017). Kahoot! A Digital Tool for Learning Vocabulary in a language classroom. *Rev. Publ.* 12, 441–449.

Mittelmeier, J., Rienties, B., Gunter, A., and Raghuram, P. (2021). Conceptualizing internationalization at a distance: A "Third Category" of university internationalization. *J. Stud. Int. Educ.* 25, 266–282.

Ng, N. F., Schafer, R. J., Simone, C. M., and Osman, A. M. (2020). Perceptions of brain training: public expectations of cognitive benefits from popular activities. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 14:15–21. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.0 0015

Oe, H., Takemoto, T., and Ridwan, M. (2020). Is gamification a magic tool? Illusion, remedy, and future opportunities in enhancing learning outcomes during and beyond the COVID-19. *Bud. Int. Res. Crit. Ling. Educ. J.* 3, 1401–1414. doi: 10.33258/birle.v3i3.1198

Ross, A. F., and DiSalvo, M. L. (2020). Negotiating displacement, regaining community: The Harvard Language Center's response to the COVID-19 crisis. *Foreign Lang. Annals* 53, 371-379. doi: 10.1111/flan.12463

Sadeghi, M. (2019). A shift from classroom to distance learning: advantages and limitations. *Int. J. Res. Engl. Educ.* 4, 80–88. doi: \$\imath\$10.29252/ijree.4.1.80

Salakhova, V. B., Masalimova, A. R., Belyakova, N. V., Morozova, N. S., Osipova, N. V., and Prokopyev, A. I. (2021). Competitive Teacher for Higher Education: Risk-Based Models of its Development. *Euras. J. Mathe. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 17, 1–12.

Sefriani, R., Sepriana, R., Wijaya, I., and Radyuli, P. (2021). Blended Learning with Edmodo: The Effectiveness of Statistical Learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Int. J. Evaluat. Res. Educ.* 10, 293–299. doi: 10.11591/ijere.v10i1.20826

Seppala, J., Mitsuishi, T., Ohkawa, Y., Zhao, X., and Nieminen, M. (2020). "Study on UX design in enhancing student motivations in mobile language learning," in 2020 IEEE International Conference on Teaching, Assessment, and Learning for Engineering (TALE), (Netherland: IEEE). 948–951. doi: 10.1109/ TALE48869.2020.9368388

Shaidullina, A. R., Merzon, E. E., Zakirova, V. G., Mokeyeva, E., Karev, B., Burdukovskaya, E. A., et al. (2015). The peculiarities of perspective students selection mechanism by the future employers-enterprise. *Rev. Europ. Stud.* 7, 68–73.

Shaidullina, A. R., Zakirova, V. G., Kashurnikov, S. N., Arestova, E. N., Shmidt, A. N., and Kovaleva, N. I. (2018). Students training for innovative entrepreneurial activity: social responsibility competences. *Espacios* 39, 15–26. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1423-5

Sleiwah, A., Mughal, M., Hachach-Haram, N., and Roblin, P. (2020). COVID-19 lockdown learning: the uprising of virtual teaching. *J. Plastic Reconstruct. Aesthet. Surg.* 73, 1575–1592. doi: 10.1016/j.bjps.2020.05.032

Soltovets, E., Chigisheva, O., Dubover, D., and Dmitrova, A. (2021). Russian digital education landscape during the current pandemic: is the impact felt? *E3S Web Conf.* 273:12026. doi: 10.1051/e3sconf/202127312 026

Stojanoski, B., Wild, C. J., Battista, M. E., Nichols, E. S., and Owen, A. M. (2021). Brain training habits are not associated with generalized benefits to cognition: An online study of over 1000 "brain trainers". J. Exp. Psychol. 150:729. doi: 10.1037/xge0000773

Subedi, D., and Subedi, R. (2020). Practicing Self Learning of ICT for Resilience Amidst the COVID-19 Outbreak: Experiences from Kathmandu Valley. *Res. Educ. Policy Manag.* 2, 78–96. doi: 10.46303/repam.2020.5

Sun, J. C.-Y., and Hsieh, P.-H. (2018). Application of a gamified interactive response system to enhance the intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, student engagement, and attention of English learners. J. Educ. Technol. Soc. 21, 104–116.

Tarman, B. (2020). Editorial: Reflecting in the shade of pandemic. Res. Soc. Sci. Technol. 5, 1–6. doi: 10.46303/ressat.05.02.ed

Tarman, B., Kilinc, E., and Aydin, H. (2019). Barriers to the Effective Use of Technology Integration in Social Studies Education. *Contemp. Issu. Technol. Teach. Educ.* 19, 736–753.

Uzunboylu, H., Prokopyev, A. I., Chizh, N. V., and Sakhieva, R. G. (2022). Determining the Opinions of University Students on the Education They Receive with Technology During the Pandemic Process. *Int. J. Engin. Pedag.* 12, 48–61.

Volkova, P., Luginina, A., Saenko, N., and Samusenkov, V. (2020). Virtual Reality: Pro et Contra. J. Soc. Stud. Educ. Res. 11, 190–203.

Yunyongying, P. (2014). Gamification: implications for curricular design. J. Grad. med. Educ. 6, 410-412. doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-13-00406.1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

REVIEWED BY Ahmet Koç, Hittite University, Turkey Fang Xu, University of Shanghai for Science and Technology, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Sheng-Kai Yin k0631@gcloud.csu.edu.tw

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 07 April 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Yin S-K (2022) A study of the effects of thematic language teaching on the promotion of multimedia design students' listening and speaking skills. *Front. Psychol.* 13:915145. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.915145

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Yin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A study of the effects of thematic language teaching on the promotion of multimedia design students' listening and speaking skills

Sheng-Kai Yin*

Department of Digital Multimedia Design, Cheng Shiu University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

Previously, language teaching has been focused on the passive learning of the alphabet. In addition, the research on teaching listening and speaking skills was limited. Listening skill is the key to learning a language, and speaking is the first explicit behavior of language. In order to improve language skills which are emphasized in new curriculum guidelines, student-centered thematic language teaching is considered as valuable. Through this, the concepts of multiple intelligences and curriculum integration were re-emphasized. An experimental design was adopted in the current study. This study was conducted with the participation of 224 students from the Department of Multimedia Design in universities in the south of Taiwan. The research data were collected between September 2021 and December 2021. The implementation process took 16weeks (a total of 48h) of thematic language teaching. The research results revealed 1. significant positive effects of thematic language teaching on listening, 2. significant positive effects of thematic language teaching on speaking skill, and 3. significant negative effects of thematic language teaching on learning anxiety. According to the results, it is expected that this study can help multimedia design students improve their listening and speaking skills as well as core language skills.

KEYWORDS

thematic language teaching, listening, speaking skill, learning anxiety, traditional teaching model

Introduction

Under the information explosion in the global village with complicated and close connections of worldwide networks, English, as a *lingua franca*, becomes an important skill to enter the global world. Solgi and Tafazoli (2018) suggested that children learn a language in a natural context by first listening to the target language, paying conscious attention to the language, and then trying to express themselves in the target language after a period of contact. Listening skill is the first challenge in the process of language learning. Sälzer and

Roczen (2018) indicated that language learning begins with communication experience. Adults stimulate children's language acquisition device through different sounds, expressions, or movements. The children are constantly encouraged to speak and communicate. In this way, they learn new vocabulary. For this reason, listening and speaking play a crucial role at the beginning of language learning. Lin and Tseng (2020) pointed out that English classes used to focus on textbooks. They also stated that the emphasis on English teaching was more on vocabulary learning, while the training of English listening and speaking skills was not in the spotlight. The teaching content or materials were disconnected from real life, and students received little language stimulation. Therefore, without rich vocabulary and the lack of authentic situations, it became more difficult to use language to communicate. Blazar (2015) suggested listening and speaking skills as the keys to learning good English. To improve the effectiveness of English learning, listening and speaking problems should be overcome. English learning strategies are classified into direct strategies and indirect strategies. According to past scholars' research and classification of language strategies, Oxford (1990) classified language learning strategies into direct and indirect strategies. The former referred to strategies directly related to learning itself and target language, including memory strategies, cognitive strategies, and compensation strategies. The latter referred to strategies to help and manage language learning, containing metacognitive strategies, affective strategies, and social strategies. Listening is the key to learning a language, and speaking is the first explicit behavior of language (Maulana et al., 2020). In order to improve language skills which are emphasized in new curriculum guidelines, student-centered thematic language teaching is considered as valuable. Through this, the concepts of multiple intelligences and curriculum integration were re-emphasized.

Thematic teaching has been hotly debated in education in recent years. This teaching method refers to a student-centered learning model, in which teachers and students discuss a learning topic that corresponds to students' learning experiences or life backgrounds. During these discussions, they combine knowledge and skills from different areas, and explore and discuss the practical application. Teachers provide scaffolding through multiple instructional activity designs and teaching strategies, and they arrange flexible learning hours and learning content to meet the learning needs of students and achieve the best of learning effectiveness (Bezerra Fagundes, 2016). In this process, the interaction between teachers and students is emphasized to provide a comprehensive learning experience. Thematic teaching emphasizes awareness, communication and interaction, and teamwork. By doing so, it aims to achieve "spontaneity, interaction, and common good" (Haryanto et al., 2018). Thematic learning allows students to explore the real world, identify problems, and continue to search for solutions. The openness of students to participate in the curriculum design allows teachers to recognize the shortcomings and promote active learning. It is expected that through interaction with teachers, students' thinking,

communication, collaboration, and interdisciplinary skills will be improved to survive in the ever-changing world (Chen and Chang, 2018). Finland, leading the education trend, proposed Grade 1-9 new curriculum guidelines in 2016, stressing on phenomenon-based learning and allowing students exploring the real world, discovering problems, and further finding out solutions. Meanwhile, students were open to participate in the curriculum design for students knowing the insufficiency, enhancing active learning, as well as cultivating the thinking and communication, collaboration, and interdisciplinary ability through the interaction with teachers in order to face the constantly updated future world (Huang, 2018). Nevertheless, most previous research on thematic teaching discussed the overall planning of instruction and the preparation of activities (Romanova, 2017). In addition, the considerations in thematic teaching design were also at the forefront (Chumdari and Budiyono, 2018; Hennessey et al., 2018). This study can fill in a gap in the literature by providing concrete evidence. In this respect, with the expectation of helping multimedia design, students improve their listening and speaking skills and develop their core language skills.

Literature review and hypothesis

Yeh and Lan (2018) stated that story-based thematic language teaching can improve students' listening comprehension, learning attitude, and language learning outcomes. Story-based thematic language teaching can promote students' interests and teacherstudent interaction, improve students' listening comprehension skills, reduce learning anxiety, and promote listening motivation. Students stated that song-based thematic language teaching enabled them to learn more vocabulary and helped them to memorize vocabulary effectively. Wardani et al. (2020a) mentioned that using video-based thematic language teaching can enhance students' listening comprehension and learning attitude. When using video-based thematic language teaching, the content of the topic and the collaboration with peers should be properly adjusted according to the level of students. The students who were taught in the target language performed better in listening comprehension than the students who were taught with the traditional methods. Therefore, teaching in the target language was accepted and preferred by students. Normand and Burji (2020) pointed out the positive effect of thematic language teaching on learning attitude toward listening and on willingness to actively receive positive feedback. Thematic language teaching can reduce students' learning anxiety, but does not help much with listening. During listening comprehension development, vocabulary input affects learners' information processing in listening comprehension. Teaching in context can motivate learners to practice and promote their comprehension. Learners' interests or life experiences were also taken into consideration when selecting the learning content for listening comprehension in order to promote the development of listening comprehension and positively influence learners'

motivation and interest in listening comprehension. Accordingly, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H1: Phenomenon-based English teaching method presents significant effects on English listening.

H1-0: Phenomenon-based English teaching method shows remarkably negative effects on English listening.

H1-1: Phenomenon-based English teaching method reveal notably positive effects on English listening.

Lan and Liao (2018) considered that thematic language teaching can promote learners' speaking and communication skills, learning attitude, and listening motivation. They added that it enables textbook publishers to design teaching materials that suit better to real-life communication situations. Sari et al. (2019) explained the factors that negatively affect students' speaking acquisition as the focus on reading and writing, and lack of opportunities to use the target language. In the traditional language classrooms, most speaking activities are mechanical drills and lack meaningful communication and interaction. However, the use of thematic language teaching can improve students' speaking skill, and meaningful teaching plays a primary role in the enhancement of students' speaking skill. Ahn et al. (2019) stated that the use of thematic language teaching can promote G4 students' speaking skills. In the task completion process, intensive use of language can enhance pupils' speaking skills. The learning activities in thematic language teaching can improve students' speaking performance, correctness, and emotional expression as well as promote students' learning interests. Therefore, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H2: Phenomenon-based English teaching method appears significant effects on English speaking ability.

H2-0: Phenomenon-based English teaching method presents remarkably negative effects on English speaking ability.

H2-1: Phenomenon-based English teaching method shows notably positive effects on English speaking ability.

Wu (2018) indicated that thematic language teaching can promote learners' speaking and communication skills, learning attitude, and listening motivation. In addition, the publishers are forced to design teaching materials that are in line with the real communication situations and help reduce learners' learning anxiety. Wardani et al. (2020b) stated that a thematic language instruction curriculum includes diverse teaching styles and methods to enrich students' learning experience and improve students' learning outcomes. Game elements can facilitate students' learning in thematic language teaching. Through gaming, students with different learning achievement levels can reach significant effectiveness in thematic language teaching and their learning anxiety can be reduced. Moreno Martínez et al. (2018) mentioned that thematic learning can support cognitive, affective, subject-specific, and interdisciplinary learning, in addition to developing applications for life, and solving problems. Students had positive attitudes toward thematic learning and believed that the learning content is better organized and integrated to support learning. Students felt that the selection of themes was suitable for their level and interests which, in turn, improved their listening motivation and reduced their learning anxiety. As a result, the following hypothesis was proposed in this study.

H3: Phenomenon-based English teaching method reveals significant effects on learning anxiety.

H3-0: Phenomenon-based English teaching method appears remarkably positive effects on learning anxiety.

H3-1: Phenomenon-based English teaching method reveals notably negative effects on learning anxiety.

Methodology

Measurement of research variables

Listening skill

Following Hsu's (2019) viewpoint that the focus of listening evaluation was on students' vocabulary meaning, sentence, and simple dialog comprehension. The listening comprehension was evaluated through the selective listening, completing forms, paraphrasing sentences, delivering picture information, answering questions, role-playing, or gaming.

Speaking skill

Referring to the evaluation of learners' speaking skill as proposed by Chang and Lin (2019), learners' pronunciation was evaluated through imitation and repetition of vocabulary. The recitation of sentences can help the teacher to understand learners' mastery of tone and rhythm as well as their fluency. Short answers and dialog can be used to evaluate learners' context comprehension and completion of effective communication.

Learning anxiety

Following Lin and Tseng (2020), learning anxiety was defined as the negative emotions such as discomfort, nervousness, and

worry in students' language learning process that affect their learning performance. According to the study of Horwitz et al. (1986), learning anxiety is measured as a whole.

Participants of the study

This study was conducted with the participation of 224 students from the Department of Multimedia Design in universities in the south of Taiwan. The implementation process took 16-week (a total of 48 h) of thematic language teaching. An experimental class was conducted through thematic language teaching, and the other class went on with the traditional teaching model for the one-semester experimental research. The retrieved questionnaire data were analyzed with SPSS. Analysis of variance was applied to test the hypotheses.

Instructional design

In the 16-week experimental teaching, the data collection period was between September 2021 and December 2021. The explanation of the process, grouping method, and evaluation standards was done in the first week. The course schedule with thematic language teaching was followed from the second week. Finally, a general revision was conducted in the last week. Traditional teaching model is also preceded the course explanation, grouping method, and evaluation standard. The teaching starts from the second week as scheduled, and the general review is preceded in the last week.

In this study, a 16-week thematic teaching curriculum was implemented. The basic ideas of conceptual thematic teaching with the theory of English listening and speaking skills, student orientation with teacher support, emphasis on students' learning background, and students' interests are considered as the theme. In the research process, two thematic teaching activities were implemented, which are "animals," with the theme of "animals" and "feelings," with the theme of "emotion." Two thematic teaching activities are preceded in the research process, including Animals, with "animal" as the theme, and "Feelings," with "feeling" as the theme. The teaching experiment is preceded for 16 weeks; animals is preceded in the first 8 weeks, and feelings is preceded in the last 8 weeks. Each theme was implemented for 8 weeks, with a total of 24 sessions of instructional activity. Each main theme is accompanied with small topic discussions so that students can apply learning strategies for the acquisition of listening and speaking skills with teacher support.

Both thematic teaching and English learning theory emphasize authentic problems as learning content taking into account students' interests and background knowledge. For this reason, Themes matching students' learning interests and needs are selected for the self-designed materials, with the combination of rhythms and picture book stories with high repetition (How do you feel?). Songs from YouTube and self-made teaching texts were used in the implementation. The different learning styles which included group discussion, report, singing, and dancing were used to teach the two major themes. The "Animals" and "Feelings" themes were applied to improve students' listening and speaking skills. In this study, the traditional teaching model was implemented by the traditional model of teachers who narrate textbooks.

The teaching process includes the following steps. (1) Revealing learning theme: Students are clearly informed the learning theme and course orientation to understand the course content and be attracted the interests as much as possible. The learning theme was determined based on the researcher's investigation and observation in order to align the learning theme with the students' interests. (2) Triggering motivation: Attracting students' attention through pictures, stories, or songs to increase their motivation to learn. Through brainstorming and sharing between teachers and students, various theme-related learning materials were created organized, and classified to determine the sub-topics for discussions. (3) Getting into instructional activity: Multiple methods such as teacher lectures, class discussions, teamwork, hand painting, body movements, and presentation were used so that students can repeatedly practice listening and speaking skills while exploring the theme. (4) Evaluation and feedback: Teachers gave positive feedback on students' presentations and integrated the thematic concept into the classroom.

Quantitative test is utilized for collecting data, which are objectively and justly interpreted and analyzed for the completion.

- Worksheet: According to the demands for the course content, different worksheets are designed to check students' listening and speaking learning conditions. The content combines thematic teaching and English listening and speaking evaluation.
- 2. Paper-and-pencil test and performance evaluation: In order not to have text reading become an obstacle for listening tests, the questions are presented with pictures to confirm pupils' English listening learning performance. In terms of English speaking, the self-designed speaking evaluation questions are tested one-on-one between the teacher and the student. A self-designed speaking sheet for communication and interaction in English is also used for collecting students' learning condition in speaking.

The measurement of listening comprehension and speaking skills in this study was conducted using worksheets, paper-and-pencil tests, and performance evaluation. Assessment refers to the teacher's evaluation of the students, which is coded in statistics into very good (scored 81–100), good (scored 61–80), ordinary (scored 41–60), slightly low (scored 21–40), and extremely low (scored 0–20). These are shown in Likert scale as very good 5, good 4, ordinary 3, slightly low 2, and extremely low 1. Regarding learning anxiety, students filled out the learning anxiety scale after completing the course.

TABLE 1 Difference analysis of thematic language teaching in
listening.

Variable		F	Р	Analysis results
Thematic	Listening	15.341	0.000**	Thematic Language
Language				teaching
teaching				(3.89) > Traditional
				teaching model (3.43)

**p < 0.01.

TABLE 2 Difference analysis of thematic language teaching and speaking skill.

variable		F	Р	Analysis results
Thematic	Speaking	18.556	0.000**	Thematic language
Language	skill			teaching
teaching				(3.77)>traditional
				teaching model (3.26)

***p*<0.01.

The learning anxiety scale in this study contains the following items. (1) I am not confident in speaking English in class. (2) I do not understand others' (teachers or classmates) spoken English because I am nervous. (3) I am worried that I will not speak good English in class. (4) I am worried about giving wrong answers in English class. (5) I am afraid that I cannot understand what the teacher says in English class. (6) I feel shy and uncomfortable to speak English in front of my classmates. (7) I am afraid of speaking to the teacher in English. (8) I am worried about my weak English listening skills in tests. (9) I am worried that I cannot answer the questions in English tests because I read too slow. (10) I am nervous and frustrated because I do not understand the grammar in English tests. (11) I am worried about English tests even though I am well prepared. (12) I worried about questions that I cannot answer in English tests. (13) I am stressed in English tests because of the grammar rules. (14) I feel anxious when the English teacher corrects my English at any time. (15) I worried about failing English. (16) I am worried that people will laugh at my spoken English in English class. (17) I am ashamed of not speaking English fluently in class. (18) I am worried about being scolded by the teacher for my mistakes in practicing sentence patterns on stage. (19) I am worried about being scolded for poor performance on English tests.

Data analysis method

Analysis of *t*-test was used to discuss the difference of thematic language teaching in listening and speaking skills and learning anxiety. Skaik (2015) explained that independent sample *t*-test was applicable when independent variables were two-way discrete variance and dependent variables were continuous variables. SPSS with *t*-test is therefore applied in this study to discuss the effect of phenomenon-based English teaching method on English listening, English speaking ability, and learning anxiety.

Results

Difference analysis of thematic language teaching and listening

According to the analysis of t-test, the effect of thematic language teaching on listening was discussed, i.e., analysis and explanation of teaching style. Thematic language teaching shows higher listening achievement than the traditional teaching model (Table 1). Therefore, it can be claimed that H1 was supported.

Difference analysis of thematic language teaching and speaking skill

The effect of thematic language teaching on speaking skill is discussed according to the analysis of *t*-test, i.e., analysis and explanation of teaching style. Table 2 shows that thematic language teaching (3.77) results in higher speaking skill achievement than the traditional teaching model (3.26). Accordingly, H2 was supported.

Difference analysis of thematic language teaching and learning anxiety

The effect of thematic language teaching on learning anxiety was analyzed with an analysis of *t*-test. Table 3 shows lower learning anxiety after thematic language teaching (3.35) than before thematic language teaching (3.81). Therefore, H3 was supported.

Discussion

In thematic language teaching, multimedia design students can explore different sub-topics under the theme (Shuqair and Dashti, 2019). Considering this, sub-topics in which students have an interest can be collected through worksheets or questionnaires, before designing curriculum. The curriculum planning, collaborative lesson preparation, and brainstorming with peers allow to include different learning activities such as group discussions, real-life operations, and challenging tasks, so that the target language can constantly be experienced in different authentic situations. Besides, collaborative development of assessment rules allows in-class learning activities to be a part of multiple assessments. In the practice of the thematic curriculum, teachers need to adjust and support teaching according to students' learning situations to increase students' exposure to language and improve their language proficiency (Lambić et al., 2021). Activities such as participation in activities at school such as reader's theater, weekly sentence formation, songs, and word recitation can be considered as examples. Practicing through activities can increase learning

TABLE 3 Difference analysis of thematic language teaching and learning anxiety.

	F	P	Analysis results
Learning	28.441	0.000**	Traditional teaching
anxiety			model
			(3.81) > Thematic
			language teaching
			(3.35)
	0	Learning 28.441	Learning 28.441 0.000**

***p*<0.01.

opportunities and reduce language anxiety. Since thematic language teaching is an interdisciplinary teaching activity, teachers often need to collect data and look for teaching strategies to solve problems in the classroom (Cheung and Wang, 2019). In addition to reviewing teaching theories and looking for appropriate teaching strategies, they need to expand their knowledge and competencies in other fields to facilitate the teaching process. In this way, teachers can seek collaboration with colleagues to form a teacher community for communication, collaboration, and brainstorming (Strouse et al., 2018). The teachers collaboratively develop thematic curricula for thematic language teaching practice, as well as apply the curricula in other fields to maximize interest in the curriculum.

Conclusion

The research findings revealed that multimedia design students showed development after the thematic language teaching in terms of speaking skill. Sari et al. (2019) mentioned that the use of thematic teaching can improve students' speaking skill. They added that meaningful teaching activities played an important role in promoting students' speaking skill. The use of thematic teaching can improve students' oral performance, in the task completion process, and the intensive use of English can promote pupils' speaking skills (Ahn et al., 2019). Thematic language teaching includes stories, songs, and sub-topic exploration. The learning activities include dynamic and static learning, such as group discussion, mood cards, dance, category posters, and role-play, to meet the demands of multimedia design students with different learning styles. Multimedia design students learn speaking in the target language through modeling. Their models are the teachers, characters in the videos, or their peers. Various learning activities provide natural, rich, and diverse authentic vocabulary learning situations for multimedia design students' constant use of language. By so doing, they move from the mechanical speaking practice of repeating after their teachers and language learning then becomes meaningful for daily life. With thematic language teaching, multimedia design students make progress in learning listening skill. Wardani et al. (2020a) found that thematic teaching can promote students' listening comprehension and learning attitude. Students who were trained through English as a medium of instruction (EMI) presented better English listening comprehension than those who

were trained in L1. Thematic teaching revealed a positive effect on listening comprehension attitude and willingness to give positive feedback (Normand and Burji, 2020). The research results, in this study, are similar to what Wardani et al. (2020b) found in their study. They stated that thematic teaching can promote the effectiveness of the course. Employing a variety of teaching styles and methods can enrich students' learning experience. Students with distinctive learning achievement levels can be promoted remarkably through effective learning in thematic teaching which includes game elements. Immersion in context can facilitate learners' practice and comprehension of the target language vocabulary. The selection of learning content for the listening skill is mainly based on students' interests or life experiences. In this way, their listening comprehension skill was improved as well as their learning motivation and interests were positively affected. These, in turn, greatly reduced the learning anxiety (Normand and Burji, 2020). In thematic language teaching, teachers select stories that use sentences with high repetition, body movements, and role-play, to help multimedia design students' listening comprehension. Designing listening tasks with clear steps, such as taking pictures while listening to vocabulary and drawing emotional expressions while listening to sentences, can improve multimedia design students' listening comprehension. It is difficult to target multimedia design students' listening comprehension because learners' spoken and non-spoken responses provide important information for teachers' evaluation of multimedia design students' comprehension.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Cheng Shiu University. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants for their participation in this study.

Author contributions

S-KY performed the data collection and data analysis and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Ahn, S. J., Johnsen, K., and Ball, C. (2019). Points-based reward Systems in Gamification Impact Children's physical activity strategies and psychological needs. *Health Educ. Behav.* 46, 417–425. doi: 10.1177/1090198118818241

Bezerra Fagundes, T. (2016). Concepts of the teacher as researcher and reflective teacher: perspectives about teachers' work. *Rev. Bras. Educ.* 21, 281–298. doi: 10.1590/S1413-24782016216516

Blazar, D. (2015). Effective teaching in elementary mathematics: identifying classroom practices that support student achievement. *Econ. Educ. Rev.* 48, 16–29. doi: 10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.05.005

Chang, C., and Lin, H. C. K. (2019). Classroom interaction and learning anxiety in the IRs-integrated flipped language classrooms. *Asia Pac. Educ. Rev.* 28, 193–201. doi: 10.1007/s40299-018-0426-x

Chen, Y., and Chang, C. C. (2018). The impact of an integrated robotics STEM course with a sailboat topic on high school students' perceptions of integrative STEM, interest, and career orientation. *Eurasia J. Math. Sci. Technol. Educ.* 14:1614. doi: 10.29333/ejmste/94314

Cheung, S. K. S., and Wang, F. L. (2019). Blended learning in practice: guest editorial. J. Comput. High. Educ. 31, 229–232. doi: 10.1007/s12528-019-09229-8

Chumdari, S. A., and Budiyono, N. S. (2018). Implementation of thematic instructional model in elementary school. *Int. J. Educ. Res. Rev.* 3, 23–31. doi: 10.24331/ijere.413964

Haryanto, A., Sukardi, W., and Nashruddin, N. (2018). Politeness principle and its implication in EFL classroom in Indonesia. *XLinguae* 11, 99–112. doi: 10.18355/XL.2018.11.04.09

Hennessey, B., Hooper, L. E., and Leavitt, C. L. (2018). Realisms and idealisms in Italian culture, 1300-2017. Italianist 37, 281–288. doi: 10.1080/02614340.2017.1409308

Hsu, T. C. (2019). Using a concept mapping strategy to improve the motivation of EFL students in Google hangouts peer-tutoring sessions with native speakers. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* 27, 272–285. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2018.1463268

Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B., and Cope, J. (1986). Foreign language classroom anxiety. *Mod. Lang. J.* 70, 125–132. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4781.1986.tb05256.x

Huang, S. (2018). Authentic texts as reading materials in a Chinese as a foreign language classroom: learners' perceptions and pedagogical implications. J Natl Counc Less Common Taught Lang 23, 1–40.

Lambić, D., Đorić, B., and Ivakić, S. (2021). Investigating the effect of the use of code. Org on younger elementary school students' attitudes towards programming. *Behav. Inf. Technol.* 40, 1784–1795. doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2020.1781931

Lan, Y. J., and Liao, C. Y. (2018). The effects of 3D immersion on CSL students' listening comprehension. *Innov. Lang. Learn. Teach.* 12, 35–46. doi: 10.1080/17501229.2018.1418242

Lin, Y. H., and Tseng, Y. C. (2020). Learning English in tourism and hospitality internships overseas: reflections from six Taiwanese college students. Int J Eng. *Linguistics* 10:1. doi: 10.5539/ijel.v10n5p1

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Maulana, A., Musthafa, I., and Hayati, T. N. (2020). The efficiency of teaching listening and speaking skills to develop Students' communicative competences. *Univ. J. Educ. Res.* 8, 802–808. doi: 10.13189/ujer.2020.080310

Moreno Martínez, N. M., López Meneses, E., and Leiva Olivencia, J. J. (2018). El uso de las tecnologías emergentes como recursos didácticos en ámbitos educativos. *Int. Stud. Law Educ.* 29, 131–146.

Normand, M. P., and Burji, C. (2020). Using the step it UP! Game to increase physical activity during physical-education classes. *J. Appl. Behav. Anal.* 53, 1071–1079. doi: 10.1002/jaba.624

Oxford, R. (1990). Language learning strategies: What every teacher should know. New York: Newbury House Publishers.

Romanova, A. (2017). Listening comprehension: facilitating strategies. *Euromentor J.* 8, 65–75.

Sälzer, C., and Roczen, N. (2018). Assessing global competence in PISA 2018: challenges and approaches to capturing a complex construct. *Int. J. Dev. Educ. Global Learn.* 10, 5–20. doi: 10.18546/IJDEGL.10.1.02

Sari, F. K., Rakimahwati, R., and Fitria, Y. (2019). Development of 2013 curriculum integrated thematic teaching materials with a scientific approach in class 1 elementary school. *Int. J. Educ. Dyn.* 1, 125–131. doi: 10.24036/ijeds. v1i2.128

Shuqair, K., and Dashti, A. (2019). Teachers' perceptions of the use and effectiveness of Children's literature in the EFL classrooms of the primary schools of Kuwait. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 12, 87–97. doi: 10.5539/elt.v12n7p87

Skaik, Y. (2015). The bread and butter of statistical analysis "t-test": uses and misuses. Park. J. Med. Sci. 31, 1558–1559. doi: 10.12669/pjms.316.8984

Solgi, F., and Tafazoli, D. (2018). The necessity of teaching culture in English as a foreign language course: Iranian perspective. *J. Lang. Linguist. Stud.* 14, 1–11.

Strouse, G. A., Nyhout, A., and Ganea, P. A. (2018). The role of book features in young children's transfer of information from picture books to real-world contexts. *Front. Psychol.* 9:50. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00050

Wardani, N. F. K., Sunardi, and Suharno. (2020a). Thematic learning in elementary school: problems and possibilities. *Adv. Soc. Sci. Educ. Humanit. Res.* 397, 791–800. doi: 10.2991/assehr.k.200129.099

Wardani, N. F. K., Sunardi, and Suharno. (2020b). Context-based thematic teaching materials to improve elementary students' learning achievements. J. Pendidik. IPA Indones. 9, 193–202. doi: 10.23887/jpi-undiksha. v9i2.22822

Wu, T. T. (2018). Improving the effectiveness of English vocabulary review by integrating ARCS with mobile game-based learning. *J. Comput. Assist. Learn.* 34, 315–323. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12244

Yeh, Y. L., and Lan, Y. J. (2018). Fostering student autonomy in English learning through creations in a 3D virtual world. *Educ. Technol. Res. Dev.* 66, 693–708. doi: 10.1007/s11423-017-9566-6

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefka, Turkey

REVIEWED BY

Ayman Köle, Final International University, Cyprus Ayesha Bakhtawar, National University of Modern Languages, Pakistan Serdar Sükan, Cyprus International University, Cyprus

*CORRESPONDENCE Hasan Bekirogulları hasan.bekirogulları@kyrenia.edu.tr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 15 June 2022 ACCEPTED 29 September 2022 PUBLISHED 21 October 2022

CITATION

Bekirogulları H, Burgul N and Yagcı E (2022) Promoting language development in physically disabled adults through sports: The content and language integrated learning method. *Front. Psychol.* 13:969877. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.969877

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Bekirogulları, Burgul and Yagcı. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Promoting language development in physically disabled adults through sports: The content and language integrated learning method

Hasan Bekirogulları*, Nazım Burgul and Emete Yagcı

Department of Physical Education, Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus

This study reports on the outcomes of a qualitative study which explores the perceptions of ten wheelchair basketball players of the implementation of a content and language integrated learning (CLIL) program. The participants were all members of the official wheelchair basketball team of the Sports Federation for the Disabled in North Cyprus. They were all young adults (18–35 years old) and their level of English language proficiency ranged from elementary to beginner. After a 4-month CLIL intervention period, the data were elicited through individual interviews from the participants. A qualitative analysis of the textual data revealed the themes such as improved self-image, high motivation, developed social skills, and better speaking skills in the target language. The results have a few practical implications for English such as foreign language teachers, sports coaches, and local disability committees.

KEYWORDS

psychology of education, motivation, language learning, affective factors, content and language integrated learning (CLIL)

Introduction

There has been a growing trend in education to teach subjects other than languages by adopting a foreign language as the medium of instruction. Content and language integrated learning (CLIL) has been popular lately and is viewed as an innovative method of teaching languages (Le and Nguyen, 2022). CLIL practices aim not only to improve language skills but also to enhance academic cognitive processes and intercultural understanding (Gabillon and Ailincai, 2013). CLIL programs encompass the integration of a subject with foreign language teaching, mainly English, which entails the cooperation between language teachers and content teachers. CLIL is welcomed worldwide as a popular approach that promotes foreign language learning. Indeed, according to Dalton-Puffer (2007), foreign language learning occurs naturally in the CLIL classroom. During CLIL methodologies, the focus is on meaning rather than form; hence, students are provided with a purpose to use the foreign language (Alexiou, 2015). Students learn a particular subject by being exposed to a foreign language through CLIL programs. The main goal of the integration of CLIL programs is to teach subject area knowledge while improving students' foreign languages.

Content and language integrated learning makes way for incidental and unplanned language learning in a natural way (Coyle et al., 2010, p. 18). CLIL has the potential to transform the dynamics of learning, making it more motivational and constructivist due to the use of real language (Pérez-Cañado, 2011). There are clashing views on the influence of CLIL on sports. While some argue that students' intrinsic motivation has a positive effect on English learning (Coral, 2010), some studies indicate that learning a foreign language could be stressful and causes anxiety (Figueras et al., 2011).

Sport has the power to unite people regardless of gender, color, and race. Sport, more than any other discipline, is a vehicle for inclusion even for the disabled individuals. The CLIL classroom also has a potential for inclusion, leveling up, and reducing inequality. In this respect, it is imperative to design studies exploring the effectiveness of teaching sports with the adoption of a foreign language via CLIL programs. CLIL programs focus on four competencies, namely, content, cognition, communication, and culture. The major aim of CLIL programs is to develop communicative and cognitive skills in the target language while building knowledge of the subject. Although CLIL is widely used in Europe when teaching arts, biology, chemistry, and social sciences, studies on the adoption of a CLIL approach in physical education and sports classes are not frequently cited. Overall, less CLIL research has been conducted on sports for the disabled individuals. To address this void in the literature, this study is designed with the aim of exploring the physically disabled individuals' perspectives regarding the effects of CLIL on their morale, motivation, wellbeing, and linguistic development.

Research questions

To fulfill the research aim, the following questions were posed:

- 1. In what ways does CLIL intervention affect wheelchair basketball players?
- 2. To what extent does CLIL intervention benefit wheelchair basketball players in terms of linguistic gains?

Review of literature

Language and content development is the main focus of CLIL. Students are exposed to a foreign language, while they are dealing with a variety of topics in CLIL classes. In addition, since they are exposed to two languages (one being their mother tongue and the other being a foreign or a second language), at the same time, their thinking skills in these languages develop as well. CLIL classes also enhance linguistic competence (Lasagabaster, 2008; Harrop, 2012) as students engage in meaningful interaction (Dale and Tanner, 2012). Sakellariou and Papadopoulos (2020) acknowledged the benefits of CLIL regarding language and cognitive development. Using the total physical response methods in physical education lessons, CLIL has the potential to improve students' English language comprehension (Asher, 2003). A great number of vocabulary input foster vocabulary development and knowledge during CLIL instruction (Alexiou and Stathopoulou, 2021). This, in turn, adds to the development of speaking skills (Lasagabaster, 2008).

Research conducted with tertiary students studying at the Faculty of Sports is highly satisfied with the CLIL approach in Barcelona (Figueras et al., 2011). According to Dalton-Puffer (2007), in CLIL classrooms, unlike language classrooms, students use the target language naturally, just like they use their mother tongue naturally in everyday life. Similarly, Christopher et al. (2012) delved into teaching English through sports to higher education students to find that the participants gained confidence in terms of speaking English. The reason for increased speaking skills may be the real-life situations that sports provide and the fact that both language time exposure and oral interaction are increased in such learning environments (Mateu, 2013). When using a variety of vocabulary and grammatical structures, the coach naturally provides necessary linguistic input for the participants. Research indicates favorable results toward CLIL learners (Dalton-Puffer, 2007; Lasagabaster, 2008). More specifically, these studies indicate that CLIL learners acquire the knowledge of the subject as successfully as those who study in their mother tongue. Furthermore, Lasagabaster's (2011) study found that CLIL learners even outperform students in controlled groups regarding the development of language and cognitive skills.

The main idea behind the use of CLIL is to prepare the participants for a better role in society. Learning a foreign language helps learners to understand the multicultural world, gain self-confidence, and develop linguistic achievement and self-expression. Owing to all these good qualities and life skills that CLIL provides, it has the potential to improve the lives of the disabled individuals in terms of socialization and motivation. Christopher et al. (2012) explored teaching English through sports to higher education students to find that the participants have gained confidence in terms of speaking English.

The interaction between the coach and the players develops social skills. CLIL programs can also contribute to forming

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.969877

strong coach–athlete relationships. Forming effective coachathlete relationships benefits the team by building motivation and morale. Research shows that since students are engaged in cooperative learning during CLIL, they can develop their communicative competence, social and linguistic skills, as well as interdependence (Martínez, 2011). Another advantage of CLIL is that participants develop a strong sense of achievement as they see their own progress in the target language (Dale and Tanner, 2012).

Harrop's (2012) study indicated that CLIL programs foster motivation as well as greater intercultural awareness. CLIL instruction makes way for intercultural awareness (Lasagabaster, 2008). Diab et al. (2018) argued that learning a language is inseparable from learning the culture and that the culture awareness development is facilitated by the CLIL method. Intercultural understanding, personal development, cooperation, teamwork, and social interaction are inherent in the culture. As argued by Mateu (2013), sport provides a motor content, and developing such a motor content in the CLIL classroom through a foreign language contributes to international understanding since the foreign language sets the context of the content in a different culture. According to Harrop (2012), even learning a foreign language is part of the intercultural learning process and this intercultural awareness has the potential to change students' outlook.

Methods

This study focused on wheelchair basketball players' perceptions regarding CLIL instruction. Considering the aim of the study to explore the physically disabled young adults' perspectives regarding the effects of CLIL on their morale, motivation, wellbeing, and linguistic development, a qualitative research method was chosen. As argued by Halcomb and Davidson (2006), qualitative research methods focus on the exploration of perceptions, meanings, beliefs, experiences, and feelings.

Subjects

The sample was composed of 10 physically disabled wheelchair basketball players. They were all young adults (18– 35 years old). Their level of English language proficiency ranged from elementary to beginner. All of them were male.

Context

The Sports Federation for the Disabled in north Cyprus was established in 1996 with the mission of introducing sports to all disabled citizens of north Cyprus and to equip them with a new outlook on life. There is only one official wheelchair basketball club that is a member of the federation. There is also another club but it is not a member of the federation. Only the official club's players took part in this study. The official wheelchair basketball club competes with those in Turkey and once they participated in a tournament in Italy as a Turkish team.

Following an ethical approval granted by a higher education institution in north Cyprus, the authorities of the Sports Federation for the Disabled in north Cyprus were contacted and a meeting was arranged with the players and the coach. During the meeting, the aim of the study was clarified and they were briefed about the nature of the intervention. What they needed to do during the training sessions was explained in detail. More specifically, they were told that they would keep going with their usual training sessions with their coach and that the only difference would be that they would be accompanied by an English-speaking assistant coach. It was explained to them that there was no expected harm from the study but they could benefit by learning or practicing English so that they would be able to understand basketball terminology during the tournaments in Europe. In fact, sports teams in north Cyprus cannot participate in European cups due to the embargo, but, especially, teams such as the disabled basketball team can compete if they were a Turkish team. They were also informed that participation was on a voluntary basis and that if they consented, they would be interviewed at the end of a 4month period.

Procedure

This study partially applies Mateu's (2013) model. Learning outcomes were identified as "what students should know," "be able to do," and "be aware of at the end of the unit" (Mateu, 2013). More specifically, they should know the basic commands like run, catch, and throw, "be able to do" refers to understanding commands, and "be aware of at the end of the unit" refers to the awareness of communicating in English. The participants were expected to acquire basketball terminology, such as violation, turnover, traveling, time out, three-point line, technical foul, substitute, slam dunk, shot clock, shoot, set shot, referees, rebound position, personal foul, overtime, overhead pass, no-look pass, MVP, lay-up, jump shot, hoop, guarding, game clock, free-throw, foul, exceed, drive, dribble, draft, double-dribbling, chest pass, bounce pass, bounce, block, basket, backboard, and assist. The language structures were identified as Bounce the ball, we won, throw a chest pass, run forward, don't exceed the time limit, Do you have any fouls?, I have two fouls, we lost possession of the ball, the coach gets a technical foul, don't violate the rules, let's play, and it's my mistake. Language functions were giving commands, asking and answering questions, giving opinions, and explaining. As Coyle et al. (2010) argued, "Developing a repertoire of speech acts which relate to the content, such as describing, evaluating, and drawing conclusions, is essential for tasks to be carried out effectively."

The training sessions were designed to pay attention to content, communication, cognition, and culture developed by Coyle et al. (2010). In this respect, developing content knowledge, and language skills as well as communication within the content were paid special attention. During the introductory phase, the coach defined the content to be taught to the participants in Turkish and then using Total Physical Response (TPR), the assistant coach first modeled the move while naming the move in English and then asked them to do so while repeating it after him. Thus, team members construct their knowledge by active participation. The whole procedure lasted for 4 months, and the training sessions were held three times a week.

Data collection

To evaluate the effectiveness of the CLIL experience, semistructured interviews were conducted with each participant. Creswell (2012) noted that semi-structured interviews permit the participants to describe the details for personal information, and the interviewer has good control over the information received. Open-ended questions, such as "How would you describe this experience?, How did you benefit from this experience?, What challenges have you experienced?," were asked. The interviews took around 45 min and were recorded, transcribed, and translated into English. For ethical issues, all participants took place in the study with pseudonyms.

Data analysis

Once the interview data were transcribed, a preliminary content analysis was conducted following the Halcomb and Davidson's (2006) model. A series of categories and subcategories were identified. The data were coded separately by each researcher and then standardization sessions were conducted following a detailed discussion until an agreement concerning the subcategories was reached. Then, the themes were elicited.

Findings

The analysis of the data revealed four themes, namely, improved self-image, high motivation, developed social skills, and better speaking skills. The findings were revealed to be discussed by theme:

Improved self-image

Overall, all participants reported positive perceptions of the CLIL experience in terms of self-image. Ali stated,

I never thought it would be possible for me to be a basketball player or to play in Turkey or abroad. I was tired of everything and I did not have anything to do. I lost my purpose in life and every day was the same. I didn't even want to get up when I woke up. this was what life was like before I started playing basketball. It was really hard first and then with the help of the coach we got better and better each day and now I am also learning English through Basketball. It is something different... the assistant coach was really fun so he helped us a lot. I told him several times that I can't talk ... he said easy easy. Although I learnt little English at school I couldn't speak or understand any word other than yes and no but in time I learnt at least some words. To manage something is really good, especially for the likes of me. One feels valuable.

Similarly, Osman acknowledged a better self-image,

I think I'm getting better and better every day at basketball. At first it was awful for me because I have never played any sports when I was a child. Being a basketball player was like a dream to me even now I can't believe that I turned into a basketball player. Although I am still trying hard I know that if I work hard I can manage something. Learning English was fun and I enjoyed it with the assistant coach. He is a nice person. I did not speak English after I left school and I thought I forgot. I will study English more because I will need it abroad. Having a purpose made me a better person. My parents objected my playing basketball first but now they encourage me to attend the trainings and they come to watch my games. My boring life changed.

Arin responded,

I feel so good about this experience... obviously it's added to my life ...it's added to me because playing basketball gives me the feeling of achieving something in life because I was like nobody. I am a basketball player now. I didn't achieve anything and I have never been successful in my life in anything but to be able to play basketball to learn English makes me feel like other normal people. Seeing that I can play basketball and I can speak English makes me believe that I can do the things that I'd like to do in life so this gives me the feeling that anything is possible also for me. I feel stronger. Kemal also expressed improved self-esteem,

I really liked speaking English after a very long time. Learning English brings something else to our training sessions, a good change. We also enjoyed ourselves and I did not feel shy because the assistant coach helped us a lot. He is a very nice guy, he never got tired and he repeated each word several times until we got it. I like English and especially learning English words for basketball was very useful for me. That I can play basketball and learning English changed my mood and I started to believe in myself.

High motivation

The second theme that emerged was high motivation. All participants stated that the CLIL experience was very useful and enjoyable. Burak replied,

I enjoyed myself during the training with the assistant coach. He made learning English fun. A different experience from the English class at school, we never got bored.

Sinan commented,

I couldn't wait for the next training session. We all had fun, we laughed a lot at the same time we learnt a lot of words, English words, while playing basketball.

Ali added,

I wish we had such fun English classes at school because if we had learnt English that way I would have been much better at English now. You know at school everything is very serious, you have exams. Now we learn English without any exams and we learn it in a relaxed platform. That is good because you learn it without memorizing, just naturally. That is enticing.

Mert said,

I think it's a very interesting idea to use English when teaching basketball because it makes it more enjoyable and fun and interesting. I was looking forward to my next training session. I must also give credit to the assistant coach who is a very nice person.

Developed social skills

Wheelchair basketball players benefit from basketball instruction since basketball like any other competitive sport is a valuable team sport, which makes way for collaboration and group work activities. Collaboration and cooperation increase the coach-player and player-player interactions. Most participants mentioned the importance of socialization during the interviews. Saner reported,

We are all friends with my team mates. We are like a family now. Our parents made friends too because they all come to watch us during the games. They all met so we are a very big family now. I always feel their support.

Sean stated,

Sometimes they invite us as a team for certain organizations. We meet new people and make friends. We also receive invitations from Turkey. We met other wheelchair basketball players in Turkey.

Ahmet told,

People come to watch the games and meet us afterward, which makes me proud.

As reported by Kemal,

My life is better now because I can meet my friends during the day. I attend my training sessions and I learn English so I have things to do, which are very meaningful to me.

Mert commented,

When you do not have anything to do, every day is the same. For people with disabilities there is not much to do in here. Basketball gave my life back to me. I do not want to sit at home anymore. I can mix with them.

Better speaking skills

The wheelchair basketball players had positive perceptions of CLIL, and they highlighted that their English language development was enhanced. Most of them reported that such training sessions developed English and gave them the opportunity to practice English during training sessions. Osman stated,

I was not really good at English at school so at first I was not sure about myself. The assistant coach was very patient with me but 1 or 2 weeks later I've got used to it. Besides he uses some words very frequently like good man nice shot. I just learnt basic words naturally.

Burak told,

These 4 months were really useful for me to develop my English. We learnt simple English, every day English, and

spoken English only. You do not need to know perfect English to communicate with people. Even in Turkish we use a limited number of words.

Discussion

One of the major results of this study was that the CLIL experience resulted in improvements in the wheelchair basketball players' feelings about themselves, noticing that they could also achieve something when given an opportunity made them proud. Despite the fact that some of them believed they could never learn English, they could at least understand and perform the given commands after 4 months of exposure to English, which made them hopeful about themselves. This finding went in line with that of Dale and Tanner (2012) that CLIL learners developed a strong sense of achievement when they saw their own progress in the target language.

Another result of the study was that all participants were highly motivated. Motivation plays a great role in the learning process (Subramaniam and Silverman, 2007). The wheelchair basketball players stated during the interviews that motivation was high during their CLIL experience. They acknowledged the role of learning English and the assistant coach in their motivation. This finding went in line with that of Perlman (2015) that different forms of teacher instruction had a substantial influence on students' motivational responses. This finding corroborated that of other studies (Figueras et al., 2011; Harrop, 2012; Zindler, 2013) that introducing a foreign\second language could have a positive influence on increasing motivation.

Furthermore, the results indicated that through the cooperative and collaborative nature of basketball, social interaction was fostered. This finding went in line with previous studies (Coral and Lleixà, 2016) that emphasized the important role of the language. Through cooperative and collaborative group work, the participants had to engage in meaningful interaction with their peers, which increased language use as well as social participation. The finding that CLIL developed social skills corroborated that of Martínez (2011) that cooperative learning inherent in CLIL made way for the development of social skills.

Finally, it was found that CLIL benefited the participants in terms of linguistic gains. That the participants reported developed linguistic skills could be acknowledged by the fact that CLIL provided real-life environments, making way for language development. This finding supported Massler (2012) that CLIL learners could use the skills to learn a foreign language in real-life situations. Besides, all the participants liked the assistant coach because he provided an enjoyable learning environment for them. They were free to make mistakes and this relaxed and informal environment could have fostered more interaction in the target language. This finding supported Harrop (2012), Lasagabaster (2008), Dale and Tanner (2012), and Sakellariou and Papadopoulos (2020) that CLIL fostered linguistic development. It was also found that the participants were more confident in terms of speaking English. This finding corroborated that of Christopher et al. (2012) that CLIL contributed to confidence regarding speaking in the target language. Hawamdeh and Soykan (2021) also underlined that international students of the English language need an inclusive learning environment to study a foreign language. CLIL can enable this kind of an environment, and as Fazio and Isidori (2021) noted recently, technological tools provide effective aid and allow to devote more time to language learning. According to them, in accordance with the findings of our study, CLIL classes and language learning objectives are believed to be blended with PE-specific vocabulary and objectives to communicate subject knowledge (Fazio and Isidori, 2021).

Limitations

One of the limitations of this study is that the literature on the topic of this study indicates less research. Although there are a number of CLIL studies in primary and secondary school physical education classes, there is a lack of CLIL studies in amateur or professional sports teams. In addition, there is a scarcity of CLIL studies conducted with disabled individuals. Due to this scarcity, the discussion of the findings is carried out by referring to those conducted in physical education classes. Another limitation is that this study is designed as a small-scale study. For this reason, the sample size is not large enough to make generalizations. Other limitation is that due to the descriptive nature of the study, this study does not attempt to assess the linguistic development of the participants as it is beyond the scope. Further research can employ a pretest-post-tense measurement of linguistic development in the target language.

Conclusion

Disabled individuals experience more difficulties than healthy people in their lives. This study evaluated the effects of the CLIL program on motivation, morale, and wellbeing by integrating English instruction into the training of wheelchair basketball players. The results indicated that CLIL benefited the disabled individuals in terms of self-image, motivation, social skills, and speaking skills in the target language. CLIL has been frequently used worldwide as an effective method of teaching languages by incorporating foreign languages into a number of contents. As students are required to learn both subject area knowledge and foreign languages simultaneously, CLIL makes way for a more natural way to learn a foreign language. The application of CLIL to contents like physical education and sports is scarce, which calls for a need for further research.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/supplementary material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee Board of Near East University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

Alexiou, T. (2015). "Vocabulary uptake from Peppa pig: A case study of preschool EFL learners in Greece," in *Current issues in second/foreign language teaching and teacher development: Research and practice*, eds C. Gitsaki and T. Alexiou (Newcastle upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars Publishing), 285–301.

Alexiou, T., and Stathopoulou, M. (2021). The pre-A1 level in the companion volume of the common european framework of reference for languages. *Res. Pap. Lang. Teach. Learn.* 11, 11–29.

Asher, J. (2003). *Learning another language through actions*, 6th Edn. Los Gatos CA: Sky Oaks Productions Inc.

Christopher, A. A., Dzakiria, H., and Mohamed, A. H. (2012). *Teaching English through sports: A case study. Asian EFL Journal*. Available online at: http://asian-efl-journal.com/wp-content/uploads/mgm/downloads/64042800. pdf (accessed June 2, 2022).

Coral, J. (2010). L'aprenentatge de l'anglès a través de l'educació física: El programa'Mou-te iaprèn'. *Temps d₂Educ.* 39, 149–170.

Coral, J., and Lleixà, T. (2016). Physical education in content and language integrated learning: Successful interaction between physical education and English as a foreign language. *Int. J. Biling. Educ. Biling.* 19, 108–126. doi: 10.1080/13670050.2014.977766

Coyle, D., Hood, P., and Marsh, D. (2010). CLIL: Content and language integrated learning. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/9781009024549

Creswell, J. W. (2012). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. London: Sage.

Dale, L., and Tanner, R. (2012). CLIL activities. A resource for subject and language teachers. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Dalton-Puffer, C. (2007). Discourse in content and language integrated learning (CLIL) classroom. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company. doi: 10. 1075/Illt.20

Diab, A. A. M., Abdel-Haq, E. M., and Aly, M. A. S. (2018). The effectiveness of using content and language integrated learning (CLIL) approach to enhance EFL student teachers' cultural awareness. Available online at: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED582276 (accessed June 2, 2022).

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Fazio, A., and Isidori, E. (2021). Technology-enhanced learning and CLIL For physical education. *Elearn. Softw. Educ.* 3, 26–33.

Figueras, S., Flores, C., and González- Davies, M. G. (2011). Educació Física en anglès: Percepcions delsestudiants entorn d'una experiència metodològica en el marc universitari. *Aloma* 29, 61–80.

Gabillon, Z., and Ailincai, R. (2013). CLIL: A Science lesson with breakthrough level young EFL learners. *Education* 3, 168–177. doi: 10.5923/j.edu.20130303.05

Halcomb, E. J., and Davidson, P. M. (2006). Is verbatim transcription of interview data always necessary? *Appl. Nurs. Res.* 19, 38–42. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr. 2005.06.001

Harrop, E. (2012). Content and language integrated learning (CLIL): Limitations and possibilities. *Encuentro* 21, 57–70.

Hawamdeh, M., and Soykan, E. (2021). Systematic Analysis of Effectiveness of Using Mobile Technologies (MT) in Teaching and Learning Foreign Language. Online J. Commun. Media Technol. 11:e202124. doi: 10.30935/ojcmt/ 11256

Lasagabaster, D. (2008). Foreign Language Competence in Content and Language Integrated Courses $\sim\!\!12008-03-28\!\sim\!\!12008-05-27\!\sim\!\!12008-06-11\!\sim\!!$. Open Appl. Linguist. J. 1, 30–41. doi: 10.2174/1874913500801010030

Lasagabaster, D. (2011). English achievement and student motivation in CLIL and EFL settings. *Innovat. Lang. Learn. Teach.* 5, 3–18. doi: 10.1080/17501229. 2010.519030

Le, N. P., and Nguyen, P. (2022). Content and language integrated learning (CLIL) method and how it is changing the foreign language learning landscape. *Open Access Libr. J.* 9:e8381. doi: 10.4236/oalib.1108381

Martínez, P. M. R. (2011). CLIL and cooperative learning. *Encuentro* 20, 109-118.

Massler, U. (2012). Primary CLIL and its stakeholders: What children, parents and teachers think of the potential merits and pitfalls of CLIL modules in primary teaching. *Int. CLIL Res. J.* 1, 36–46.

Mateu, J. C. (2013). Physical education and English integrated learning: How school teachers can develop PE-in-CLIL programs. *Temps dzEduc*. 45, 41–64. Pérez-Cañado, M. L. (2011). "The Effects of CLIL within the APPP: Lessons learned and ways forward," in *ESP teaching and methodology: English studies in honour of Ángeles Linde López*, eds R. Crespo and M. García de Sola (Granada: Universidad de Granada), 389–406.

Perlman, D. J. (2015). Help motivate the amotivated by being a supportive teacher. *Phys. Educ. Sport Pedagogy* 20, 204–214. doi: 10.1080/17408989.2013. 868876

Sakellariou, G., and Papadopoulos, I. (2020). Interculturalism in content and language integrated learning classes: Research perspectives from European policy to Greek reality. *Lang. Teach. Res. Q.* 17, 45–54. doi: 10.32038/ltrq.2020.17.04

Subramaniam, P. R., and Silverman, S. (2007). Middle school students' attitudes toward physical education. *Teach. Teach. Educ.* 23, 602–611. doi: 10.1016/j.tate. 2007.02.003

Zindler, K. (2013). Content and language integrated learning and PE in England. An exploratory study. Ph.D thesis. Sheffield, UK: University of Sheffield.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefke, Turkey

REVIEWED BY Balachandran Vadivel, Cihan University - Duhok, Iraq Musa Nushi, Shahid Beheshti University, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Fouad Rashid Omar fuadharin85@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 21 June 2022 ACCEPTED 22 September 2022 PUBLISHED 26 October 2022

CITATION

Omar FR and Razı Ö (2022) Impact of instruction based on movie and TV series clips on EFL learners' pragmatic competence: Speech acts in focus. *Front. Psychol.* 13:974757. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.974757

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Omar and Razi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of instruction based on movie and TV series clips on EFL learners' pragmatic competence: Speech acts in focus

Fouad Rashid Omar^{1*} and Özge Razı²

¹Department of ELT, Faculty of Education, Cyprus International University, Nicosia, Turkey, ²Department of Foreign Languages Education, Faculty of Education, Education and Humanities Center, Cyprus International University, Nicosia, Turkey

This study attempts to investigate the role of movie and TV series clips in enhancing EFL learners' pragmatic competence by utilizing an experimental design. The sample of the study was 42 students from the English language department at Cihan University-Duhok, Iraq. The experiment lasted one academic semester. The participants' English language proficiency, as determined by an IELTS test sample, was intermediate, and then they were randomly split into two groups, namely experimental and control. Before and after the treatment, a Written Discourse Completion Test (WDCT) served as a pre-and post-test given to the two groups to assess statistically significant differences between them. The experimental group received direct instruction on request and suggestion speech acts via the presentation of the carefully chosen movie and TV series clips. In contrast, the control group was exposed to a minimal amount of pragmatics through printed texts. The findings demonstrated that the experimental group outperformed the control group. More precisely, the findings revealed that movie and TV series clips had a significant influence on learners' production of requests and suggestions. Considering the above findings, the researchers propose EFL teachers apply movie and TV series clips to improve their Students' pragmatic competence in class.

KEYWORDS

pragmatics, pragmatic competence, speech acts, movies and TV series, pragmatic instruction

Introduction

The emergence of communicative competence models (i.e., grammatical, sociolinguistic, discourse, and strategic competence) (Canale and Swain, 1980) marked a transformation in the perception of foreign or second language teaching and learning from merely mastering grammatical rules and memorizing vocabulary to learning how to use these elements functionally and socially. Thenceforth, pragmatic competence, which is defined as the ability to use the language appropriately and comprehend meaning in social situations, has emerged as a critical constituent of foreign or second language competency, different from the communicative competence models. More importantly, pragmatic teaching has seen a boost in popularity since pragmatics has started to acquire overt acknowledgment in communicative competence frameworks. This is recently proven by the fact that a substantial amount of literature including books and research has been published on the teaching of pragmatic competence and performance of different types of speech acts. Bachman and Palmer (1996) stress the importance of pragmatic competence by stating that it is the primary determinant of an individual's overall language proficiency. Moreover, Kasper (1997) argues that foreign language instruction based on the coursebooks may help develop learners' metalinguistic awareness but cannot improve their metapragmatic knowledge.

The ultimate goal of teaching a foreign or second language is to help learners communicate in a social context appropriately (Abdullah and Omar, 2020). Learners' comprehension and production of speech acts can be negatively affected, even if they are fluent in the language and have excellent grammatical competency without receiving any instruction (Bardovi-Harlig and Mahan-Taylor, 2003; Alsuhaibani, 2022). In an environment where English is taught as a foreign language, the necessity for pragmatic teaching is necessary since learners are solely presented with the target language in classrooms. Rose and Kasper (2001), Yoshimi and Wang (2007), Alcón Soler and Martínez-Flor (2008), and Taguchi (2009) are examples of those authors who edited volumes based on empirical research that depicts instructional approaches and acquisition of pragmatic features in the classroom. Others are monograph-length studies, mentioning only the most recent research, that chronicle the process of pragmatic progress of language learners in institutional contexts (Abrams, 2014; Birjandi and Derakhshan, 2014; Alsmari, 2020; Alsuhaibani, 2022; Ziashahabi et al., 2020). All these publications underline the significance of teaching pragmatic competence and subsequently encourage EFL teachers to consider the most effective method to improve learners' pragmatic competence. Therefore, the present study explores the impact of a method that is based on the use of movie and TV series clips on improving EFL learners' pragmatic competence in the production of requests and suggestions. More precisely, the study's objective is to address the following questions:

- 1. Does the use of movie and TV series clips help Kurdish EFL learners significantly enhance their pragmatic competence in making requests?
- 2. Does the use of movie and TV series clips help Kurdish EFL learners significantly enhance their pragmatic competence in making suggestions?

Literature review

Pragmatic competence

Although the majority of communicative competence models place a premium on the significance of pragmatic competence for performing successful interactions in a foreign or second language, it is a perplexing concept that has been hotly contested by a diverse range of professionals because of its connections to multiple different fields, including linguistics, sociolinguistics, psycholinguistics, and even cognition. Thus, there has been no wide agreement on defining the term pragmatics up to this point. Morris (1938) definition of pragmatics as "the discipline of the relations of signs to interpreters" was marked a revolutionary step. Consequently, Leech (1983) and Thomas (1983) expanded the notion of pragmatic competence by classifying it into two distinct categories: pragmalinguistic competence and sociopragmatic competence (as indicated before in the introductory section). According to LoCastro (2003), pragmatic competence is described as the ability to evaluate and interpret the meaning generated by the speaker and hearer via their joint acts. These acts involve both linguistic and non-linguistic signals and occur within the framework of socioculturally organized activities. It is more accurately defined by Yule (2017) as the meaning conveyed by a speaker or writer and perceived by a listener or reader. The most contemporary definition of pragmatic competence is provided by Ziashahabi et al. (2020), who indicate that pragmatics is a branch of linguistics concerned with the study of how individuals use language to communicate in a variety of social and cultural situations.

Speech acts

Speech act theory is a branch of pragmatics that examines how words can be used to perform acts in addition to presenting the information. Austin (1975), in his book "How to Do Things With Words," established the notion of speech act, which was further elaborated by J.R. Searle. The formation of speech acts is a tripartite process denoted by the terms locutionary, illocutionary, and perlocutionary. Locutionary act refers to "the utterance of a sentence with determinate sense and reference" (Levinson, 1983, p. 236). Any speech act activates certain spoken, syntactic, and semantic features of language to effectively achieve an illocutionary act that is the outcome of the articulated locutionary act's real meaning. If the speaker says "Stop making that noise," he or she is using a directive speech act that comprises certain phonological, syntactic, and semantic aspects to trigger an illocutionary act of warning to the listener, informing him or her not to keep making the unpleasant sounds. On the other hand, perlocutionary actions are distinct from both locutionary and illocutionary acts in that they pertain to the impact of an utterance act on the listener. Put it more simply, perlocution is concerned with how an act's ramifications are affected by different illocutionary forces like convincing, acknowledging, cautioning, warning, and motivating.

According to Searle in Levinson (1983), there are five types of speech acts such as representatives, directive, commissive, expressive, and declaration. Yule (1996) provides an in-depth explanation of each of these speech acts. To begin, representative speech acts are those in which the speaker displays their belief in the truth or falsity of something. Propositions of fact, assertions, conclusions, and descriptions. For instance, when someone utters "The earth is flat," the speaker expresses his or her views about the planet. He or she believes in the flattening of the earth. The speaker portrays the world in the way he or she perceives it to be. Directives are the types of speech acts used by speakers to compel others to perform something. They communicate the speaker's meaning. They are commands, orders, requests, and suggestions that might be positive or negative. For example, when a speaker asks someone "Could you lend me a pen, please?". Here the speaker is requesting an action from the listener. Commissives are those types of speech acts in which speakers express their commitment to perform an action in the future. They convey the speaker's intention. They are promises, threats, refusals, and pledges. For instance, when a speaker says "I'll be back," he or she is promising the listener that he or she will return to them. Those types of speech acts that express how the speaker feels are known as expressives. They may represent psychological emotions such as pleasure, pain, likes, hates, joy, or sadness, and they can be expressed in many ways. Just as in this phrase "I'm really sorry," this may be provoked by either the speaker or the hearer, but they are related to the speaker's experience. Lastly, some other types of speech acts are referred to as declarations which, when delivered, have the potential to alter the destiny and world. For instance, when a priest declares, "I now pronounce you husband and wife," the speaker must have a certain institutional position and in a particular setting to be able to properly conduct a proclamation.

The most common method of assessing learners' pragmatic skills has been to examine their performance on speech acts, particularly when contrasted to that of native speakers. Using the appropriate speech act at the appropriate time and in the appropriate manner is believed to be part of a native speaker's pragmatic competence, an instinctive knowledge that nonnative speakers lack. Today, there seems to be an abundance of details and literature on how speakers realize the speech acts in certain settings, as well as predictions for how nonnative speakers may deviate from these patterns in their speech productions. Unfortunately, the strategies that are used to construct these speech act utterances are mostly absent from the documentation on the subject (Cohen and Olshtain, 1993).

Teaching pragmatics

When children learn their first language, it is often believed that they get explicit teaching from their parents. The parents do not fix their grammatical faults on a regular basis, nor do they teach them how to construct a proper sentence or how to pronounce a specific word. Over time, they will gain more confidence and the ability to produce semantically and syntactically accurate phrases and sentences (Alsuhaibani, 2022). When it comes to pragmatic mistakes, the parents are immediately engaged in rectifying the mistakes and teaching them how to use the language in a social context (Schmidt, 1993; Eun and Tadayoushi, 2006). Bardovi-Harlig (2001) and Kasper (2001) confirm the vast majority of language learners do not seem to learn the second language's pragmatic elements on their initiative. Therefore, communicative competence methodologies have shifted the focus of foreign or second language teaching away from rote memorization of grammatical structures toward the pragmatic and social application of these formulas.

More importantly, the critical role of pragmatic knowledge in communicative competence has resulted in a substantial body of literature devoted to teaching foreign or second language pragmatics, especially speech acts. For the study, the researchers reviewed the literature on the influence of instruction on language learners' pragmatic competence. Promisingly, metaanalysis and reviews of studies have shown that pragmatic instruction is important in developing learners' pragmatic abilities (Rajabi and Farahian, 2013). Particularly, multiple classroom-based experimental research on learners' pragmatic development has demonstrated that instruction intervention has a significant effect on learners' pragmatic competence, even more so when learners are residing in a country where learners are merely exposed to the target language (Long, 1996; Eun and Tadayoushi, 2006; Belz, 2007; Takahashi, 2010a,b; Taguchi, 2015).

Furthermore, the researchers evaluated the literature on the most effective method of instruction to teach pragmatics in the classroom. There are two types of instruction, namely explicit and implicit which have been the central focus of arguments and research among scholars. However, there is a general consensus that explicit instruction is more effective

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.974757

than implicit instruction for teaching pragmatics, Alcón-Soler (2005) and Martinez-Flor (2005) showed the advantages of kinds of instructions in their study. On the other hand, Fazilatfar and Cheraghi (2013) study involved Iranian EFL university students and focused on investigating the effect of instruction on learners' ability to produce compliments and comparing explicit instruction to implicit one. The participants were divided into three groups (explicit, implicit, and control). The explicit group received instruction using explicit feedback on the production of appropriate compliments, whereas the implicit group was given instruction based on implicit feedback. The findings of the study indicated that development occurred in both explicit and implicit groups, but the explicit group had a better performance than the implicit group.

Analogous results are reported in Ziashahabi et al. (2020). In their study, both the explicit and implicit groups benefit from instruction focused on producing speech acts and pragmatic competence improvement. The explicit group, on the other hand, outperformed the implicit group. As a result, explicit instruction was given precedence over implicit instruction as the learners who were exposed to the explicit instruction yielded a considerable development of pragmatic competence. Takahashi (2001) used a quasi-experimental (pre-test/post-test) design to examine the effect of four input enhancement conditions (explicit teaching, native speaker request comparison, native and non-native speaker request comparison, and reading comprehension) on the improvement of request strategies in Japanese EFL learners. The finding revealed that the explicit group performed better than the other three groups in terms of their utilization of the four request strategies. House (1996), Gaily (2014), and Li and Zhoumin (2019) found similar results in their study, stating that pragmatics cannot be efficiently learned without a pedagogical intervention.

As indicated above, researchers are becoming increasingly interested in examining the effects of the pedagogical intervention on second language learners' pragmatic improvement in EFL/ESL settings. As Rose (2005) points out, the Noticing Hypothesis (Schmidt, 1990) justifies investigating the influence of teaching on learners' pragmatic development. According to Schmidt, simple exposure to the target language is insufficient because there are pragmatic functions and pertinent situational variables many of which are taken for granted by learners and thus less likely to be noticed even after exposure for a lengthy amount of time. In contrast to Krashen (1985), who asserts that unconscious learning activities are superior to conscious learning activities and accountable for the lion's share of second language output. Other scholars specialized in second language acquisition, such as Ellis (2008) and Schmidt (2012), claim that highlighting specific forms and directing learners' notice to them may aid learners in language learning development. On the other hand, Rose (1994) emphasized the need for pragmatic consciousness-raising in pragmatic instruction. Abolfathiasl and Abdullah (2015) employed a pre-and post-test design to explore the effect of pragmatic consciousness-raising activities on Iranian EFL learners' immediate and delayed execution of suggestions. For 8 weeks, the experimental group was subjected to pragmatic consciousness-raising treatment focused on the formulation of suggestions. The results showed that metapragmatic consciousness-raising significantly increased learners' pragmatic performance and diversity of form-strategy application. Halenko and Jones (2011) also discovered that pragmatic awareness-raising had a positive influence on learners' production of requests.

Another dimension of pragmatic instruction that should be taken into account by EFL teachers is the materials used in the classroom. Materials need to meet learners' levels, needs, and interests, otherwise, they will get bored easily and reflect negatively on their performance. This is why EFL learners usually avoid studying a textbook. On the other hand, many EFL teachers put all blame on the textbook for lack of authenticity. Therefore, they recommend substituting textbooks with authentic materials such as movies, TV series, newspapers, magazines, etc., produced by native speakers for non-educational purposes (Nunan, 1988; Omar and Mekael, 2020). The primary objective of incorporating genuine resources into the classroom is to expose learners to as much actual language as necessary. According to Genhard (1996), authentic materials are essential for contextualizing language acquisition. Numerous studies have been undertaken on the influence of real materials on second or foreign language acquisition, but to the best of the researchers' knowledge, only one study, as yet, has examined the effect of authentic materials on enhancing EFL learners' pragmatic competence. This study was conducted by Abbasian et al. (2016) who used a quasi-experimental design. 60 EFL Iranian learners participated in the study. They were divided into two groups (experimental and control). The experimental group was exposed to authentic materials. The treatment consisted of 16 sessions of 90 min each. While the control group received standard pedagogical materials. The findings of the study found that the experimental group outperformed the control group. In other words, authentic materials had a great impact on developing learners' pragmatic competence.

Teaching pragmatics with movies and TV series

As previously stated, movies and TV series are considered an important part of authentic materials. According to the teaching experience of the researchers, a significant number of students have acquired English through watching movies and TV to the point where it is difficult to conceive how effectively and appropriately they utilized the language. Therefore, the role of movies and TV shows cannot be overlooked in the process of language learning. Teachers should encourage their learners to watch movies and TV shows to enhance their pragmatic competence since these media include authentic language. Heidari et al. (2020) argue that movies and TV series may substitute onerous textbooks in fostering learners' pragmatic skills and teaching speech acts. Movies and TV shows have lately emerged as one of the richest resources accessible to EFL teachers, attracting the interest of a number of researchers in the field of second language acquisition. Various empirical research on the effectiveness of using authentic videos to teach speech acts in the classroom has been undertaken. In their study, Alerwi and Alzahrani (2020) suggest that the use of sitcoms may facilitate the learning of the speech acts of request, refusal, apologies, and compliment response by learners.

A study done by Alsmari (2020) assessed the effects of metapragmatic instruction on Saudi female EFL Students' pragmalinguistic and sociopragmatic aspects while generating a speech act of complaint. Her experiment included a sample of 62 students who were majoring in English as a second language., the experimental group was presented with videodriven extracts, while the control group was exclusively taught via the usual manner. The results of the study showed that the experimental group that got a video-driven technique outperformed the control group in terms of performance and generated the speech act of complaint that were more suitable than those produced by the control group. After receiving the intervention, the students became also more expressive and provided longer replies as opposed to the linguistically constrained responses they provided in the pre-test. The results of her study also revealed that The participants themselves improved their ability to identify linguistic forms of politeness in real-world contexts. Similar findings were revealed in research done by Iranmanesh and Darani (2018). The findings indicated that movies had a substantial impact on the acquisition of idiomatic and daily English expressions among Iranian EFL students, hence enhancing their English proficiency.

Moreover, research has shown that movies and television programs may improve Students' speech comprehension. Rodgers and Webb (2017) investigated Japanese university Students' comprehension by exposing them to ten 42-min episodes of an American TV show with and without subtitles. The findings indicated that episodes help learners improve their comprehension.

In a study conducted by Hashemian et al. (2016), 37 upper-intermediate learners, aged between 21 and 25, from an English institute in Isfahan, Iran, were divided into two groups, experimental and control, based on their Quick Oxford Placement Test (QOPT) scores. A variant of the discourse completion test (DCT) was utilized as a pre-and post-test to evaluate the request and apology strategies employed by the respondents before and after the instruction. Participants devoted 30–40 min every Saturday and Wednesday for 7 weeks to viewing and analyzing clips from the movie Before Sunset. The results of the study indicated that the students were able to apply various request and apology strategies after watching the movie.

From an empirical standpoint, the utilization of movies is also beneficial for enhancing EFL learners' pragmatic awareness. For instance, Rylander et al. (2013) study found that the application of video snippets from TV shows and movies improved learners' speech act recognition, realization, notice, and production. In a study, Damaiyanti (2016) explored the influence of movies on the conversational implicature of language learners and discovered that movies may contribute to the development of learners' understanding of speech acts.

Eryılmaz and Darn (2005) argue that EFL teachers must raise their Students' consciousness of non-verbal communication to be able to communicate naturally, confidently, and effectively in the target language. They also underlined the need for teachers to assist students in eliminating intercultural misunderstandings since non-verbal communication is a system comprised of a variety of elements that are often utilized in conjunction to facilitate expression. It is believed that body language, such as facial expressions, gestures, eye contact, proximity, and posture (Eryılmaz and Darn, 2005) as well as intonation and taking turns (Coulthard, 1985; Kato, 2000), is essential to the language-learning process because they help learners be conscious of communicating messages, attempting to avoid misunderstandings, and adapting to the target culture (Kalra, 2017).

The situational context of a conversation refers to the environment, time, and place, among other things, in which it takes place, as well as the interaction between the participants. According to Yule (2000), context is the physical setting in which a word is used. Several studies have shown that context may play a significant influence in deciding the verbal and nonverbal choices of interlocutors and aiding them in achieving their communication goals (de Kok, 2008; Nobrega, 2009; Song, 2010; Abrams, 2014; Garten et al., 2019). A study conducted by Ismaili (2013) found that clips extracted from movies and TV series had a greater bearing on providing an authentic real-life environment for the production of speech acts.

Methodology

Participants

The sample of the present study comprised 42 Kurdish EFL junior university students studying the English language at Cihan University in Duhok, Iraq. They were randomly divided into two groups: the experimental group (n = 21) and the control group (n = 21). The participants were aged 21–25 years. To ensure the homogeneity of the participants, an IELTS test sample consisting of four sections (Listening, Speaking, Reading, and Writing) was used before the treatment. Only
those students who achieved an intermediate level on the IELTS test were selected for the study since this level is optimal for developing pragmatic competence (Kasper, 2001). It is worth mentioning that the sample did not have any prior experience studying abroad and they had not also been exposed to any kind of pragmatics course before taking part in this experiment; hence, the treatment was their first introduction to pragmatics.

Instruments of the study

Several instruments were utilized to collect data for the study. First, an IELTS test sample was used before data collection to verify the homogeneity of the chosen samples and to determine their level of language proficiency. Second, a Written Discourse Completion Test (WDCT) developed by the researchers was administered as the pre-and posttest. The WDCT test consisted of a total number of 10 scenarios concentrating on two kinds of speech acts; request and suggestion, which are most frequently utilized in every language and culture of the world. Each scenario was based on a situation in which the participants made a request and suggestion to someone in their family, social, or academic life. Such scenarios were also used to ensure that the data was as much authentic as possible. To validate the test, the test was sent via e-mail to five university professors whose specialization was pragmatics and second language acquisition from Iraq, Turkey, Cyprus, and India. They examined the clarity, precision, and appropriateness of the items of the instrument. The test was then piloted with a sample of 30 students from Knowledge University in Erbil to determine its reliability, which was discovered to be 0.821 utilizing Cronbach's alpha. This score indicates that the items of the instrument have high internal consistency. The third and final instrument used in this study was Taguchi (2011) rating scale of appropriateness which included a comprehensive depiction of pragmatic and grammatical elements as a scoring system for evaluating the students' responses to producing the targeted speech acts. Moreover, Taguchi (2011) appropriateness rating scale system consists of five points ranging from "Very poor" (1) to "Excellent" (5), as shown in Table 1.

Procedures

To gather the necessary data for examining the hypotheses under scrutiny, several procedures were followed. At first, an IELTS test sample comprising all four sections (Listening, Speaking, Reading, and Writing) was utilized to establish the homogeneity of the students. Following that, 42 students who attained intermediate level were chosen and then randomly assigned into two identical groups, one of which served as the experimental and the other as the control group. Each group consisted of 21 students. TABLE 1 Taguchi's (2011) rating scale. Reproduced from Taguchi (2011), with permission from John Benjamins Publishing Company.

5 Excellent

3 Fair

Almost perfectly appropriate and effective in the level of directness, politeness, and formality. 4 Good

Not perfect but adequately appropriate in the level of directness, politeness, and formality. Expressions are a little off from target-like, but pretty good.

Somewhat appropriate in the level of directness, politeness, and formality. Expressions are more direct or indirect than the situation requires.

Clearly inappropriate. Expressions sound almost rude or too demanding.

1 Very poor Not sure if the target speech act is performed.

The researchers devised the Written Discourse Completion Test (WDCT), which served as the pre-and post-test, and then sent it to five university professors with expertise in the field of pragmatics to check the validity of its items. After that, the WDCT test was piloted on a group of 23 students, from a different university, who had the same qualities as those participating in the main study for measuring the reliability of the WDCT test. Three qualified and experienced raters assessed and rated the data obtained through the pilot study.

Cronbach's alpha was used to measure the reliability of the instrument. The value of reliability was acceptable which was 0.821. After the validity and reliability of the instrument were established, a pre-test was administered to both the experimental and control groups prior to the treatment. They had to answer the test within 30 min. It should be noted that the same techniques were used to assess and rate the responses of the participants on both the pre-test and the post-test. After that, the treatment process launched and lasted one academic semester of 12 weeks. There were two 60-min sessions every week, on Sundays and Thursdays.

The experimental group was presented with carefully chosen movie and TV series clips comprising varied instances of the targeted speech acts and were linguistically rich enough. The participants were exposed to four clips each session. These video excerpts were culled from various movies and TV series; specifically, "Office Space," "Friends," "Fast and Furious 7," "Frozen," "Aladdin," "Madagascar 3: Europe's Most Wanted," "The Blind Side," "Sleeping Beauty," and "Let's Be Cops." The Participants engaged in pre-viewing, while-viewing, and postviewing activities for each clip throughout the session.

The control group was only exposed to the conventional approach of pragmatics. They were only required to study pragmatics at the level specified in their textbook authored by Yule (2017), which was the bare minimum (i.e., defining and explaining speech acts requests, apologies, suggestions, refusal, and advice, and completing activities concerning these speech acts).

The post-test was administered to both groups after the treatment and the results of the pre-and post-test were compared. Once all of the data had been collected, it was thoroughly evaluated and analyzed using applicable statistical procedures from SPSS, such as the Independent samples *t*-test.

Data analysis

The primary goal of this study was to investigate the influence of movie and TV series clips on Kurdish EFL learners' pragmatic competence, especially on their ability to produce speech acts of requests and suggestions. Based on Taguchi (2011) rating scale, the Students' responses to the pre-test and posttest were rated by three experienced researchers. Then the data obtained from the pre-and post-tests were statistically analyzed using SPSS version 24 statistical software. More precisely, paired-samples *t*-tests and independent-samples *t*-tests were employed to determine any significant differences in the pre-and post-test scores between the experimental and control groups.

Results

Effect of movie and TV series clips on Kurdish EFL learners' production of requests

Concerning the first research question of whether clips from different movies and TV series have an impact on the participants' performance in producing the speech act of request, the researchers used an independent sample *t*-test, which compares the mean between two variables (Blbas et al., 2022), to compare the mean scores of both pre-test and posttests between the experimental and control groups, as shown in **Table 2**.

Table 2 demonstrates that there is no statistically significant difference between the means of the experimental (M = 3.762; SD = 1.375) and control (M = 3.714; SD = 1.384) groups in the pre-test as their respective *P*-values (t = 0.11; P = 0.911) are greater than the significance threshold (P > 0.05). According to the findings, the level of performance shown by the participants was equivalent in some manner before the use of the instructional approaches as shown in **Figure 1**.

The post-test was administered to the two groups after the treatment had been administered for a full academic semester. An independent samples *t*-test was carried out to make a comparison between the post-tests concerning the production of the speech act of request, as shown in **Table 3**.

Table 3 demonstrates that there is a statistically significant difference between the means of the experimental (M = 6.524; SD = 1.401) and control (M = 4.429; SD = 1.777) groups in the post-test, as its *P*-value (t = 4.244; P = 0.001) is less than the significance level (P < 0.05). The dramatic rise in the average score of the experimental group (M = 6.524) compared to the control group (M = 4.429), as depicted in **Figure 2**, suggests that the pragmatic instruction in the Language classrooms had a favorable influence on the pragmatic improvement of requests made by EFL students who participated in the pedagogical intervention.

To investigate differences among groups, a paired-samples *t*-test was used to compare the pre-test and post-test scores

TABLE 2 Independent sample t-test between the experimental and control groups for pre-test (Request).

Pre-test	Speech act	Group	Ν	Mean	Std. deviation	t	<i>P</i> -value
	Request	Experimental	21	3.701	1.375	0.11	0.911
		Control	21	3.762	1.384		



FIGURE 2



TABLE 3 Independent sample t-test between the experimental and control group for post-test (Request).

of the experimental and control groups before and after the treatment. According to the findings presented in **Table 4**, the performance of the participants in the experimental group substantially improved on the post-test, as indicated by a mean

score of (M = 6.524), which represents a statistically significant

Shows the average between the experimental and control groups for post-test (Request).

improvement (p < 0.05) in comparison to their performance on the pre-test.

Whereas, as shown in **Figure 3**, the mean score of the control group on the post-test was marginally higher (M = 4.429) than on the pre-test (M = 3.762). This was due

Speech act	Group	Test	Mean	Std. deviation	t	P-value
Request	Experimental	Pre-test	3.701	1.375	11.60	0.000
		Post-test	6.524	1.401		
	Control	Pre-test	3.762	1.384	1.40	0.176
		Post-test	4.429	1.777		

 TABLE 4
 Paired-samples t-test for experimental and control groups (Request).



to the Students' continued development as a consequence of traditional instruction.

Effect of movie and TV series clips on Kurdish EFL learners' production of suggests

To determine whether using snippets from movies and TV series has an effect on their aptitude for the production of suggestions in English, the mean scores of the pre-test were compared between the experimental and the control groups through an independent sample *t*-test, as shown in **Table 5** and **Figure 4**.

Table 5 shows that there is no statistically significant difference between the mean scores of the experimental group (M = 4.714; SD = 1.232) and the control group (M = 4.333; SD = 1.390) prior to the intervention because the experimental group's *P*-value [t = 0.94; P = 0.535 (>0.05)] is greater than the significant level of $\alpha = 0.05$, respectively, indicating that the performance of both groups on the pre-test was similar. The mean score of the control group on the post-test was marginally higher (M = 5.048) than on the pre-test (M = 4.333), as shown in **Figure 4**.

Table 6 demonstrates that the mean scores of students in the control group (M = 5.048; SD = 1.23) substantially varied from those of students who received movie and TV series clip-based pragmatic instruction (M = 6.810; SD = 1,250). Thus, there was a statistically significant difference between the mean scores of the experimental and control groups because the *P*-value [t = 4.654; p = 0.001 (<0.05)] is less than the significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$

and the average of the experimental group (M = 6.810) is greater than the average of the control group (M = 5.048), as shown in **Figure 5**.

Using a paired-samples *t*-test, the effect of the intervention on the experimental group participants was investigated by comparing the means of the pre-test and post-test scores. As indicated in **Table** 7, the participants' performance on the post-test drastically enhanced (M = 6.810) and was statistically significant (p = 0.001; p < 0.05) compared to their performance on the pre-test. By comparing the means of the pre-test and post-test scores, the paired-samples *t*-test was also used to analyze the effect of the traditional method of teaching suggestions on the participants in the control group. The findings indicated in **Table** 7 that the mean score on the posttest (M = 5.048) was noticeably higher than on the pre-test (M = 4.333), as shown in **Figure 6**.

To examine differences within groups, we used a pairedsample t-test to compare the pre- and post-tests in the experimental and control groups before and after the treatment. The findings in Table 8 demonstrate that the participants in the experimental group performed much better in the production of requests and suggestions on the post-test (M = 6.524; M = 6.810, respectively), a difference that was statistically significant *p*-value (P < 0.051) compared to the pre-test. The mean scores of the control group (M = 4.429; M = 5.048), on the other hand, marginally rose in the post-test, which may be ascribed to the participants' continued growth as a consequence of the traditional approach of pragmatic aspects. In conclusion, the statistical difference between the two groups indicates the positive influence of implementing clips derived from movies and TV series in EFL classrooms to develop the EFL learners' pragmatic competence and produce the speech acts of requests

TABLE 5 Independent sample t-test between experimental and control groups for pre-test (Suggestion).

Pre-test	Speech act	Group	Ν	Mean	Std. deviation	t	<i>P</i> -value
	Suggestion	Experimental	21	4.714	1.231	0.94	0.535
		Control	21	4.333	1.390		



Post-test	Speech act	Group	Ν	Mean	Std. deviation	t	P-value
	Suggestion	Experimental	21	6.810	1.250	4.654	0.001
		Control	21	5.048	1.203		

TABLE 6 Independent sample t-test between the experimental and control groups for post-test (Suggestion).



TABLE 7 Paired-samples t-test for experimental and control groups (Suggestion).

Speech act	Group	Test	Mean	Std. deviation	t	P-value
Suggestion	Experimental	Pre-test	4.714	1.231	7.15	0.000
		Post-test	6.810	1.250		
	Control	Pre-test	4.333	1.390	2.85	0.010
		Post-test	5.048	1.23		



and suggestions. The mean scores of both pre-test and posttests for the speech acts of request and suggestion are shown in **Figure 7**.

Discussion

The objective of this study was to examine the influence of movie and TV series extracts on Kurdish EFL learners'

pragmatic competence, and specifically on their production of pragmatically acceptable and grammatically precise targetlike requests and suggestions. Generally speaking, the findings of this study were promising as they revealed that the participants in the experimental group participants outperformed those in the control group. This study indicates that, when compared to traditional written texts, movie and television series clips may be considered preferable possibilities for teaching speech acts since they represent

Speech act	Group	Test	Mean	Std. deviation	t	P-value
Request	Experimental	Pre-test	3.762	1.375	11.60	0.000
		Post-test	6.524	1.401		
	Control	Pre-test	3.714	1.384	1.40	0.176
		Post-test	4.429	1.777		
Suggestion	Experimental	Pre-test	4.714	1.231	7.15	0.000
		Post-test	6.810	1.250		
	Control	Pre-test	4.333	1.390	2.85	0.010
		Post-test	5.048	1.203		

 TABLE 8 Paired-samples t-test for the experimental and control groups.



more realistic and communicative situations that occur in the actual world.

Considering the first and second research questions, the findings of the study found that there were significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the post-test. More specifically, the results revealed that the experimental group significantly improved their production of the speech act requests and suggestions after the intervention period. Consequently, it was found that the experimental group outperformed the control group. The findings of this study confirm previous research on the positive effect of instruction on learners' development of pragmatics (Bardovi-Harlig, 2001; Alcón-Soler, 2005; Birjandi and Derakhshan, 2014; Rajabi and Farahian, 2013; Taguchi, 2015). Therefore, many believe that pragmatic instruction should be part of English classrooms just like grammar and vocabulary (Taguchi, 2015). In other words, the medium of instruction seems to play an integral role in learners' acquisition of speech acts. Moreover, the findings of the study demonstrated that pragmatic aspects are teachable (Ishihara and Cohen, 2014).

The results of this study revealed that explicit instruction plays a great role in enhancing learners' pragmatic competence and comprehending conversational implicatures correctly. Such a result is compatible with House (1996), Fazilatfar and Cheraghi (2013), and Ziashahabi et al. (2020). In their experimental study, it was even found that the participants who were exposed to the explicit instruction had not forgotten the materials they studied during the lessons.

The results of the study revealed that by teaching pragmatic elements through the use of consciousness-raising instruction, language learners produce and understand speech acts better than in the traditional method in which the learners only get some theoretical knowledge about the second language pragmatics. Such a result is in line with previous studies that involve teaching pragmatics through consciousnessraising instruction (Halenko and Jones, 2011; Abolfathiasl and Abdullah, 2015). Such a result support Schmidt (1990) Noticing Hypothesis, which argues that second language features cannot be acquired by learners without noticing, asserting that "while there is subliminal perception, there is no subliminal learning" (p. 26). Consciousness-raising tasks help learners to notice the norms, recognize, and process the differences in the production of requests and suggestions between English and Kurdish. In the process of noticing and comparing, learners eventually internalize L2 norms to become intake (Schmidt, 1993).

The results of the study are consistent with the findings of Abbasian et al. (2016), who investigated the influence of authentic materials on the pragmatic competence of EFL learners. The researchers found that providing authentic materials significantly improved the pragmatic skills of language learners.

The results of this study further proved that teaching pragmatics through movies and TV series clips is better than printed texts only. These results are in line with the findings of Heidari et al. (2020), who suggest that video clips derived from movies can be considered better alternatives for teaching speech acts compared to the traditional printed texts because these clips are authentic and reflect life-like, communicative events happening in the world.

Conclusion

This study explored the impact of instruction by using movie and TV series snippets on EFL learners' pragmatic competence. The results of the study indicate that teaching pragmatics using movie and TV series clips is effective and beneficial. The study shows that the production of speech acts such as requests and suggestions improved significantly with the use of explicit teaching incorporating movie and TV series clips. The results of the study show that when EFL learners are exposed to contextualized learning situations, their linguistic performance and pragmatic competence would improve drastically as a result of the rich input offered by real audio-visual resources. This is a strong invitation for teachers to reference movies and TV series when teaching pragmatics from a dull textbook to create an engaging classroom atmosphere. This study proposes a pragmatic intervention on English speech acts by using movie and TV series clips to increase Kurdish EFL Students' knowledge of the pragmalinguistic and sociopragmatic variables related to the formulation of precise and appropriate requests and suggestions. Teachers and researchers should undertake more studies to explore the effect of movie and TV series clips on learners' production of other speech acts as well as their comprehension, and investigate the Kurdish EFL learners' views on this issue. Although the present study attempted to fill a vacuum in the area of pragmatics, the researchers must acknowledge some limitations. First, there were limitations regarding the sample. The small sample size makes it impossible to establish reliable generalizations. More research is needed to examine the

results with greater sample size. Furthermore, all participants were intermediate-level university students. More research is needed to determine whether the same results would apply to students with varying levels of English proficiency. Second, because this was an experimental study, no qualitative data collection methods were used. Several qualitative and quantitative measures should be used to improve the validity of future studies. Finally, a written DCT was used as a pre-test and post-test to collect the data. Future research is required to use an oral DCT as a pre-test and post-test.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/supplementary material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee Board of Cyprus International University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Abbasian, G. R., Mahmoudi, H. M., and Shahbazi, A. (2016). An investigation into the effect of authentic materials on improving intermediate EFL learners' pragmatic competence. J. Appl. Linguistics Lang. Res. 3, 264–275.

Abdullah, K., and Omar, F. (2020). The impact of drama-based instruction of english on EFL students' interpretation of implied meanings. *PalArch's J. Archeol. Egypt/Egyptol.* 17, 5967–5991.

Abolfathiasl, H., and Abdullah, A. N. (2015). Pragmatic consciousness-raising activities and EFL learners' speech act performance of' making suggestions. *J. Lang. Teach. Res.* 6:333. doi: 10.17507/jltr.0602.13

Abrams, Z. I. (2014). Using film to provide a context for teaching L2 pragmatics. *System* 46, 55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2014.06.005

Alcón Soler, E., and Martínez-Flor, A. (2008). Investigating Pragmatics in Foreign Language Learning, Teaching and Testing. Bristol: Multilingual Matters. doi: 10. 21832/9781847690869

Alcón-Soler, E. (2005). Does instruction work for pragmatic learning in EFL contexts? *System* 33, 417–435. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2005.06.005

Alerwi, A. A., and Alzahrani, A. (2020). Using sitcoms to improve the acquisition of speech acts by EFL students: focusing on request, refusal, apology, and compliment response. *J. Appl. Linguistics Lang. Res.* 7, 63–79.

Alsmari, N. A. (2020). A video-driven approach to promoting pragmatic development in the context of english as a foreign language. *Arab World English J.* 6, 3–23. doi: 10.31235/osf.io/n9uc7

Alsuhaibani, Z. (2022). Developing EFL students' pragmatic competence: The case of compliment responses. *Lang. Teach. Res.* 26, 847–866.

Austin, J. L. (1975). How to do things with Words. Oxford: Oxford university press. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198245537.001.0001

Bachman, L. F., and Palmer, A. S. (1996). Language Testing in Practice: Designing and Developing Useful Language Tests. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bardovi-Harlig, K. (2001). "Evaluating the empirical evidence: grounds for instruction in pragmatics?," in *Pragmatics in Language Teaching*, eds K. Rose and G. Kasper (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press). doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139524797.005

Bardovi-Harlig, K., and Mahan-Taylor, R. (2003). *Teaching Pragmatics*. Washington DC: US Department of State Office of English Language Programs.

Belz, J. A. (2007). The role of computer mediation in the instruction and development of L2 pragmatic competence. *Ann. Rev. Appl. Linguistics* 27, 45–75. doi: 10.1017/S0267190508070037

Birjandi, P., and Derakhshan, A. (2014). Pragmatic comprehension of apology, request and refusal: an investigation on the effect of consciousness-raising videodriven prompts. *Appl. Res. English Lang.* 3, 67–86.

Blbas, H., Aziz, K. F., Nejad, S. H., and Barzinjy, A. A. (2022). Phenomenon of depression and anxiety related to precautions for prevention among population during the outbreak of COVID-19 in Kurdistan Region of Iraq: Based on questionnaire survey. *J. Public Health* 30, 567–571. doi: 10.1007/s10389-020-01325-9

Canale, M., and Swain, M. (1980). Theoretical bases of communicative approaches to second language teaching and testing. *Appl. Linguistics* 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1093/applin/1.1.1

Cohen, A. D., and Olshtain, E. (1993). The production of speech acts by EFL learners. *TESOL Quarterly* 27, 33–56. doi: 10.2307/3586950

Coulthard, M. (1985). An Introduction to Discourse Analysis (2nd edn.). London: Longman.

Damaiyanti, S. (2016). Teaching implicature through video edited clips in ESL listening classes. J. As-Salam 1, 124–133.

de Kok, B. C. (2008). The role of context in conversation analysis: reviving an interest in ethno-methods. *J. Pragmatics* 40, 886–903. doi: 10.1016/j.pragma.2007. 09.007

Ellis, R. (2008). The Study of Second Language Acquisition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Eryılmaz, D., and Darn, S. (2005). A Nonverbal Communication Lesson.Izmir: University of Economics.

Eun, J., and Tadayoushi, K. (2006). "Effects of L2 instruction on interlanguage pragmatic development: a meta-analysis," in *Synthesizing Research on Language Learning and Teaching*, eds Norris, J., and L. Ortega (Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company).

Fazilatfar, A. M., and Cheraghi, M. (2013). Exploring the effects of instruction on EFL learners' pragmatic development. *Teach. English Lang.* 7, 1–25.

Gaily, M. M. A. (2014). Developing pragmatic competence of the sudanese university EFL learners via planned classroom instruction. *Int. J. Soc. Sci. Arts Human.* 1, 40–49.

Garten, J., Kennedy, B., Sagae, K., and Dehghani, M. (2019). Measuring the importance of context when modeling language comprehension. *Behav. Res. Methods* 51, 480–492. doi: 10.3758/s13428-019-01200-w

Genhard, J. G. (1996). *Teaching English as a Foreign Language: A Teacher Selfdevelopment and Methodology*. Ann Arbor, MICH: The university of Michigan press.

Halenko, N., and Jones, C. (2011). Teaching pragmatic awareness of spoken requests to Chinese EAP learners in the UK: is explicit instruction effective?. *System* 39, 240–250. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2011.05. 003

Hashemian, M., Domakani, M., and Ansari, M. (2016). The effect of movies on L2 learners' pragmatic competence: a case of request and apology. *Int. J. Educ. Investig.* 3, 2410–3446.

Heidari, A., Heidari Tabrizi, H., and Chalak, A. (2020). Using short stories vs. video clips to improve upper intermediate EFL students' sociopragmatic knowledge: speech acts in focus. *Cogent Arts Human.* 7:1778977. doi: 10.1080/23311983.2020.1778977

House, J. (1996). Developing pragmatic fluency in English as a foreign language. *Stud. Second Lang. Acquisition* 18, 225–252. doi: 10.1017/S027226310001 4893

Iranmanesh, A., and Darani, L. H. (2018). How can movies be effective in learning English idiomatic and everyday expressions?. *Int. J. Learn. Teach.* 10, 107–115. doi: 10.18844/ijlt.v10i2.3405

Ishihara, N., and Cohen, A. (2014). *Teaching and learning pragmatics: Where language and culture meet*. London: Routledge.

Ismaili, M. (2013). The effectiveness of using movies in the EFL classroom–a study conducted at South East European University. *Acad. J. Interdisciplinary Stud.* 2:121. doi: 10.5901/ajis.2012.v2n4p121

Kalra, R. (2017). The effectiveness of using films in the EFL classroom: a case study conducted at an International University in Thailand. *Arab World English J.* (*AWEJ*) 8, 289–301. doi: 10.24093/awej/vol8no3.19

Kasper, G. (1997). Can Pragmatic Competence be Taught? Honolulu: University of Hawaii, Second Language Teaching and Curriculum Center.

Kasper, G. (2001). "Classroom research on interlanguage pragmatics," in *Pragmatics in Language Teaching*, eds K. R. Rose and G. Kasper (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press). doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139524797.006

Kato, F. (2000). Discourse Approach to Turn-Taking from the Perspective of Tone Choice between Speakers. London: University of Birmingham.

Krashen, S. D. (1985). The Input Hypothesis: Issues and Implications. London: Longman

Leech, G. N. (1983). Principles of Pragmatics. New York, NY: Longman.

Levinson, S. C. (1983). *Pragmatics*. London: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511813313

Li, Y., and Zhoumin, Y. (2019). Pragmatic competence development: complaining speech act by Chinese Non-English-major graduates. *Foreign Lang. their Teach.* 2:4.

LoCastro, V. (2003). An Introduction to Pragmatics: Social Action for Language Teachers. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

Long, M. (1996). "The role of the linguistic environment in second language acquisition," in *Handbook of Second Language Acquisition*, eds W. C. Ritchie and T. K. Bhatia (New York, NY: Academic Press). doi: 10.1016/B978-012589042-7/ 50015-3

Martinez-Flor, A. M. (2005). A theoretical review of the speech act of suggesting: towards a taxonomy for its use in FLT. *Rev. Alicantina Estudios Ingleses* 18, 167–187. doi: 10.14198/raei.2005.18.08

Morris, C. (1938). Foundations of the Theory of Signs. Chicago, IL: Oxford University Press

Nobrega, D. (2009). The role of context for the development of conversation and the construction of meanings in cartoons. *Acta Scientiarum: Lang. Culture* 31, 183–187. doi: 10.4025/actascilangcult.v31i2.6317

Nunan, D. (1988). *The learner-centered curriculum*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Omar, F., and Mekael, H. (2020). Investigating EFL teachers' attitudes towards the use of authentic materials in teaching English in Iraqi Kurdistan region. *Eur. Sci. J.* 16, 131–150. doi: 10.19044/esj.2020.v16n23p131

Rajabi, S., and Farahian, M. (2013). The effects of pragmatic instruction on EFL learners' awareness of suggestions. *Modern J. Lang. Teach. Methods* 3:28. doi: 10.4304/jltr.3.4.814-821

Rodgers, M. P., and Webb, S. (2017). The effects of captions on EFL learners' comprehension of English-language television programs. *Calico J.* 34, 20–38. doi: 10.1558/cj.29522

Rose, K. R. (1994). "Pragmatic consciousness-raising in an EFL context," in *Pragmatics and Language Learning* L. F. Bouton, and Y. Kachru, (Urbana, IL: University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign).

Rose, K. R. (2005). On the effect of instruction in second language pragmatics. *System* 33, 385–399. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2005.06.003

Rose, K., and Kasper, G. (2001). *Pragmatics in Language Teaching*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139524797

Rylander, J., Clark, P., and Derrah, R. (2013). "A video-based method of assessing pragmatic awareness," in *Assessing Second Language Pragmatics*, eds S. J. Ross and G. Kasper (London: Palgrave Macmillan). doi: 10.1057/9781137003522_3

Schmidt, R. (1990). The role of consciousness in second language learning. *Appl. Linguistics* 11, 129–158. doi: 10.1093/applin/11.2.129

Schmidt, R. (1993). "Consciousness, learning and interlanguage pragmatics" in *Interlanguage Pragmatics*, eds G. Kasper and S. Blum-Kulka (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).

Schmidt, R. (2012). "Attention, awareness, and individual differences in language learning," in *Perspectives on Individual Characteristics and Foreign Language Education*, eds W. M. Chan, K. N. Chin, S. Bhatt and I. Walker (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter). doi: 10.1515/9781614510932.27

Song, L. (2010). The role of context in discourse analysis. J. Lang. Teach. Res. 1:876. doi: 10.4304/jltr.1.6.876-879

Taguchi, N. (2011). Rater variation in the assessment of speech acts. *Pragmatics* 21, 453–471. doi: 10.1075/prag.21.3.08tag

Taguchi, N. (2015). Instructed pragmatics at a glance: where instructional studies were, are, and should be going. *Lang. Teach.* 48, 1–50. doi: 10.1017/S0261444814000263

Taguchi, N. (Ed.). (2009). Pragmatic Competence. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter. doi: 10.1515/9783110218558

Takahashi, S. (2001). "The role of input enhancement in developing pragmatic competence," in *Pragmatics in Language Teaching* eds K. Rose and G. Kasper (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press). doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139524 797.014

Takahashi, S. (2010a). "Assessing learnability in second language pragmatics," in *Handbook of Pragmatics*, (Ed.) A. Trosborg (Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter). doi: 10.1515/9783110214444.3.391

Takahashi, S. (2010b). "The effect of pragmatic instruction on speech act performance;" in *Speech act Performance: Theoretical, Empirical and Methodological Issues*, eds A. Mart'inez-Flor and E. Us'o-Juan. (Amsterdam: John Benjamins). doi: 10.1075/lllt.26.08tak

Thomas, J. (1983). Cross-cultural pragmatic failure. Appl. Linguistics 4, 91–112. doi: 10.1093/applin/4.2.91

Yoshimi, D., and Wang, H. (2007). Selected Papers from Pragmatics in CJK Classrooms: The State of the Art. Manoa: University of Hawaii at Manoa, National Foreign Language Resource Center.

Yule, G. (2000). *Pragmatics*. Shanghai: Shanghai Foreign Language Education Press.

Yule, G. (1996). Pragmatics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Yule, G. (2017). The Study of Language. 1Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Ziashahabi, S., Jabbari, A. A., and Razmi, M. H. (2020). The effect of interventionist instructions of English conversational implicatures on Iranian EFL intermediate level learners' pragmatic competence development. *Cogent Educ.* 7:1840008. doi: 10.1080/2331186X.2020.1840008

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefke, Turkey

REVIEWED BY Nurdan Atamturk, University of Kyrenia, Cyprus Shaaban Sadiq, Lebanese French University, Iraq

*CORRESPONDENCE Diyar J. M. Mohammed diyar.jamal@sulicihan.edu.krd

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 12 October 2022 ACCEPTED 26 October 2022 PUBLISHED 11 November 2022

CITATION

Mohammed DJM, Mohammadzadeh B and Kılıç Y (2022) Examining the effects of stroke on students' L2-grit levels in an EFL context: A case of Northern Iraq. *Front. Psychol.* 13:1067901. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1067901

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mohammed, Mohammadzadeh and Kılıç. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Examining the effects of stroke on students' L2-grit levels in an EFL context: A case of Northern Iraq

Diyar J. M. Mohammed^{1,2*}, Behbood Mohammadzadeh¹ and Yalın Kılıç¹

¹ELT Department, Faculty of Education, Cyprus International University, Nicosia, Turkey, ²Department of General Education, Cihan University Sulaimaniya, Sulaymaniyah, Iraq

This article investigates the effects of stroke on students' L2-grit levels in an EFL context in Northern Iraq. A model was created to find how various components such as verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities that determine stroke levels affect students' grit. This study adopted the L2- Grit scale and a language domain-specific grit scale to measure the learners' L2-grit levels. Also, the Students' Stroke Scale (SSS) was used to measure the participants' stroke levels. The study's sample consisted of 199 participants from various academic levels, undergraduate, graduate, and postgraduate at several Northern Iraq universities. The results reveal a positive and statistically significant association between the score on the L2-Grit scale and the score on the Stroke scale; more specifically, as the scores on the L2-grit scale rise, so do the scores on the Stroke scale. The mean of low stroke is lower than the means of medium stroke and high stroke indicating that as people's stroke levels grow, so does their L2-grit status. The regression coefficients estimated within the framework of the regression model structured with the logit, the link function, are the same in each category of the dependent variable, satisfying the parallel curves assumption. The overall results show that positive stroke helps learners' L2-grit levels to arise and lead to a better learning process.

KEYWORDS

L2-grit level, stroke level, EFL context, university students, Northern Iraq

Introduction

EFL and second language acquisition (SLA) receive a great deal of attention from language, and education, because of their crucial roles in furthering the learning and teaching agendas of many countries and institutions and psychology academics. In the north of Iraq, which has its own Kurdish Regional Government (KRG), students must take EFL courses from elementary school through university (Ismael and Mohammadzadeh, 2022). Consequently, it is essential to investigate the various factors contributing to improving English language learning and teaching.

Willingness to communicate (WTC) is the goal students of English as a foreign language work toward achieving. WTC in a second language has been the subject of extensive research, and the term "readiness to enter into discourse at a particular time with a specific person or persons, using a L2" has been developed to describe this ability (as cited in Lee, 2020, p. 1). On the other hand, one must not limit the concept of communication to merely verbal exchanges. Another vital talent that has garnered emphasis in recent years is the ability to communicate in writing. This is because written communication is used extensively in print and online and because teachers use it to evaluate their students' progress (Yancey, 2009; Sedita, 2013).

Most of the time, a person's talent and grades are the only elements considered when predicting that person's future success, and many or all other individual factors are neglected. One cannot argue that skill is not vital in forecasting one's success; yet, it should not be considered the only determinant of success, as many people with great talent fail to accomplish anything of worth in their lives. Their cognitive and non-cognitive skills substantially influence an individual's degree of success or failure. Cognitive skills are referred to as the capacity for thinking, remembering, and concentrating. On the other hand, non-cognitive talents include motivation, the ability to self- regulate and believe in one's capabilities, coping mechanisms, the ability to bounce back from setbacks, and personality.

Positive Psychology (PP) has become an essential subject in EFL and SLA due to its dedication and concern for the comfort and pleasure of the learners during the learning process (Gabryś-Barker et al., 2016; Oxford, 2016; Strzałka, 2016; Li, 2020). Positive psychology is categorised by Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi (2014) according to subjective, individual, and group levels. For the subjective level, Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi assert that it is about "valued subjective experiences: wellbeing, contentment, and satisfaction (in the past); hope and optimism (for the future); and flow and happiness (in the present)"; the individual level is about traits such as "the capacity for love and vocation, courage, interpersonal skill, aesthetic sensibility, perseverance, forgiveness, originality, future mindedness, spirituality, high talent, and wisdom"; the group level, "is about the civic virtues and the institutions that move individuals toward better citizenship: responsibility, nurturance, altruism, civility, moderation, tolerance, and work ethic" (p. 5). On the basis of the aforementioned levels, Gabryś-Barker et al. (2016) assert that subjective experiences, individual traits, and the learning environment are crucial factors in influencing the performance of EFL learners.

Grit is one of the positive non-cognitive attributes. The concept of "grit" as a distinguishing characteristic of one's personality gained attraction in the field of psychology in 2007, when it was first presented by Duckworth et al. (2007). It is thought to be the only non- cognitive characteristic that all successful people have in common with one another. Duckworth et al. (2007) say that grit is perseverance and passion for long-term goals and that grit "entails working strenuously toward challenges,

maintaining effort and interest over the years despite failure, adversity, and plateaus in progress" (p. 1087). The Department of Education of the United States of America has designated grit, along with tenacity and perseverance, to be one of the most critical predictors of success. This declaration is an essential acknowledgement of grit's essential role (Shechtman et al., 2013). In spite of all the attention that grit has garnered over the course of the last decade, the EFL has yet to fully investigate it. According to MacIntyre et al.'s (2019) research, grit plays an important part in the process of language acquisition, and this aspect of the phenomenon needs to be investigated.

Researchers have only just begun to acknowledge the significance that grit and positive psychology have in enhancing a learner's ability to pick up a new language. Consideration of these factors is a recent development. However, there are still some gaps in the existing research examining how the interaction between students and their professors is related to the students' grit levels in an English as a Foreign Language setting. The current study investigates whether or not there is a significantly distinct relationship between the recognition that students in Northern Iraq receive inside and outside of the classroom and their levels of grit. Specifically, this paper is an attempt to answer the following research questions (RQ):

- RQ1: Is there a significant relationship between the Grit scale score and the Stroke scale score?
- RQ2: Do the Stroke scale scores of the individuals show a significant difference according to the Grouped Grit Status (Low, Medium, and High)?
- RQ3: Are there any effects of stroke components (verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities) on grit conditions?

Literature review

Grit

Research on grit, which is still in its infancy, has attracted a significant amount of focus in recent years. Duckworth et al. (2007), who defined grit as "passion and perseverance for especially long-term goals," is one of the most prominent and well-known researchers on grit (p. 1087). According to Duckworth, the initial spark that got her interested in studying grit was when she questioned what elements, other than opportunity and talent, determine one person to be more successful than another person. "Grit does not just have resilience in the face of failure," says Perkins-Gough, "but also having deep commitments that you remain loyal to over many years" (2013, p. 16).

Grit is an abbreviation that stands for the following four words: guts, resilience, initiative, and tenacity (Thaler and Koval, 2015). In order to be considered a person with grit, one must exhibit all four of these attributes. It was discovered in a study conducted by the United States Department of Education in 2013 that grit is equally as significant as intelligence in determining one's level of achievement. Duckworth has developed a self-report grit scale that may be used to assess the grit levels of an individual. This will allow grit to be measured. In the Western context, it was discovered that grit had a positive correlation with learners' achievement and retainment (Schmidt et al., 2017; Park et al., 2018; Clark and Malecki, 2019).

Later, Teimouri et al. (2020) developed a new grit scale based on Duckworth's, which is utilised in this article. The grit scale proposed by Teimouri et al. (2020) is a domain-specific grit scale that measures the grit levels of SFL and EFL learners. According to Sudina and Plonsky (2021) perseverance of effort which is a "subscale of grit was a stronger predictor of students' grades and self-reported proficiency" (p. 831). This demonstrates the significance of studies on grit and the development of its application in language acquisition, as students frequently quit when confronted with challenges.

Stroke

The dynamic relationship that develops between a teacher and the students under their tutelage is of critical significance in teaching and learning environments. Students benefit from having positive relationships with their professors because it helps them learn, gives them opportunities to develop the required interpersonal skills, lowers their anxiety, and boosts their drive. Eric Berne developed a method called transactional analysis (TA) that is now considered to be one of the primary methods for analysing interpersonal relationships, "TA is a theory of personality and systematic psychotherapy for personal growth and personal change" (Stewart and Joines, 1987, p. 3). This approach has seen a great deal of application in the fields of counselling, education, communication, and psychology (Solomon, 2003; Barrow, 2007). In educational contexts, TA is utilised to aid in the establishment of clear communication between instructors and students and to prevent the initiation of confrontations that are counterproductive (Stewart and Joines, 1987). Ego states, transactions, life scenarios, life positions, temporal structures, and strokes are the six components that make up the TA method (Shirai, 2006).

The term stroke refers to any action taken to recognise the presence of another person or their ideals (Shirai, 2006). It is a measure of the human capacity for recognition. Interpersonal connections that can be seen as satisfying an emotional need are called strokes. There are many distinct varieties of strokes, including those that are verbal or non-verbal, positive or negative, conditional or unconditional. A simple greeting all the way up to an in-depth discussion might be considered verbal strokes. Non-verbal strokes include things like smiling, nodding your head, shaking hands, and other such actions. Positive strokes are experiences that the recipient views as being pleasant and satisfying, whereas negative strokes are experiences that the receiver views as being unpleasant and unsatisfactory. The actions that people engage in are referred to as conditional strokes, whereas the qualities that people possess are referred to as unconditional strokes (Stewart and Joines, 1987).

Research on grit

The Department of Education of the United States of America stated in 2013 that grit is among the most crucial qualities in deciding one's success in this 21st century. As a result, ever since the concept of grit was first brought up in the academic world, a wide variety of studies on the topic have been carried out. Chang (2014) conducted research at a private college in the Southern United States to investigate whether or not differences in grit levels are associated with differences in academic performance based on race and gender. The research was carried out on firstyear students, 51% of whom were female and 49% were male, 55% of the students were white, 18% were Hispanic, 14% were Asian or Pacific Islander, and 9% were black. According to the findings of the study, grit does not have any bearing on the grades received by first-year students. It also demonstrated that differences in race or gender do not have an effect on one's level of grit. Credé et al. (2017) concur with Chang's findings that gender and race are non-factors in determining whether an individual is gritty.

In more recent studies (Ma et al., 2020; Whipple and Dimitrova-Grajzl, 2021) researchers looked at the effects of grit on male and female students and found that there were significant gender differences in the effects of grit. According to the findings of Ma, Ma, and Lan, higher levels of grit have a beneficial effect on both males and females with regard to the association between teacher autonomy support and social competence. On the other hand, a lower level of grit was found to be significantly associated with the male participants' association but not with the females. The participants in this study consisted of 1,009 undergraduates from China. On the other hand, Whipple and Dimitrova-Grajzl found that grit has a positive effect on the college point averages of the male participants, but that it has no significant effect on the college point averages of the female participants.

According to the findings of some studies, the correlation between age and grit varies depending on the setting. A number of studies (Duckworth et al., 2007; Peña and Duckworth, 2018; Bliss and Jacobson, 2020) demonstrate that there is a significant relationship between age and grit. Other studies do not find a correlation between the two (Rhodes and Giovannetti, 2021). According to Duckworth and her colleagues, grit is not a fixed trait; rather, it shifts and develops over the course of one's life, and it may become more robust as a person ages due to the fact that, in general, older people value their goals and the world around them more than younger people do. Peña and Duckworth demonstrated that there is a significant correlation between age and grit. Additionally, Bliss and Jacobson found that age and grit have a strong correlation with one another, and that the two of them can successfully predict one's academic success. In spite of

119

this, Rhodes and Giovannetti (2021) conducted a study on getting older and discovered that there is no significant correlation between grit and age. They claim that one's level of grit is unaffected by the passage of time, from young adulthood to old age.

Credé et al. (2017) carried out a study on the previously published research on grit, and as part of that process, they examined 88 samples. They came to the conclusion that grit has a moderate relationship with performance and retention across a variety of academic disciplines. In addition to this, they discovered that grit could predict performance, albeit to a limited extent. According to the findings of Credé et al. (2017) grit is a factor that predicts retention in a manner that is comparable to that of the traditional factors that have been the focus in recent years, such as high marks and cognitive abilities.

Research on stroke and grit

Academic research has not yet conducted an exhaustive investigation into how stroke affects grit levels. The current study was made possible by the publication of two significant studies in 2022. These papers prepared the ground for the current paper to be produced. To begin, Yuan (2022) investigated the ways in which increasing students' exposure to stroke in the classroom could boost their levels of grit. China served as the location for this study's setting. In order for Yuan to achieve his objective, he gathered information from a sample of 316 Chinese university students who were studying English as a foreign language. These students came from more than 30 cities across China. The students were given three different questionnaires to fill out: one about the teacher's stroke, one about student rapport, and one about the students' grit. The most important takeaways from the study, which were obtained through running regression, are that there are positive associations between stroke and its effects on learners' grit, and that these associations are correlated positively with one another.

Second, Shen and Guo (2022) carried out a study in which they investigated the connection between the amount of respect and support that students receive from their teachers and the amount of grit that the students exhibit in their academic pursuits. Respect and support are two essential aspects of stroke, despite the fact that the topic of stroke was not directly addressed in this passage. This research was carried out in China, and the sample size consisted of 613 individuals who were studying English as a second language. Initially, the Spearman correlation was utilised, and it was found that teacher respect, teacher support, and grit were strongly correlated with one another. Grit was also found to be strongly correlated with respect for teachers. After that, multiple regression analysis was performed, and the results showed that the respect and support of teachers had a significant impact on the higher levels of grit displayed by the learners. This was determined based on the findings of the study.

Model of the research

Various studies show that stroke and grit levels are important in learning English. Examining the effect of stroke level on L2-grit status in the research model is the centre of the research. In this context, our study was designed within the scope of the research model in Figure 1. We conducted the study based on the components such as verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities that determine stroke levels included in the model.

Theoretical framework

Design

In this particular study, we carried out research in the form of a survey. We began by asking the participants some personal questions about their age, gender, city, university, and topic of study. These questions were presented in the form of a survey. Then, we utilised two scales to measure the L2-grit levels of the participants, derived from Teimouri et al. (2020), and the stroke status of the students using the SSS created by Pishghadam and Khajavy (2014). Survey research was used to "provide evidence on practise, attitudes, and knowledge" (Story and Tait, 2019).

Participants and setting

Because there is a dearth of study conducted in this part of the world, we have decided to conduct our investigation in the northern region of Iraq. The concept of grit has been investigated in a variety of settings, including Iran, China, Japan, and Thailand (Yamashita, 2018; Gyamfi and Lai, 2020; Wei et al., 2020; Khajavy et al., 2021), and the purpose of our research was to make a contribution to the existing body of work on the topic. After obtaining the necessary clearance from the relevant authorities, the questionnaire was distributed to a number of educational institutions. Both instructors and students were requested to reply voluntarily to the survey. There was a total of 199 participants who



120

responded to the survey, 108 of them were male and 91 of whom were female. There was a total of 146 participants who fell into the age range of 16–26, and there were 53 participants who fell into the age range of 26 and above. The age ranges of the participants were divided into two categories, 16–26 years old and 26 years old and above. The number of participants from private universities came in at 113, while the number of participants from public universities came in at 86.

Instruments

The students' cumulative grade point averages in their senior year of high school are taken into consideration when admittance decisions are made at governmental colleges and institutes in the Northern region of Iraq. The students will subsequently fill out a form titled "Zankoline" to indicate their desired departments. However, students must be careful when filling out this form; if they make a mistake, they may end up in a department they never selected. Traditional measurements such as this one is utilised in various nations, and they have proven to be fairly useful in determining students' achievements (Kuncel et al., 2001). Recent research has demonstrated, however, that traditional measurements alone are insufficient; combining traditional and non-cognitive measures has proven to be far more accurate (Sternberg et al., 2012).

For students and learners of a language, frustration is a common experience. During the SLA process, one encounters a great number of challenges and roadblocks. When they cannot envision a successful future in their field, a lot of people give up, particularly students at SLA universities. Because of these challenges, the students and learners may experience feelings of depression and anxiety. Therefore, it will be necessary for them to have strong non-cognitive skills. Krashen (1992) presents the Affective Filter Hypothesis, which is a theory on non-cognitive skills (AFH). According to Krashen's theory, the process of learning a language is directly influenced by the mental states of the learners, such as their levels of anxiety, motivation, and selfconfidence. He continues by explaining that students who have a low level of fear, high levels of motivation, and high levels of self-confidence will be more successful in learning a new language.

L2-grit scale

Numerous studies have been undertaken by researchers in order to identify the degree to which grit is related to other non-cognitive talents. Researchers Reraki et al. (2015) investigated the connection between motivation and grit in college students and came to the conclusion that there is a positive connection between the two concepts as well as a close connection between the two concepts. Changlek and Palanukulwong (2015) carried out an additional study on English language learners in Thailand, and similar to the previous research, they discovered a favourable link between motivation and grit.

According to Duckworth et al. (2007), there is a correlation between grit and the Big Five personality system. Neuroticism, extraversion, openness, agreeableness, and conscientiousness are the five characteristics that make up the Big Five, which Costa and McCrae (1992) define as the most dependable framework for describing personality. Mayer and Skimmyhorn (2017) conducted a study on two military cadets in order to establish whether or not grit corresponds with the Big Five. The participants in the study were required to complete challenging academic tasks. They came to the conclusion that grit has a very strong positive correlation with conscientiousness. According to the findings of the study, grit also had a favourable correlation with the other four Big Five factors.

Based on the understanding of grit and how effective it might be, the L2-Grit scale was used to measure the participants' grit levels in this paper. In 2017, Teimouri, Plonsky, and Tabandeh worked together to develop a domain-specific grit scale for the language domain. Their work was inspired by the original grit scale developed by Duckworth et al. (2007), which was a domaingeneral grit scale. Teimouri et al. (2020) measured the motivational variables of intended effort, Second Language Willingness to Communicate, and attention. According to Lake (2013), concerning measuring intended effort related to real effort, the researchers have employed a six-point Likert-type scale consisting of three items. To measure the students' willingness to communicate in L2 (L2 WTC), the researchers have used a six-point Likert-type four items scale adopted by Yashima (2002). L2 WTC refers to the students' intention to use L2 when no one pushes them (Khajavy et al., 2018). Finally, to measure the students' attention levels, the researchers have employed a six-point Likert-type three items scale.

Mindsets is another aspect that Teimouri et al. (2020) have explored. According to the Mindsets theory (Dweck and Yeager, 2019), there are two groups of people; those who possess fixed mindsets believe that their cognitive abilities are unchangeable, and those who possess growth mindsets believe that their cognitive abilities are flexible. In order to measure whether the students possess fixed or growth mindsets, the researchers have used a seven-point Likert-type four items. Teimouri et al. (2020) have used L2 anxiety and L2 joy for emotional measures. To measure the sample students' L2 anxiety, they used a six-point Likert-type four items scale. Regarding measuring the L2 joy of the students, the researchers have employed a six-point Likerttype four items scale adopted from Teimouri (2017).

The final aspect of the sample students that Teimouri et al. (2020) have measured was language achievement. In order to measure the students' language achievement, the researchers analysed three things; students' grades in three English courses, their GPA (grade point average), and English language proficiency.

In the first question, Teimouri et al. (2020) wanted to learn how their newly-created L2-Grit scale is reliable and valid. The scale was valid and reliable as it was correlated to the

domain-general Grit scale. Also, to further show its validity, the students' self-report grit scale correlated with the teachers' report on the students' grit levels. Furthermore, the L2-Grit scale positively correlated to the students' language achievement measures. The second question Teimouri et al. (2020) addressed in their research was the relationship between students' motivation and emotions with their L2 grit. They have found out that motivation and emotions positively correlate to grit; gritty students were more inclined to learn, focus and engage in L2 classes. It is also shown that grit is negatively correlated to anxiety, similar results as (Changlek and Palanukulwong, 2015), but positively correlated to joy in L2 learning, a similar finding to (Credé et al., 2017). The findings also showed that the newlycreated L2-Grit scale is more potent than the domain-general scale in predicting the relationship between the students' motivation and emotions to grit.

Concerning the relationship between the students' intelligence and grit, the findings of Teimouri et al. (2020) have shown that gritty students view a growth mindset to be the preferable type of intelligence. It has also shown a positive correlation between grit and a growth mindset and a negative correlation to a fixed mindset. This finding reiterates the idea put forth by Perkins-Gough (2013) that since grit contains perseverance of effort, then it is natural for gritty students to view a growth mindset of intelligence positively. Finally, regarding the third question of Teimouri et al. (2020), the research showed that grit correlates positively with language achievement. The research has also shown that the L2-Grit scale, a language domain-specific grit scale, is more accurate in measuring the relationship between grit and language achievement than the general- domain grit scale.

Students' stroke scale

Pishghadam and Khajavy (2014) created and validated a measure of student stroke in order to investigate the relationship between student stroke and motivation, which led to the discovery of a positive connection between them. Irajzad et al. (2017) were the ones in charge of another study that looked at the strokes that were derived from Iranian high school students who were enrolled in language classes. The findings revealed that teachers employ a wide variety of pedagogical approaches when working with students on the development of their language skills. They mostly attributed their success to the kinds of frameworks that they put in place during their professional lives.

Findings

Research Question 1: Is there a significant relationship between the Grit scale score and the Stroke scale score?

Table 1 shows a moderate, positive and significant relationship between the Grit scale score and the Stroke scale score (r=0.35,

TABLE 1 Correlation between grit scale score and stroke scale sc	ore.
--	------

		Grit	Stroke
GRIT	Pearson correlation	1	0.350
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.000
	Ν	199	199
STROKE	Pearson correlation	0.350	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	
	Ν	199	199

Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

p < 0.01). This finding suggests a strong correlation between the Grit scale scores and the Stroke scale scores. Considering the coefficient of determination ($r^2 = 0.12$), it can be said that 12% of the total variance (variability) in the Grit scale score is due to the Stroke scale score (Table 2).

Research Question 2: Do the Stroke scale scores of the individuals show a significant difference according to the Grouped Grit Status (Low, Medium, and High)?

Within the framework of the analysis of the results, it is seen that the stroke levels of the people show a significant difference according to their grit status [F(2-196) = 12.94, p < 0.01]. In other words, stroke levels vary significantly according to the grit status. When we look at the results of the Scheffe test, which was performed to determine between which groups the differences between the grit groups were, we found that the mean of low stroke (X=2.06) is lower than means of medium stroke ($X^{-}=2.46$) and high stroke ($X^{-}=2.69$). This finding shows that with the increase in stroke levels of the people, their grit status also increases.

Research Question 3: Are there are any effects of stroke components (verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities) on grit conditions?

An ordinal logistic regression analysis of link function, logit, was used to determine the effect of stroke components (verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities) on the grit state. The results of the parallel curves assumption of the ordinal logistic regression model are given in Table 3. The results in the table reveal that the regression coefficients estimated within the framework of the regression model structured with the logit, the link function, are the same in each category of the dependent variable and the parallel curves assumption is satisfied (p > 0.05).

Table 4 also includes the Pearson Chi-square fitting test of the model to demonstrate the suitability of the structured model. When the findings related to the test in question are examined in Table 4, it is seen that the logit-linked ordinal logistic regression model is appropriate (p = 0.35 > 0.05). On the other hand, the pseudo R^2 values that give information about the relationship between the dependent variable (grit state) and independent variables (verbal, non-verbal, valuing, and activities) were found as Cox-Snell (0.13), Nagelkerke (0.15), and McFadden (0.07). Here, the pseudo R^2 values indicate that the stroke components poorly explain the variability in the grit state. TABLE 2 ANOVA results of individuals' stroke scale scores according to grouped grit status (low, medium, high).

Source of variance	Sum of squares	Df	Mean square	F	Р	Significant difference
Between groups	10.05	2	5.02	12.94	0.000	Low-Medium
Within groups	76.07	196	0.39			Low-High
Total	86.12	198				

TABLE 3 Test of parallel lines.*

Model	lodel -2 Log likelihood		Df	Sig.
Null hypothesis	382.09			
General	379.57	2.52	4	0.64

The null hypothesis states that the location parameters (slope coefficients) are the same across response categories. *Link function: Logit.

TABLE 4 The results of the fitting test of the model.

Model	Ki-kare	Serbestlik derecesi	P-değeri
Pearson	388.22	378	0.35
Deviance	376.55	378	0.51

Link function: Logit.

Parameter estimates, standard errors and p values of the variables in the model are given in Table 5. As a result of the logitlinked ordinal logistic regression analysis resulted in 2 threshold values calculated in the model being statistically significant. These threshold values are used to calculate the probability values of different dependent variable categories.

As seen in Table 5, non-verbal stroke in the model was the only explanatory variable statistically affecting the grit status. The predicted parameter value of the non-verbal stroke variable, which has a statistically significant effect on the dependent variable, has a positive sign.

When the value of the non-verbal stroke variable, whose estimated parameter value is statistically significant and has a positive sign, is increased by one unit, it will cause an increase in the grit level as much as the parameter value it has. In other words, when the non-verbal stroke score increases by one unit, the grit level will increase by 0.745.

Discussions

The findings indicate that the relationship between the Grit scale score and the Stroke scale score is moderate, positive, and statistically significant. This implies that when the students' levels of grit are high, so are their levels of stroke. This finding is consistent with those of Qiao (2022), who claims that a positive psychological quality like grit has a positive relationship with stroke based on earlier research. In other words, students feel motivated and positive about the learning process when the support they get from their teachers matches

TABLE 5 Estimated parameter values and significance test results of logit-linked ordinal logistic regression model.

		Estimate	Std. error	Wald	df	Sig.
Threshold	[GRIT = 1,00]	1.731	0.671	6.644	1	0.01
	[GRIT=2,00]	3.846	0.721	28.498	1	0
Location	Verbal	-0.053	0.259	0.041	1	0.839
	Non_Verbal	0.745	0.282	6.999	1	0.008
	Valuing	-0.01	0.295	0.001	1	0.974
	Activities	0.51	0.265	3.694	1	0.055

their grit. Additionally, this supports the findings of Yuan (2022) and Shen and Guo (2022). Therefore, it is not surprising that researchers advocate for the implementation of activities that increase grit.

The second reasearch question investigated whether the Stroke scale scores of the individuals differed significantly according on their Grouped Grit Status (Low, Medium, and High). The results of the investigation suggest that people's stroke levels differ significantly depending on their grit status. This result indicates that when people's stroke levels rise, so does their grit. This result was in line with our second hypothesis where it said that the Stroke scale scores of the individuals show a significant difference according to the Grouped Grit Status. This observation is consistent with the findings of Li and Dewaele (2021), who discovered that learners' grit changes and is not static. For example, if learners enjoy themselves and receive praise and encouragement, their grit is high. When students receive a negative stroke, their grit levels fall between low and medium. Yuan's (2022) results back up these findings that stroke and grit are associated. It is critical to recognise that reverse psychology should be avoided because it is not always effective. Giving positive feedback to learners encourages them to stay on their path and grow.

The final research question this paper addressed was whether stroke components (verbal, non- verbal, valuing, and activities) had any impact on grit conditions. Yes, there are consequences of stroke components (verbal, nonverbal, valuing, and activities) on grit conditions, according to the hypothesis for this inquiry. The idea was disproved since nonverbal strokes were the only ones that had an impact on grit levels. Smiles or frowns directed at students are nonverbal examples (Pishghadam and Khajavy, 2014). This finding is similar to that of Gholamrezaee and Ghanizadeh (2018), who discovered that nonverbal stroke is more helpful than the other components of stroke in assisting learners in overcoming the challenges they confront during the learning process. Derakhshan et al.'s (2022) study emphasises the superiority of the nonverbal stroke component. These findings indicate that teachers and educators must be well-equipped with all of the necessary information on body language and be psychologically prepared to interact with students in ways other than vocally.

The findings of this work confirm the importance of positive psychology, such as grit, shown in prior research. Duckworth et al. (2007) have long emphasised that grit must be fostered because it is one of the most important predictors of success. When instructors focus on encouraging students, their grit increases and they become more driven than ever to succeed. Grit, in turn, influences the other components of success and longevity. This tells us "none of the interacting variables is entirely stable and that they influence each other" (Li and Dewaele, 2021). As a result, it is critical for future studies to include multiple aspects when studying grit, as it can vary based on the parameters considered. Dewaele and Thirtle (2009), for example, suggest that an individual's grittiness is influenced by his or her environment, either favourably or adversely.

The present paper has some drawbacks. For starters, as participants in the questionnaire survey self-reported their responses, social desirability might slightly skew their responses. Additionally, while character traits like grit are universal, they may be more highly appreciated and supported in other cultures. As a result, they may take on a slightly different significance when it comes to influencing the emotions and conduct of FL learners. Although the general impacts of grit appear to be universal, we cannot rule out cultural variations.

Conclusion

As stated at the commencement of this study, positive psychology has gained significant attraction in the twenty-first century. Grit is a component of positive psychology that has garnered additional attention. Considering grit, particularly L2-grit, is such a new notion, it provides researchers with several research opportunities. Students' stroke is also a novel idea that gained prominence following the development and validation of its scale. However, the relationship between L2-grit levels and students' stroke was not thoroughly investigated; thus, this work was deemed necessary to address the research gap.

The current study supported earlier findings that grit can alter and can either favourably or adversely correlate with other variables. It was discovered that the L2-grit scale scores and the Stroke scale score have a positive correlation. Additionally, it was discovered that individuals with high, medium or low levels of grit have significantly different stroke rates than those with lower levels. Finally, it was discovered that only nonverbal strokes had a substantial effect on grit levels.

To conclude, this article provides additional proof of the value of grit in the learning process. It also provides valuable information on the linkage between L2-grit and students' stroke, which should lead to further research in diverse circumstances.

Pedagogical implications

The findings of the current study have pedagogical implications for EFL instructors and institutions. First of all, it is clear how important grit is and how it affects students' abilities; as a result, it is crucial that educators and institutions encourage grit. The unwillingness to communicate is one issue that EFL students encounter (Lan et al., 2021). Teachers must inspire their students to face their fears and begin speaking the L2 in order to succeed. Grit "correlates with motivation and other constructs such as self-efficacy, resilience, and hardness," claim Gyamfi and Lai (2020). Instead of spoon-feeding students everything, EFL teachers and institutions can include instructions on how important effort is in learning a new language.

Additionally, the results of the current study offer language learners helpful advice on how to approach the challenging language learning process (Wang et al., 2021). It encourages students to stop asking common questions like, "How do I learn English," as by asking this question, students are looking for short cuts. Students of language will value patience and begin approaching the process with an open mind rather than rushing everything once they learn about grit and how it is "passion and perseverance for long-term goals."

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institute of Graduate Studies and Research Education and Graduate Sciences Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

DM, BM, and YK contributed to the conception and design of the study and wrote sections of the manuscript. DM organized the database and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BM and YK performed the statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Barrow, G. (2007). Transactional analysis, pastoral care and education. *Past. Care Educ.* 25, 21–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0122.2007.00396.x

Bliss, R., and Jacobson, E. (2020). Doctor of physical therapy student grit as a predictor of academic success: a pilot study. *Health Profess. Educa.* 6, 522–528. doi: 10.1016/j.hpe.2020.06.006

Chang, W. (2014). Grit and academic performance: is being grittier better? (order no. 3681407). Available from Pro Quest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1655588316).

Changlek, A., and Palanukulwong, T. (2015). Motivation and grit: predictors of language learning achievement. Veridian E-Journal 8, 23–36.

Clark, K. N., and Malecki, C. K. (2019). Academic grit scale: psychometric properties and associations with achievement and life satisfaction. *J. Sch. Psychol.* 72, 49–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2018.12.001

Costa, P., and McCrae, R. (1992). "Comparability of alternative measures of the five-factor model in peer ratings," in *Annual Convention of the American Psychological Society* (San Diego, CA), 20–22.

Credé, M., Tynan, M. C., and Harms, P. D. (2017). Much ado about grit: a metaanalytic synthesis of the grit literature. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 113, 492–511. doi: 10.1037/pspp0000102

Derakhshan, A., Eslami, Z. R., Curle, S., and Zhaleh, K. (2022). Exploring the predictive role of teacher immediacy and stroke behaviors in English as a foreign language university students' academic burnout. *Stud. Sec. Lang. Learn.Teach.* 12, 87–115. doi: 10.14746/ssllt.2022.12.1.5

Dewaele, J. M., and Thirtle, H. (2009). Why do some young learners drop foreign languages? A focus on learner-internal variables. *Int. J. Biling. Educ. Biling.* 12, 635–649. doi: 10.1080/13670050802549656

Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., and Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 92, 1087–1101. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.6.1087

Dweck, C. S., and Yeager, D. S. (2019). Mindsets: a view from two eras. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 14, 481–496. doi: 10.1177/1745691618804166

Gabryś-Barker, D., and Gałajda, D. (Eds.) (2016). Positive Psychology Perspectives on Foreign Language Learning and Teaching. New York, NY: Springer

Gholamrezaee, S., and Ghanizadeh, A. (2018). EFL teachers' verbal and nonverbal immediacy: a study of its impact on students' emotional states, cognitive learning, and burnout. *Psychol. Stud.* 63, 398–409. doi: 10.1007/ s12646-018-0467-5

Gyamfi, G., and Lai, Y. (2020). Beyond motivation: investigating Thai English major students' grit. *PASAA*, 60, 60–96. E-ISSN: 2287-0024

Irajzad, F., Pishghadam, R., and Shahriari, H. (2017). Examining the stroking behavior of English, Persian, and Arabic school teachers in Iran: a mixed-methods study. *Int. J. Instr.* 10, 219–236. doi: 10.12973/iji.2017.10114a

Ismael, S. M. I., and Mohammadzadeh, B. (2022). Gender representation in EFL textbooks used in state schools in Northern Iraq and teachers' perceptions of gender role stereotypes. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* doi: 10.1080/10494820. 2022.2029495

Khajavy, G. H., Mac Intyre, P. D., and Barabadi, E. (2018). Role of the emotions and classroom environment in willingness to communicate: applying doubly latent multilevel analysis in second language acquisition research. *Stud. Second. Lang. Acquis.* 40, 605–624. doi: 10.1017/S0272263117000304

Khajavy, G. H., Mac Intyre, P. D., and Hariri, J. (2021). A closer look at grit and language mindset as predictors of foreign language achievement. *Stud. Second. Lang. Acquis.* 43, 379–402. doi: 10.1017/S0272263120000480

Krashen, S. (1992). "The input hypothesis: An update," in *Georgetown University Round Table on Languages and Linguistics, 1991.* ed. J. Alatis (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press), 409–431.

Kuncel, N. R., Hezlett, S. A., and Ones, D. S. (2001). A comprehensive metaanalysis of the predictive validity of the graduate record examinations: implications for graduate student selection and performance. *Psychol. Bull.* 127, 162–181. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.162

Lake, J. (2013). 13 positive L2 self: linking positive psychology with L2 motivation. *Lang. Learn. Motiv. Japan* 71:225. doi: 10.21832/9781783090518 organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Lan, G., Nikitina, L., and Woo, W. S. (2021). Ideal L2 self and willingness to communicate: a moderated mediation model of shyness and grit. *System* 99:102503. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2021.102503

Lee, J. S. (2020). The role of grit and classroom enjoyment in EFL learners' willingness to communicate. *J. Multiling. Multicult. Dev.* 43, 452–468. doi: 10.1080/01434632.2020.1746319

Li, C. (2020). A positive psychology perspective on Chinese EFL students' trait emotional intelligence, foreign language enjoyment and EFL learning achievement. *J. Multiling. Multicult. Dev.* 41, 246–263. doi: 10.1080/01434632.2019.1614187

Li, C., and Dewaele, J. M. (2021). How classroom environment and general grit predict foreign language classroom anxiety of Chinese EFL students. *J. Psychol. Lang. Learn.* 3, 86–98. doi: 10.52598/jpll/3/2/6

Ma, Y., Ma, C., and Lan, X. (2020). Uncovering the moderating role of grit and gender in the association between teacher autonomy support and social competence among Chinese undergraduate students. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:6398. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176398

MacIntyre, P. D., Gregersen, T., and Mercer, S. (2019). Setting an agenda for positive psychology in SLA: theory, practice, and research. *Mod. Lang. J.* 103, 262–274. doi: 10.1111/modl.12544

Mayer, J. D., and Skimmyhorn, W. (2017). Personality attributes that predict cadet performance at west point. J. Res. Pers. 66, 14-26. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2016.10.012

Oxford, R. L. (2016). "Toward a psychology of well-being for language learners: the "EMPATHICS" vision," in *Positive Psychology in SLA*. eds. P. D. MacIntyre, T. Gregersen and S. Mercer (England: Multilingual Matters Bristol)

Park, D., Yu, A., Baelen, R. N., Tsukayama, E., and Duckworth, A. L. (2018). Fostering grit: perceived school goal-structure predicts growth in grit and grades. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 55, 120–128. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2018.09.007

Peña, P. A., and Duckworth, A. L. (2018). The effects of relative and absolute age in the measurement of grit from 9th to 12th grade. *Econ. Educ. Rev.* 66, 183–190. doi: 10.1016/j.econedurev.2018.08.009

Perkins-Gough, D. (2013). The significance of grit: a conversation with Angela Lee Duckworth. *Educ. Leadersh.* 71, 14–20.

Pishghadam, R., and Khajavy, G. H. (2014). Development and validation of the student stroke scale and examining its relation with academic motivation. *Stud. Educ. Eval.* 43, 109–114. doi: 10.1016/j.stueduc.2014.03.004

Qiao, R. (2022). A theoretical analysis of approaches to enhance students' grit and academic engagement. *Front. Psychol.* 13:889509. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.889509

Reraki, M., Celik, I., and Saricam, H. (2015). Grit as a mediator of the relationship between motivation and academic achievement. *Ozean J. Soc. Sci.* 8, 19–32. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.15063.78240

Rhodes, E., and Giovannetti, T. (2021). Grit and successful aging in older adults. Aging Ment. Health 26, 1253–1260. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2021.1919990

Schmidt, F. T., Fleckenstein, J., Retelsdorf, J., Eskreis-Winkler, L., and Möller, J. (2017). Measuring grit. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 35, 436–447. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000407

Sedita, J. (2013). "Learning to write and writing to learn," in *Fundamentals of Literacy Instruction and Assessment*. ed. M. C. Hougen, vol. 6 (Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes), 12.

Seligman, M. E., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). "Positive psychology: an introduction," in *Flow and the Foundations of Positive Psychology*. ed. R. Graef (Dordrecht: Springer)

Shechtman, N., DeBarger, A. H., Dornsife, C., Rosier, S., and Yarnall, L. (2013). Promoting Grit, Tenacity, and Perseverance: Critical Factors for Success in the 21st century. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Department of Educational Technology, 1, 1–107.

Shen, Y., and Guo, H. (2022). Increasing Chinese EFL learners' grit: the role of teacher respect and support. *Front. Psychol.* 13:880220. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.880220

Shirai, S. (2006). How transactional analysis can be used in terminal care. Int. Cong. Ser. 1287, 179–184. doi: 10.1016/j.ics.2005.12.052

Solomon, C. (2003). Transactional analysis theory: the basics. *Trans. Anal. J.* 33, 15–22. doi: 10.1177/036215370303300103

Sternberg, R. J., Bonney, C. R., Gabora, L., and Merrifield, M. (2012). WICS: a model for college and university admissions. *Educ. Psychol.* 47, 30–41. doi: 10.1080/00461520.2011.638882

Stewart, I., and Joines, V. (1987). *TA Today: A New Introduction to Transactional Analysis.* Nottingham: Lifespace Pub.

Story, D. A., and Tait, A. R. (2019). Survey research. *Anesthesiology* 130, 192–202. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000002436

Strzałka, A. (2016). "Can earning academic credits be enjoyable? Positive psychology in a university course of intercultural communication," in *Positive Psychology Perspectives on Foreign Language Learning and Teaching*. eds. D. Gabryś-Barker and D. Gałajda (Cham: Springer).

Sudina, E., and Plonsky, L. (2021). Academic perseverance in foreign language learning: an investigation of language-specific grit and its conceptual correlates. *Mod. Lang. J.* 105, 829–857. doi: 10.1111/modl.12738

Teimouri, Y. (2017). L2 selves, emotions, and motivated behaviors. *Stud. Second. Lang. Acquis.* 39, 681–709. doi: 10.1017/S0272263116000243

Teimouri, Y., Plonsky, L., and Tabandeh, F. (2020). L2 grit: passion and perseverance for second-language learning. *Lang. Teach. Res.* 26, 893–918. doi: 10.1177/1362168820921895

Thaler, L. K., and Koval, R. (2015). Grit to Great: How Perseverance, Passion, and Pluck Take You From Ordinary to Extraordinary. New York, NY: Crown Business

Wang, Y., Derakhshan, A., and Zhang, L. J. (2021). Researching and practicing positive psychology in second/foreign language learning and teaching: the past, current status and future directions. *Front. Psychol.* 12:731721. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.731721

Wei, R., Liu, H., and Wang, S. (2020). Exploring L2 grit in the Chinese EFL context. *System* 93:102295. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2020.102295

Whipple, S. S., and Dimitrova-Grajzl, V. (2021). Grit, fit, gender, and academic achievement among first-year college students. *Psychol. Sch.* 58, 332–350. doi: 10.1002/pits.22449

Yamashita, T. (2018). Grit and Second Language Acquisition: Can Passion and Perseverance Predict Performance in Japanese Language Learning? Ph.D. thesis, Amherst, MA: University of Massachusetts Amherst.

Yancey, K. B. (2009). 2008 NCTE presidential address: the impulse to compose and the age of composition. *Res. Teach. Engl.* 43, 316–338.

Yashima, T. (2002). Willingness to communicate in a second language: the Japanese EFL context. *Mod. Lang. J.* 86, 54–66. doi: 10.1111/1540-4781.00136

Yuan, L. (2022). Enhancing Chinese EFL students' grit: the impact of teacher stroke and teacher- student rapport. *Front. Psychol.* 12:823280. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.823280

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefka, Turkey

REVIEWED BY

Haroon N. Alsager, Prince Sattam Bin Abdulaziz University, Saudi Arabia Aysegul Liman Kaban, Bahçeşehir University, Turkey

*CORRESPONDENCE Simeng Jia stockton121212@163.com; Jiasimenghb@126.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 19 September 2022 ACCEPTED 17 October 2022 PUBLISHED 11 November 2022

CITATION

Zhang Y and Jia S (2022) A study on the effects of language and visual art integrated teaching on language learning performance and satisfaction of ethnic minority students in China. *Front. Psychol.* 13:1048635. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1048635

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang and Jia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A study on the effects of language and visual art integrated teaching on language learning performance and satisfaction of ethnic minority students in China

Yao Zhang^{1,2} and Simeng Jia^{2*}

¹School of Economics, Minzu University of China, Beijing, China, ²School of Management, Hebei Finance University, Baoding, China

Innovative technological products are present in students' environments. Information explosion and popularity are affecting their thoughts, and there is a large amount of information fuel in life through the Internet, television, movies, and advertisements. This phenomenon transforms reading from pure words into image. The current study was conducted using an experimental design model. A total of 188 ethnic minority students in the Hebei Province participated in the experimental study. The experimental group went through language and visual art integrated instruction, while the control group underwent traditional teaching. The experimental study lasted for 20 weeks (3 h per week). The research results showed that (1) spoken and written artistic conception was displayed through artistic expression. Ethnic minority students' differences in language skills and artistic expression were found to be the major factors that were effective in the production process. These aspects made the work richer and even more diversified. (2) After joining the classes and covering several lessons, ethnic minority students were found to be getting increasingly better in terms of integrating art vocabulary into their conversation. (3) Language and visual art integrated teaching input was a story content, which was received through "listening", while the outputs were individual opinions through "speaking". Their thoughts were presented through "painting". The creation process operated in the brain and reflected differences in terms of their thinking skills, vocabulary organizational skills, language use, and creativity. Based on the results, this study is expected to improve the language proficiency of ethnic minority students, enhance their artistic culture, and pave the way for their understanding and attitude toward language and literature.

KEYWORDS

language teaching, visual art, language learning performance, language satisfaction, curriculum and environment

Introduction

Technology development has brought about many drastic changes in the daily life of people, especially students, in the 21st century. Innovative technological products have taken the place of book reading in students' life. Information explosion and popularity are influencing their thoughts, and there is a large amount of information fuel in life through the Internet, television, movies, and advertisements. This phenomenon transforms reading from pure language and text into images (Hadi et al., 2021). With a view to sparing time for nurturing these visual activities, the use of language by students is consequently gradually getting reduced in the process. When the communication function of a language is replaced by pictures, children gradually ignore the information delivery function of the language. Language exchange nowadays is mostly limited by language use. It has been discovered that ethnic minority students have an insufficient language learning approach. Their concern regarding language words and sentences is also limited, which leads to a larger gap between them and their peers in the classroom. Their use of ambiguous language is weaker than the language spoken by urban students. It has been discovered that such a condition is common owing to the boom in technological products. Strong and figurative visual images replace words and sentences or articles, which can be comprehended after careful thinking. Ethnic minority students lose patience to reach that mental state so that they can learn efficiently from written works. On the contrary, they expect a quick input of visual, auditory, and sensory stimulation. They are poor at using language skills both to interpret their ideas and to maintain interpersonal communication. This is because of the emotional release and comprehension frustration that act as obstacles in the personal development process of ethnic minority students. Considering the above situations, it is important to integrate language teaching into the art education curriculum to open a learning opportunity for both art and language for ethnic minority students. This ethnic student-friendly approach can enable students to explore the language and literature through arts while deepening the learning of art through the use of language and literature. As a result, a win-win situation is achieved in artistic expression ability and language ability (Yundayani et al., 2019). The sensory stimulation of art in terms of multiple cultures leads ethnic minority students to feel and experience abstract theories and use art as a mediator to connect knowledge, increase the depth of learning, and instill in them the spirit of integrity. These changes in life, as a result, enable ethnic students to establish a connection with experience, life, and society, which has multiple aspects. Moreover, innovative thinking has also been encouraged to focus on various issues in the environment (Mayer et al., 2020). This point of view perceives art as the tool and medium that connects language

and literature and uses art as an instrument. Besides, the essential value of art should be taken into consideration. For this reason, subject-based art education, which includes aesthetic experience and life experience in the visual art language and literature integrated curriculum, is proposed in this study. In addition, this study discusses the effect of language and visual art integrated teaching on students' language learning performance and satisfaction. It should be indicated that making language and art a part of ethnic minority students' life experience is considered important. These aspects provide an opportunity to discuss the effect of language and visual art integrated teaching on ethnic minority students' language learning performance and satisfaction. It is expected that the results of this study can help improve the language proficiency of ethnic minority students and enhance their artistic culture. It is also expected that this study helps them to develop an understanding and inculcate a positive attitude toward language and literature. In addition, this study is expected to contribute to their knowledge and culture of art, as well as feelings and experiences in life.

Literature review

Language is an instrument that provides communication and a comprehensive subject; therefore, an effective language teaching approach requires integrated design and application (Stezycka and Etherington, 2020). The current society presents an environment with cultural diversity. In this environment, the coexistence of multiethnic languages and cultures possesses a potential for both harmony and troubles. The current education pattern faces the issue of including diverse student groups, and the family members of students also contain individuals from different cultural backgrounds in their family group itself. Single language teaching can no longer meet the requirements of all students. The development and evolutionary process of language has enriched the words with a variety of meanings with historical backgrounds. Each word presents the development and change in symbolic, phonetic, and literal meanings. Words are also evolved from pictures, and the relationship between pictogram and character provides clues to this process (Svenningsson et al., 2022). Different languages and cultures have their unique brilliance that it is necessary to keep the respectful attitude to explore a distinct culture. Arts is a field based on multicultural sensory stimulation, enabling the students to experience abstract theories with actual feelings. Students should also consider arts as the media for linking knowledge to enhance learning depth, width, and integrity. As a result of these explicable reasons, arts are intricately connected with students' experience, life, and society they live in and deal with various issues in the entire life environment from multiple perspectives and innovative thinking (Sunra-La Sunra et al., 2020). Such a point of view takes arts as a tool and medium to link language. It is the instrumental value of language that takes care of the essential value of arts.

Gao et al. (2019) considered language and visual art integrated teaching as an improved teaching experience. Knowledge being integrated by instructors allowed students to completely grasp the basics of the curriculum. Applying an intradisciplinary or interdisciplinary curriculum enables the establishment of a connection between language and arts. In addition, it contributes to inform students about the two fields together and allows students to gain experience and find out the connections between them. Even though students cannot successfully find the connecting point at the time, they can accumulate adequate knowledge for self-awareness in the future. Preece and Marshall (2020) mentioned that, in addition to visual art, other subjects were covered in the language and visual art integrated instruction model. The art works and students' works are placed in the social, cultural, historical, and artistic aesthetic context. This is because the meaning of a work can be reinforced through the level of relationship with other art works, objects, artificial works, and events in other subjects. These events include various art-related fields such as learning art creation, art history, aesthetics, and art criticism. Besides, they attempted to affect and even generalize the events to other relevant subjects based on visual art education (Brown et al., 2020). Santos and Castro (2021) stated that language and visual art integrated teaching, along with different curriculum goals and through the adjustment of teaching content, can help achieve the learning outcome more effectively. The use of art instruction to support the other subjects in achieving subject-specific and cross-curricular learning objectives can explain the integration and recognition of issues in students' lives. Language and visual art integrated instruction, with an art-based integrated curriculum, uses art as a medium. In addition, art concept, aesthetic elements, and art resource were also used to mediate, activate, assist, and integrate learning in other fields to present language through paintings and to support the expression in paintings (Mayer et al., 2020). The word has a rich and unlimited meaning that gradually affects the students' learning performance (Rahmatika et al., 2021). Accordingly, the following hypothesis is proposed in this study.

H1: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language satisfaction.

The contents and styles of language and literature application have become an instrument for recording the ideology. Language and literature, as a comprehensive subject, provide a tool that can stimulate thinking and deliver thoughts. They can also help students construct logic, practice personality education, transmit history, and improve communication through listening and reading. Therefore, integrated design and application are necessary for language and literature instruction. Art education emphasizes art perception to promote the perception of aesthetics in life, appreciate the beauty of art work, and develop artistic creation through awareness, as well as integrate aesthetics into daily life (Choe et al., 2019). Language and visual art are two different creation styles. After thousand years of accumulation, collection, change, and transformation, they are presented in various formats but have close relationships (Schmid et al., 2021). Johann and Bülow (2019) considered the art work as independent from the objective world and the subjective mind, so that it is a creation in the true sense. If it were simply the deviant form of an object, the spoken language could reveal the way to store information. People used spoken language to record anecdotes that were passed down from generation to generation and became stories that spread widely. Spoken language did not leave behind material products but was passed down through memory and served as a way for people to reflect (Noyan Erbaş et al., 2021). Image also provides the opportunity to interpret the connotation of the word and reveals the author's thoughts through symbols, metaphors, hints, colors, and compositions in the image, so visual communication is more shocking and effective than literature. Consequently, language teaching that integrates visual art can significantly affect students' satisfaction in language learning (Purwanto et al., 2020). Therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed in this study.

H2: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language learning performance.

Su (2019) considered the preference for different behaviors, attitudes, and feelings toward learning activities as learning satisfaction. Students with higher learning satisfaction showed better learning outcomes, which therefore became the most important objective of differentiated learning. Copur-Gencturk and Thacker (2021) discussed the relationships between learning satisfaction and learning outcomes and found that learning satisfaction had a significant positive effect on learning outcomes. Shao et al. (2019) studied the relationships between learning satisfaction and learning outcomes of sports talent class students in elementary schools and found out moderately positive correlations between learning satisfaction and learning outcomes of the participants in Taipei City and New Taipei City. Kaliisa et al. (2019) investigated learning satisfaction and learning success of high school students in swimming classes and found significant positive correlations between learning satisfaction and learning outcomes of students in swimming classes. Preece (2019) used G6 as an example to investigate e-book learning outcomes and learning satisfaction and found out the remarkably positive correlations. Therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed in this study.

H3: Language satisfaction has significant positive effects on language learning performance.

Methodology

Measurement of research variable

Language satisfaction

Following the study of Wang et al. (2021), in this study, we considered two factors of learning satisfaction as teacher's instruction and curriculum and environment.

- 1. Teacher's instruction: Teachers' professional knowledge, ability to solve students' problems, preparation before lessons, teaching styles, teaching attitude, interaction with students, and understanding of students' individual needs can improve students' learning satisfaction.
- 2. Curriculum and environment: Learners' interests in the course content and their behaviors during the learning process improve their positive attitude.

Language learning performance

Following the study of Fang et al. (2022), factors in students' learning outcomes were proposed as follows.

- 1. Instructional factors: These include peer relationships, student-teacher interaction, classroom equipment, learning environment, family background, and community's cultural values.
- 2. Environmental factors: These factors include teaching style, teaching hour, curriculum design, material content, and teachers' organization and lecturing ability.

Research object and sampling data

There are 55 different ethnic minorities in Hebei Province, China, with a population of 2.96 million. This constitutes about 4.27% of the total population in the province and is ranked ninth nationally. Native ethnic minorities include the Manchus, the Hui people, the Mongolians, and the Koreans. Ethnic minorities in the Hebei Province are distributed in urban and rural areas. Among them, 83% live in villages, while 17% of them live in cities. Several native ethnic minorities inhabit a certain region, for instance, Manchu reside mainly in Chengde, Qinhuangdao, Zunhua of Tangshan, and Yi County of Baoding. Similarly, Hui people reside mainly in villages and towns in Cangzhou and Langfang as well as in some larger towns in other cities. Most ethnic minorities inhabit in poor areas with severe natural conditions and low fertility of the soil. For instance, they live in Taihang Mountains, high and cold areas on a dam, and lower areas with alkali soil along Heilongjiang River. Ethnic minority students in China have worse language learning and artistic culture achievement compared to urban students. For this reason, the experimental design model with language and

visual art integrated teaching for ethnic minority students was adopted in this study. It is expected to understand train ethnic minority students' language proficiency, improve their level of artistic culture, improve their understanding and feeling of language and literature, as well as their knowledge and culture of art.

A total of 188 ethnic minority students in Hebei Province participated in the experimental study. The experimental group went through language and visual art integrated instruction, while the control group maintained traditional teaching. The experimental study lasted 20 weeks (3 h per week). SPSS Software was used for data analysis. Factor analysis, reliability analysis, regression analysis, and analysis of variance were conducted to test the hypotheses.

Research process

Creating a research gap and finding an appropriate sample is of extreme importance in the research process. According to the research gap, a literature review and analysis were conducted. Based on these theories, the design of the teaching unit was drafted, and the course contents were prepared for the teaching purpose. Besides, students' in-class work and creation processes were observed, recorded, and collected in the teaching activity. On the collected data, unit review and reflection were done after the end of each unit. This enabled teachers to revise the successive teaching activities. Students were given the questionnaire survey after the end of the course. With this, it was aimed to analyze the language satisfaction and the language learning performance of the students.

The teaching experiment was implemented for 20 weeks, from January to May 2022. The course descriptions and evaluation standards were explained in the first week. The language teaching integrated with visual arts was conducted as scheduled from the second week, and the general revision and the questionnaire survey were conducted in the last week. The teaching contents included "understanding the development process of impressionism and announcing the viewpoints of impressionist works", "creating personal work based on the principles of impressionism", "enhancing the learning effectiveness of art creation through language and improving self-confidence and creating positive experience", "presenting the artistic conception or content of language with visual creation", "observing the relations between affairs in daily life and oneself with visual performance", "enhancing the ability to appreciate and comment personal and others' works through language ability", and "enhancing the art and language performance through teaching activity for experience accumulation". These contents were designed to match the teaching objectives. With a traditional teaching model, the course explanation and evaluation standards were also conducted in the first week. The course was conducted

TABLE 1 Variance analysis of language and visual art integrated instruction in language satisfaction.

Variable		F	P-value	Scheffe post-hoc
Language and visual art integrated instruction	Teacher's instruction	17.534	0.000*	Language and visual art integrated instruction (4.12) > traditional teaching model (3.34)
integrated instruction	Curriculum and environment	22.893	0.000*	(4.12) > traditional teaching model (5.54) Language and visual art integrated instruction
				(4.05) > traditional teaching model (3.51)

*p < 0.05.

TABLE 2 Variance analysis of language and visual art integrated instruction in language learning performance.

Variable		F	P-value	Scheffe post-hoc
Language and visual art integrated instruction	Instructional factors	19.732	0.000*	Language and visual art integrated instruction $(4.23) >$ traditional teaching model (3.56)
	Environmental factors	25.467	0.000*	(4.17) > traditional training model (3.48) (4.17) > traditional teaching model (3.48)

 $^{*}p < 0.05.$

as mentioned in the schedule from the second week, and the general revision and questionnaire survey were implemented in the last week. The teaching content focuses on enhancing listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills in the field of language. As in traditional teaching, teachers followed the principles of didactic teaching.

Data collection and analysis

The research data were collected with a questionnaire survey as well as the instructor's teaching practice through in-class video and tape recording and teacher's observation for the analysis.

Quantitative research, a structure-oriented measurement method for a specific phenomenon, considers that any individual, organizational, or social truth be defined and manipulated (Miller and Brewer, 2003). The researcher established the observed social phenomena or human behaviors' logic and presented with numbers to explore the relations through statistics. This enabled the social fact to be objectively and systematically studied to understand the cause-and-effect among variables (Outhwaite and Turner, 2007). With these features in mind, it was decided that the quantitative research conforms to the objectives of this study that is used for this study. Besides, the questionnaire survey results could be easily quantified. A questionnaire survey is a structured survey, with a fixed form of expression, questioning orders, and the answering method of the questions. Besides, it is a kind of text exchange. Accordingly, nobody, including the researchers or surveyors too, can interfere with the survey with subjective bias. Since it was reported that the statistical results can be quantified (Outhwaite and Turner, 2007), the quantitative research method was utilized for this study, and a questionnaire survey was used.

Analysis results

Reliability and validity analysis

The factor analysis was used and two factors, namely, "teacher's instruction" (eigenvalue = 2.561, α = 0.87) and "curriculum & environment" (eigenvalue = 2.192, α = 0.89), were extracted from the language satisfaction construct. The cumulative covariance explained was found as 75.262%.

The factor analysis for the language learning performance construct generated two factors: "instructional factors" (eigenvalue = 4.327, α = 0.93) and "environmental factors" (eigenvalue = 3.183, α = 0.95). The cumulative covariance was found to be 77.128%.

Effects of language and visual art integrated instruction on language satisfaction and language learning performance

Analysis of variance of language visual art integrated instruction in language satisfaction

The ANOVA, which was conducted to discuss the difference of teaching model in language satisfaction (Table 1), showed significant differences between teaching model and teacher's instruction. Based on teachers' teaching, language teaching combined with visual arts (4.12) was found to have a higher score than the traditional teaching mode (3.34). Similarly, based on curriculum and environment, the integration of language teaching with visual arts (4.05) was found to have a higher score

Dependent variable \rightarrow	Language learning performance				
Independent variable↓ Language satisfaction	Instructional factors		Environmental factors		
	В	Р	β	Р	
Teacher's instruction	2.175**	0.000	2.394**	0.000	
Curriculum and environment	2.241**	0.000	2.481**	0.000	
F	37.438	42.596			
Significance	0.000***	0.000***			
R2	0.266	0.334			
Adjusted R2	0.247	0.326			

TABLE 3 Analysis of language satisfaction to language learning performance.

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Data source: Self-organized in this study.

than the traditional teaching mode (3.51). Therefore, H1 was supported.

ANOVA of language and visual art integrated instruction in language learning performance

The ANOVA was implemented to discuss the difference between teaching model and language learning performance (Table 2). The results showed significant differences in terms of the teaching model in language learning performance. In the integration of language teaching with visual arts as compared to traditional teaching mode, language teaching with visual arts (4.23) was found to be higher on teaching factors than the traditional teaching mode (3.56). Similarly, in the integration of language teaching with visual arts as compared to traditional teaching mode, the integration of language teaching with visual arts (4.17) was found to be higher on environmental factors than the traditional teaching mode (3.48). In this respect, it can be stated that H2 was supported.

Correlation analysis of language satisfaction and language learning performance

Correlation analysis of language satisfaction and instructional factors

To test H3, a correlation analysis was conducted (Table 3). The results revealed significant positive effects of teacher's instruction ($\beta = 2.175^{**}$) and curriculum and environment ($\beta = 2.241^{**}$) on instructional factors.

Correlation analysis of language satisfaction and environmental factors

To test H3, a correlation analysis was conducted (Table 3). The results showed significant positive effects of teacher's

instruction ($\beta = 2.394^{**}$) and curriculum and environment ($\beta = 2.481^{**}$) on environmental factors. Therefore, H3 was supported.

Discussion

The research results revealed that, by using language and visual art integrated instruction, we can guide students to discuss the concept of impressionism (Su and Foulger, 2019). Moreover, this approach considers ethnic minority students as the subjects of the curriculum and emphasizes individual natural development while improving the educational value of art activity. The instructors select topics for integrating into the curriculum from various perspectives in order to contribute to ethnic minority students' development in various dimensions during the participation in the course (Tseng et al., 2019). The research hypothesis, namely H1: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language satisfaction, is supported, which conforms to the research results of Hasan et al. (2021), Rahmatika et al. (2021), and Santos and Castro (2021). The integrated curriculum systematically integrates language and visual art knowledge for ethnic minority students to enable them to completely grasp the content. The teaching process improves the ethnic minority students' language ability and deepens their knowledge of the culture of art (van Lancker and Parolin, 2020). The experimental instruction analyzes ethnic minority students' art and language performance during their participation in the language and visual art integrated course. The research hypothesis, namely H2: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language learning performance, is supported, conforming to the research results of Purwanto et al. (2020), Noyan Erbaş et al. (2021), and Schmid et al. (2021). The instructor particularly paid attention to the extension and correlation of teaching in the curriculum design to ensure a connection between units. It promotes

ethnic minority students' learning motivation using the familiar elements with the new content in the course considering their prior knowledge. Regarding the use of media and art vocabulary, language was integrated into ethnic minority students' daily used word files and their painting skills were also advanced through repeated practice (Verkasaloa et al., 2021). Language and literature activity was also integrated into the curriculum. The appreciation of language and story was inculcated in different ways to deliver the word meaning through artistic creation. Story and personal experience are connected with unlimited performance to apply to the instruction to observe ethnic minority students' learning and development in various dimensions. The research hypothesis, namely H3: Language satisfaction has significant positive effects on language learning performance, is supported, conforming to the research results of Kaliisa et al. (2019), Preece (2019), and Copur-Gencturk and Thacker (2021). It is evident that the course diversity of language teaching combining visual arts was favored by students. Different from monotonous basic subjects, students preferred free, flexible, and limitless creation courses. An integrated teaching of language and visual arts was favored by students, and it encourages students' willingness to learn both fields.

Conclusion

The experimental result revealed that language and visual art integrated teaching (4.12) was found to be higher than the traditional teaching mode (3.34) on teachers' teaching, and language and visual arts' integration (4.05) was found to be higher than that taught by traditional teaching mode (3.51) on curriculum and environment. Therefore, H1 is supported: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language satisfaction.

Language teaching combined with visual arts (4.23) was found to higher on teaching factors than the traditional teaching mode (3.56), and language and visual arts integration (4.17) was found to be higher on environmental factors than the traditional teaching mode (3.48). Therefore, H2 is supported: Language and visual art integrated instruction has significant effects on language learning performance.

The correlation analysis results of language satisfaction and teaching factors showed notable and positive effects of teacher's teaching ($\beta = 2.175^{**}$) and curriculum and environment ($\beta = 2.241^{**}$) on teaching factors. In addition, the correlation analysis results of language satisfaction and teaching factors showed significant and positive effects of teacher's teaching ($\beta = 2.394^{**}$) and curriculum and environment ($\beta = 2.481^{**}$) on environmental factors. The research hypothesis, namely H3 is, therefore, supported: Language satisfaction has significant positive effects on language learning performance.

The experiment revealed that language and visual art integrated teaching provides input through listening and reading, without the assistance of pictures. The composition of pictures was stimulated by language and comprehended, induced, and transformed into individually perceived concepts (Qiu et al., 2021). Ethnic minority students were trained in terms of concentration, quick thinking, ideation, memory, and emotional perception through listening to ensure proper judgment and analysis in the listening process. Words were transformed into specific images, feelings, and thoughts during reading comprehension. As a result, their thinking and imagination to comprehend the story content and integrate with artistic expression for the final objective of self-actualization was reached (Yang et al., 2020). The artistic concept of language and word was presented through an artistic expression. The differences in language proficiency and artistic expression of ethnic minority students are the factors of the production process. These aspects led the work to be richer and more diversified (Buttler, 2020). Teachers encourage ethnic minority students to deliver their personal opinions with art vocabulary and integrate art terminology into the language and discussion so that their individual presentation is contextual and full of affection. Teachers largely used classroom for demonstration, and ethnic minority students started to add terminology into the language. After showing their improvement in various lessons, ethnic minority students started to get better and better to integrate art vocabulary into language conversation. Language and visual art integrated teaching input was presented via the story content through "listening". The output regarding their personal opinions was in the form of "speaking" and "painting". Ethnic minority students absorbed external information with these three actions for internalization and organization. They interpreted the course content with their personal opinions and previous experience and transformed it into language and painting for output. The creation process was operated in the brain. Ethnic minority students were trained and was asked to observe the transformation and the reflected thinking skills, language organizational skills, language use skills, and creation skills' outcomes.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The present study was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of the Ethics Committee of the Minzu

University of China, with written informed consent being obtained from all the participants. All the participants were asked to read and approve the ethical consent form before participating in the present study. The participants were also asked to follow the guidelines mentioned in the research form. The research protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Minzu University of China.

Author contributions

YZ performed the initial analyses and wrote the manuscript. SJ assisted in the data collection and data analysis. All authors revised and approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Brown, T., Mann, B., Ryder, N., Subbiah, M., Kaplan, J. D., Dhariwal, P., et al. (2020). Language models are few-shot learners. *Adv. Neural. Inf. Processi. Syst.* 3, 877–1901.

Buttler, T. (2020). Disrupting my teaching practices: A teacher educator living as a contradiction. *Stud. Teach. Educ.* 16, 222–239. doi: 10.1080/17425964.2020.1758654

Choe, R. C., Scuric, Z., Eshkol, E., Cruser, S., Arndt, A., Cox, R., et al. (2019). Student satisfaction and learning outcomes in asynchronous online lecture videos. *CBE Life Sci. Educ.* 18, 1–14. doi: 10.1187/cbe.18-08-0171

Copur-Gencturk, Y., and Thacker, I. (2021). A comparison of perceived and observed learning from professional development: relationships among self-reports, direct assessments, and teacher characteristics. *J. Teach. Educ.* 72, 138–151. doi: 10.1177/0022487119899101

Fang, T., Wang, L. Y., Lin, T. B., and Huang, C. K. (2022). To stay or leave: a multiple-case study of the retention of native English-speaking teachers in Taiwan. *Asia Pacific. Educ. Rev.* 23, 325–340. doi: 10.1007/s12564-022-09756-7

Gao, J., He, D., Tan, X., Qin, T., Wang, L., and Liu, T. Y. (2019). Representation degeneration problem in training natural language generation models. arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.12009.

Hadi, M. S., Izzah, L., and Paulia, Q. (2021). Teaching writing through canva application. J. Lang. Teach. Res 9, 228–235. doi: 10.33394/jollt.v9i2.3533

Hasan, S. I., Yee, A., Rinaldi, A., Azham, A. A., Hairi, F. M., and Nordin, A. S. (2021) Prevalence of common mental health issues among migrant workers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* 16, e0260221. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0260221

Johann, M., and Bülow, L. (2019). One does not simply create a meme: Conditions for the diffusion of Internet memes. J. Int. Commun 13, 23.

Kaliisa, R., Palmer, E., and Miller, J. (2019). Mobile learning in higher education: A comparative analysis of developed and developing country contexts. *Br. J. Educ. Technol.* 50, 546–561. doi: 10.1111/bjet.12583

Mayer, R. E., Fiorella, L., and Stull, A. (2020). Five ways to increase the effectiveness of instructional video. *Educ. Technol. Res. Dev.* 68, 837–852. doi: 10.1007/s11423-020-09749-6

Miller, R. L., and Brewer, J. D. (2003). A-Z of Social Research. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; Longman. doi: 10.4135/9780857020024

Noyan Erbaş, A., Özcebe, E., and Cak Esen, T. (2021). Investigation of the effect of Hanen's "More Than Words" on parental self-efficacy, emotional states, perceived social support, and on communication skills of children with ASD. *Logoped Phoniatr. Vocol.* 46, 17–27. doi: 10.1080/14015439.2020.1717601

Outhwaite, W., and Turner, S. P. (2007). The SAGE Handbook of Social Science Methodology. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; Longman. doi: 10.4135/9781848607958

Preece, S. (2019). Postgraduate students as plurilingual social actors in UK higher education. *Lang. Cult. Curric.* 33, 126–141. doi: 10.1080/07908318.2019.1676767

Preece, S., and Marshall, S. (2020). Plurilingualism, teaching and learning, and Anglophone higher education: An introduction Anglophone universities and linguistic diversity. *Lang. Cult. Curric.* 33, 117–125. doi: 10.1080/07908318.2020.1723931

Purwanto, A., Asbari, M., Fahlevi, M., Mufid, A., Agistiawati, E., Cahyono, Y., et al. (2020). Impact of work from home (WFH) on Indonesian teachers performance during the COVID-19 pandemic : an exploratory study. *Int. J. Adv. Sci. Technol.* 29, 6235–6244.

Qiu, Q., Xie, Z., Xiong, Y., and Zhou, F. (2021). Belief change before and after the teaching practicum among Chinese pre-service ELT teachers. *Sage Open* 11, 21582440211004934. doi: 10.1177/21582440211004934

Rahmatika, R., Yusuf, M., and Agung, L. (2021). The effectiveness of youtube as an online learning media. *J. Educ. Technol.* 5, 152. doi: 10.23887/jet.v5i1.33628

Santos, J. M., and Castro, R. D. R. (2021). Technological Pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) in action: Application of learning in the classroom by preservice teachers (PST). Soc. Sci. Human Open 3, 100110. doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2021.100110

Schmid, M., Brianza, E., and Petko, D. (2021). Self-reported technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) of pre-service teachers in relation to digital technology use in lesson plans. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 115, 106586. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106586

Shao, K., Pekrun, R., and Nicholson, L. J. (2019). Emotions in classroom language learning: What can we learn from achievement emotion research? *System* 86, 102121. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2019.102121

Stezycka, P. E., and Etherington, S. (2020). Teacher motivation: a study of polish secondary school EFL teachers. *TESL-EJ* 24, 1–28.

Su, F. L. (2019). Wandering at the crossroad between language maintenance and language shift-a survey on language attitudes toward taigi among 3rd - 9th graders in Taiwan. *J. Taiwan Lang. Lit.* 14, 81–119. doi: 10.6710/JTLL.201904_14(1).0003

Su, M., and Foulger, T. S. (2019). We Aren't There Yet: A Progression of literature on TPACK measures to assess technology integration. In: *Society* for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference. p. 2534–2542.

Sunra-La Sunra, L., Haryanto, H., and Nur, S. (2020). Teachers' Reflective Practice and Challenges in an Indonesian EFL Secondary School Classroom. *Int. J. Lang. Educ.* 4, 289–300. doi: 10.26858/ijole.v4i2.13893

Svenningsson, J., Höst, G., Hultén, M., and Hallström, J. (2022). Students' attitudes toward technology: Exploring the relationship among affective, cognitive and behavioral components of the attitude construct. *Int. J. Technol. Des. Educ.* 32, 1531–1551. doi: 10.1007/s10798-021-09657-7

Tseng, H. C., Chen, B., Chang, T. H., and Sung, Y. T. (2019). Integrating LSA-based hierarchical conceptual space and machine learning methods for leveling the readability of domain-specific texts. *Nat. Lang. Eng.* 25, 331–361. doi: 10.1017/S1351324919000093

van Lancker, W., and Parolin, Z. (2020). COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: a social crisis in the making. *Lancet Public Health* 5, e243–e244. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30084-0

Verkasaloa, E. J., and Silvenb, M., and Lehtioa, I., and Eggersa, C. K. (2021). Speech disfluencies in typically developing Finnish-speaking children – preliminary results. *Clin. Linguist Phon.* 35, 707–726. doi: 10.1080/02699206.2020.1818287

Wang, Y., Cui, L., and Zhang, Y. (2021). Improving skipgram embeddings using BERT. *IEEE/ACM Trans. Audio, Speech* *Lang. Process.* 29, 1318–1328. doi: 10.1109/TASLP.2021.30 65201

Yang, C., Hawwash, D., De Baets, B., Bouwman, J., and Lachat, C. (2020). Perspective: towards automated tracking of content and evidence appraisal of nutrition research. *Adv. Nutr.* 11, 1079–1088. doi: 10.1093/advances/ nmaa057

Yundayani, A., Susilawati, S., and Chairunnisa, C. (2019). Investigating the effect of canva on students' writing skills. *English Rev. J. Eng. Edu.* 7, 169–176. doi: 10.25134/erjee.v7i2.1800

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefka, Turkey

REVIEWED BY Qian Wang, Northwestern Polytechnical University, China Yosra Jarrar, American University in Dubai, United Arab Emirates

*CORRESPONDENCE Fatma Sengul fatma.sengul@neu.edu.tr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 02 August 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 14 November 2022

CITATION

Sengul F, Bostanci HB and Kurt M (2022) Online in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models in English as foreign language writing classes. *Front. Psychol.* 13:1009800. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1009800

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sengul, Bostanci and Kurt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction

in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Online in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models in English as foreign language writing classes

Fatma Sengul^{1,2*}, Hanife Bensen Bostanci^{1,2} and Mustafa Kurt^{1,2}

¹Department of English Language Teaching, Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus, ²Research Center for Applied Linguistics (RCAL), Nicosia, Cyprus

Flipped learning models are considered as important elements of English as a foreign language (EFL) writing courses in order to advance the EFL learners' writing skills. Significantly, studies examining the efficacy of inclass and out-of-class writing models in flipped classroom settings when teaching online EFL writing courses are still of focus in the Turkish Cypriot context. This investigation aimed to examine the most efficient flipped learning model among the in-class vs. out-of-class writing models for the purpose of helping instructors to advance their EFL learners' writing achievement in an online writing setting. In addition, this study sorted to reveal the EFL learners' perceptions toward learning writing through in-class and out-of-class flipped learning writing models. A mixed methods research design was applied to achieve the aforementioned aims. Twenty-eight EFL learners studying at a private university's English Language Teaching department constituted the participants of this study. As the findings pointed out, the EFL learners in group A who wrote their essays in-class outperformed those in group B, who wrote their essays out-of-class. Moreover, it was found that the majority of the participants had more positive perceptions toward the inclass flipped classroom writing model. This study highlights that, better learner performances are achieved when the learners write during the class session online with the support of the instructor when implementing a flipped classroom model to teach EFL writing.

KEYWORDS

flipped classroom, in-class writing, out-of-class writing, traditional model of online writing, English as a foreign language learners, writing, perceptions

Introduction

Focusing on ways to improve English as a Foreign Language (EFL) learner's writing skill has been of focus, as writing is regarded as the most important skill that cannot be left behind in the instructional process (Khudhair, 2016). Writing is perceived of as a tool of creation that enables human beings to convey their ideas interactively for communicative goals as only with the help of writing can human beings transmit their ideas to a great

number of people (Koura and Zahran, 2017). Although writing is an indispensable part of the instructional process, it is the most complex skill, which is challenging to both learn and teach (Bukhari, 2016). Taking these aspects into account, a great deal of importance is given to enhancing the writing skills of the EFL learners in the North Cyprus context, as writing is considered as a fundamental skill that should be taken into consideration more than the other skills, with a view to having a better academic and professional life (Brooks, 2012; Bostanci and Çavuşoglu, 2018). In North Cyprus, EFL learners study a year of compulsory English at a preparatory school, where they take specific classes in English and continuously write in English, with the objective of boosting their academic literacy skills and meeting future personal and public expectations, depending on their language levels, as well as in line with the major subject they study (Turgut and Kayaoglu, 2015). On top of these, universities begin to hire qualified lecturers, lessen the number of learners in the classes and begin to embed technology in the instructional process with the goal of increasing the quality of education (Shapiro, 2015). It has also been found that recent technological developments have enabled new means of teaching by providing learners a comfortable, enjoyable, motivating and relaxing instructional atmosphere (Bishop and Verleger, 2013; Ekmekçi, 2017).

The implementation of a new technological innovation or developments in the field of EFL education could be carried out with the help of the flipped learning model. It is commonly used nowadays and is considered as an alternative way of teaching where learners are autonomous and responsible for their educational process (Abaeian and Samadi, 2016; Aidinlou et al., 2017; Alastuey and Galar, 2017; Ekmekçi, 2017). Primarily, flipped learning plays a significant role in the instructional process, as it enables the learners to analyse the course content even before attending the lesson through the presentation of instructional videos about the course content. This step is followed by activities that check the level of understanding of the learners regarding the course content. This model advances the efficient and common usage of technological innovations in an out-of-the-class environment, so as to fulfill the instructional objectives (El-Sawy, 2018). As a result, the writing process becomes even more individualized by the use of the flipped learning method (Ekmekçi, 2017). A flipped learning writing model could be an influential method of instruction to advance the writing achievement level of EFL learners, particularly, in the Turkish Cypriot context (Ekmekçi, 2017; Soltanpour and Valizadeh, 2017; Salem, 2018). The traditional model of flipped learning in an online writing lecture is considered as out-ofclass writing, where the learners write their essays out of the lecture and produce their essays at their own pace (Ahmed and Asiksoy, 2018; Altas and Mede, 2021). Another flipped model of teaching writing is in-class writing, where the learners write in a class with the instructor's guidance and where the teachers have more chance to embolden individual learning, provide ontime feedback, correct the learners' misconceptions and help

the learners to practice their recent knowledge (Ping et al., 2019).

This study aimed to examine the most effective FLM for EFL learners of higher education by focalizing on the impacts of two different flipped learning models (FLMs), namely, in-class and out-of-class writing models. It further aimed at revealing the EFL learners' perceptions toward the implementation of these two models.

To achieve these objectives, the following questions were asked with a view to be answered:

- 1) Is there any significant difference among the EFL learners' writing performances, who were lectured with the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs)?
- 2) What are EFL learners' perceptions and preferences toward the in-class and out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs) in writing courses?

Literature review

During the implementation of English as a foreign language (EFL) education process, among the four skills, namely, speaking, reading, listening, and writing, writing is perceived to be one of the major influential skills. A great amount of attention is paid to improve the writing skills of the learners, to enable them to reach a requisite proficiency level in written communication in the Turkish Cypriot context (Ekmekçi, 2017). In general, teaching writing in the EFL context is regarded as a challenging task, as it is not easy to form, organize and interpret the thoughts through meaningful messages (Al-Shaer, 2014; Suyanto, 2015; Febrijanto, 2016; Ningrum et al., 2016; Koura and Zahran, 2017). Nonetheless, there are a great deal of issues in EFL writing lectures, specifically in the North Cyprus context (Afrilyasanti et al., 2016; Koura and Zahran, 2017; Dimililer and Kurt, 2019). In the same way, another problem that can be observed in the writing process in this specific context pertains to time constraints, as the lecturers have to spend a majority of the lecture time to explain the instructions before beginning the writing task, thus, there is limited time left for the writing process itself (Bostanci and Sengul, 2018). The writing process is perceived as challenging, complex and problematic for the EFL learners (Mahnam and Nejadansari, 2012; Bostanci and Çavuşoglu, 2018). Considering these aspects, the lecturers should be encouraged to renew their educational methodologies and techniques, to decrease the number of problems and difficulties that may arise and should do their best to convert such learning sessions into more inspirational, motivating, enjoyable, and self-sufficient classes (Ekmekçi, 2017).

Technology-oriented educational methods and models are seen to boost EFL learners' active participation and attendance in the educational process, and advance their language learning

experiences (Salem, 2018). One way of implementing recent technological innovations in the educational process can be realized through flipped learning, which is a method that has gained attention in North Cyprus (Fraga and Harmon, 2014; Bostanci and Sengul, 2018; Salem, 2018). Flipped learning is an instructional methodology that puts emphasis on learneroriented education and plays a significant role among many lecturers and researchers, all over the world (Güvenç, 2018). As the traditional flipped learning model is restricted with online video lectures and increased class time for in-class tasks and decreased time for in-class writing, it has been improved to authorize for several techniques and strategies that are convenient and suited to the requirements of separate fields, units, courses, and lectures (Kim, 2017). Thence, it creates a more comfortable and adaptable instructional atmosphere, as the EFL learners can acquire the information everywhere and every time they wish (Ekmekçi, 2017). The findings of flipped learning studies showed that flipped learning has the capability to assist instructors to advance their educational outcomes in the technology-integrated lecture (Aidinlou et al., 2017). Without any doubt, there is a substantial difference in the educational outcomes of the EFL learners who were lectured on flipped learning models (FLMs) and traditional educational strategies. It was also discovered that EFL learners who were taught in the flipped classroom-based lectures received higher grades than the EFL learners who were taught in traditional classes (Aidinlou et al., 2017). To summarize, utilizing flipped learning models (FLMs) in EFL classes increases learner outcomes (Suranakkharin, 2017).

In terms of learner preferences, learners preferred to be educated in a flipped learning-based environment, as it provides them the chance to take the authority of their personal learning process (Fraga and Harmon, 2014). Evidently, both the lecturers and EFL learners' attitudes toward the flipped learning process are positive (Alastuey and Galar, 2017). Flipped learning models (FLMs) can be considered as today's most appropriate instructional method for teaching writing to EFL learners (Hsieh et al., 2017; Güvenç, 2018; Öznacar et al., 2019). Flipped learning models in the writing process can be categorized into inclass and out-of-class that can be employed to respond to several pedagogical objectives (AbuSeileek and Qatawneh, 2013; Thakare, 2018).

Indeed, in-class writing enables the EFL learners to focus more on the writing process, organization of the essay and the thesis statement, while it pays less attention to the lexical items and mechanics of the language (Saed and Ghazali, 2017). Significantly, simultaneous learner and instruction presence is a must, as it fosters deeper and meaningful language learning with the presence of the instructor, peers and collaborative environment (Oztok et al., 2013; Perveen, 2016). In other words, the writing process occurs on time and it is considered as more expedient which enables the learners to be present in the classroom as "real" and "there" where the learners are able to reach a mutual understanding (Oztok et al., 2013; Lowenthal et al., 2017). Particularly, in-class writing enables the learners to feel the sense of community, and it also provides ontime feedback which advances the level of motivation and keeps the learners engaged in the activities as a result of the instructor's and other learners' presence (Perveen, 2016). Furthermore, it contributes to the cognitive presence and the learners' positive attitudes toward the EFL learning process (Oztok et al., 2013).

In contrast to these, a majority of the learners avoid attending and participating in the classroom environment at a particular hour, and some of them have problems regarding technology and network connection, and some of them also have issues regarding the scheduling and time zone (Oztok et al., 2013; Lowenthal et al., 2017). Additionally, as it is agreed, there is less time to think and produce an essay in the classroom environment, as well as restricting the usage of outside-of-class resources (AbuSeileek and Qatawneh, 2013). As it is claimed, in-class writing can be supported with the help of facilities and materials such as discussion rooms, real-time chat or online meeting platforms (Huang and Hsiao, 2012). Conversely, as the stated issues and the lecture time are limited, some of the lecturers prefer to ask their learners to write their essays out of the instructional environment, as the majority of lecture time is spent in describing the explanations and instructions about the writing task, rather than giving time to the EFL learners to practice their writing skills (Chang, 2016; Lin and Hwang, 2018). Out-of-class writing can be reached at every time and everywhere, and enables reflection, critical thinking and deeper learning (Oztok et al., 2013; Lowenthal et al., 2017). As it happens at a delayed time, it does not enable real-time access for instructional objectives, whereas the time of learning depends on the learner preferences, which help the instructors to avoid any misbehavior in the classroom environment and embolden the multiple learning styles (Oztok et al., 2013). As it is believed, out-of-class writing is mainly preferred for reflective and higher order thinking activities. It also supports the constructivist-oriented instruction, as it enables the learners to log in and communicate whenever they want, depending on the time that is convenient to them. It also gives them an opportunity to learn and work at their own pace within a scheduled time frame, to think, respond, plan and use external resources (AbuSeileek and Qatawneh, 2013; Oztok et al., 2013; Lowenthal et al., 2017; Karaaslan et al., 2018). In addition, an out-of-class writing model can be supported with e-mails, discussion platforms, blogs, audio-, and video recordings and so on (Huang and Hsiao, 2012).

As it is underlined in the study of AbuSeileek and Qatawneh (2013), both in-class and out-of-class writing models enable the learners to increase their writing performances. In a similar manner, Shang (2017) found that, both in-class and out-of-class writing had a positive effect on the EFL learners'

138

writing abilities. Lowenthal and Dunlap (2017) suggested that, both in-class and out-of-class writing models should be used in writing classes, as they provide different advantages and disadvantages and affect the writing process in a different way. On top of these, although both in-class and out-ofclass writing models help the learners to advance their writing skills, Saed and Ghazali (2017) proved that EFL learners had more positive attitudes toward the in-class writing model. As a result, as it is highlighted in the study of Oztok et al. (2013), the majority of their EFL learners prefer to write inclass, as it gives them more chance to collaborate with the class members and the instructor while writing. In contrast to these, the recent study of Bailey et al.'s (2020) indicated that that out-of-class writing had a positive impact on the learners' language skills.

Overall, both the in-class and out-of-class flipped classroom models maintain lifelong learning abilities and meaningful knowledge, rather than demanding the learners to memorize the knowledge for a specific time, and the instructors begin to instruct how to acquire the information besides only teaching the content in North Cyprus (Ahmed and Asiksoy, 2018; Sengul and Bostanci, 2021). Crucially, numerous investigators have paid attention to the flipped classroom, learner perceptions and different subject areas; however, none of the researchers have put emphasis on the effects of the in-class and out-of-class flipped classroom models on the EFL learners' writing improvement that fulfill the twenty-first century EFL learners' requirements by giving them a chance to engage in the tasks that help them to advance their abilities, such as critical thinking, problem solving, creative learning and communication (Ahmed, 2016; Sengul and Bostanci, 2021). More than these, EFL instructors faced with difficulties and failed to have an effective writing course based on online flipped classroom, as there is no study that had investigated the most appropriate and effective flipped classroom models among the in-class and out-of-class flipped classroom models for online writing course regarding the EFL learners' academic achievement in writing process at university-level EFL learning in North Cyprus (Ahmed, 2016; Sengul and Bostanci, 2021). In fact, this investigation is different from the previous researches, in that it purposed to flip EFL writing classes with different online flipped classroom models and encouraged courses with different flipped classroom formats and fill in the gaps regarding the implementation of different flipped classroom models, namely, in-class and out-of-class writing in online EFL writing courses at North Cyprus. Consequently, this study is innovative, as it provides a framework on how to design the writing courses based on the most convenient flipped classroom models in the online EFL writing context. It is essential, as it might encourage instructors and university personnel to implement the most appropriate flipped classroom model in EFL courses at North Cyprus and in the worldwide context to have a beneficial and effective online writing course.

Methodology

Research design and procedures

A mixed methods research design was implemented to effectively answer the research questions posed. Mixed methods employ both qualitative and quantitative data analysis and collection processes (Green, 2015).

Primarily, the investigation paid particular attention to the fourth-year English language (EFL) learners' written text analysis, to examine the impacts of the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs) on their writing performances. In both groups, where the in-class or out-of-class flipped classroom models were implemented, the same strategies, techniques, and procedures were utilized. The only difference was that one group wrote in a class hour with the help of the lecturer and the other group wrote at their own time and pace.

The following steps and procedures were employed. First, all the participant EFL learners in the class were asked to review the provided information and perform the provided activities related to each week's subject from the private university's flipped learning platform (online), before attending the online class through Google Meet. During the online class hour, all the participants completed the provided exercises related to each week's subject on Saturday's and after these processes, half of the learners (Group A) were asked to write their essays in-class, during an online class hour on Tuesdays and the other half of the learners were asked to write their essays out-of-class, whenever they preferred. Following this, all the participants sent their essays via e-mail to their peers (each week a different peer) for an indirect written corrective feedback and once they had made the necessary changes, the final essay was sent to the lecturer for lecturer's indirect written corrective feedback. The track changes and comments section on the Word processing document were implemented during the feedback process. Basically, the participants prepared two drafts before submitting their final products. The participants' final products were subjected to Turnitin plagiarism check before scores were set.

Learners were required to write five essay types in a period of 16 weeks including the midterm and final exam weeks and holidays. The essay types of the written texts could be arranged as follows: Task 1: Argumentative Essay, Task 2: Cause and Effect Essay, Task 3: Persuasive Essay, Task 4: Advantages and Disadvantages Essay, Task 5: Compare and Contrast Essay, midterm exam: Argumentative Essay and Cause and Effect Essay, and final exam: Persuasive Essay, Advantages and Disadvantages Essay, and Compare and Contrast Essay. Two weeks were provided for each essay type. Learners were required to write half of the essay in 1 week and the other half in the following week. Moreover, these written texts were graded out of 10 by the researcher and an ELT instructor, in line with the created essay writing criteria. In the examinations, two different essay types and two different essay topics for these types were presented for the participants to select. Learners had an hour's duration to complete the examinations online.

Participants and sampling

Convenience sampling was employed, as the data were gathered among the EFL learners who were taking part in the course. Convenience sampling is a kind of non-probability sampling, which involves the participants from the target audience who fulfill specific convenient criteria, such as effortless reachability, geographic accessibility, accessibility at a particular time or the voluntariness to take part (Etikan et al., 2016). In particular, the participants were upper-intermediate level EFL learners who were taking the fourth-year writing course as an elective. They were divided into two groups as equally and randomly among the classroom members who were conveniently available to participate in the study without making any discrimination such as learning style, preference and so on.

The data were obtained during the 2021–2022 spring semester, from 28 EFL learners majoring in the Department of English Language Teaching at a private university, in North Cyprus. Fourteen of the participants formed Group A and 14 formed Group B. The participants in group A had an online writing lecture in a flipped learning writing class where the inclass writing model was utilized, whereas participants in group B had an online writing lecture in a flipped learning writing class where the out-of-class writing model was utilized.

Data collection and analysis

Data were obtained both quantitatively and qualitatively. The quantitative data were obtained from the written essays (including the two examinations: midterm and final) of the EFL participants and a questionnaire that was employed after the treatment phase, whereas the qualitative data were obtained from the interviews carried out after the treatment phase (see Figure 1). The written text analysis was used to examine, whether there was an effect of the different flipped learning models (FLMs), namely, in-class vs. out-of-class writing, on the writing performance of the EFL learners. To do these, the written texts of the participants were stored in different folders for each week as Task 1, Task 2, Task 3, Task 4, Task 5, Midterm exam, and Final exam, then these written texts were scored out of 10 for each week. Following these, at the end of the term, a researcher-made questionnaire that consisted of both open and close-ended questions was filled in by the participants. Through the implementation of the open-ended questions, more information regarding the unique thoughts of the participants about the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs) was obtained. Close-ended questions were asked to collect generalized data about the participant perceptions toward

the in-class vs. out-of-class writing in a flipped learning writing course (Jamshed, 2014). All the participants completed the questionnaire. Initially, the participants were asked about their background information such as age, gender, native language, country and years that they have been studying English by choosing the most convenient option. The questionnaire was applied through the use of Google Forms. In addition, to collect the qualitative data, the interview questions about the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs) for writing were asked to the participants during the online classroom hour through the use of the Google Meet online platform, and each group had a separate online meeting session for the interview process. The interview was applied to five EFL learners from group A and five EFL learners from group B in total, 10 of the participants volunteered to participate in the study. The semistructured interview included five open-ended questions in total, and the participants were asked about their beliefs and preferences regarding the implemented models through the use of a schematic presentation of questions. It took 10 min to interview each participant, in total it took almost 2 h to interview all the participants in both groups.

In brief, the following questions were asked as part of the interview:

- What do you think about writing in-class and out-of-class in general? Is it essential or not? Is it beneficial or not to write in-class/out-of-class? Is it difficult or not? Why?
- 2) Do you use any resources while you write in-class/ outof-class? If yes, what are these? Why do you prefer to use these sources?
- 3) Do you feel that you are improving your language proficiency in general (i.e., all skills, sub-skills and errors) or only in writing when you write in-class/ out-of-class? Why or why not?
- 4) If you had another chance to choose the environment that you will produce your written work from in-class or out-of-class, which one would you prefer? Why?
- 5) Is there anything that you want to add or share anything about writing in-class or out-of-class environment in the language learning process?

Data regarding the written texts were analyzed through the following steps. Initially, all the written texts were scored one by one, out of 10. Statistical Package of Social Sciences (SPSS) program version 20; descriptive statistics was employed to analyse the questionnaire data and essay scores. Henceforth, analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was used to crosscheck each group's participants' perceptions and preferences toward the in-class vs. out-ofclass flipped learning models for writing. Furthermore, the key themes of each participant's interview transcript were separated to examine the reason behind the participants' positive and negative perceptions. Eventually, these key



themes and patterns were defined, grouped and coded by the investigator.

Validity and reliability

To ensure the reliability of the essay scores, the lecturer's and an ELT instructor's scores were set and compared employing a Pearson product-moment coefficient to find out the curvilinear relation among two variables. This has enabled the investigators to understand whether the existing correlation was condescending to the correct relation among these variables (Ravid, 2011). In the same way, the 2-tailed significance test was carried out to figure out if there was a positive or negative correlation among the variables and to see whether the relationship among these variables was statistically significant (see Table 1).

As it is shown in Table 1, values under 0.50 are used to indicate the poor reliability whereas values between 0.50 and 0.75 indicate satisfactory reliability. Similarly, good reliability is shown between 0.75 and 0.90, whereas values over the 0.90 are used to emphasize the highest reliability value. So that, as the results pinpointed in Table 1, Pearson correlation value was 0.91, which means that the value of reliability is at the top point and there is a positive correlation between the lecturers' and English instructors' scores. In particular, there was no significant variation between the two raters' scores for the tasks, where the in-class writing was used for the writing process. In fact, the

TABLE 1 In-class writing task 1.

		Researcher's marks	Lecturer's marks
Lecturer's mark	Pearson correlation	1	0.91**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.00
	Ν	14	14
Researcher's mark	Pearson correlation	0.91**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	
	Ν	14	14

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

TABLE 2 Reliability statistics.

CA	NI
0.80	77

CA, Cronbach's alpha; NI, Number of items.

scores that were provided by both the investigator and instructor were reliable.

Moreover, the questionnaire, which was employed for the examination of the EFL learners' preferences toward the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models for writing, was adopted and adapted from Sengül's (2018) questionnaire. To understand the efficacy of the questionnaire, a pilot study was carried out.

TABLE 3 The most effective flipped classroom model for writing.

Tasks	N	In-class		Out-of-class	
		М	SD	М	SD
1	14	3.43	1.01	4.79	2.08
2	14	2.43	0.51	3.57	1.34
3	14	2.71	1.54	4.21	1.84
4	14	2.57	1.39	3.50	1.55
5	14	2.14	1.02	4.43	1.86
6	14	2.14	1.02	4.21	1.67
7	14	1.86	0.86	3.93	1.32
Valid N (listwise)	14				

M, Mean score; SD, Standard deviation.

The questionnaire was distributed to 30 EFL learners from the ELT department of a private university in Nicosia, during the 2019–2020 Fall semester. The findings of the pilot study were analyzed using Cronbach's alpha, to reveal the reliability of the questionnaire items (see Table 2). The findings revealed that the co-efficiency was 0.80, which refers to the fact that the questionnaire items were reliable (Virginia, 2015).

Ethical consideration

Before carrying out the study, ethical approval was received from the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Educational Sciences of Near East University. Following approval, both written consent and oral consent were received by the participants. In the same way, the participants were also informed that the data collected for this study will be kept confidential and not accessed by anyone else, except the researchers. Pseudonyms were employed to hide the real identities of the participants.

Findings and discussion

Written text

To find out whether there was an impact of the different flipped learning models, namely, in-class and out-of-class writing on the EFL learners' writing performances and which flipped model advances the EFL learners' writing skills the most during the flipped writing process, this study compared the two groups.

In-class writing

The participants in group A, where the EFL participants produced their essays in the online class environment, were

observed to have improved their writing skills after Task 1 (M: 3.43, SD: 1.01), as they had received better scores for Task 2 (M: 2.43, SD: 0.51). In Task 3 (M: 2.71, SD: 1.54), which was written as a midterm examination, their performance slightly decreased while they had improved their performance in Task 4 (M: 2.57, SD: 1.39). In the same way, they had improved their performance in Task 5 (M: 2.14, SD: 1.02), while their performance did not change in Task 6 (M: 2.14, SD: 1.02). Contrarily, the participants in group A increased their writing performance in Task 7 (M: 1.86, SD: 0.86), which was written as a final examination (see Table 3). These findings were similar to the findings of Saed and Ghazali (2017), who agreed that inclass writing had positive impacts on the EFL learners' writing skills. Apart from these, as the interview data presented the EFL participants in group A, namely, Janessa agreed that "Inclass writing enables us to improve our four skills as we have a chance to collaborate with our classmates," and Jack stated that "As we have a chance to receive instant feedback from the teacher and learn new vocabulary items from the discussions with our friends, in-class writing helps us to advance our speaking, listening and reading skills, in addition to our writing skills." In other words, the reason behind the improvement of group A's writing skills might be directly linked with the EFL learner's positive perceptions toward the in-class writing process, as it provided them more collaborative, engaging and motivated environment with the instructor's presence and on time feedback.

Out-of-class writing

The participants in group B where the EFL participants produced their essays out of the class environment were observed to have improved their writing skills after Task 1 (M: 4.79, SD: 2.08), as they received better scores in Task 2 (M: 3.57, SD: 1.34). However, the participants in group B decreased their performance in Task 3 (M: 4.21, SD: 1.84), which was written as a midterm exam, while their writing performance rapidly increased in Task 4 (M: 3.50, SD: 1.55). In comparison with these, the participants' writing performance rapidly decreased in Task 5 (M: 4.43, SD: 1.86). Nevertheless, the EFL participants' performance in Task 6 (M: 4.21, SD: 1.67) significantly improved. In the same way, the participants in group B increased their writing performances in Task 7 (M: 3.93, SD: 1.32), which was written as a final exam (see Table 3). These findings were in line with the Bailey et al.'s (2020) research findings, who agreed that out-of-class writing had a positive impact on the learners' language skills. With respect to the interview data, Angelina from group B stated that "Out-of-class writing enables us to advance our reading and listening skills in addition to our writing skills as we have to search for further information and materials related with the topic," while Sue stated that "Out-of-class writing is not helpful at all, as during the in-class writing process the teacher's guidance enables us to notice our mistakes immediately and we can produce better essays with less mistakes." Remarkably, it is not incorrect to claim that the EFL learners' writing performances in group B were influenced from the out-of-class writing process, as the participants need to search for further ideas and materials from the various sources without the instructors' ontime guidance and feedback.

Although the participants in both group A and group B improved their writing performances, it can be observed that the participants in group A received better scores than the participants in group B. In fact, the EFL participants in group A who wrote their written texts as in-class performed better than those in group B, who wrote their essays out-of-class. Similar to the findings of AbuSeileek and Qatawneh (2013) and Shang (2017) who found that, both out-of-class and inclass models helped their EFL learners to advance their writing skills, it was proved that in-class writing had a more positive impact on the learners' writing skills. To summarize, this study highlighted that in-class writing had more positive impact on the writing performances and achievements of the EFL learners in a flipped learning writing course, as it provided them more collaborative, engaging and motivated environment with the instructor's presence and ontime feedback.

In-class vs. out-of-class FLM

Significantly, the participants were asked about their perceptions toward the in-class vs. out-of-class flipped learning models (FLMs) for writing, to reach more specific information. It was found that the participants in group A strongly agreed with the following statements: During the in-class writing process, we have more chance to get help from the teacher (M: 3.71, SD: 1.13), Writing out-of-class is time consuming (M: 3.64, SD: 1.49), I feel that I do not need to hurry up while I write out-of-class (M: 3.14, SD: 1.35), Getting into contact with our class mates for group work is much easier in the online environment (M: 3.07, SD: 1.26), and I feel more concentrated when I write in-class (M: 3.07, SD: 1.59). Moreover, they also agreed with the following statements: Both the pre-writing and writing process should be done in-class (M: 2.93, SD: 1.20), I prefer to write whenever I want (M: 2.93, SD: 1.26), I prefer to be taught in-class (M: 2.86, SD: 1.16), I can understand better what to do when the teacher guides me during the writing process (M: 2.79, SD: 1.31), I do not prefer to write out-of-class (M: 2.71, SD: 1.20), Teachers' guidance is necessary for better writing (M: 2.71, SD: 1.20), I write better when I collaborate with my class mates in-class (M: 2.71, SD: 1.20), I prefer to be taught out-of-class (M: 2.64, SD: 1.21), I can write better when I write without any time limitation (M: 2.64, SD: 1.27)I prefer to get help from friends (M: 2.71, SD: 1.13), I feel more concentrated when I write out-of-class (M: 2.64, SD: 1.39), I learn better when I write in-class (M: 2.50, SD: 1.01), and Online

pre-writing exercises are more enjoyable (M: 2.50, SD: 1.01) (see Appendix Table 1).

On the other hand, the majority of the participants stated that they were neutral about the following statements: I feel that I need to hurry up while I write in-class (M: 2.43, SD: 1.34), I learn better when I write out-of-class (M: 2.36, SD: 1.39), In-class pre-writing exercises are more enjoyable (M: 2.36, SD: 1.33), I think it is more effective to write shortly after the pre-writing activities (M: 2.29, SD: 1.32), I write better when I collaborate with my class mates out-of-class (M: 2.21, SD: 1.12), I cannot concentrate on my writing at particular times of the day (M: 2.21, SD: 1.12), Both the pre-writing and writing process should be done out-of-class (M: 2.21, SD: 0.89), It is important to have an access to the online resources while writing (M: 2.21, SD: 0.97), Getting into contact with our class mates for group work is much easier in the classroom (M: 2.07, SD: 0.99), I prefer to get help from my lecturer (M: 2.07, SD: 1.20), and I prefer to use online sources when I do not understand something (M: 2.00, SD: 1.03). Contrarily, a great number of participants of the group A also disagreed with the following statements: I lose my concentration, when I write out-of-class (M: 1.93, SD: 0.91), During the out-of-class writing process we have more chance to get help from the teacher (M: 1.86, SD: 0.94), I lose my concentration, when I write in-class (M: 1.86, SD: 0.94), I do not prefer to write in-class (M: 1.64, SD: 0.84), and Writing in-class is time consuming (M: 1.64, SD: 0.84) (see Appendix Table 1).

As the results have indicated the majority of the EFL learner participants in group B strongly agreed with the following statements: I prefer to write whenever I want (M: 4.07, SD: 0.99), I can write better when I write without any time limitation (M: 3.86, SD: 0.94), Teachers' guidance is necessary for better writing (M: 3.71, SD: 0.99), I do not prefer to write out-of-class (M: 3.50, SD: 1.09), During the out-of-class writing process we have more chance to get help from the teacher (M: 3.50, SD: 1.01), I write better when I collaborate with my class mates out-ofclass (M: 3.43, SD: 1.08), Getting into contact with our class mates for group work is much easier in the online environment (M: 3.21, SD: 1.67), I write better when I collaborate with my class mates in-class (M: 3.14, SD: 1.09), I learn better when I write in-class (M: 3.14, SD: 0.66), I feel more concentrated when I write in-class (M: 3.07, SD: 1.20), and I feel that I do not need to hurry up while I write out-of-class (M: 3.00, SD: 1.56). Furthermore, they also agreed with the following statements: I prefer to get help from friends (M: 2.79, SD: 1.05), Both the pre-writing and writing process should be done in-class (M: 2.79, SD: 0.97), During the in-class writing process we have more chance to get help from the teacher (M: 2.79, SD: 1.12), I feel more concentrated when I write out-of-class (M: 2.71, SD: 0.99), Writing in-class is time consuming (M: 2.71, SD: 0.72), Online pre-writing exercises are more enjoyable (M: 2.64, SD: 0.92), I learn better when I write out-of-class (M: 2.57, SD:1.15), and I prefer to be taught in-class (M: 2.57, SD: 0.75) (see Appendix Table 1).

143
Conversely, more than half of the participants in group B stated that they were neutral about the following statements: I think it is more effective to write shortly after the pre-writing activities (M: 2.21, SD: 0.89), In-class pre-writing exercises are more enjoyable (M: 2.14, SD: 1.23), I lose my concentration, when I write in-class (M: 2.14, 1.02), Both the pre-writing and writing process should be done out-of-class (M: 2.14, SD: 1.02), I can understand better what to do when the teacher guides me during the writing process (M: 2.07, SD: 0.99), Getting into contact with our class mates for group work is much easier in the classroom (M: 2.07, SD: 1.20), I cannot concentrate on my writing at particular times of the day (M: 2.00, SD: 0.87), and I prefer to use online sources when I do not understand something (M: 2.00, SD: 0.67). Significantly, majority of the participants also disagreed with the following statements: I lose my concentration, when I write out-of-class (M: 1.86, SD: 1.02), I feel that I need to hurry up while I write in-class (M: 1.71, SD: 1.13), I do not prefer to write in-class (M: 1.71, SD: 0.72), I prefer to get help from my lecturer (M: 1.64, SD: 1.08), Writing out-ofclass is time consuming (M: 1.64, SD: 1.15), I prefer to be taught out-of-class (M: 1.50, SD: 0.65), and It is important to have an access to the online resources while writing (M: 1.43, SD: 0.64) (see Appendix Table 1).

To summarize, the findings of the research pinpointed that the EFL learner participants in groups A and B had positive perceptions toward the in-class writing, while they had negative perceptions toward the out-of-class writing. As the findings of the interview emphasized the EFL participants in group A, namely, Tom put forth that "In-class writing has a positive effect on our learning process as we have a chance to both make a research, and ask about the misunderstood issues to the teacher at the same time, which will help us to produce better essays," and Diana agreed that "In-class writing is the best writing option for us as we can learn from our friends' mistakes and we have a more enjoyable and comfortable environment that we feel more motivated and concentrated to write." Nevertheless, the participants in group B namely, Sue claimed that "In-class writing is better as it provides more supportive environment and through the collaborative activities we can brainstorm about the topic as a whole class besides of sitting alone and trying to find out new ideas to write about" and Michael stated that "As oppose to the out-of-class writing, in-class writing provides more supportive and creative environment that we can improve our speaking skills, while we are trying to reach further ideas about a particular subject to write about." These findings were similar to the results of Huang and Hsiao (2012) and Karaaslan et al. (2018) who revealed that their learners had more positive perceptions toward in-class writing than out-of-class writing, as it provides more chances to increase the level of social interaction in the classroom environment. To put it simply, although the EFL learners believe that both in-class and out-of-class writing models have different positive and negative effects, they perceive in-class writing model to be more positively inclined during

the flipped classroom-based online writing course, as it enables them to advance the collaboration, concentration, motivation, creativity and writing improvement as well as their speaking skills through the guidance of the instructor.

Participant preferences

In order to find out a response to the primary research question regarding the EFL learners' flipped learning model preferences among in-class and out-of-class writing models, in the first section of the questionnaire, the participant EFL learners were asked questions about their in-class and outof-class writing model preferences during the flipped learning writing process. The findings of the study showed that majority of the EFL learners in group A, where the writing process occurred in-class, favored in-class writing (M: 1.71, SD: 0.91). This finding could be supported with the interview data, where the participants in group A, namely, Betty stated that "I prefer to write in-class as it enables us to have a discussion with our friends and ask questions to our teacher about the misunderstood issues." and Diana, put forward the claim that, "It is better to write in-class as we know that teacher will be always there for us." On the other hand, a great number of the EFL learner participants in group B, where the writing process occurred as out-of-class, put forward the desire that they would prefer to have their writing classes both in-class and out-of-class (M: 2.21, SD: 0.89) during the flipped classbased writing process (see Table 4). In the same way, the participants in group B, namely, Hera strongly agreed that she would prefer to write in-class as "In-class writing provides more friendly, enjoyable, comfortable, and relaxed environment that advances our motivation and concentration," whereas one of the participants in group B, Angelina stated that "It would be better to write as both in-class and out-of-class, as both of them have different advantages and disadvantages." Significantly, these findings were similar to the findings of Oztok et al. (2013), who put forward the claim that a majority of the EFL learners favored in-class writing rather than out-of-class writing, as it provided more chance for social interaction and communication. On the contrary, the findings of Lowenthal and Dunlap (2017) revealed that a majority of their EFL learners believed that both in-class and out-of-class writing models should be implemented in the lectures, as they have different advantages and impacts on the learning process. As a result, it is not incorrect to claim that although both in-class and out-of-class writing models might have different advantages and disadvantages, the EFL learners had strong preferences toward the in-class writing model during the flipped classroom-based online writing, as it enabled them to advance their writing and speaking skills., It also helped in their motivation toward the writing process through the collaborative environment where the EFL learners had obtained a chance to work together in a friendly, enjoyable, comfortable, creative, and

144

Flipped learning model statement	N	N In-class	ss writing	Out-of-class writing	
		М	SD	М	SD
If I had another chance to be taught writing, I prefer to write	14	1.71	0.91	2.21	0.89
Valid N (listwise)	14				

TABLE 4 English as a foreign language (EFL) learner's preference.

M, Mean score; SD, Standard deviation.

relaxed classroom atmosphere with the instructors' presence, on time guidance and feedback.

Conclusion

Overall, the research data regarding the initial research question which was purposed to analyse the most effective flipped classroom model for writing on the EFL learners' writing performances among the in-class and out-of-class writing models, the research data underlined that the most effective flipped classroom model for writing is the in-class writing model.

Following this, the results regarding the second question which purposed to analyse the EFL learners' perceptions toward the in-class and out-of-class writing models indicated that the majority of the EFL learners, who produced their written texts in-class, had positive perceptions toward the in-class writing model, while they had more negative perceptions toward the out-of-class writing model.

Lastly, as regards the EFL learners' preferences of a flipped learning model for writing among in-class vs. out-of-class writing models, the EFL learner participants, who produced their written texts in-class, favored in-class writing.

Consequently, it was highly suggested for pre-service and in-service instructors to implement the online in-class writing model into their flipped classroom-based writing courses, to create a more positive, collaborative and motivated environment. Through the implementation of online in-class writing models into the writing lessons, the instructors in university-level EFL learning would be better able to enable the EFL learners to improve their writing abilities and performances.

To conclude, this research has shed light on acquiring English as a foreign language writing skills to those instructors and researchers who would like to improve their EFL learners' writing abilities in a collaborative environment by implementing the necessary technology and also, by having a fruitful writing lesson in a technology-oriented environment. In fact, some recommendations were provided to help the researchers who would like to yield insights that would increase understanding in implementing more technology-oriented writing courses based on flipped classroom models. Significantly, this study is restricted to North Cyprus and if the context of the research differs, the findings might change. In addition to these, the designed questionnaire did not provide any information on the efficacy of the various flipped classroom models on the EFL learners' different skills such as reading, speaking and listening. Next, as the research was employed in a restricted time period the findings might vary, if the duration of data collection of the writing process got extended or vice versa. The findings might also vary due to the class size, level of the EFL learners and the number of participants who took part in it.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee Board of Near East University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FS wrote the article. HB contributed to the conceptualization and the data collection process. MK helped to the generation of the methodology and supervised the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those

of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyg.2022.1009800/full#supplementary-material

References

Abaeian, H., and Samadi, L. (2016). The effect of flipped classroom on Iranian EFL learners' L2 reading comprehension: focusing on different proficiency levels. *J. Appl. Linguist. Lang. Res.* 3, 295–304.

AbuSeileek, A. F., and Qatawneh, K. (2013). Effects of synchronous and asynchronous computer-mediated communication (CMC) oral conversations on English language learners' discourse functions. *Comput. Educ.* 62, 181–190. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2012.10.013

Afrilyasanti, R., Cahyono, B. Y., and Astuti, U. P. (2016). Effect of flipped classroom model on Indonesian EFL students' writing ability across and individual differences in learning. *Int. J. English Lang. Linguist. Res.* 4, 66–81. doi: 10.21093/di.v19i1.1479

Ahmed, H. D., and Asiksoy, G. (2018). Flipped classroom in language studies: a content analysis of recent articles. *Near East Univer. J. Educ.* 1, 11–19. doi: 10.32955/neuje.v1i1.52

Ahmed, M. A. (2016). The effect of a flipping classroom on writing skill in English as a foreign language and students' attitude towards flipping. US China For. Lang. 14, 98–114. doi: 10.17265/1539-8080/2016.02.003

Aidinlou, N. A., Sharefii, S. S., and Kordabadi, F. S. (2017). Effects of flipped classroom approach on EFL learners' reading performance with different cognitive style. *J. Appl. Linguist. Lang. Res.* 4, 98–104.

Alastuey, C. B., and Galar, I. A. (2017). Flipping the EFL classroom in a secondary education setting: Students' perceptions and academic performance. *Huarte De San Juan Filología Y Didáctica De La Lengua* 17, 35–57.

Al-Shaer, I. M. (2014). Employing concept mapping as a pre-writing strategy to help EFL learners better generate argumentative compositions. *Int. J. Scholarsh. Teach. Learn.* 8, 1–29. doi: 10.20429/ijsotl.2014.080210

Altas, E. A., and Mede, E. (2021). The impact of flipped classroom approach on the writing achievement and self-regulated learning of pre-service English teachers. *Turk. J. Dist. Educ.* 22, 66–88. doi: 10.17718/tojde.849885

Bailey, D., Almusharraf, N., and Hatcher, R. (2020). Finding satisfaction: Intrinsic motivation for synchronous and asynchronous communication in the online language learning context. *Educ. Inform. Technol.* 26, 2563–2583. doi: 10.1007/s10639-020-10369-z

Bishop, J. L., and Verleger, M. A. (2013). The flipped classrom: a survey of the research. *Am. Soc. Eng. Educ.* 30, 1–18.

Bostanci, H. B., and Çavuşoglu, Ç. (2018). Pen-and-paper or online? An academic writing course to teacher-trainees. *Cogent Educ.* 5, 1–15. doi: 10.1080/2331186X.2018.1482606

Bostanci, H. B., and Sengul, F. (2018). Who is the most effective agent when giving indirect written corrective feedback? *Eurasian J. Educ. Res.* 76, 73–92. doi: 10.14689/ejer.2018.76.4

Brooks, G. (2012). Assessment and academic writing: a look at the use of rubrics in the second language writing classroom. *Kwansei Gakuin Univer. Hum. Rev.* 17, 227–240.

Bukhari, S. S. (2016). Mind mapping techniques to enhance EFL writing skill. Int. J. Linguist. Commun. 4, 58–77. doi: 10.15640/ijlc.v4n1a7

Chang, S. Y. (2016). Exploring the efficacy of a flipped EFL basic writing class. J. China Sci. Acad. 3, 71–94.

Dimililer, Ç., and Kurt, M. (2019). The impact of collaborative writing and the stream of consciousness technique on writing. *Khazar J. Hum. Soc. Sci.* 22, 71–99. doi: 10.5782/2223-2621.2019.22.3.71

Ekmekçi, E. (2017). The flipped writing classroom in Turkish EFL context: A comparative study on a new model. *Turkish Online J. Dist. Educ.* 18, 151–167. doi: 10.17718/tojde.306566

El-Sawy, H. E. (2018). Flipping EFL university classes with blackboard system. English Lang. Teach. 11, 31–43. doi: 10.5539/elt.v11n2p31

Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., and Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *Am. J. Theor. Appl. Stat.* 5, 1–4. doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Febrijanto, Y. (2016). Promoting mind-mapping technique to improve nursing students' writing skill. J. English Teach. Res. 1, 1–14. doi: 10.29407/jetar.v1i2.474

Fraga, L. M., and Harmon, J. (2014). The flipped classroom model of learning in higher education: an investigation of preservice teachers' perspectives and achievement. *J. Dig. Learn. Teach. Educ.* 31, 18–27. doi: 10.1080/21532974.2014.967420

Green, A. C. (2015). Approaches to mixed methods dissemination and implementation research: methods, strengths, caveats, and opportunities. *Adm. Policy Ment. Health* 42, 508–523. doi: 10.1007/s10488-014-0552-6

Güvenç, G. (2018). The flipped classroom approach in teaching writing: an action research. *Int. J. Soc. Sci. Educ. Res.* 4, 421–432. doi: 10.24289/ijsser.434493

Hsieh, J. S., Wu, W. C., and Marek, M. W. (2017). Using the flipped classroom to enhance EFL learning. *Comput. Assist. Lang. Learn.* 30, 1–21. doi: 10.1080/09588221.2015.1111910

Huang, X. S., and Hsiao, E. (2012). Synchronous and asynchronous communication in online environment: faculty experiences and perceptions. *Q. Rev. Distance Educ.* 13, 15–33.

Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. J. Basic Clin. Pharm. 5, 87–88. doi: 10.4103/0976-0105.141942

Karaaslan, H., Kiliç, N., Yalçin, G. G., and Güllü, A. (2018). Students' reflections on vocabulary learning through synchronous and asynchronous games and activities. *Turk. Online J. Distance Educ.* 19, 53–70. doi: 10.17718/tojde.444640

Khudhair, N. K. (2016). The impact of applying mind mapping technique as a prewriting tool on EFL college students in essay writing. *J. Colle. Educ. Women* 27, 426–436.

Kim, D. (2017). Flipped interpreting classroom: flipping approaches, student perceptions and design considerations. *Interpreter Transl. Train.* 11, 38–55. doi: 10.1080/1750399X.2016.1198180

Koura, A. A., and Zahran, F. A. (2017). Using habits of mind to develop EFL writing skills and autonomy. *Arab. World English J.* 8, 183–198. doi: 10.24093/awej/vol8no4.12

Lin, C. J., and Hwang, G. J. (2018). "A flipped classroom approach to supporting game based learning activities for EFL business writing course," in 3rd Annual International Seminar on Transformative Education and Educational Leadership (Oxford: Advances in Social Science Education and Humanities Research), 151–155. doi: 10.2991/aisteel-18.2018.31

Lowenthal, P. R., and Dunlap, J. C. (2017). Live synchronous web meetings in asynchronous online courses: reconceptualising virtual office hours. *Online Learn. J.* 21, 177–194. doi: 10.24059/olj.v21i4.1285

Lowenthal, P. R., Snelson, C., and Dunlap, J. C. (2017). Live synchronous web meetings in asynchronous online courses: Reconceptualising virtual office hours. *Online Learn. J.* 21, 177–194.

Mahnam, L., and Nejadansari, D. (2012). The effects of different pre-writing strategies on Iranian EFL writing achievement. *Int. Educ. Sci.* 5, 154–160. Available online at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1066744.pdf

Ningrum, A. S., Latief, M. A., and Sulistyo, G. H. (2016). The effect of mind mapping on EFL students' idea development in argumentative writing across gender differences and learning styles. *Dinamika Ilmu* 16, 149–166. doi: 10.21093/di.v16i1.296

Öznacar, B., Köprülü, F., and Çağlar, M. (2019). The success of implementing flipped classroom in teaching foreign language for international students. *Broad Res. Artif. Intell. Neurosci.* 10, 151–158. Available online at: https://lumenpublishing.com/journals/index.php/brain/article/view/2155/1805

Oztok, M., Zingaro, D., Brett, C., and Hewitt, J. (2013). Exploring asynchronous and synchronous tool use in online courses. *Comput. Educ.* 60, 87–94. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2012.08.007

Perveen, A. (2016). Synchronous and asynchronous e-language learning: a case study of virtual university of Pakistan. *Open Praxis* 8, 21–39. doi: 10.5944/openpraxis.8.1.212

Ping, R. L., Verezub, E., Badiozaman, I. F., and Chen, W. S. (2019). Tracing EFL students' flipped classroom journey in a writing class: lessons from Malaysia. *Innov. Educ. Teach. Int.* 57, 305–316. doi: 10.1080/14703297.2019.15 74597

Ravid, R. (2011). Practical Statistics for Educators, 4th edn. Washington, DC: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers.

Saed, M. A., and Ghazali, K. (2017). Asynchronous group review of EFL writing: interactions and text revisions. *Lang. Learn. Technol.* 21, 200–226.

Salem, A. A. (2018). Engaging ESP university students in flipped classrooms for developing functional writing skills, HOTs, and eliminating writer's block. *Can. Center Sci. Educ.* 11, 177–198. doi: 10.5539/elt.v11n12p177

Sengül, F. (2018). Indirect Written Corrective Feedback in English as a Foreign Language Classes. (Master's thesis), Near East University, Nicosia (Cyprus).

Sengul, F., and Bostanci, H. B. (2021). In-class versus out-of-class flipped classroom models in English as a foreign language writing. *J. Educ. Psychol.* 9, 1–13. doi: 10.20511/pyr2021.v9nSPE1.852

Shang, F. H. (2017). An exploration of asynchronous and synchronous feedback modes in EFL writing. *Springer* 29, 496–513. doi: 10.1007/s12528-017-9154-0

Shapiro, T. M. (2015). The educational effects of school start times. *IZA World Labor* 181, 1–10. doi: 10.15185/izawol.181

Soltanpour, F., and Valizadeh, M. (2017). A flipped writing classroom: effects on EFL learners' argumentative essays. *Adv. Lang. Liter. Stud.* 9, 5–13. doi: 10.7575/aiac.alls.v.9n.1p.5

Suranakkharin, T. (2017). Using the flipped model to foster Thai learners' second language collocation knowledge. *Southeast Asian J. English Lang. Stud.* 23, 1–20. doi: 10.17576/3L-2017-2303-01

Suyanto, A. (2015). The effectiveness of mindmapping in improving students' writing skill viewed from their IQ. *Indones. J. English Educ.* 2, 101–119. doi: 10.15408/ijee.v2i2.3089

Thakare, R. (2018). 8 Types of Flipped Learning Classrooms and Tools to Build Them. E-Learning Industry. Retrieved from https://elearningindustry.com/flipped-learning-classrooms-tools-build-types

Turgut, F., and Kayaoglu, M. N. (2015). Using rubrics as an instructional tool in EFL writing courses. *J. Lang. Linguist. Stud.* 11, 47–58.

Virginia, U. O. (2015). Using and Interpreting Cronbach's Alpha. Available online at: https://data.library.virginia.edu/using-and-interpreting-cronbachs-alpha/

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ahmet Güneyli, European University of Lefke, Turkey

REVIEWED BY Rivo Panji Yudha, Universitas Panca Sakti Bekasi, Indonesia Gatot Subroto, Raja Ali Haji Maritime University, Indonesia

*CORRESPONDENCE Harun Baharudin harunbaharudin@ukm.edu.my

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Language Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 07 July 2022 ACCEPTED 18 November 2022 PUBLISHED 16 December 2022

CITATION

Baharudin H, Maskor ZM and Matore MEEM (2022) The raters' differences in Arabic writing rubrics through the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model. *Front. Psychol.* 13:988272. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.988272

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Baharudin, Maskor and Matore. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The raters' differences in Arabic writing rubrics through the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model

Harun Baharudin¹*, Zunita Mohamad Maskor² and Mohd Effendi Ewan Mohd Matore³

¹Faculty of Education, Center of Diversity and Education, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Selangor, Malaysia, ²SMK Khir Johari, Tanjong Malim, Perak, Malaysia, ³Faculty of Education, Research Centre of Education Leadership and Policy, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Selangor, Malaysia

Writing assessment relies closely on scoring the excellence of a subject's thoughts. This creates a faceted measurement structure regarding rubrics, tasks, and raters. Nevertheless, most studies did not consider the differences among raters systematically. This study examines the raters' differences in association with the reliability and validity of writing rubrics using the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model (MFRM) to model these differences. A set of standards for evaluating the guality of rating based on writing assessment was examined. Rating quality was tested within four writing domains from an analytic rubric using a scale of one to three. The writing domains explored were vocabulary, grammar, language, use, and organization; whereas the data were obtained from 15 Arabic essays gathered from religious secondary school students under the supervision of the Malaysia Ministry of Education. Five raters in the field of practice were selected to evaluate all the essays. As a result, (a) raters range considerably on the lenient-severity dimension, so rater variations ought to be modeled; (b) the combination of findings between raters avoids the doubt of scores, thereby reducing the measurement error which could lower the criterion validity with the external variable; and (c) MFRM adjustments effectively increased the correlations of the scores obtained from partial and full data. Predominant findings revealed that rating quality varies across analytic rubric domains. This also depicts that MFRM is an effective way to model rater differences and evaluate the validity and reliability of writing rubrics.

KEYWORDS

raters, analytic rubric, writing assessment, Many-Facet Rasch measurement model (MFRM), writing domains, Arabic essays validation

Introduction

Writing skills are complex processes and require the coordination of various high metacognitive skills. In order to produce written ideas, a writer must be able to organize and generate ideas, develop plans for ideas, review the writing, and monitor self-esteem in writing (Olinghouse and Leaird, 2009; Dunsmuir et al., 2015). Writing skills must be mastered in foreign language learning as stated explicitly in the curriculum document. Writing is the ability of a human to communicate in a set of letters that become understandable sentences. Through writing, students' thinking might be highlighted through the way it is organized, combined, developed, and strived to create an association of ideas to assist readers to understand their thinking organization. Based on writing performance in writing on gender, Adams and Simmons (2018) emphasized that there were significant gender differences in the writing performance of year 1 and year 2 among children from the North West of England, where boys produced shorter essays with fewer words spelled correctly, and were rated lower than girls. Findings also concluded that female students are more capable of producing quality writing than male students.

Writing skills are productive and expressive, and both are important as information conveyers. Writing skills are productive because writing is a productive activity of written work in the form of the expression of one's thoughts. Whereas expressive implies appropriate (able to) give (expression) images, intentions, ideas, and feelings (Mufidah et al., 2019). Writing skills are skills that are difficult for students to teach and master (Kurniaman et al., 2018) because it involves the most complex level of literacy and requires a high level of cognition. Mastery of writing skills can make a person more confident in speaking because aspects of vocabulary, grammar, and sentence structure have been mastered well.

The production of a piece of writing is the highest level in writing skills, which is the skill of producing an essay have harmony of words and meaning. The basic skills in writing are constantly developing and becoming more complex, especially when it comes to high-level writing skills that involve more complex knowledge about oral language skills, including knowledge of vocabulary and word retrieval as well as grammar and syntax. High-level writing also requires proficiency in the use of executive functions such as planning and working memory involved in the generation and transformation of ideas into words (Decker et al., 2016).

Refers to the context of writing skills in learning Arabic; it is a language skill that is emphasized a lot. This is in line with the content of textbooks that are more inclined to a written assessment format than listening, speaking, and reading (Mahmood and Zailaini, 2017). Students also need to be good at writing because most of the exam papers in Malaysia require answers in written form. Students who do not master writing skills often have difficulty answering questions to convey information and answers accurately.

Conducting a study to assess the mastery of writing skills is a necessity. The aspect of vocabulary knowledge is one of the aspects of language that need to be paid attention to in writing skills in addition to aspects of grammar, organization of ideas, and language style. In fact, vocabulary is also an aspect of the language that needs to be mastered, as stated in the Arabic curriculum document. There are several issues regarding the assessment of Arabic language writing. The first issue is that Arabic language teachers usually only focus on teaching grammar to the point of marginalizing the importance of vocabulary mastery (Maskor et al., 2016). While foreign language learning at this point focuses more on the mastery and use of words in the target language as implemented in the Common European Framework of References for Languages (CEFR) as suggested by Alderson (2005).

In line with this requirement, this research aims to examine written assessment in Arabic using an expository essay, which provides valid, accurate, and fair ratings that are compatible with students' word acquisition in Form Four for religious schools in Malaysia. There are four aspects of language that are emphasized in the assessment of writing skills based on the rubric of the Malaysian Certificate of Education (SPM) Arabic Trial Exam in the State of Selangor, namely, (1) vocabulary, (2) grammar, (3) language style, and (4) aspects of text organization before formulated into the overall test score for students' writing skills.

Literature review

The designed writing assessments are a reflection of language learning purposes. The essay produced by a student is an indicator of the student's ability to master a foreign language communicatively (Bachman and Palmer, 1996). In line with the theory requirements, Bachman and Palmer (1996) suggested that the assessment is aimed at a reallife simulation that includes individual performance and performance appraisal by raters. Although McNamara (1996) argued that the communicative theory is still relevant in testing language ability; hence, different aspects need to be considered before setting the level of writing abilities and scoring processes at school levels.

Examining the facts in-depth, Phelps-Gunn and Phelps-Terasaki (1982) and Khuwaileh and Shoumali (2000) identified three aspects of students' weaknesses in writing: (a) a description that indicates the sentences are not elaborative, non-specific, and characterized by simple word usage, slang usage, and incomplete ideas; (b) writing styles that are less clear, not focused on topics, less integrated, less logical, less emphasis, and less consistent with writing goals; and (c) error in the punctuation, grammar, mechanical, spelling, and capitalization. Based on this weakness analysis, a scoring scheme for writing skills is triggered.

In line with Bachman and Palmer (1996), the evaluation process is a strategic competency that includes the description of the assigned tasks and the scoring rubric. Scoring rubrics are methods of controlling the reliability and validity of student writing results. Several researchers noted the evaluation of educators is more accurate when using the rubric (Jonsson and Svingby, 2007; Rezaei and Lovorn, 2010). Meanwhile, the adverse impact of using rubrics, such as the low reliability has yet to be elucidated in several studies. Consequently, many educators employed rubrics with the premise that they improve grading objectivity, especially regarding the written submissions of learners. Several empirical studies have raised serious doubts about the validity of rubric-based performance assessments, such as Sims et al. (2020) and Mohd Noh and Mohd Matore (2022).

Weigle (2011) categorizes three types of writing rubrics, namely, analytical, holistic, and primary trait. Primary trait rubrics are mostly used to determine learners' necessary writing abilities concerning particular writing tasks. Holistic rubrics are used to evaluate the characteristics of learners' written works by utilizing an in-line score with the determined characteristics and superficially described distinct performance levels such as grammar, spelling, and punctuation mistakes (Gunning, 1998; Weigle, 2013).

Holistic scoring is difficult for second-language learners as distinct elements of writing skills evolve differently for various writers. Wiseman (2012) concluded that some students might express strong content and organization but are limited in grammatical precision, while others can exercise excellent sentence language control but are unable to organize their writing. Some students may not perform similarly, for every component of written ability, necessitating more quality assessment methods such as lexical, syntactic, speech, and rhetorical characteristics.

A study conducted by Knoch (2011) comparing holistic rubrics with analytics revealed that the rater reliability was significantly higher and raters could better differentiate between various aspects of writing when more detailed analytical scale descriptors were used. Hence, analytic rubrics are more comprehensive evaluation guides used to clarify the level of expertise in distinct areas of written tasks (Vaezi and Rezaei, 2018). In addition, Winke and Lim (2015) clarified that raters attended all the scoring categories described in the rubric, while concentrating on what they felt was essential with the holistic rubric.

Earlier studies have shown that raters have a significant effect on written assessment results. Researchers recognize the mediating importance of rater judgment in student writing (Eckes, 2008; Engelhard, 2013; Zhang, 2016). In other words, many researchers are interested in the degree to which rating errors and systemic biases introduce irrelevant structural variation in the interpretation of ratings. Concerning rater impacts, features like rubrics can also lead to psychometric constraints in rater-mediated writing assessments (Hodges et al., 2019).

The present study emphasizes that raters have several variables to address when rating and participating in tasks that require an assessment from various information sources. However, in contrast to the studies conducted in the Arabic language, written assessment receives less attention and emphasis on empirical validation and reliability. Therefore, it is essential to monitor rater quality in terms of their usage of rating scales and contribution to test the validity and reliability. The current study focuses on the examinees (essays), raters, writing domain (rubric), and rating scale for 15 Arabic essays. Thus, the analytical method was selected in order to control the consistency of raters' ratings based on the designated scoring criteria.

This research aims to examine written assessment in Arabic using an expository essay, which provides valid, accurate, and fair ratings. Concurrently, this study provides information on the characteristics of effective writing. We used a scoring rubric from previous examinations that inform raters about highquality writing throughout the scoring process. These rubrics also minimize discrepancies between raters given the distinct instrument interpretations. The following sections present the sample, rating processes, and data analysis procedures that demonstrate the validity, reliability, and fairness of the data scores. Specifically, the following research questions are to be answered in this study:

- a. To what extent do the interpretation and use of writing domains in the rubric demonstrate validity?
- b. To what extent do the interpretation and use of writing domains in the rubric demonstrate reliability?
- c. To what extent do interpretation and use of writing domain in the rubric demonstrate fairness?

Materials and methods

This study uses an analytic scoring rubric adopted from previous state examinations for the Malaysian Certificate of Education Trial Examination for Arabic. The main reasons of doing this research topic is because it has highly needs to examine written assessment in Arabic which will provides valid, accurate, and fair ratings. Previously, not much was discussed regarding empirical evidence about the accuracy of assessors in giving accurate assessments related to Arabic writing. Formerly, evaluation was limited to the use of analysis such as Cohen Kappa, which is more limited to raters. The main instrument/examinee in this study are 15 essay selections based on the writing performances of the respondents. The essay was produced by Form Four students from a religious secondary school, which is under the supervision of the Ministry of Education. However, the topic of the proposed essay is one of the themes in the Arabic language syllabus, which is written in the textbooks. Therefore, it is not a peculiar matter for respondents to write an essay according to the selected title. The essay selection was based on a researcher's brief assessment of the essay quality ranging from good to moderate and weak. The essay was collected and printed in one booklet. Rubric scoring guides and rating scales were provided for each essay. The layout print was used to enable the raters to review the essays.

Five proposal titles were chosen for expository essays to gain experts' agreement. First, the procedure for determining the content validity of the writing task involves five experts in the selection of appropriate essay titles and scoring rubric items. At this phase, the content validity index (CVI) was applied to determine the expert agreement scores. The CVI covers the validity of the item (I-CVI) and that of the entire instrument (S-CVI) (Lynn, 1986). Each expert evaluates the level of item suitability based on four-level scales, where 1 = very inappropriate, 2 = inappropriate, 3 = suitable, and 4 = very suitable. In the first round, each expert is given at least 2 weeks to confirm the items proposed by the researcher and is asked to suggest improvements to the item if any. After 2 weeks, the researcher re-contacted the expert for the confirmation of the proposed item. The second round was conducted after the researcher made an improvement or correction based on the proposals received from the experts.

The value of I-CVI was used to determine the reliability between the experts in line with the average level of suitability of each item based on the assessment of all appointed experts. The accepted I-CVI value is 1.00 based on the value of the five expert's agreement. Meanwhile, the S-CVI value of the essay is 0.91. Polit and Beck (2006) suggested that an S-CVI value of > 0.80 is an indication of the overall acceptable quality of the item. The higher the value of S-CVI, the higher the quality of the item and the choice of the expert in meeting the criteria of the instrument. These five experts also served as the raters for examining the internal consistency of rubrics for essays that were evaluated using the MFRM.

Students were informed that the essay was to assess students' knowledge of vocabulary and their ability to construct contextrelated sentences. Students were asked to write no fewer than 40 words based on their creativity within 30 min. The five raters were then given the five essays to evaluate. Five raters gave each essay a score, and the amount of connectivity needed for a Rasch analysis was found. The five raters were asked to rate the essays using the Malaysian Certificate of Education Trial Examination for the Arabic rating scale (analytical rating). The rubric is analytical, which comprises domains of writing known as vocabulary, grammar, language use, and Organization as agreed by experts. Every domain contains three scales: excellent (score 3), moderate (score 2), and weak (score 1). The reasons for choosing the analytical rubric are because it can explicitly segregate an assignment into its constitutive skills and provides the assessor with guidelines for what each performance level looks like for each skill.

The selected scoring rubric is from a previous state examination for the Malaysian Certificate of Education Trial Examination for Arabic. This examination was implemented in one of the states in Malaysia in 2015. The use of a scoring rubric is based on assumptions that the scoring format is similar to the summative test, which is commonly used for school-based assessment. Although the scoring rubric has been used widely, its validity and reliability have to be tested according to the scope of this study. In contrast, the respondents of this study are also exposed to such essays in the classroom.

The essay selection is the result of the respondents' writing performances. They were 15 essays of Form Four students from a religious secondary school, which is under the supervision of the Ministry of Education. However, the topic of the proposed essay is one of the themes in the Arabic language syllabus, which is written in the textbooks. Therefore, it is not a peculiar matter for respondents to write an essay according to the selected title. The essay selection was based on a researcher's brief assessment of the essay quality ranging from good to moderate and weak. The essay was collected and printed in one booklet. Rubric scoring guides and rating scales were provided for each essay. The layout print was used to enable the raters to review the essays.

Meanwhile, the selection of raters was based on their experience in Arabic language education. Two teachers are expert teachers in Arabic who have been teaching for more than 10 years in secondary schools. In contrast, two more raters are experienced teachers who have been teaching Arabic for over 20 years in a religious secondary school that is under the supervision of the Ministry of Education. Another teacher is a novice teacher who has 5 years of teaching experience in Arabic in a secondary school. They were chosen because of the research to evaluate the rubrics used as well as validate them using the Malaysian Certificate of Education Trial Examination for Arabic rating scale. **Table 1** summarizes the criterion of each rater.

This study employed the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model (MFRM) model to explain how the rater interpreted the scores of the writing tasks. For this research context, the Rasch model is extended by MFRM to situations in which more than two facets interact to produce an observation in Arabic writing. It enables the development of a frame of reference in which quantitative comparisons are no longer dependent on which examinee was rated by which judge on which item. In order to support the research in the Arabic language, this analysis seeks to evaluate the rubrics used as well as validate them. Raters mediate the scores of the essays. In other words, self-rating does not represent the writing quality of the test directly as the rater's judgment plays a crucial role (Engelhard and Wind, 2017; Jones and Bergin, 2019). Hence, research is needed to review scores on quality writing and the consequences of scoring tasks.

A previous study used MFRM to investigate the variations in rater's severity and consistency before and after practice and found that rater training contributed to increasing the accuracy of the scorer's intra-rater reliability (internal consistency) (Weigle, 1998). Lim (2011) also conducted a longitudinal study for 12–21 months among novice and skilled raters to examine rater harshness/leniency, accuracy/inactiveness, and centrality/extremism. The study of the different impacts of the written rater can lead to better scores and rater training. It can also provide validation data on rating scales of writing assessment (Shaw and Weir, 2007; Knoch, 2011; Behizadeh and Engelhard, 2014; Hodges et al., 2019).

The findings could portray in-depth that the MFRM can monitor rater's performances and considers the potential effects of facets on the resulting scores. Facets such as raters, rating scales, and examinations are arranged within the standard interval scale with rater scores (Goodwin, 2016; Eckes, 2019). Two assumptions were made to draw meaningful information from MFRM measures: The data must fit in with the model, and the test must measure a single unidimensional construct.

The raw data were keyed-in using Microsoft Excel and analyzed using the MFRM by the FACETS 3.71.4. A program named FACETS 3.71.4 was used to analyze the data in MFRM. This study represents the relationship between facets assessment and the probability in which specific results will be observed within more than one-faceted circumstances. In addition, this research is an expansion of the Rasch measurement theory (Engelhard and Wind, 2013), in which raw scores are transformed into log odds. This interval scale implies that an equivalent range between any two information points is equivalent to the capacity of individuals or items (Bond and Fox, 2015). The FACETS program can produce the interval scale as a variable map or Wright map for direct comparisons of the test-taker writing proficiency, raters' severity, scale difficulty, or other facets of interest (Eckes, 2019). Briefly, there were three facets in this research: raters, examinee (expository essays), and

TABLE 1 Summary of rater criteria.

Rater code	Workplace	Subject	Working experience
А	Secondary school	Arabic Language Upper Form	18 years
В	Secondary school	Arabic Language Lower Form	15 years
С	Religious secondary school	Arabic Language Lower Form	22 years
D	Religious secondary school	Arabic Language Upper Form	25 years
Е	Secondary school	Arabic Language Lower Form	4 years

scoring rubric or item (analytical rating elements: vocabulary, grammar, language use, and organization).

This variation in the MFRM enables a classification scale framework to differ by item in this situation. The MFRM can demonstrate discrepancies among raters in the use of scoring classifications (Engelhard and Wind, 2013). The Many-Facet Rasch measurement model used in this analysis can be expressed as:

$$P_{nikj} = \frac{e^{(\beta_n - \delta_i - F_k - C_j)}}{1 + e^{(\beta_n - \delta_i - F_k - C_j)}}$$
(1)

where β_n represents individual ability, δ_i represents the level of scales difficulty, F_k represents the level of threshold difficulty, and C_i represents the level of rater's efficiency.

Results and discussion

Table 2 shows the essay, rating scale, and raters' reliability index based on the MFRM approaches using Facet 3.71.4 software. The findings indicate that the mean logit of the essay is at 0.00 logit with a standard deviation (SD) of 1.29. This finding reflects broad dispersion throughout the logit scale. This widespread ability level denotes the presence of various levels of essay quality. The rating scale at SD = 0.32 illustrates that the dispersions are not so vast on the logit scale, and this finding is equivalent to the raters at SD = 0.46. However, the average MNSQ outfit for the essay is 0.97, as the rating scale (0.97) and the raters (0.98) are approaching the expected value of 1.00. Therefore, based on the SD values for the essay, the rating scale and raters establish that the instrument aligns with the model. The chi-square values for raters (15.5) and essays (105.1) are significant Engelhard (2013), whereas the rating scale does not reveal a significant value. Further analysis needs to be conducted to ensure the rating scale is reliable.

The reliability of the essay is 0.88, while the separation index is 3.88, thus indicating good reliability (Fisher, 2007). Whereas the reliability of the raters is 0.68, and the separation index is 2.27, thereby corresponding to moderate reliability and acceptable separation (Linacre, 2006; Fisher, 2007). The rating scale (0.47) demonstrates poor reliability (Fisher, 2007), but the separation index (1.59), which equals two separation indices, denotes a good item separation (Linacre, 2006). Although statistical findings revealed a non-homogeneous rubric with low-reliability values and non-significant chi-square, the separation index illustrates that the raters understood the rubric base rating scale.

Raters displayed reasonable agreement based on the value of the inter-rater reliability of 52.9%, which was not different from the 55.0% despite the moderate reliability. These findings may elaborate that the raters had the same opinion in scaling the essay rating and vice versa (Linacre, 2004). Overall, the reliability value for essays, rating scales, and raters is reasonable and acceptable. Validation analysis in MFRM includes fit

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.988272

TABLE 2	Summary	statistics	of essay	ys, rating	scale,	and
raters' rel	liability.					

	Essays	Writing domains (Rubric base rating scale)	Raters
Ν	15	4	5
Measures			
Mean	0.00	0.00	0.01
Standard deviation (SD)	1.29	0.32	0.46
Standard error (SE)	0.45	0.23	0.26
Outfit mean-square			
Mean	0.97	0.97	0.98
Standard deviation (SD)	0.31	0.17	0.18
Homogeneity index (x2)	105.1*	7.6	15.5*
Degree of freedom (Df)	(15-1) = 14	(4-1) = 3	(5-1) = 4
Strata	3.88	1.59	2.27
Reliability	0.88	0.47	0.68
Inter-rater reliability			
Observed exact agreements			52.9%
Expected %			55.0%

*p < 0.01.

TABLE 3 Analysis of fit statistic for essay.

Essay number	Measure	Model S.E	Outfit		PTMEA CORR
			MNSQ	Z-std.	
1	0.41	0.45	0.61	-1.1	0.46
2	0.41	0.45	1.19	0.6	0.13
3	1.57	0.44	1.19	0.8	0.78
4	1.57	0.44	1.08	0.4	0.44
5	-0.19	0.45	1.16	0.5	0.52
6	-1.55	0.44	0.72	-1.2	0.48
7	-0.79	0.44	0.84	-0.4	-0.27
8	0.80	0.44	0.76	-0.7	-0.09
9	-0.59	0.45	0.87	-0.2	0.22
10	-0.39	0.45	1.18	0.6	0.16
11	-0.39	0.45	1.69	1.7	-0.02
12	1.76	0.44	1.20	0.9	0.30
13	0.01	0.45	0.40	-2.0	0.22
14	-0.80	0.44	1.00	0.1	0.13
15	-3.40	0.56	0.74	-0.5	0.43

statistics and scale calibration analysis. Fit statistics is one of the validation indicators by observing the mean square, Z-standard (Z-std), and point-measure correlation values. **Table 3** shows essay number 11 to be out of range in terms of mean square (0.5–1.5) (Linacre, 2005; Boone et al., 2014), thereby exhibiting an adverse polarity. Whereas essay numbers 7, 8, and 11 demonstrate negative polarities, which denote that the content does not fit the topic. Essay numbers 2, 9, 10, 13, and 14 are less

TABLE 4 Analysis of fit statistic for rubric base rating scale.

Writing domain (Rating scale)	Measure	easure Model Outfit S.E		PTMEA CORR	
			MNSQ	Z-std.	
Vocabulary	-0.41	0.23	1.09	0.5	0.71
Grammar	0.39	0.23	0.86	-0.7	0.53
Language use	0.23	0.23	1.18	1.0	0.50
Organization	-0.20	0.23	0.76	-1.4	0.51

TABLE 5 Analysis of fit statistics for raters.

Rater	Measure	Model S.E	Outfit		PTMEA CORR
			MNSQ	Z-std.	
Rater A	0.01	0.26	0.92	-0.3	0.55
Rater B	0.62	0.26	0.74	-1.3	0.48
Rater C	0.24	0.27	1.07	0.4	0.67
Rater D	-0.06	0.25	0.97	-0.1	0.57
Rater E	-0.78	0.26	1.18	1.0	0.56

than 0.30 point-measure correlation values, indicating that the essays are unable to highlight the respondents' abilities (Linacre, 1999; Bond and Fox, 2015). Essay number 15 is considered the weakest at logit (-3.40), disclosing many errors but still on the topic. Meanwhile, essay number 12 is the best essay as it occupies the highest logit position (1.76). This finding indicates that some participants are unable to effectively compose essays even if the topic of selection is a prevalent subject in the formative and summative tests.

Table 4 shows the appropriate rubric base rating scale statistics in the MNSQ range from 0.50 to 1.50 (Linacre, 2005; Boone et al., 2014). The Z-std value was also within the range of +2.0 (Linacre, 2005; Bond and Fox, 2015) and PTMEA's, which represents a value greater than 0.30 (Bond and Fox, 2015). These values indicate the item measures a single construct (Bond and Fox, 2015). Of the four proposed domains, the vocabulary element is readily understood by the logit raters (-0.41), whereas the grammatical elements are the most challenging (0.39). However, the standard error is an excellent range, which is stated by a value of <0.25 (Fisher, 2007). Overall, the rating scale disclosed that all rating scale elements are fit and suitable for the evaluation and measurement of the essays to be performed. All raters also deeply comprehend the rating scale.

Table 5 shows the statistical coefficients of five raters from codes A, B, C, D, and E, ranging from 0.50 to 1.50 (Linacre, 2005; Boone et al., 2014). The Z-std values are also within the range of +2.0 (Linacre, 2005; Bond and Fox, 2015). The overall value of PTMEA is 0.30, indicating that the raters can distinguish between each rubric used in the rating scale (Bond and Fox, 2015). Concerning the logit, rater B (logit 0.62) is the most

	Dat	a	Q	uality control		Rasch andr threshold		Expectation
Score	Category total	Counts used	Average measure	Expected measure	Outfit MNSQ	Measure	S.E	Measure category
1	54	54	-1.36	-1.51	1.1			(-2.96)
2	191	191	0.01	0.10	0.90	-1.88	0.18	0.00
3	55	55	1.30	1.12	0.90	1.88	0.17	(2.97)

TABLE 6 Rating scale calibration.

stringent rater, while rater E (logit -0.78) is the most-lenient rater. The standard error value is quite good, within the range of <0.50 (Fisher, 2007). This value indicates that the rater evaluates the essay carefully. The results also reveal that they can use the rubric precisely based on their knowledge.

Rating scale functioning

This calibration was analyzed using a rubric-based rating scale, where scale 3 = distinction, scale 2 = medium, and scale 1 = weak. In general, the variation in each rubric scale is in the appropriate range of 1.4–5.00 (Linacre, 1999, 2004), as shown in **Table 6**.

Figure 1 also portrays a non-threshold scale of scale 1 with scale 2 at -1.88 and scale 3 at 1.88. This finding depicts that the scale curve is apparent and separated from each other (Figure 1). Figure 1 also defines that, in the assessment of the essay, each rater understands the function of each rubric. The scale ranking results in this study can be used for further research.

Variable map (Wright map)

On average, the examinee (essays) locations were close to logit scales at the rater scale and rubric base rating scale (all-around zero logits). This measure suggests acceptable targeting between the three facets. **Figure 1** provides additional information about the logit scale. Specifically, **Figure 1** is a variable map that graphically displays the test-takers, raters, and the category of rating thresholds.

The first column indicates the estimated location of the logit scale of the test-takers (essay), raters, and item (rating scale). Higher numbers denote higher judged writing performance, more severe raters, and more difficult rating scale categories. The second column depicts the locations for essays. The examination of the essay locations reveals a wide range of locations between -3.40 and 1.76 logits for the lowest (mean rating = 1.18) and highest judged writing performances (mean rating = 2.45), respectively. The third column shows the locations for the item or writing domain for the rubric. The



examination of these estimations reveals a range of item difficulties, between -0.41 logits for the item that was judged as easiest (item vocabulary; mean rating = 2.11) and 0.39 logits for the item that was judged as the most difficult (item grammar; mean rating = 1.91). The fourth column depicts the locations of the individual raters. The location estimates reflect differences in rater severity, ranging from -0.78 logits for the most-lenient rater (rater E; mean rating = 2.13) to 0.01 logits for the most severe rater (rater A; mean rating = 2.00). The final fifth column in the variable map illustrates the categories of the calibration of the rating scale ranging from scale 1 to 3.

The accuracy of the location estimation was assessed using SEs and separation statistics. **Table 2** shows a small range of SEs for essays (0.45), raters (0.26), and rating scales (0.23) regarding the distribution of the logit scale. In particular, the average SE for the essay facet was relatively higher for the rater and the rubric base rating scale than the average SEs. This result is expected given the higher number of observations among each rater and every item in the rating scale compared with each student.

Figure 2 shows the descriptive mapping for each facet evaluated in this study. The first column is an essay using the value of "logit" (1.76 to -3.40), which describes the comparative quality of the essays (column Essay) tested. Essay number 12 is the most outstanding (1.76), while essay number 15 is the weakest because it is at logit (-3.40). Essays numbers 3, 4, 8, 12, and 14 are excellent category essays that conform to the writing



scoring criteria. Essay number 13 fails in the aspects of grammar and language use. Essay number 5 only passes the vocabulary aspect, while essays numbers 7, 6, and 15 fail in all aspects of the rubric. Essay numbers 10, 11, and 9 fail to address all elements of grammar, language use, and organization but are likely to fail or pass in vocabulary.

The five raters who assessed the essay can be classified into three categories: stringent, moderate, and lenient. This measure can be seen in the fourth column (column Rater) in the range of -1 to +1. Rater E is considered the most lenient in scoring, while raters A and D are modest in scoring. Meanwhile, raters B and C are stringent raters in this essay scoring, and both of them taught Arabic in a lower form. Rater E is a novice teacher who only has 4 years of experience in teaching Arabic at a lower form in a secondary school. Rater B is an Arabic teacher who has taught Arabic for 15 years for lower form, and also rater C who taught Arabic for 22 years at a religious secondary school.

Rater E is a novice teacher who has taught the Arabic language for 4 years in a lower form at secondary schools. Meanwhile, raters A and B have been teaching Arabic at secondary schools for more than 10 years for upper and lower forms. In addition, rater C taught Arabic in the lower form, while rater D taught the upper form for more than 20 years at religious secondary schools. The diversity of the rater's backgrounds reflects their performance in assessing the essay. The Arabic teachers who taught upper forms are considered a better scoring performance than those who taught lower forms. The performance displayed by raters A and D is likely to result from their experience in teaching senior high-school students. Notably, the type of school does not influence the rater's performance. Conclusively, the variable map (see Figure 2) depicts that the rubric used for the rating scale can differentiate the quality of the essay produced by the respondent.

Limitations and future research

Additional proof is required in various contexts to determine the psychometric features of the rubrics in writing. Specifically, a future study could investigate whether the new rubrics may be added to determine the efficacy and efficiency of each rubric rating in terms of reliability, validity, and fairness. The raters in this study demonstrated different seriousness levels when using the rubrics to evaluate the students' outcomes. Statistically, the Rasch model alleviates rater severity in the calculation of test-takers' results (Wright and Linacre, 1989). However, further research should provide significant reasons why raters use these rubrics for writing assessments to the extent of differences in seriousness. For instance, researchers could perform interviews with raters concerning their judgment procedures to understand how raters interpret and apply the rubric to student compositions. A future study among the population is required to determine whether the rubrics are fair among groups and individuals from different types of schools. Nevertheless, validity and reliability could be enhanced by involving more raters and essays in future studies.

Conclusion

The findings from this study demonstrate strong validity, reliability, and fairness of scores. Overall, the Many-Facet Rasch measurement model (MFRM), which is rarely used in Arabic studies, reflected that the rubric for rating scores has good reliability and validity and can be used in actual studies. All raters can effectively differentiate the functions of each rubric and rating scale. The use of rubrics in scoring can detect the strengths and weaknesses of students in writing skills (such as language use, organization, grammar, and vocabulary use). The feedback from scoring could assist teachers in developing ideas regarding teaching strategies based on students' weaknesses. The choice of the analytical method is more accurate than the holistic method in order to assess the writing performance. Moreover, an analytical method could be provided through the information on the mastery stage of each writing domain.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ministry of Education Malaysia, Putrajaya. The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

Author contributions

HB was involved in data collection. ZM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors were responsible for the conception, design of the study, performed statistical analysis, contributed to the interpretation of findings, made critical revisions, and have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research was funded by the Dana Penyelidikan FPEND, Faculty of Education, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Malaysia (GG-2022-023) and the Faculty of Education, Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (FRGS) (FRGS/1/2019/SSI09/UKM/03/2) Ministry of

References

Adams, A. M., and Simmons, F. R. (2018). Exploring individual and gender differences in early writing performance. *Read. Writ.* 32, 235–263. doi: 10.1007/s11145-018-9859-0

Alderson, J. C. (2005). *Diagnosing foreign language proficiency: The interface between learning and assessment*. London: Wiley.

Bachman, L. F., and Palmer, A. S. (1996). Language testing in practice: Designing and developing useful language testing tests. Oxford: Oxford University Press, doi: 10.2307/328718

Behizadeh, N., and Engelhard, G. (2014). Assessing writing development and validation of a scale to measure perceived authenticity in writing. *Assess. Writ.* 21, 18–36. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2014.02.001

Bond, T. G., and Fox, C. M. (2015). Applying the Rasch Model: Fundamental measurement in the human sciences, 3rd Edn. London: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/ 9781315814698

Boone, W. J., Staver, J. R., and Yale, M. S. (2014). Rasch analysis in the human sciences. Dordrecht: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-6857-4

Decker, S. L., Roberts, A. M., Roberts, K. L., Stafford, A. L., and Eckert, M. A. (2016). Cognitive components of developmental writing skill. *Psychol. Sch.* 53, 617–625. doi: 10.1002/pits.21933

Dunsmuir, S., Kyriacou, M., Batuwitage, S., Hinson, E., Ingram, V., and O'Sullivan, S. (2015). An evaluation of the Writing Assessment Measure (WAM) for Children's narrative writing. *Assess. Writ.* 23, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2014.08. 001

Eckes, T. (2008). Rater types in writing performance assessments: A classification approach to rater variability. *Lang. Test.* 25, 155–185. doi: 10.1177/0265532207086780

Higher Education, and Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Malaysia.

Acknowledgments

We thank the reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions, which helped us improve the content, quality, and presentation of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Eckes, T. (2019). "Many-facet Rasch measurement," in *Quantitative data analysis for language assessment volume I*, eds V. Aryadoust and M. Raquel (London: Routledge). doi: 10.4324/9781315187815-8

Engelhard, G. (2013). Invariant measurement: Using Rasch models in the social, behavioral, and health sciences. New York, NY: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9780203073636

Engelhard, G., and Wind, S. A. (2013). Rating quality studies using Rasch measurement theory. Research report 2013-3. New York, NY: The College Board.

Engelhard, G., and Wind, S. A. (2017).) Invariant measurement with raters and rating scales: Rasch Models for rater-mediated assessments, 1st Edn. London: Routledge, doi: 10.4324/9781315766829

Fisher, J. W. P. (2007). Rating scale instrument quality criteria. Rasch Meas. Trans. 21:1095.

Goodwin, S. (2016). Assessing writing a Many-Facet Rasch analysis comparing essay rater behavior on an academic English reading/writing test used for two purposes. *Assess. Writ.* 30, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2016. 07.004

Gunning, T. G. (1998). Assessing and correcting reading and writing difficulties. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Hodges, T. S., Wright, K. L., Wind, S. A., Matthews, S. D., Zimmer, W. K., and McTigue, E. (2019). Developing and examining validity evidence for the Writing Rubric to Inform Teacher Educators (WRITE). Assess. Writ. 40, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2019.03.001

Jones, E., and Bergin, C. (2019). Evaluating teacher effectiveness using classroom observations: A Rasch analysis of the rater effects of principals. *Educ. Assess.* 24, 91–118. doi: 10.1080/10627197.2018.1564272

Jonsson, A., and Svingby, G. (2007). The use of scoring rubrics: Reliability, validity and educational consequences. *Educ. Res. Rev.* 2, 130–144. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2007.05.002

Khuwaileh, A. A., and Shoumali, A. A. (2000). Writing errors: A study of the writing ability of Arab learners of academic English and Arabic at university. *Lang. Cult. Curric.* 13, 174–183. doi: 10.1080/07908310008666597

Knoch, U. (2011). Investigating the effectiveness of individualized feedback to rating behavior-A longitudinal study. *Lang. Test.* 28, 179–200. doi: 10.1177/0265532210384252

Kurniaman, O., Yuliani, T., and Mansur, M. (2018). Investigating Think Talk Write (TTW) learning model to enhance primary students' writing skill. *J. Teach. Learn. Element. Educ.* 1, 52–59. doi: 10.33578/jtlee.v1i1.5394

Lim, G. S. (2011). The development and maintenance of rating quality in performance writing assessment: A longitudinal study of new and experienced raters". *Lang. Test.* 28, 543–560. doi: 10.1177/026553221140 6422

Linacre, J. M. (1999). Investigating rating scale category utility. *J. Outcome Meas.* 3, 103–122.

Linacre, J. M. (2004). Predicting measures from rating scale or partial credit categories for samples and individuals. *Rasch Meas. Trans.* 18:972.

Linacre, J. M. (2005). A user's guide to Winsteps/Ministeps Raschmodel programs. Chicago, IL: MESA Press.

Linacre, J. M. (2006). A user's guide to Winsteps/Ministep Rasch-Model computer Programs (3.91.0). Chicago, IL: MESA Press.

Lynn, M. R. (1986). Determination and quantification of content validity. Nurs. Res. 35, 382-385. doi: 10.1097/00006199-198611000-00017

Mahmood, M. U., and Zailaini, M. A. (2017). Kemahiran menulis jumlah Bahasa Arab dalam kalangan murid sekolah menengah. *Online J. Islam. Educ.* 5, 20–27.

Maskor, Z. M., Baharudin, H., Lubis, M. A., and Yusuf, N. K. (2016). Teaching and learning Arabic vocabulary: From a teacher's experiences. *Creat. Educ.* 7, 482–490. doi: 10.4236/ce.2016.73049

McNamara, T. F. (1996). Measuring second language performance. London: Longman.

Mohd Noh, M. F., and Mohd Matore, M. E. E. (2022). Rater severity differences in English language as a second language speaking assessment based on rating experience, training experience, and teaching experience through many-faceted Rasch measurement analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 13:941084. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022. 941084 Mufidah, N., Suryawati, D., Sa'adah, N., and Tahir, S. Z. (2019). Learning Arabic writing skill based on digital products. *IJAZ ARABI J. Arabic Learn.* 2, 185–190. doi: 10.18860/ijazarabi.v2i2.8395

Olinghouse, N. G., and Leaird, J. T. (2009). The relationship between measures of vocabulary and narrative writing quality in second- and fourth-grade students. *Read. Writ.* 22, 545–565. doi: 10.1007/s11145-008-9124-z

Phelps-Gunn, T., and Phelps-Terasaki, D. (1982). Written language instruction: Theory and remediation. Rockville, MD: Aspen Systems Corp.

Polit, D. F., and Beck, C. T. (2006). Essentials of nursing research: Methods, appraisal, and utilization, 6th Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Rezaei, A. R., and Lovorn, M. (2010). Reliability and validity of rubrics for assessment through writing. *Assess. Writ.* 15, 18–39. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2010.01. 003

Shaw, S., and Weir, C. (2007). Examining writing: Research and practice in assessing second language writing. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Sims, M. E., Cox, T. L., Eckstein, G., Hartshorn, K. J., Wilcox, M. P., and Hart, J. M. (2020). Rubric rating with MFRM versus randomly distributed comparative judgment: A comparison of two approaches to second-language writing assessment. *Educ. Meas.* 39, 30–40. doi: 10.1111/emip.12329

Vaezi, M., and Rezaei, S. (2018). Development of a rubric for evaluating creative writing: A multi-phase research. *New Writ.* 16, 303–317. doi: 10.1080/14790726. 2018.1520894

Weigle, S. C. (1998). Using FACETS to model rater training effects. *Lang. Test.* 15, 263–287. doi: 10.1177/026553229801500205

Weigle, S. C. (2011). Assessing writing. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Weigle, S. C. (2013). English language learners and Automated Scoring of essays: Critical considerations. *Assess. Writ.* 18, 85–99. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2012.10.006

Winke, P., and Lim, H. (2015). Assessing Writing ESL essay raters' cognitive processes in applying the Jacobs et al. rubric: An eye-movement study. *Assess. Writ.* 25, 38–54. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2015.05.002

Wiseman, C. S. (2012). A Comparison of the Performance of Analytic vs. Holistic Scoring Rubrics to Assess L2 Writing. *Iran. J. Lang. Test.* 2, 59–92.

Wright, B. D., and Linacre, J. M. (1989). Observations are always ordinal; measurements, however, must be interval. *Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 70, 857–860.

Zhang, J. (2016). Same text different processing? Exploring how raters' cognitive and meta-cognitive strategies influence rating accuracy in essay scoring. *Assess. Writ.* 27, 37–53. doi: 10.1016/j.asw.2015.11.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Çelen Dimililer, Near East University, Cyprus

REVIEWED BY Mohammad Najib Jaffar, Islamic Science University of Malaysia, Malaysia Balwant Singh, Partap College of Education, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Hong Shi ⊠ hzs0032@auburn.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Language, Culture and Diversity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Education

RECEIVED 19 June 2022 ACCEPTED 02 December 2022 PUBLISHED 22 December 2022

CITATION

Shi H (2022) A metaphor analysis of EFL graduate students' beliefs about an EAP textbook. *Front. Educ.* 7:972996. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.972996

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A metaphor analysis of EFL graduate students' beliefs about an EAP textbook

Hong Shi*

Department of English Language and Literature, School of Foreign Languages, China University of Petroleum, Beijing, China

This study aimed to evaluate an English for Academic Purposes (EAP) textbook by examining English as a Foreign Language (EFL) graduate students' beliefs about the textbook through metaphor analysis in a Chinese University setting. This is mainly a descriptive research in nature, and a qualitative research method was employed, supplemented by a quantitative method. The participants of the study are a total of 147 first-year EFL graduate students from a public university in the city of Beijing, China. This evaluation revealed that the EAP textbook provided joy, security, grit, and curiosity for theses students, and at the same time, it was reported as old-fashioned, exam-oriented and teacherdirected. It would be more appropriate with some modifications and also with some additional materials to meet the needs of the EFL graduate students, and some possible implications for teachers and researchers were also suggested in the study.

KEYWORDS

metaphor analysis, textbook evaluation, students' beliefs, EFL context, EAP

1. Introduction

Textbooks influence academic growth and success of students at all levels of education (Azizifar et al., 2010). Most specifically in the field of language learning, textbooks become paramount as they play a major role in providing learning input, guidance and insistence for language learning. As for graduate students, in academic settings they need to acquire the ability to read papers in English and communicate in English with experts in the international community. But, the quality and efficacy of textbooks could be challenges in connection with their relevance to the curriculum standards and learning outcomes of students, and at times, students fail to get much assistance from textbooks because of certain reasons that consequently hinder students' progress and performance in learning English as a foreign language (Lee and Wong, 2000). In a context where these learners have little or no access to English outside classrooms, English for Academic Purposes (EAP) textbooks play a significant role in giving learning input and providing help and persistence for the academic language learning. Scholars have identified problems of EAP textbooks in a Chinese university setting (e.g., Cai, 2011; Ding and Jiang, 2015). Evaluation of EAP textbooks could give further insights into the future revision and/or designing of the textbooks for learners of academic English (Sajjadi, 2011). Many previous studies (e.g.,

Jamshidi and Soori, 2013; Mohammadi and Abdi, 2014; Harbi, 2017; Lodhi et al., 2019) examined efficiency and appropriateness of textbooks by using scales or checklist for evaluating textbooks. Some study (e.g., Jou, 2017) reported English language learners' reactions to a graduate-level academic writing textbook through interviews. Could checklists of interviews fully reflect underlying or subconscious beliefs of learners? The limitation of many scales or checklists is "the use of somewhat arbitrary and restricted timeframes instruction" (Boyle et al., 2015, p.190). Metaphors could provide more flexibility, adaptation, or imagination. However, few studies have done evaluations of EAP textbooks through metaphor analysis from students' perspective in an EFL setting.

2. Metaphors and metaphor analysis

Metaphor, as a perception tool, provides us with ways for meaning transfer to discover and accounts for how people think about events, facts, and concepts through analogies (Saban et al., 2007; Zheng and Song, 2010; Han, 2011). According to McGrath (2006a) metaphoric language is particularly revealing of the subconscious beliefs and attitudes that underlie consciously held opinions. Lu and Liu (2013) stated that researchers could regard metaphor as a kind of discourse based on sentences and paragraphs beyond vocabulary, and metaphor analysis was regarded as a branch of discourse analysis and a research method. De Guerrero and Villamil (2002) defined metaphor analysis as "a method that systematically examines elicited or spontaneous metaphors in discourse as a means for uncovering underlying conceptualizations" (p.96). According to their conclusions, the process of applying metaphor analysis in a study was summarized: collecting metaphors about the topic, generalizing those metaphors, and using the results to show the implied meanings behind the metaphors. Studies applying metaphor analysis have explored EFL learners' beliefs about English learning (e.g., Shi and Liu, 2012; Lu and Liu, 2013), EFL Learners' beliefs about speaking English and being good speakers (Dincer, 2017), students' perceptions about English writing (Erdogan and Erdogan, 2013), learners' perceptions of being international students (Yayci, 2017), beliefs about the role of teachers (e.g., De Guerrero and Villamil, 2002; Saban et al., 2006; Wan et al., 2011), and teachers beliefs about information and communication technologies (Bas, 2017). A few studies explored metaphors for textbooks. For examples, McGrath (2002) focused on teachers in a book and included a task on metaphors for textbooks. McGrath (2006a) collected 200 images (metaphors and similes) from Brazilian teachers of English, examined their use of metaphoric language, and discussed teachers' views of their English-language teaching textbooks, benefits for teachers and teacher educators of surfacing teachers' beliefs, and varying degrees of textbook dependence. However, learners' beliefs about textbooks, especially EAP textbooks, have not been fully examined and understood.

Learners' beliefs about EAP textbooks are significant for academic English teaching in terms of dealing with the need for a large, academically oriented vocabulary, working with difficult ideas, and combining reading and writing skills to learn and display content (Grabe and Zhang, 2013). Few studies discover underlying and subconscious conceptualization of learners by using metaphors in a EFL setting, particularly in China, academic English teaching is a hotly-debated topic and many universities offer academic English courses which are often considered not satisfactory and textbook is one of the main reasons contributing to this dissatisfaction (Ding and Jiang, 2015). Thus, it is timely and paramount to address quality and issues of EAP textbooks and examine underlying factors that affect academic English teaching from the perspective of teaching material evaluation by using metaphor analysis. The present study discusses metaphors used in relation to one EAP textbook by a sample of 147 first-year EFL graduate students from a public university in China, and it examines these students' beliefs about the importance, quality and efficacy of the EAP textbook through metaphor analysis. Research questions are as follows:

- 1. What sort of metaphors do Chinese EFL graduate students generally use to describe their EAP textbook?
- 2. To what extent the EAP textbook is effective in meeting the needs of Chinese EFL graduate students according to learners' viewpoint?
- 3. What instructional practices and research implications can we work with to provide academic English learning support?

3. Materials and methods

3.1. The context

This study was conducted at a public university of science and engineering in the city of Beijing, China. The total student enrollment of the university was approximately 16,000, with nearly 7,500 students in graduate programs and they met the standardized English language requirements for program entrance. The student participants of the study enrolled in a 16-week, two-credit academic course-- Academic English Reading and Writing. The course is a general academic English course for non-English major graduate students of the university, which is also a compulsory course for these students. According to the requirement of the curriculum and aims of syllabus, this course is designed to cultivate students' comprehensive ability to use academic English, especially academic reading, writing and translation skills, so that students can effectively understand English in reading academic materials, use English to write academic papers and express English in future work and social interactions to adapt to social development and the need for international exchanges and cooperation. Besides, theses students have to pass College English Test Band 4 (CET-4) and College English Test Band 6

(CET-6). College English test is a competency test designed to measure students' level of English proficiency in the skills. The test has been recognized by the society in China, and has become one of the standards for employment of college graduates by personnel departments at all levels, and has produced certain social benefits. The student participants of the study already passed the CET-4, but all of them, except 3 students, have not passed CET-6, so one of the near future goals of their English learning is to pass this test. In this EFL context, EAP textbooks are the main source of input and contact that students have with the language.

The EAP textbook evaluated in this study was Academic Encounters: Human Behavior-Reading and Writing (2017) by Bernard Seal. It was published by Cambridge University Press and Shanghai Foreign Language Education Press. The textbook emphasizes reading skills by broadening vocabulary and focusing on grammatical structures that commonly occur in academic texts. Additionally there are opportunities for practice of academic writing skills including essay writing, text summaries, journal writing, and writing short answers. The book has four units broken down into two chapters, with a preview and three readings in each chapter. Each reading contains the pre- and post-reading activities. The pre-reading activities ask students to quickly find the main idea by skimming and surveying the text for headings, graphic materials, and terms that can provide content clues. After the readings, students are given various tasks including reading comprehension questions, drawing a graph, or performing a role-play. Some language tasks focus on vocabulary and the unique grammatical features of academic texts, which are critical to students' future academic success. Students learn how to highlight a text, take notes, and practice test-taking skills as well as how to work with the organization and style expected in academic writing.

3.2. Participants

The participants of the study are a total of 147 first-year non-English major graduate students. Seventy-seven boys and 70 girls participated in the study. The participants were selected through "conventional sampling" technique so that the researcher could efficiently identify available subjects (Erdogan and Erdogan, 2013).

3.3. Data collection

A collection of student images for the EAP textbook elicited over a one-week period in early 2022 from graduate students. Students had used the book for one semester. They were supplied with a slip of paper on which the stem "the academic English textbook is ... because ..."was given and asked to complete this in writing with a metaphor which represented their attitudes to the textbook, and add a written explanation. Metaphors were used in collecting qualitative data to find out the textbook-related beliefs of the graduate students participating in the study. Students' demographic information, including gender, major, and CET-4/CET-6 scores, was also collected.

3.4. Data analysis

This study follows a descriptive method to reveal students' beliefs about the EAP textbook. A quantitative method was also used to calculate the frequency and percentage of metaphors. The textbook-related beliefs were analyzed through content analysis method. A total of 158 slips were returned, but the forms of 147 students were included to the study. Remaining 11 forms were not included due to the fact that they did not include a reason related to the metaphors (three), they included more than one metaphor (two), and they did not include any sources (two) or they were not logical (one), and some (three) simply contained statements of views (e.g., 'The academic English textbook is important/useful/challenging to learners') rather than images.

There are four stages in the process of analyzing and discussing metaphors: identification of metaphors, categorization of metaphors, category development, and providing validity and reliability. Reliability was established by using inter-analyst agreement. Two researchers analyzed the data, and then they came to an agreement comparing their analysis. Also, three different experts analyzed the categories of metaphors developed in this study to see whether they represent the related category or not. After that, the categorizations made by experts and categorizations made by researchers were compared. After data analysis, discussions of the findings were made accordingly.

4. Findings

Students participated in the study are found to produce a total of 147 metaphors about the beliefs of the EAP textbook. The metaphors appearing to be semantically related were grouped together.

One of the conceptual categories about the textbook metaphor is "joy/enjoyment." Images, such as "movie," and "cake," are included in this category. Table 1 presents the major metaphors of textbook developed under this conceptual category together with their frequency and percentage.

Table 1 shows that there are 40 metaphors under this conceptual category. Examples of the metaphors developed within this category and the reasons of developing these metaphors are as follows:

The textbook is a movie, because the design and the texts are interesting and I enjoy learning.

The textbook is a cake, because it is delicious and looks attractive.

The textbook is mineral water, because it is timely to quench my thirst and give me pleasures.

The textbook is a sports car, because I get excitement from it and it accelerates my learning speed.

Besides, images such as coffee, chocolate, and (beautiful) landscape were mentioned by students. We can see that these images express a predominantly positive view of the textbook, which seems to bring joys and stimulation to these students.

The other conceptual category related to textbook metaphor is that of "security." Table 2 shows the major metaphors developed within this conceptual category.

Findings given in the Table 2 show that there are 32 metaphors under the "security" concept. Examples of the metaphors developed related to this category and explanations for reasons of developing these metaphors are as follows:

The textbook is a lighthouse, because it is a navigational aid for me to arrive at the destination, and with its help, I know I would reach the end.

The textbook is a game instruction, because it teaches me how to play step by step, and I know what to expect. It seems that learning English is not so difficult.

The textbook is reinforcing (steel) bar, because the book gives me safety and helps to support my building of language.

The textbook is a traffic police, because I trust it, and I would make fewer detours with its help.

The textbook is martial arts secret, because from the book I get the power and I could learn the language secret to become the language master.

Another conceptual category in regard to the textbook metaphors developed by the participants is "grit." Images that seem to reflect a view of the textbook as basis for persistence in academic English learning (e.g., "scaffolding" and "skeleton") and the notion of emotional support (e.g., "father") have been grouped together under "grit." Table 3 gives the major metaphors of textbook developed related to this conceptual category.

As seen in Table 3, students developed a total of 30 metaphors under the conceptual category of "grit." Examples of the metaphors in this category and the reasons of developing these metaphors are shown below. TABLE 1 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "joy/enjoyment."

Metaphor	f	%
Movie	8	5.44
Cake	6	4.08
Bread	5	3.40
Coffee	3	2.04
Food	3	2.04
Popular science reading	2	1.36
Encyclopedia	2	1.36
Snack	2	1.36
Chocolate	2	1.36
Landscape	2	1.36
Mineral water	2	1.36
Sports car	2	1.36
Marshmallow	1	0.68
Total	40	27.21

TABLE 2 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "security."

Metaphor	f	%
Lighthouse	4	2.72
Handbook	4	2.72
Instruction book	3	2.04
Compass	3	2.04
Cookbook	3	2.04
Game instruction	2	1.36
Reinforcing bar	2	1.36
Introductory guide	2	1.36
Menu	2	1.36
Traffic police	2	1.36
Flashlight	1	0.68
Engineer	1	0.68
Martial arts secret	1	0.68
Lifesaving straw	1	0.68
Navigator	1	0.68
Total	32	21.77

The textbook is a skeleton, because it laid the foundation for me to grow and supported me to always make efforts.

The textbook is my father, because it supports me, gives me courage so that I can focus my attention and continue my effort.

The textbook is a walking stick, because I can continue and continue ... with its help in this long way of learning even in the face of difficulties.

Metaphor	f	%
Helper	4	2.72
Scaffolding	3	2.04
Skeleton	3	2.04
Walking stick	3	2.04
Research paper/report	3	2.04
Paper writing assistant	3	2.04
Tool	3	2.04
Father	2	1.36
Key	2	1.36
Gold hammer	1	0.68
Measure gage	1	0.68
Chopstick	1	0.68
Medicine	1	0.68
Total	30	20.41

TABLE 3 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "grit."

TABLE 4 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "curiosity."

Metaphor	f	%
Hotpot	3	2.04
Car	2	1.36
Iceberg	1	0.68
Sponge	1	0.68
Total	7	4.76

The following related conceptual category concerning the textbook metaphors is that of "curiosity." This category indicates the students' beliefs about their textbook as stimulating their curiosities. Table 4 shows the major metaphors developed in this category.

As can be seen in Table 4, students expressed a total of 7 metaphors under this conceptual category. Examples of the metaphors and the reasons of developing these metaphors are noted below.

The textbook is hotpot (Chinese popular food), because it contains many different things. It makes me always want to explore different things.

The textbook is a car, because it gives me different rides, and it meets my desire to see different sceneries and get to different destinations.

The following categories are relatively negative views of students toward the textbook. One of the conceptual categories is "old-fashioned." Students developed 14 metaphors under this conceptual category (fossil 4, old man 4, *Youth Digest* 2, dictionary

2, spicy strip 1, law book 1). Examples of the metaphors and explanations for the reasons of developing these metaphors are as follows:

The textbook is fossil, because it is out of fashion and the content is not new and creative enough.

The textbook is a serious old man, because the book is old-fashioned and the texts and pictures are out of date.

The textbook is Youth Digest (a journal once popular among young people in China for entertainment and general reading), because it looks as usual, and there is no innovation.

The textbook is spicy gluten (popular snack food for under 25s in China), because it is just what I thought and does not provide any new things.

The other conceptual category developed by the participants is the category of "exam-orientated." Students expressed a total of 12 metaphors under this conceptual category. These students mostly considered the textbook as exam-orientated rather than practice-oriented. This category indicates students' beliefs about their textbook as being just a tool to pass exams. Table 5 shows the major metaphors of textbook developed in this category.

Examples of the metaphors and the reasons of developing these metaphors are noted below.

The textbook is an instrument for CET-6, because it is just useful for passing exams. I think it should be a masterwork.

The textbook is a calculator, because it is used for exams, and if it were not for exams, I would not use it.

The textbook is an IPhone, because I use it to search and look for vocabulary and prepare for tests.

The last conceptual category concerning the textbook metaphors is that of "teacher-directed." As can be seen in Table 6, students expressed a total of 12 metaphors under this conceptual category.

These students mostly relate the textbook with lack of selfdirected learning training. Examples of the metaphors and their explanations are as follows:

The textbook is a driving instructor, because I just follow the instruction, and without it I cannot drive on my own.

Metaphor	f	%
An instrument for CET-6	4	2.72
A path of passing CET-6	3	2.04
IPhone	2	1.36
Calculator	1	0.68
Reference book for exams	1	0.68
ThinkPad	1	0.68
Total	12	8.16

TABLE 5 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "exam-orientated."

TABLE 6 Frequency and percentage of the textbook metaphor in the conceptual category of "teacher-directed."

Metaphor	f	%
Driving instructor	4	2.72
Travel guide	4	2.72
Mold	1	0.68
Written judgment	1	0.68
A book from heaven	1	0.68
Ocean	1	0.68
Total	12	8.16

The textbook is a written judgment, because the teacher has the authority, and we don't know how to defend by ourselves.

The textbook is a book from heaven, because I cannot learn by myself and have to depend on my teacher.

The textbook is an ocean, because it looks mysterious and without teachers' help I cannot find a way.

5. Discussion

The aim of this study has been to draw attention to the value of surfacing learners' beliefs and attitudes to the EAP textbook, and the potential value of metaphors for this purpose. According to Mcgrath (2006a), the image collection can serve both shortterm pedagogic and longer-term research purposes. Pedagogic decisions can then be based on this information. Thus, in the classroom setting, the expression of learners' different views may prompt discussion of the source of these views and their possible effects on learning. Implications for how to appropriately design and use textbooks and desired modifications in teacher practices may then emerge.

The metaphors produced by participants are grouped under 7 subcategories. The metaphors produced by approximately 74

percent of the students were grouped in the first four categories, including joy, security, grit, and curiosity. The findings indicate that most students identified the value of the textbook and they mostly conceptualized the textbook as being interesting, helpful, instructive, stimulating/motivating and supportive for their academic English learning. Students considered the textbook as "movie," "coffee," "lighthouse," "game instruction," "father," and "martial arts secret" to show their recognition of the good quality of the book or willing acceptance of the role played by the textbook in their academic English learning process. The EAP textbook becomes source of motivator, assistance and inspiration for students to fulfill their academic objectives. It seems that the EAP textbook is effective in meeting the needs of these students according to learners' viewpoint. For examples, they mentioned the textbook provides "pleasures" and "excitement," and "the design and the texts are interesting" and they "enjoy learning." It indicates that students mostly focus on design and contents of the textbook that are interesting and attractive, and students are internally motivated. Horwitz (2010) similarly stated students' beliefs affected attitudes, motivation and learning strategies in the foreign language class. Joy, as one of the factors of positive emotions, creates the urge to learn, and promotes creativity. According to MacIntyre and Gregersen (2012), positive emotions could broaden learners' attention and thinking, counter the effects of negative emotions, promote resilience to stressful events, build personal resources, and lead toward greater well being. Deuri (2012) argued that a good English textbook should have an adequate subject matter where psychological needs and students' interests could be met. The EAP textbook in the current study is effective in meeting the psychological needs of students.

Besides, as described by Graves (2000), textbooks having a kind of road map of the course could provide students a sense of security because they know what to expect and what is expected of them. For example, one student mentioned, "the textbook is a cookbook, because I know I can make a delicious meal by following it step by step." The textbook is helpful "to arrive at the destination," and gives students "safety" and "power." Marginson et al. (2010) defined security as "maintenance of a stable capacity for self-determining human agency" (p. 60). Sawir et al. (2012) discussed students' security and believed security was about the exercise of freedoms and the capacity to reach understanding so as to collaborate with others. Security encompasses capacity to act and students were envisioned as active self-determining agents, albeit subject to the external environment. As is known, academic English is associated with complex and abstract ideas, or high cognitive demands and students may meet challenges and difficulties in their learning process (Ranney, 2012). Students' security is associated with their competence in and confidence with the use of the English language. EAP textbooks in this EFL context as major reference materials or main source of input and contact that students have with the language enable students to understand, cooperate, and exchange with peers and teachers

163

and to meet requirements of the class. These textbooks may provide security for students to achieve their academic goals.

The textbook also supports students "to always make effort," gives students "courage," and helps students to continue "in this long way of learning even in the face of difficulties." Gritty students are more likely to invest energy and make efforts over a long period of time even when encountering challenges or failures (Teimouri et al., 2020). Grit encompasses two sub-constructs, consistency of interest and perseverance of effort (Duckworth et al., 2007; Duckworth and Quinn, 2009; Robertson-Kraft and Duckworth, 2014). Grit is a trait in students with diligence and endurance to keep working for a goal in spite of various setbacks (Duckworth et al., 2007). It seems that the EAP textbook in this study does meet the needs of students, supports and provides encouragement for students to persist in face of the difficulties and challenges in academic English learning, and it is designed to let students know that if they persist and set goals, they have the capacity to reach these goals. Academic English cannot be easily acquired and requires considerable time and effort to master. In fact, the skill of academic English is one of the most difficult language skills to be acquired by the students, and it was already explained by Cummins (2000), who stated English language learners required substantially longer to acquire academic language than basic conversational fluency in English. The academic English textbook can be designed with consistent learning goals and activities to let students know what they may lack in language-learning ability could be made up for with focus, hard work, and persistence. The textbook could design creative, teacher- or student-led activities relating to the challenges students face and through these activities students could learn how to face the challenges and how to be gritty. Grits are found associated with motivation (Teimouri et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021), engagement and joy (Wei et al., 2019, 2020), so the textbook could also teach students different learning strategies to motivate students and engage students actively and joyfully in class tasks, so that students could persist in face of difficulties and challenges. As argued by Lodhi et al. (2019), students could benefit from textbooks to fix their motivational strategies.

Curiosity is defined as a need, thirst or desire for knowledge, and it is a control to motivation (Berlyne, 1998). The students with high curiosity will have great desire to question the gaps in the learning, seek exploratory information and knowledge, answer particular questions, and have good attention in learning (Dweck, 2006). Kashdan (2009) also identifies students with high curiosity toward learning are: (1) interested in new things and possessing an open and receptive attitude toward whatever is the target of attention, (2) devote more attention to an activity, remember information better and more likely to persist on tasks until goals are met, (3) have the ability to effectively cope with or make sense of the novelty, ambiguity and uncertainty being confronted during explorations. Some participants in this study indicated that they had the interest and desire to explore new knowledge. The textbook could raise students' attention to the inconsistency between their new and previous knowledge. For examples,

students mentioned that the textbook made them "always want to explore different things," or meet their desires to "see different sceneries" and "get to different destinations." Textbook promoting curiosity drives and motivates students to have a deeper level of understanding, fill gaps in knowledge, and solve intellectual problems. The curiosity aroused in situations when learners have no immediate linguistic access to their second language knowledge or they find that there are discrepancies between their fully known first language system and their partly known second language system (Mahmoodzadeh and Khajavy, 2019). Thus, textbook could be designed with the "i+" concept (a concept proposed by Stephen D. Krashen in his Input Hypothesis, that is, second language learners acquire languages by understanding input that is a little beyond their current level of competence), that is, the level of the textbook could be a little beyond the current level of students. Then, students could be more actively engaged in learning process, more enthusiastic with the tasks given by teachers.

While the first four categories express a positive attitude toward the textbook, the final three categories, including old-fashioned, exam-orientated and teacher-directed, bring together a range of disaffection or negative reactions to the textbook. We have to admit students with different language proficiencies may have different beliefs and attitudes toward the textbook. Approximately 26 percent of the students conceptualize the textbook as being "out of date," "not new and creative" or "just useful for passing exams." Through the metaphors used by these students, they expressed their frustration with the limitations imposed by the textbook, or perhaps they felt the requirement to use a specific textbook was unsuitable. It seems that as for these students, the EAP textbook can be further modified to be effectively meet the needs of them. The inappropriateness of the textbook may raise doubts about the process used to select this textbook or the way in which the textbook is used. Here we have the fairly predictable "fossil," and the students who supplied "old man" and "calculator" explained that the images expressed their feelings with the aridity of the textbook they used. They believed that the textbook failed to provide relevant and effective linguistic skills, the content was not practical, or connected to students' real life, and it did not cater to learner's educational requirements. These students articulated dissatisfaction about the effectiveness and efficiency of the EAP textbook. From images provided by these students we can learn that they had awareness that the textbook should be creative, practical and student-centered, but the currently used textbook was not designed or appropriately used in this way.

Some students in this study believe the textbook is merely useful for them to pass exams or is just a reference book to look up information tested. They had a sense of utilitarian about the EAP textbook or language learning itself from a negative perspective. Due to the examination-oriented learning context in Asia (Kwok, 2004), most learners learn the target language for concrete purposes such as passing examinations or enhancing the possibility of finding a job (Liu and Huang, 2011; Yu and Geng, 2019). In this EFL context, the textbook, as the main source of input and access that students have with the language, is considered by these students as an exam-oriented instrument since English courses and CET-4/ CET-6 are required for college students in China. It seems that some students did not learn the language in order to use it but merely to take exams, and even after students achieved CET-4/CET-6 onwards, they could not cope with the demands of reading and writing in English in the academic context. This is a matter of textbook use. Besides, according to Lee and Wong (2000), there were wash back effects of the examination on teaching, which perhaps made teachers focus only on areas that would be tested. This evaluation oriented language-learning conception should be shifted. As one student mentioned, "the textbook should be a masterwork" instead of "just useful for passing exams." The course could be designed to develop students' multi-competence including comprehensive language ability, humanistic quality, critical thinking and independent learning ability. The materials selected by teachers and the way textbooks are used could contribute much in the development/ improvement of these different competences.

Finally, some students reported, "the teacher has the authority" and "I cannot learn by myself and have to depend on my teacher." Students developed the awareness that the textbook was teacher-directed and it should be modified to promote their independent learning skills. As one student mentioned, "the textbook is a driving instructor, because I just follow the instruction, and without it I cannot drive on my own." The autonomy value of a textbook needs to be recognized so that students could learn and try out the exercises in the textbook on their own, even without the instruction from their teachers (Thang et al., 2012). Independent learning skills are vital for academic language and literacy development to meet the demands inside and outside of classroom contexts (Zwiers and Crawford, 2011; Ranney, 2012). Students could develop the ability of independent learning and be trained to use self-directed strategies in their learning process by appropriate using textbooks. Both teachers and learners need the independence and autonomy to take responsibility for their own teaching and learning (Koad and Waluyo, 2021), and materials writers should modify their textbooks accordingly (Harwood, 2005).

On the whole, there are some values of the EAP textbook, which effectively meet the needs of students in this study, and at the same time it is inevitably needed to make appropriate and cogent modifications in the syllabus and materials being taught. Some instructional practices we can work with to provide academic English learning support are as follows.

Firstly, it is suggested to include learner' self-directed learning strategies as well as instructional kits and teacher guides related to academic English textbooks to help teachers in their effective teaching and expedite students' learning process. Although some textbooks cannot fully achieve standard, we should not abandon these textbooks, rather, we should strive to improve the quality of textbooks being produced (Harwood, 2005). The importance of textbooks is especially increased in case of language textbooks as teachers and students lack relevant and authentic material. It is strongly recommended to integrate authentic, innovative, interest grabbing and skill oriented materials in academic English textbooks. In the process of cultivating students' academic English ability, the EAP materials need to present language that typifies which is commonly encountered by students in the academy, and materials developers need to attend to key features of that language (Wood and Appel, 2014). It is also necessary to promote students' cross-cultural communication ability to adapt to the internationalization of higher education. Other assistance such as modern educational technology could also be combined and used in textbooks in the process of academic English teaching (Charles, 2012).

Besides, textbooks should not be treated as the only source materials for teaching and learning to avoid over-dependence on them. The over reliance on textbooks can affect not only students but also teachers in their initiative to effectively use and devise materials to suit the needs of students (Thang et al., 2012). It is suggested that teachers flexibly use the EAP textbooks, and provide opportunities for students to use academic English as it is used in professional and academic communities (Dicerbo et al., 2014). Teachers could be more creative and judicious handling the course materials, and in the selection of passages and exercises from the textbook for class use, and not follow blindly what is prescribed (Thang et al., 2012). Teachers could be trained to appropriately use textbooks, comprehensively learn about students' language level and learning ability, and consider the differences in learners' beliefs and satisfy students' needs by addressing their motives behind academic English learning. Various teaching methods, dynamic teaching content, and supplementary teaching materials recommended to students could compensate for the shortcomings of the textbook (Sajjadi, 2011). For instance, scaffoldings and a supportive and comprehensible learning environment provided by teachers are very motivating for English language learners (Carrier, 2016), and various teaching materials and more adaptive teaching practices can be used so that each student can easily find their own relevance and take part in the learning process (Sajjadi, 2011). Teachers also need to break away from their conventional mode of delivering course materials, and embrace innovative approaches that will enable them to create an engaging, stimulating and enriching learning environment for their students (Thang et al., 2012). Based on the findings, it can be suggested that learners also should be aware of their own ideas and understand the origins of these ideas. Thus, both EFL learners and teachers in input-poor environments could share the responsibility for creating positive beliefs regarding EAP textbooks and academic English learning.

6. Conclusion and suggestions for future research

The importance of EAP textbooks in formal educational settings has been widely recognized. The nature and strength

of many of the learner images about the EAP textbook is a striking finding. The images indicate how valuable and significant the EAP textbook is for EFL graduate students in a Chinese university setting and the strength of negative feelings that the textbook can inspire, feelings that may stem from the inherent unsuitability of the book itself or be a product of the way in which it is used by teachers. It is possible to argue that those students with this awareness have the competency of making self-evaluation or can understand that their academic English learning may be improved if they appropriately use EAP textbooks. The materials selection, usage, and evaluation should meet the needs of students and cater to students' linguistic, affective and educational requirements. Some research implications that we can provide academic English learning support are as follows.

According to Mcgrath (2006b), if this happens to be a teacher's first attempt to understand what their learners' feel, to listen to learners' unique voices, this may trigger a new phase in self-development. Eliciting metaphors for textbooks may prove to be just a beginning. This study focuses on students' perspective, and teachers' views on the usefulness of textbooks may differ from those of students. Future research can explore teachers' views and it will be interesting to explore what happens in a university context where teachers do compare metaphors with their students. Besides, follow-up interviews could be carried out in future studies to complement personal analogical statements (Jin and Cortazzi, 2011) to increase the trustworthiness of the metaphor analysis, so that we can further understand whether entailments are positive or negative. Additionally, as Barcelos (2003) and Hart (2009) suggested, metaphor analysis procedures applied to beliefs about second/ foreign language teaching and learning need to encompass culturally/contextually-appropriate interaction between different stakeholders such as teacher trainers, policymakers and administrators to further promote academic English teaching and learning in the future studies.

References

Azizifar, A., Koosha, M., and Lotfi, A. R. (2010). An analytical evaluation of locally produced Iranian high school ELT textbooks from 1970 to the present. *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 3, 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.010

Barcelos, A. M. F. (2003). "Researching beliefs about SLA: a critical review," in *Beliefs About SLA: New Research Approaches.* eds. P. Kalaja and A. M. F. Barcelos (Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publisher), 7–33.

Bas, G. (2017). Perceptions of teachers about information and communication technologies (ICT): a study of metaphor analysis. *Contemp. Educ. Technol.* 8, 319–337. doi: 10.30935/cedtech/6203

Berlyne, D. E. (1998). Curiosity and learning. Chicago: Rand McNally.

Boyle, G. J., Helmes, E., Matthews, G., and Izard, C. E. (2015). "Measures of affect dimensions," in *Measures of Personality and Social Psychological Constructs, Vol. 8* (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press), 190–224.

Cai, J. (2011). College English textbooks to cope with a transition: principles and problems. *Foreign Lang. Res.* 5, 5–10. doi: 10.13978/j.cnki.wyyj.2011.05.017

Carrier, K. A. (2016). Key issues for teaching English language learners 1 in academic classrooms. *Middle Sch. J.* 37, 4–9. doi: 10.1080/00940771.2005. 11461519

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by China University of Petroleum, Beijing. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Charles, M. (2012). 'Proper vocabulary and juicy collocations': EAP students evaluate do-it-yourself corpus-building. *Engl. Specif. Purp.* 31, 93–102. doi: 10.1016/j.esp.2011.12.003

Chen, X., Lake, J., and Padilla, A. (2021). Grit and motivation for learning English among Japanese university students. *System* 96, 102411–102434. doi: 10.1016/j. system.2020.102411

Cummins, J. (2000). Language, Power, and Pedagogy: Bilingual Children in the Crossfire. Clevedon, United Kingdom: Multilingual Matters.

De Guerrero, M. C. M., and Villamil, O. S. (2002). Metaphorical conceptualizations of ESL teaching and learning. *Lang. Teach. Res.* 6, 95–120. doi: 10.1191/1362168802lr1010a

Deuri, C. (2012). An evaluative study of text book in English at higher secondary level. *Int. J. Sci. Environ. Technol.* 1, 24–28.

Dicerbo, P. A., Anstrom, K. A., Baker, L. L., and Rivera, C. (2014). A review of the literature on teaching academic English to English language learners. *Rev. Educ. Res.* 84, 446–482. doi: 10.3102/0034654314532695

Dincer, A. (2017). EFL learners' beliefs about speaking English and being a good speaker: a metaphor analysis. *Univ. J. Educ. Res.* 5, 104–112. doi: 10.13189/ujer.2017.050113

Ding, Y., and Jiang, X. (2015). Publication and development of general academic English textbooks. *Sci. Technol. Publication* 12, 100–103.

Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., and Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 92, 1087–1101. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.6.1087

Duckworth, A. L., and Quinn, D. (2009). Development and validation of the short grit scale (grit-S). J. Pers. Assess. 91, 166–174. doi: 10.1080/00223890802634290

Dweck, C. (2006). *Mindset: The New Psychology of Success*. New York, NY: Random House.

Erdogan, T., and Erdogan, O. (2013). A metaphor analysis of the fifth grade students' perceptions about writing. *Asia Pac. Educ. Res.* 22, 347–355. doi: 10.1007/s40299-012-0014-4

Grabe, W., and Zhang, C. (2013). Reading and writing together: a critical component of English for academic purposes teaching and learning. *TESOL J.* 4, 9–24. doi: 10.1002/tesj.65

Graves, K. (2000). Designing language courses. Boston, MA: Heinle & Heinle.

Han, C. (2011). Reading Chinese online entertainment news: metaphor and language play. J. Pragmat. 43, 3473–3488. doi: 10.1016/j.pragma.2011.07.013

Harbi, A. A. M. A. (2017). Evaluation study for secondary stage EFL textbook: EFL teachers' perspectives. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 10, 26–39. doi: 10.5539/elt.v10n3p26

Hart, G. A. (2009). Composing metaphors: metaphors for writing in the composition classroom. Dissertations & Theses-Gradworks. Athens: Ohio University (Ohio University ProQuest Dissertations Publishing).

Harwood, N. (2005). What do we want EAP teaching materials for? J. Engl. Acad. Purp. 4, 149-161. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap.2004.07.008

Horwitz, E. K. (2010). Using student beliefs about language learning and teaching in the foreign language methods course. *Foreign Lang. Ann.* 18, 333–340. doi: 10.1111/j.1944-9720.1985.tb01811.x

Jamshidi, T., and Soori, A. (2013). Textbook evaluation for the students of speech therapy. Adv. Lang. Lit. Stud. 4, 159–164. doi: 10.7575/aiac.alls.v.4n.2p.159

Jin, L., and Cortazzi, M. (2011). "More than a journey: learning in the metaphors of Chinese students and teachers," in *Researching Chinese Learners: Skills, Perceptions and Intercultural Adaptations.* eds. L. Jin and M. Cortazzi (Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan), 67–92.

Jou, Y. (2017). Hidden challenges of tasks in an EAP writing textbook: EAL graduate students' perceptions and textbook authors' responses. *J. Engl. Acad. Purp.* 30, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap.2017.10.001

Kashdan, T. (2009). Curious? Discover the missing ingredient to a fulfilling life. New York, NY: Harper Collins.

Koad, P., and Waluyo, B. (2021). What makes more and less proficient EFL learners? Learner's beliefs, learning strategies and autonomy. *Asian EFL J.* 25, 48–77.

Kwok, P. (2004). Examination-oriented knowledge and value transformation in east Asian cram schools. *Asia Pac. Educ. Rev.* 5, 64–75. doi: 10.1007/BF03026280

Lee, K. S., and Wong, F. F. (2000). Washback effects of a new test on teaching: a Malaysian perspective. *STETS Lang. Commun. Rev.* 2, 11–18.

Liu, M., and Huang, W. (2011). An exploration of foreign language anxiety and English learning motivation. *Educ. Res. Int.* 2011, 1–8. doi: 10.1155/2011/493167

Lodhi, M. A., Farman, H., Ullah, I., Gul, A., and Saleem, S. (2019). Evaluation of English textbook of intermediate class from students' perspectives. *Engl. Lang. Teach.* 12, 26–36. doi: 10.5539/elt.v12n3p26

Lu, M., and Liu, Z. (2013). Metaphor analysis of Chinese students' beliefs about English learning. *Foreign Lang. Teach.* 34, 39–42.

Macintyre, P., and Gregersen, T. (2012). Emotions that facilitate language learning: the positive-broadening power of the imagination. *Stud. Second Lang. Learn. Teach.* 2, 193–213. doi: 10.14746/ssllt.2012.2.2.4

Mahmoodzadeh, M., and Khajavy, G. H. (2019). Towards conceptualizing language learning curiosity in SLA: an empirical study. *J. Psycholinguist. Res.* 48, 333–351. doi: 10.1007/s10936-018-9606-3

Marginson, S., Nyland, C., Sawir, E., and Forbes-Mewett, H. (2010). *International Student Security*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

McGrath, I. (2002). *Materials Evaluation and Design for Language Teaching*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

McGrath, I. (2006a). Using insights from teachers' metaphors. J. Educ. Teach. 32, 303–317. doi: 10.1080/02607470600782443

Mcgrath, I. (2006b). Teachers' and learners' images for coursebooks. ELT J. English Lang. Teach. J. 60, 171–180. doi: 10.1093/elt/cci104

Mohammadi, M., and Abdi, H. (2014). Textbook evaluation: a case study. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci. 98, 1148–1155. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.528

Ranney, S. (2012). Defining and teaching academic language: developments in K-12 ESL. *Lang. Linguist. Compass* 6, 560–574. doi: 10.1002/lnc3.354

Robertson-Kraft, C., and Duckworth, A. L. (2014). True grit: trait-level perseverance and passion for long-term goals predicts effectiveness and retention among novice teachers. *Teach. Coll. Rec.* 116, 1–27. doi: 10.1177/016146811411600306

Saban, A., Koc Beker, B. N., and Saban, A. (2006). An investigation of the concept of teacher among prospective teachers through metaphor analysis. *Educ. Sci. Theory Pract.* 6, 461–522.

Saban, A., Koçbeker, B. N., and Saban, A. (2007). Prospective teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning revealed through metaphor analysis. *Learn. Instr.* 17, 123–139. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2007.01.003

Sajjadi, M. (2011). Evaluating the SAMT English textbook for BSc students of physics. J. Appl. Linguist. 4, 175–195.

Sawir, E., Marginson, S., Forbes-Mewett, H., Nyland, C., and Ramia, G. (2012). International student security and English language proficiency. *J. Stud. Int. Educ.* 16, 434–454. doi: 10.1177/1028315311435418

Shi, L., and Liu, Z. (2012). Metaphor analysis of the beliefs of Chinese college students, middle school students and primary students. *J. Xian Univ. Foreign Stud.* 20, 67–70. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2011.07.012

Teimouri, Y., Plonsky, Y., and Tabandeh, F. (2020). L2 grit: passion and perseverance for second-language learning. *Lang. Teach. Res.* 1, 1–48. doi: 10.1177/1362168820921895

Thang, S. M., Wong, F. F., Noor, N. M., Mustaffa, R., Mahmud, N., and Ismail, K. (2012). Using a blended approach to teach English for academic purposes: Malaysian students' perceptions of redesigned course materials. *Int. J. Pedagog. Learn.* 7, 142–153. doi: 10.5172/ijpl.2012.7.2.142

Wan, W., Low, G. D., and Li, M. (2011). From students' and teachers' perspectives: metaphor analysis of beliefs about EFL teachers' roles. *System* 39, 403–415. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2011.07.012

Wei, H., Gao, K., and Wang, W. (2019). Understanding the relationship between grit and foreign language performance among middle school students: the roles of foreign language enjoyment and classroom environment. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 1–8. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01508

Wei, R., Liu, H., and Wang, S. (2020). Exploring L2 grit in the Chinese EFL context. *System* 93, 102295–102299. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2020.102295

Wood, D. C., and Appel, R. (2014). Multiword constructions in first year business and engineering university textbooks and EAP textbooks. *J. Engl. Acad. Purp.* 15, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap.2014.03.002

Yayci, L. (2017). University students' perception of being an international student: a metaphor analysis study. *Eur. J. Educ. Stud.* 3, 379–403. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1015774

Yu, J., and Geng, J. (2019). Continuity and change in Chinese English learners' motivations across different contexts and schooling levels. *Asia Pac. Educ. Res.* 1, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s40299-019-00473-1

Zheng, H., and Song, W. (2010). Metaphor analysis in the educational discourse: a critical review. US-China Foreign Lang. 8, 42–49.

Zwiers, J., and Crawford, M. (2011). Academic Conversations: Classroom Talk that Fosters Critical Thinking and Content Understandings. Portland, ME: Stenhouse Publishers.

Frontiers in Psychology

Paving the way for a greater understanding of human behavior

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



